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(1) DATE OF DESIGNATION OR TERMINATION- 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5(d)(1.5) 

The Project Area was designated on June 20, 1984. The Project Area may be terminated no later 
than June 20, 2007. 

Note: Incremental tax revenues levied in the 23rd tax year are collected in the 24th tax year. 
Although the Project Area will expire in Year 23 in accordance with 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-
3(n)(J)(3), the incremental taxes received in the 24th tax year will be deposited into the Special 
Tax Allocation Fund. 
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(2) AUDITED FINANCIALS- 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-S(d)(2) 

Please see attached. 
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Deloitte 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Honorable Richard M. Daley, Mayor, and 
Members of the City Council 
City of Chicago, lllinois 

Deloitte & Touche LLP 
180 N. Stetson Avenue 
Chicago, IL 60601-6779 
USA 

Tel: +1 312 946 3000 
Fax: +1 312 946 2600 
www.deloitte.com 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the government-wide activities, governmental 
funds and agency fund of the City of Chicago, lllinois' ("City") Central Loop Redevelopment Project 
(the "Project") as of and for the year ended December 31, 2003, which collectively comprise the Project's 
basic financial statements, as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the City's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these combined 
financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the respective net assets 
or financial position of the government-wide activities and governmental funds and the agency fund of 
the Project as of December 31, 2003, and the respective changes in their financial position for the year 
then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

The Management's Discussion and Analysis on pages 3 to 5 is not a required part of the basic financial 
statements, but is supplementary information required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. 
This supplementary information is the responsibility of the City's management. We have applied certain 
limited procedures that consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding methods of 
measurement and presentation ofthe required supplementary information. However, we did not audit the 
information and we express no opinion or any other form of assurance on it. 

Member of 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 



Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the Project's respective financial 
statements that collectively comprise the Project's basic financial statements. The additional information 
(page 16), which is also the responsibility of the City's management, is presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements, but is required by the 
Illinois Tax Increment Financing Act of 1997. Such additional information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in our audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly 
stated, in all material respects, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a 
whole. 

June 15, 2004 
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 

CENTRAL LOOP REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

As management of the Central Loop Redevelopment Project (the "Project"), we offer the readers of the 
Project's financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the Project's financial performance for 
the year ended December 31, 2003. Please read it in conjunction with the Project's financial statements and 
notes to the financial statements immediately following this section. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Project's basic financial 
statements. The Project's basic financial statements include four components: 1) government-wide financial 
statements, 2) governmental fund financial statements, 3) Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets and 4) notes to 
the financial statements. This report also contains additional information concerning the Project's 
expenditures as required by lllinois statutory code. 

Basic Financial Statements include three kinds of financial statements that present different views of the 
Project-the Government-Wide Financial Statements, the Governmental Fund Financial Statements and the 
Fiduciary Statement of Net Assets. These financial statements also include the notes to the financial 
statements that explain information in the financial statements and provide more detail. 

Government- Wide Financial Statements provide both long-term and short-term information about the 
Project's financial status and use accounting methods similar to those used by private-sector companies. The 
statement of net assets includes all of the project's assets and liabilities. All of the current year's revenues 
and expenses are accounted for in the statement of activities using the accrual basis of accounting. The two 
government-wide statements report the Project's net assets and how they have changed. Net assets-the 
difference between the Project's assets and liabilities-is one way to measure the Project's financial health, 
or position. 

Governmenta/Fund Financial Statements provide more detailed information about the Project's significant 
funds-not the Project as a whole. Governmental funds focus on: 1) how cash and other financial assets can 
readily be converted to cash flows and 2) the year-end balances that are available for spending. 
Consequently, the governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view that helps determine 
whether there are more financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the Project. Such 
statements are prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting. Because this information does not 
encompass the additional long-term focus of the government-wide statements, we provide additional 
reconciling information in a separate statement to explain the relationship (or differences) between the two. 

Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets accounts for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the 
government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the 
resources of those funds are not available to support the City's own programs. The Project's fiduciary 
activity is presented in a separate Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of 
the data provided in the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements and 
Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets. The notes to the financial statements follow the basic financial 
statements. 

Additional Information presents a schedule of expenditures as required by Illinois statutory code. This 
additional information follows the notes to the financial statements. 

Condensed Comparative Government-Wide Financial Statements 

Government-Wide Statements 
2003 2002 Change %Change 

Total assets $ 319,244,010 $ 193,118,986 $126,125,024 65% 

Liabilities: 
Liabilities due within one year 48,989,976 50,381,874 (1,391,898) (3)% 
Liabilities due after one year 324,807,609 219,760,956 105,046,653 48% 

Total liabilities 373,797,585 270,142,830 103,654,755 38% 

Net assets (deficit): 
Restricted for Debt Service 141,252,012 136,443,412 4,808,600 4% 
Net deficit ( 195,805,587) (213,467,256) 17,661,669 (8)% 

Total net assets $ (54,553,575) $ (77,023,844) $ 22,470,269 (29)% 

Total revenues $ 75,984,829 $ 62,210,595 $ 13,774,234 22% 

Total expenditures 53,514,560 77,717,411 (24,202,851) (31)% 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures 22,470,269 (15,506,816) 37,977,085 (245)% 

Operating transfers out (9,593,000) 9,593,000 (100)% 

Change in net assets 22,470,269 (25,099,816) 47,570,085 190% 

Beginning net deficit (77,023,844) (51,924,028) (25,099,816) 48% 

Ending net deficit $ !54,553,575) $ !77,023,844) $ 22,4 70,269 (29)% 

Analysis of Overall Financial Position and Results of Operations 

Total assets increased as a result of the 2003 Central Loop TIF General Obligation Bonds issued in 
September 2003. Net proceeds from the bond issue totaled $135.6 million. As a result of the bond issue cash 
and investments have increased by $120.6 million at the year-end. Cash with escrow agent has decreased by 
$7.1 million as a result of a decreased debt service requirement. Property tax receivable has increased by 
$11.8 million as a result of increased assessment of property in the TIF area. Liabilities have increased as a 
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result of the 2003 bond issue noted above less principal payments of$42.5 million made in 2003. Vouchers 
payable increased by $6.3 million based on timing of redevelopment activities. 

Revenue increased by $13.8 million based on increased assessed values and redevelopment activities within 
the TIF area. Expenditures decreased by $24.2 million based on the timing of redevelopment activities 
within the TIF area. Operating transfers decreased since all reimbursements to the City's general fund for 
start up costs were completed in the prior year. 

Debt Administration 

General Obligation and Tax Increment Allocation Bonds outstanding at December 31, 2003 amounted to 
$362.6 million. More detailed information about the Project's bonds payable is presented in Note 3 of the 
financial statements. 
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 

CENTRAL LOOP REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS (DEFICIT) AND 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS COMBINED BALANCE SHEET 
DECEMBER 31, 2003 

ASSETS: 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) 
Investments (Note 2) 
Cash and investments with escrow agent 
Other assets 
Property taxes receivable 
Accrued interest receivable 

TOTAL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES: 
Vouchers payable 
Accrued interest 
Due to other funds 
Accrued liabilities 
Deferred revenue 
Bonds payable (Note 3): 

Due within one year 
Due after one year 

Total liabilities 

FUND BALANCE I NET ASSETS (DEFICIT) 
Fund balance: 
Reserved for encumbrances (Note 4) 
Reserved for debt service 
Designated for future redevelopment 
project costs 

Total fund balance 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 

Net assets (deficit): 
Restricted for debt service 
Net deficit 

TOTAL NET ASSETS (DEFICIT) 

See notes to financial statements. 
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Governmental 
Funds Adjustments 

$ 99,061,823 $ 
76,568,512 
73,942,547 

68,000,000 
345,720 

1,325,408 

$317,918,602 $ 1,325,408 

$ 8,050,999 $ 
713,519 

2,000,458 
400,000 

65,256,903 (65,256,903) 

37,825,000 
324,807,609 

76,421,879 297,375,706 

7,538,704 (7,538,704) 
75,995,109 (75,995, I 09) 

157,962,910 (157,962,910) 

241,496,723 (241,496,723) 

$317,918,602 

141,252,012 
(195,805,587) 

$ !54,553,575) 

Government­
Wide 

Activities 

$ 99,061,823 
76,568,512 
73,942,547 

1,325,408 
68,000,000 

345,720 

$319,244,010 

$ 8,050,999 
713,519 

2,000,458 
400,000 

37,825,000 
324,807,609 

373,797,585 

141,252,012 
(195,805,587) 

$ ~54,553,575) 



CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 

CENTRAL LOOP REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS COMBINED BALANCE SHEET TO THE 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS (DEFICIT) 
DECEMBER 31, 2003 

Amounts reported for government-wide activities in the statement of net 
assets (deficit) are different because: 

Total fund balance for governmental funds 

Property tax revenue is recognized in the period for which levied rather than 
when "available." A Portion of the deferred property tax revenue is not available. 

Debt issuance costs are deferred and recognized as other assets rather than 
expensed when incurred 

Long-term liabilities applicable to the Project's governmental activities are not due 
and payable in the current period and accordingly are not reported as fund liabilities. 
All long-term liabilities are reported in the statement of net assets. 

Long-term liabilities: 
Bonds payable 
Accreted interest 

Total long-term liabilities 

Total net assets (deficit) for government-wide activities 

See notes to financial statements. 
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$ 241,496,723 

65,256,903 

1,325,408 

(34 7 ,973, 170) 
(14,659,439) 

(362,632,609) 

$ (54,553,575) 



CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 

CENTRAL LOOP REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS, 
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND 

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS (DEFICIT) AND FUND BALANCE 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2003 

REVENUES: 
Property tax 
Investtnentincome 
Rental income 
Miscellaneous income 

Total revenues 

EXPENDITURES: 
Capital projects 
Debt service: 

Principal retirement 
Interest expense 

Total expenditures 

EXPENDITURES (OVER) UNDER REVENUES 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES): 
Proceeds of debt (Note 3) 

REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 
OVER EXPENDITURES AND OTHER 
FINANCING USES 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (DEFICIT) 

FUND BALANCE/NET ASSETS (DEFICIT): 
Beginning of year 

End of year 

See notes to fmancial statements. 

Governmental 
Funds 

$ 63,495,185 
1,319,482 

116,253 
1,229,768 

66,160,688 

38,573,973 

42,475,000 
10,395,898 

91,444,871 

(25,284,183) 

137,001,556 

111,717,373 

129,779,350 

$241,496,723 

-8-

Statement of 
Adjustments Activities 

$ 9,824,141 $ 73,319,326 
1,319,482 

116,253 
1,229,768 

9,824,141 75,984,829 

(1,325,408) 37,248,565 

(42,475,000) 
5,870,097 16,265,995 

(37 ,930,311) 53,514,560 

47,754,452 22,470,269 

{137,001,556) 

(111,717,373) 

22,470,269 22,470,269 

(206,803, 194) (77,023,844) 

$ (296,050,298) $ (54,553,575) 



CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 

CENTRAL LOOP REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS COMBINED STATEMENT OF 

REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS (DEFICIT) AND 
FUND BALANCE TO THE GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003 

The change in net assets (deficit) reported for government-wide activities in the 
statement of activities is different because: 

Net change in fund balances-total governmental funds 

Property tax revenue is recognized in the period for which levied rather than 
when "available." A portion of the deferred property tax revenue is not available. 

Debt issuance costs are deferred over the life of the debt rather than when incurred 

Repayment of bond principal is reported as an expenditure in governmental 
funds and, thus, has the effect of reducing fund balance because current fmancial 
resources have been used. For governmental activities, however, the principal 
payments reduce the liabilities in the statement of net assets (deficit) and do not 
result in an expense in the statement of activities. 

Bond proceeds provide current fmancial resources to governmental funds, but issuing 
debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets. This is the amount of 
bonds proceeds issued during the current year. 

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used in the governmental funds, 
expenditures are not recognized for transactions that are not normally paid with 
expendable available fmancial resources. In the statement of activities, however, 
which is presented on the accrual basis, expenses and liabilities are reported 
regardless of when fmancial resources are available. 

Accreted interest on Capital Appreciation Bonds 

Change in net assets (deficit) of government-wide activities 

See notes to fmancial statements. 
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$ 111,717,373 

9,824,141 

1,325,408 

42,475,000 

(137,001,556) 

(5,870,097) 

$ 22,470,269 



CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 

CENTRAL LOOP REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS 
DECEMBER 31,2003 

ASSETS: 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) 
Accrued interest receivable 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES: 
Accrued liabilities 

Total liabilities 

NET ASSETS 

See notes to financial statements. 
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Agency 
Fund 

$3,477,069 
1 475 

3.478.544 

3.478.544 

3.478,544 

$ 



CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 

CENTRAL LOOP REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003 

1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) Reporting Entity: 

The Central Loop Redevelopment Project (the "Project") was established as a Tax Increment 
Financing ("TIF") district by the City of Chicago, lllinois (the "City") in 1997. The Project is an 
extension of the North Loop Redevelopment Project established in 1984 and has been established 
to finance improvements, leverage private investment, and create and retain jobs within the TIF 
district. 

(b) Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statements Presentation 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the accrual basis of accounting. 
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred 
regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the 
year for which they are levied. The fiduciary funds are excluded from the government-wide 
financial statements. 

The governmental fund financial statements are prepared on the modified accrual basis of 
accounting with only current assets and liabilities included on the balance sheet. Under the 
modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual, i.e., both 
measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period. Available means 
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the 
current period. Property taxes are susceptible to accrual and recognized as a receivable in the year 
levied. Revenue recognition is deferred unless the taxes are received within 60 days subsequent to 
year-end. Expenditures are recorded when the liability is incurred. The Project is accounted for 
within the capital projects, debt service, special revenue and agency funds of the City. 

• Governmental Funds-The Project is accounted for within the capital projects, debt service 
and special revenue fund types ofthe City. Capital projects funds account for financial 
resources to be used for the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities. Debt 
service funds account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of, debt and 
related costs. Special revenue funds account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources 
requiring separate accounting because of legal, grant or regulatory provisions or 
administrative action. These funds are presented herein on a combined basis. 

• Fiduciary (Agency) Fund-An agency fund accounts for assets held by the Project in a 
trustee capacity for a developer deposit. Agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equal 
liabilities) and do not involve measurement of results of operations. 
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Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to December 1, 1989, 
generally are followed in government-wide financial statements to the extent that those standards 
do not conflict with or contradict guidance of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. 
The City has elected not to follow subsequent private-sector guidance. 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to use 
restricted resources first, and then unrestricted resources, as they are needed. 

(c) Management's Use of Estimates-The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Accordingly, actual 
results could differ from these estimates. 

(d) Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets: 

• Cash, cash equivalents and Investments: 

The bond proceeds and incremental taxes associated with the Project are deposited with the 
City Treasurer or a trust account. The Municipal Code of Chicago (the "Code") permits 
deposits only to City Council-approved depositories, which must be regularly organized state 
or national banks and federal and state savings and loan associations, located within the City, 
whose deposits are federally insured. The City uses separate escrow accounts in which 
certain tax revenues are deposited and held for payment of general obligation debt. 

Investments authorized by the Code include interest-bearing general obligations of the City, 
State oflllinois (State), and U.S. Government; U.S. treasury bills and other non-interest­
bearing general obligations of the U.S. Government purchased in the open market below face 
value; domestic money market funds regulated and in good standing with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission; and tax anticipation warrants issued by the City. The City is 
prohibited by ordinance from investing in derivatives, as defined, without City Council 
approval. 

Investments, generally, may not have a maturity in excess of one year from the date of 
purchase. Certain other investment balances are held in accordance with the specific 
provisions of the applicable bond ordinance. 

Cash equivalents include certificates of deposit and other investments with maturities of 
three months or less when purchased. 

• Capital Assets: 

The Government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net assets and the statement 
of changes in net assets) of the City include the capital assets and related depreciation, if any, 
of the Project in which ownership of the capital asset will remain with the City 
(i.e., infrastructure, or municipal building). All other construction will be expensed in both 
the government-wide financial statements and the governmental funds as neither the City nor 
Project will retain the right of ownership. 
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(e) Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability: 

• Illinois Tax Increment Redevelopment Allocation Act Compliance: 

The Project's expenditures include reimbursements for various eligible costs as described in 
subsection (q) of Section 11-74.4-3 of the lllinois Tax Increment Redevelopment Allocation 
Act and the Redevelopment Agreement relating specifically to the Project. Eligible costs 
include but are not limited to survey, property assembly, rehabilitation, public infrastructure, 
financing and relocation costs. 

• Reimbursements: 

Reimbursements are made to the developer for project costs, as public improvements are 
completed and pass City inspection. The semi-annual principal and interest payments are 
made solely from incremental real property taxes, which are paid in the redevelopment 
district. 

2. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS 

Deposits-Certain deposits with the City Treasurer are commingled and invested by the Treasurer with 
deposits from other City funds; accordingly, it is not practical to disclose the related bank balance of 
such cash deposits for the Project. Of the City Treasurer's total bank balances at December 31, 2003, 
$182.7 million or 90.2 percent was either insured or collateralized with securities held by City agents in 
the City's name. The remaining balances were uninsured and uncollateralized. 

Investments-Investments are categorized to give an indication of the level of credit risk. Category 1 
includes investments that are insured or registered in the City's name or the securities were held by the 
City or its agent in the City's name. Category 2 includes uninsured and unregistered investments for 
which the securities are held by the counter party's trust department or its agent in the City's name. 
Category 3 includes uninsured and unregistered investments for which the securities are held by the 
financial institution or counter party, or by its trust department or agent, but not in the City's name. 
Pooled funds include primarily money market accounts. The following table provides a summary for all 
Project funds at December 31, 2003: 

Description 

U.S. Government obligations 

Noncategorized-pooled funds 

Total 

- 13-

Risk 
Category 

1 

2003 

$ 97,143,807 

136,554.039 

$233,697,846 



The following reconciles the fair value of investments to the financial statements: 

Investments 
Investments included in cash and investments with escrow agent 
Investments included in cash and cash equivalents 

Total 

3. BONDS PAY ABLE 

2003 

$ 76,568,512 
73,942,547 
83,186,787 

$233,697,846 

In September 2003, the City authorized and issued the City of Chicago General Obligation Bonds 
(Central Loop Redevelopment Project) Series 2003 ($137.0 million). The bonds were sold as capital 
appreciation bonds and have yields ranging from 2.3 percent to 4.07 percent and have maturity dates 
ranging from December 1, 2005 to December 1, 2008. Net proceeds ($135.6 million) will be used to 
finance certain Project costs. Available tax increment revenues, an ad valorem tax levy or any revenues 
of the City legally available for that purpose can be used to fund the debt service. 

Tax Increment Allocation Bonds (Central Loop Redevelopment Project), Series 2000 A andTaxable 
Series 2000 B ($142.3 million) were sold in November 2000. The Series 2000 A ($79.9 million) were 
sold as capital appreciation bonds having yields of 5.03 percent and maturity dates ranging from 
December 1, 2005 to December 1, 2008. The Taxable Series 2000 B ($62.4 million) were sold as 
current interest bonds having interest rates ranging from 6.55 percent to 6.8 percent with maturity dates 
ranging from December 1, 2002 to December 1, 2005. Net proceeds of$139.4 million will be used to 
finance certain Project costs ($125.2 million) and fund the debt service reserve account ($14.2 million). 

Subordinate Tax Increment Allocation Bonds (Central Loop Redevelopment Project), Series 2000 A 
($98.9 million) were sold in November 2000. The bonds have interest rates ranging from 6.25 percent 
to 6.5 percent with maturity dates ranging from December 1, 2002 to December 1, 2008. Net proceeds 
of$95.9 million together with certain proceeds of$10.0 million released from the debt service reserve 
account in respect to the Tax Increment Allocation Bonds (Central Loop Redevelopment Project), 
Series 1997 A were used to advance refund all of the Tax Increment Allocation Bonds (Central Loop 
Redevelopment Project), Series 1997 A ($95.0 million); fund the debt service reserve requirement for 
the Subordinate Tax Increment Allocation Bonds (Central Loop Redevelopment Project), Series 2000 A 
($9.9 million); and fund a portion of the Project costs ($1.0 million). The advance refunding increased 
total debt payments by $22.9 million and resulted in an economic loss of $9.2 million. The City 
advance refunded the Series 1997 A bonds in order to remove certain covenants and to issue new bonds 
to finance additional redevelopment project costs. 

In November 1997, the City authorized and issued the City of Chicago Tax Increment Allocation Bonds 
(Central Loop Redevelopment Project) Series 1997 A ($96.0 million) and Taxable Series 1997 B 
($91.0 million). The bonds have interest rates ranging from 4.5 percent to 6.375 percent and have 
maturity dates ranging from June 1, 1999 to June 1, 2007. Certain net proceeds ($166.6 million) are to 
be used to finance redevelopment of the TIF district. During 2000, $96.0 million was defeased with the 
issuance of the new bonds. 
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4. 

Long-term liability activity for the year ended December 31, 2003 was as follows: 

Capital 
Appreciation 

Bonds Payable Bonds Total Bonds 

Beginning balance $253,446,614 $ 8,789,342 $262,235;956 

Additions 137,001,556 5,870,097 142,871,653 
Reductions (42,475,000) (42,475,000) 

Ending balance $347,973,170 $14,659,439 $362,632,609 

Amounts due within one year $ 37,825,000 

The following summarizes debt service requirements as ofDecember 31, 2003: 

Year Ending 
December31 Principal Interest Total 

2004 $ 37,825,000 $ 8,562,225 $ 46,387,225 
2005 58,226,452 9,867,213 68,093,665 
2006 54,585,262 14,393,113 68,978,375 
2007 56,714,785 16,460,965 73,175,750 
2008 140.621.671 29.015.829 169.637.500 

Total $347.973,170 $78.299,345 $426.272.515 

COMMITMENTS 

The City has pledged certain amounts solely from available excess incremental taxes to provide 
financial assistance to a developer under the terms of a redevelopment agreement for the purpose of 
paying costs of certain eligible redevelopment project costs. 

As of December 31, 2003, the Project has entered into contracts for services and construction projects 
for approximately $7.5 million. 

* * * * * * 
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 

CENTRAL LOOP REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES BY STATUTORY CODE 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 I 2003 

EXPENDITURES: 
Costs of studies, surveys, development of plans and specifications, 

implementation and administration of the redevelopment plan 
including but not limited to staff and professional service costs 
for architectural, engineering, legal and marketing 

Costs of property assembly, including but not limited to acquisition 
ofland and other property, real or personal, or rights and interests 
therein, demolition ofbuildings, and the clearing and grading of land 

Costs of rehabilitation, reconstruction or repair or remodeling of 
existing public or private buildings and fixtures 

Costs of the construction of public works or improvements 

Costs of job training and retraining projects 

Costs of financing, including but not limited to all necessary and 
incidental expenses related to the issuance of obligations and 
which may include payment of interest on any obligations issued 
hereunder accruing during the estimated period of construction of 
any redevelopment project for which such obligations are issued 
and for not exceeding 36 months thereafter and including reasonable 
reserves related thereto 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 

- 16-

$ 1,549,063 

433,934 

5,416,297 

29,226,327 

601,532 

54,217,718 

$91,444,871 
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(3) MAYOR'S CERTIFICATION- 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5(d)(3) 

Please see attached. 
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) 

COUNTY OF COOK ) 

CERTIFICATION 

TO: 

Daniel W. Hynes 
Comptroller of the State oflllinois 
James R. Thompson Center 
100 West Randolph Street, Suite 15-500 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
Attention: Carol Reckamp, Director of Local 

Government 

Dolores Javier, Treasurer 
City Colleges of Chicago 
226 West Jackson Boulevard, Room 1125 
Chicago, Illinois 60606 

Gwendolyn Clemons, Director 
Cook County Department of Planning & 
Development 
69 West Washington Street, Room 2900 
Chicago, Illinois 60602 

Attn: Jackie Harder 

Dan Donovan, Comptroller 
Forest Preserve District of Cook County 
536 North Harlem Avenue 
River Forest, Illinois 60305 
Att: Kim Feeney 

Martin J. Koldyke, Chairman 
Chicago School Finance Authority 
135 South LaSalle Street, Suite 3800 
Chicago, Illinois 60603 

Tim Mitchell, General Superintendent & CEO 
Chicago Park District 
541 North Fairbanks Court, 7th Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60611 

Arne Duncan, Chief Executive Officer 
Chicago Board of Education 
125 South Clark Street, 5th Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60603 

Attn: Linda Wrightsell 

Jacqueline Torres, Director of Finance 
Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of 

Greater Chicago 
100 East Erie Street, Room 2429 
Chicago, Illinois 60611 

Attn: Joe Rose 

Wallace Young 
South Cook County Mosquito Abatement 

District 
155th & Dixie Highway 
P.O. Box 1030 
Harvey, Illinois 60426 

Attn: Dr. Khian K. Liem 

I, RICHARD M. DALEY, in connection with the annual report (the "Report") of 
information required by Section 11-74.4-S(d) ofthe Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment 
Act, 65 ILCSS/11-74.4-1 et seq, (the "Act") with regard to the Central Loop Redevelopment 
Project Area (the "Redevelopment Project Area"), do hereby certify as follows: 



1. I am the duly qualified and acting Mayor of the City of Chicago, Illinois (the "City") 
and, as such, I am the City's Chief Executive Officer. This Certification is being given by me in 
such capacity. 

2. During the preceding fiscal year of the City, being January 1 through December 31, 
2003, the City complied, in all material respects, with the requirements of the Act, as applicable 
from time to time, regarding the Redevelopment Project Area. 

3. In giving this Certification, I have relied on the opinion of the Corporation Counsel of 
the City furnished in connection with the Report. 

4. This Certification may be relied upon only by the addressees hereof. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto affixed my official signature as of this 30th 
day of June, 2004. 
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(4) OPINION OF LEGAL COUNSEL- 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5(d)(4) 

Please see attached. 
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City of Chicago 
Richard M. Daley, Mayor 

Department of Law 

MaraS. Georges 
Corporation Counsel 

City Hall, Room 600 
121 North LaSalle Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60602 
(312) 744-6900 
(312) 744-8538 (FAX) 
(312) 744-2963 (TTY) 

http://www.ci.chi.il.us 

BUILDING CHICAGO TOGETHER 

June 30, 2004 

Daniel W. Hynes 
Comptroller of the State of Illinois 
James R. Thompson Center 
100 West Randolph Street, Suite 15-500 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
Attention: Carol Reckamp, Director of Local 

Government 

Dolores Javier, Treasurer 
City Colleges of Chicago 
226 West Jackson Boulevard, Room 1125 
Chicago, Illinois 60606 

Gwendolyn Clemons, Director 
Cook County Department of Planning & 

Development 
69 West Washington Street, Room 2900 
Chicago, Illinois 60602 

Attn: Jackie Harder 

Dan Donovan, Comptroller 
F crest Preserve District of Cook County 
536 North Harlem Avenue 
River Forest, Illinois 60305 
Att: Kim Feeney 

Martin J. Koldyke, Chairman 
Chicago School Finance Authority 
135 South LaSalle Street, Suite 3800 
Chicago, Illinois 60603 

Re: Central Loop 

Tim Mitchell, General Superintendent & 
CEO 

Chicago Park District 
541 North Fairbanks Court, 7th Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60611 

Arne Duncan, Chief Executive Officer 
Chicago Board of Education 
125 South Clark Street, 5th Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60603 

Attn: Linda Wrightsell 

Jacqueline Torres, Director of Finance 
Metropolitan Water Reclamation District 

of Greater Chicago 
100 East Erie Street, Room 2429 
Chicago, Illinois 60611 

Attn: Joe Rose 

Wallace Young 
South Cook County Mosquito Abatement 

District 
155th & Dixie Highway 
P.O. Box 1030 
Harvey, Illinois 60426 

Attn: Dr. Khian K. Liem 

Redevelopment Project Area (the "Redevelopment Project 
Area") 

Dear Addressees: 

I am Corporation Counsel of the City of Chicago, Illinois (the "City"). In 
such capacity, I am providing the opinion required by Section 11-74.4-5(d)(4) of the 
Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act, 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-1 et ~- (the 
"Act"), in connection with the submission of the report (the "Report") in accordance 
with, and containing the information required by, Section 11-74.4-5(d) of the Act for 
the Redevelopment Project Area. 



Opinion of Counsel for 2003 Annual Report 
Page 2 

June 30, 2004 

Attorneys, past and present, in the Law Department of the City familiar with the requirements of 
the Act have had general involvement in the proceedings affecting the Redevelopment Project Area, 
including the preparation of ordinances adopted by the City Council of the City with respect to the 
following matters: approval of the redevelopment plan and project for the Redevelopment Project Area, 
designation of the Redevelopment Project Area as a redevelopment project area and adoption of tax 
increment allocation financing for the Redevelopment Project Area, all in accordance with the then 
applicable provisions of the Act. Various departments of the City, including, if applicable, the Law 
Department, Department of Planning and Development, Department of Housing, Department of Finance 
and Office of Budget and Management, have personnel responsible for and familiar with the activities in 
the Redevelopment Project Area affecting such Department(s) and with the requirements of the Act in 
connection therewith. Such personnel are encouraged to seek and obtain, and do seek and obtain, the 
legal guidance of the Law Department with respect to issues that may arise from time to time regarding 
the requirements of, and compliance with, the Act. 

In my capacity as Corporation Counsel, I have relied on the general knowledge and actions of the 
appropriately designated and trained staff of the Law Department and other applicable City Departments 
involved with the activities affecting the Redevelopment Project Area. In addition, I have caused to be 
examined or reviewed by members of the Law Department of the City the certified audit report, to the 
extent required to be obtained by Section ll-74.4-5(d)(9) of the Act and submitted as part of the Report, 
which is required to review compliance with the Act in certain respects, to determine if such audit report 
contains information that might affect my opinion. I have also caused to be examined or reviewed such 
other documents and records as were deemed necessary to enable me to render this opinion. Nothing has 
come to my attention that would result in my need to qualify the opinion hereinafter expressed, subject to 
the limitations hereinafter set forth, unless and except to the extent set forth in an Exception Schedule 
attached hereto as Schedule 1. 

Based on the foregoing, I am of the opinion that, in all material respects, the City is in 
compliance with the provisions and requirements of the Act in effect and then applicable at the time 
actions were taken from time to time with respect to the Redevelopment Project Area. 

This opinion is given in an official capacity and not personally and no personal liability shall 
derive herefrom. Furthermore, the only opinion that is expressed is the opinion specifically set forth 
herein, and no opinion is implied or should be inferred as to any other matter. Further, this opinion may 
be relied upon only by the addressees hereof and the Mayor of the City in providing his required 
certification in connection with the Report, and not by any other party. 

Very truly yours, 

=~::s·~ 
Corporation Counsel 



(X) No Exceptions 

SCHEDULE 1 

(Exception Schedule) 

( ) Note the following Exceptions: 



Central Loop Redevelopment Project Area 
2003 Annual Report 

(5) ANALYSIS OF SPECIAL TAX ALLOCATION FUND- 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5(d)(5) 

COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE-GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2003 

Revenues 
Property tax 
Sales tax 
Interest 
Rental Income 
Miscellaneous income 

Total revenues 

Expenditures 
Costs of studies, admin., and professional services. (q)(l) 
Marketing costs. (q)(1.6) 
Property assembly, demolition, site preparation and environmental 

site improvement costs. (q)(2) 
Costs of rehabilitation, reconstruction, repair or remodeling and 

of existing buildings. (q)(3) 
Costs of construction of public works and improvements. (q)(4) 
Cost of job training and retraining. (q)(5) 
Financing costs. (q)(6) 
Approved capital costs of overlapping taxing districts. (q)(7) 
Cost of reimbursing school district for their increase costs caused 

by TIF assisted housing projects (q)(7.5) 
Relocation costs. (q)(8) 
Payments in lieu of taxes. (q)(9) 
Costs of job training, retraining advanced vocational or career 

education provided by other taxing bodies. (q)(l 0) 
Costs of reimbursing private developers for interest expenses 

incurred on approved redevelopment projects. (q)(l I )(A-E) 
Costs of construction of new housing units for low income and very 

low income households. (q)(II)(F) 
Cost of day care services and operational costs of day care centers. 

(q)(ll.5) 

Total expenditures 

Expenditures over revenues 

Other financing sources 
Proceeds of debt 

Revenues and other financing sources over expenditures 

Fund balance, beginning of year 

Fund balance, end of year 

Fund balance 
Reserved for debt service 
Reserved for encumbrances 
Designated for future redevelopment project costs 

Total fund balance 

6 

2003 

$ 63,495,185 

1,319,482 
116,253 

1,229,768 

66,160,688 

I ,549,063 

433,934 

5,416,297 
29,226,327 

601,532 
54,217,718 

91,444,871 

(25,284,183) 

137,001,556 

I I 1,717,373 

129,779,350 

$ 241,496,723 

75,995,109 
7,538,704 

$ __ ..:.1.::.5..:..7.<.:,9C..:60.::2'-l.9;:...:..1 o, 
$ ===2=4=1,,4=9=6,, 7=2=3=-
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(5) ANALYSIS OF SPECIAL TAX ALLOCATION FUND- 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5(d)(5) 
cont. 

Below is listed all vendors, including 
other municipal funds, that were 
paid in excess of $5,000 during the 
current reporting year. 

Name Service Amount 

Administrative Costs1 Administration $1,026,586 

Skidmore Owings & Merrill LLP Consultant $68,135 

Chicago Tourism Fund Consultant $30,000 

Deloitte & Touche Consultant $14,950 

William A. McCann & Associates Consultant $13,422 

Baird Land Surveyors Consultant $8,093 

HNTB Illinois, Inc. Consultant $9,004 

Chicago Dept. ofTranSI>_ortation Consultant $19,373 

Greater State Street Council Consultant $17,823 

Arbitage Rebate Co. Consultant $5,400 

U.S. Equities Realty LLC Consultant $147,820 

Michigan-Wacker Associates Development $1,000,000 

American Youth Hostels Development $400,000 

One North Dearborn Trust Development $1,369,569 

Internal Revenue Service Financing $82,053 

Cole Taylor Bank Financing $52,787,445 

Capital Assurance 
Financing 

$285,471 

Mesirow Financial, Inc. 
Financing 

$822,009 

The Knight Group 
Financing 

$50,000 

Schiff, Hardin & White 
Financing 

$90,000 

Burks, Bums & Pinelli 
Financing 

$36,000 

Moody's Investor Service 
Financing 

$26,716 

Standard & Poor's 
Financing 

$15,600 

Bowne of Chicago 
Financing 

$17,024 

Jobs for Youth/ Chicago Job Training $601,532 

Neal, Murdock & Leroy LLC Legal $155,092 

Burke Warren MacKay & Serritella Legal $25,230 

7 
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Below is listed all vendors, including 
other municipal funds, that were 
paid in excess of $5,000 during the 
current reporting year. 

Name Service 

Public Building Commission Public Improvement 

Chicago Department of Transportation Public Improvement 

Chicago Park District Public Improvement 

Ameritech Public Improvement 

F.H. Paschen/ S.N. Nielson, Inc. Public Improvement 

Pacific Construction Co. Public Improvement 

McDonough Associates Public Improvement 

Kenny Construction Public Improvement 

Industrial Steel Construction, Inc. Public Improvement 

East Lake Management Co. R.E. Acquisition 

Cook CountyCollector R.E. Acquisition 

SomerCor 504, Inc. Rehabilitation 

Public Building Commission Rehabilitation 

M!glin-Beitler Management Rehabilitation 

Amount 

$26,675,804 

$970,000 

$160,000 

$9,172 

$103,891 

$57,770 

$72,989 

$60,870 

$1,105,763 

$10,229 

$423,705 

$482,625 

$2,109,264 

$54,839 

1 Costs relate directly to the salaries and fringe benefits of employees working solely on tax increment financing districts. 
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(6) DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY- 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5(d)(6) 

During 2003, the City did not purchase any property in the Project Area. 

9 
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(7) STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES- 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5(d)(7) 

(A) Projects implemented in the preceding fiscal year. 
(B) A description of the redevelopment activities undertaken. 
(C) Agreements entered into by the City with regard to disposition or redevelopment of any 

property within the Project Area. 
(D) Additional information on the use of all Funds received by the Project Area and steps 

taken by the City to achieve the objectives of the Redevelopment Plan. 
(E) Information on contracts that the City's consultants have entered into with parties that 

have received, or are receiving, payments financed by tax increment revenues produced 
by the Project Area. 

(F) Joint Review Board reports submitted to the City. 
(G) Project-by-project review of public and private investment undertaken from 11/1/99 to 

12/31/03, and of such investments expected to be undertaken in year 2004; also, a 
project-by-project ratio of private investment to public investment from 11/1/99 to 
12/31/03, and an estimated ratio of such investments as of the completion of each project 
and as estimated to the completion of the redevelopment project. 

SEE TABLES AND/OR DISCUSSIONS ON THE FOLLOWING PAGES. 
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(7)(A)- 65 ILCS 5/ll-74.6-22(d)(7)(A) 

1· Cfntrnllfi1J Inpuvemrt Rnl (CllF) IIDsrnm I 
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(7)(B)- 65 ILCS 5/11-74.6-22(d)(7)(B) 

Redevelopment activities undertaken within this Project Area during the year 2003, if any, have been made pursuant to i) the 
Redevelopment Plan for the Project Area, and ii) any Redevelopment Agreements affecting the Project Area, and are set forth on Table 
5 herein by TIF-eligible expenditure category. 

(7)(C)- 65 ILCS 5/11-74.6-22(d)(7)(C) 

TABLE 7 (C) 
AGREEMENTS ENTERED INTO WITH REGARD TO THE DISPOSITION & REDEVELOPMENT 
OF PROPERTY WITHIN THE PROJECT AREA 

PARTIES TO NATURE OF PROJECT DESCRIPTION ADDRESS JOBS CREATED/ 
AGREEMENT WITH AGREEMENT RETAINED 

CITY 
Various Central Loop Rehabilitation of properties in Various N/A 

Improvement Fund the Central Loop 
{CLIF) Program Redevelopment area owned by 

qualifying small businesses. 

12 
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(7)(D)- 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5(d)(7)(D) 

The Project Area has received $495,550,378 of property tax and sales tax (if applicable) 
increment since the creation of the Project Area. These amounts have been used to pay for 
project costs within the Project Area and for debt service (if applicable). The Project Area's fund 
balance as shown on Table 5 represents (on a modified accrual basis) financial resources 
(including increment) that have not been expended. 

(7)(E) - 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5(d)(7)(E) 
During 2003, no contracts were entered into by the City's tax increment advisors or consultants 
with entities or persons that have received, or are receiving, payments financed by tax increment 
revenues produced by the Project Area. 

(7)(F)- 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5(d)(7)(F) 

During 2003, no reports were submitted to the City by the Joint Review Board. 

13 



Central Loop Redevelopment Project Area 
2003 Annual Report 

(7)(G)- 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5(d)(7)(G) 

TABLE 7(G) 
PROJECT BY PROJECT REVIEW OF PUBLIC AND PRN ATE INVESTMENT 
AND RATIO OF PRN ATE TO PUBLIC INVESTMENT * 

Projects Undertaken in This Private Investment Undertaken Public Investment Undertaken 
Redevelopment Project Area 

11/1/1999 to Amount Estimated to 11/1/1999 to End Amount 
End of Complete the Project of Reporting FY Estimated to 
Reporting FY 2003 Complete the 
2003 Project 

Project 1: Dearborn Center, L.L.C. n/a $327,200,000 $0 $10,000,000 

Project 2: CLIF Program** n/a $3,000,000 $1,255,609 $1,500,000 

Project 3: American Youth Hostels n/a $10,470,000 $2,599,219 $3,530,000 
Project 4: Canal Street Hotel n/a $19,325,000 $2,458,426 $2,500,000 
Partners LP 
Project 5: Goodman Theater n/a $40,783,000 $18,458,216 $18,800,000 
Project 6: Palmet Venture, L.L.C. n/a $60,100,000 $16,394,147 $17,600,000 
Project 7: Livent Realty (Chicago) n/a $15,000,000 $18,399,077 $17,000,000 
Inc. 
Project 8: 201 North Wells n/a $38,439,149 $7,000,000 $7,000,000 
Investors, L.L.C.; 201 Wells 
Investors, Inc. 
Project 9: 330 South Michigan n/a $21,308,030 $1,178,924 $2,030,000 
Project 10: Chicago Oxford n/a $25,800,000 $1,608,871 $1,700,000 
Associates LP 

14 

Ratio Of Private/Public 
Investment 

11/1/1999 to Ratio Estimated 
End of as ofProject 
Reporting FY Completion 
2003 

n/a 33:1 

n/a 2:1 

n/a 3:1 
n/a 8:1 

n/a 2:1 
n/a 3:1 
n/a 1:1 

n/a 4:1 

n/a 10:1 
n/a 15:1 
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TABLE 7(G) CONT. 
Projects Undertaken in This Private Investment Undertaken 
Redevelopment Project Area 

1111/1999 to Amount Estimated to 
End of Complete the Project 
Reporting FY 
2003 

Project 11: Chicago Symphony n/a $64,500,000 
Orchestra 
Project 12: EthnicGrocer.com, n/a $2,548,918 
Inc. 
Proiect 13: Fisher Building n/a $27,280,973 
Project 14: Mentor Building, LLC n/a $9,006,161 
Project 15: Michigan Wacker n/a $9,200,000 
Associates, L.L.C. 
Project 16: One North Dearborn n/a $124,055,809 
LLC 
Project 17: One South State n/a $63,415,586 
Street, L.L.C. 
Project 18: St. George Hotel, n/a $76,200,000 
L.L.C.; HRH Development, L.L.C. 
Project 19: State Cite, LLC (Info n/a $28,521,000 
Tech) 
Total: n/a $966,153,626 
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Public Investment Undertaken Ratio Of Private/Public 
Investment 

1111/1999 to End Amount 111111999 to Amount 
of Reporting FY Estimated to End of Estimated to 
2003 Complete the Reporting FY Complete the 

Proiect 2003 Project 
$2,500,000 $2,500,000 n/a 26:1 

$0 $1,148,255 n/a 2:1 

$6,600,000 $6,600,000 n/a 4:1 
$2,500,000 $2,500,000 n/a 4:1 
$1,000,000 $1,500,000 n/a 6:1 

$11,810,402 $13,500,000 n/a 9:1 

$0 $5,500,000 n/a 12:1 

$4,250,000 $5,000,000 n/a 15:1 

$8,000,000 $8,000,000 n/a 3:1 

$106,012,591 $127,908,255 n/a n/a 
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TABLE 7(G) CONT. 

Projects Estimated To Be Private Investment Undertaken 
Undertaken During 2004 

Project 1: Shubert Associates, LLC $24,213,000 
Total: $24,213,000 

Public Investment Undertaken Ratio of Private/Public 
Investment 

$5,750,000 4:1 
$5,750,000 4:1 

* Each actual or estimated Public Investment reported here is, to the extent possible, comprised only of payments fmanced by tax increment revenues. In 
contrast, each actual or estimated Private Investment reported here is, to the extent possible, comprised of payments financed by revenues that are not tax 
increment revenues and, therefore, may include private equity, private lender fmancing, private grants, or other local, state or federal grants or loans. 

Each amount reported here under Public Investment Undertaken, Amount Estimated to Complete the Project, is the maximum amount of payments 
financed by tax increment revenues that could be made pursuant to the corresponding Project's operating documents and may not necessarily reflect actual 
expenditures, if any, as reported in Sections 2 or 5 herein. The total public investment amount ultimately made under each Project will depend upon the future 
occurrence of various conditions set forth in the Project's operating documents. 

Each amount reported here under Public Investment Undertaken, 111111999 to End of Reporting FY, is cumulative from the date of execution of the 
corresponding Project to the end of the reporting year, and may include interest amounts paid to fmance the Public Investment amount. Projects for which the last 
Public Investment made was prior to 111111999 are not reported on this table. 

** Depending on the particular goals of this type of program, the City may: i) make an advance disbursement of the entire public investment amount to the 
City's program administrator, ii) disburse the amounts through an escrow account, or iii) pay the funds out piecemeal to the program administrator as each 
ultimate grantee's rehabilitation work is approved under the program. 
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(8) DOCUMENTS RELATING TO OBLIGATIONS ISSUED BY THE 
MUNICIPALITY- 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5(d)(8)(A) 

This information is contained in the official statements, limited offering memoranda, promissory 
notes or debt service schedules of such obligations. See attached. 
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NEW ISSUE- BOOK ENTRY ONLY RATINGS: See "RATINGS" herein 

Subject to compliance by the City with certain covenants, in the opinion of Co-Bond Counsel, under present law, interest 
on the Series 2003A Bonds is excludable from the gross income of their owners for federal income tax purposes and thus is 
exempt from present federal income taxes based on gross income. Interest on the Series 2003A Bonds is not an item of tax 
preference in computing the alternative minimum tax on individuals and corporations, but is taken into account in computing an 
adjustment used to determine the alternative minimum tax for certain corporations. Interest on the Series 2003B Bonds is not 
excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Interest on the Series 2003 Bonds is not exempt from present 
Illinois income taxes. See "TAX EXEMPTION." 
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The General Obligation Bonds (Central Loop Redevelopment Project), Series 2003A (the "Series 2003A Bonds") 
and the General Obligation Bonds (Central Loop Redevelopment Project), Series 2003B (Taxable) (the "Series 2003B Bonds," 
and together with the Series 2003A Bonds, the "Series 2003 Bonds") will be issued in fully registered form pursuant to a Trust 
Indenture dated as of September 1, 2003 (the" Trust Indenture") from the City of Chicago (the "City") to Cole Taylor Bank, 
as trustee, as supplemented by a First Supplemental Indenture dated as of September I, 2003 (the "First Supplemental 
Indenture," and together with the Trust Indenture, the "Indenture"). The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York 
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details on ownership, payments, notices and other matters under the book-entry only system, see "DESCRIPTION OF THE 
SERIES 2003 BONDS - Book-Entry System" herein. 

The Series 2003 Bonds will be issued as Capital Appreciation Bonds as described below and herein. The Accreted 
Amount of each Series 2003 Bond is payable at maturity. The Series 2003 Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to maturity. 

The Series 2003 Bonds are direct and general obligations of the City. The City has pledged its full faith and credit for 
the payment of Accreted Amounts on the Series 2003 Bonds. Payment of Accreted Amounts on the Series 2003 Bonds when due 
will be insured by a municipal bond insurance policy (the "Bond Insurance Policy") to be issued by XL Capital Assurance Inc. 
simultaneously with the delivery of the Series 2003 Bonds. See "BOND INSURANCE." 

}X:(b CAPITAL ASSURANCE. 

The Series 2003 Bonds are being issued for the purpose of (i) paying the cost of redevelopment projects within the 
City's Central Loop Redevelopment Project Area, (ii) paying certain redevelopment project costs that involve public property 
that is either contiguous to, or separated only by a right of way from, the Central Loop Redevelopment Project Area, (iii) paying 
for the Bond Insurance Policy pertaining to the Series 2003 Bonds, (iv) refunding certain outstanding developer notes issued by 
the City in connection with projects within the Central Loop Redevelopment Project Area, and (v) paying certain expenses 
incurred in connection with such refunding and the issuance of the Series 2003 Bonds. 

Maturities, Amounts and Yields are set forth on the inside of this cover page. 

The Series 2003 Bonds are offered for delivery when, as and if issued and subject to the approval of Schiff Hardin & 
Waite, Chicago, Illinois, and Burke Burns & Pinelli, Ltd., Chicago, Illinois, Co-Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters will be 
passed upon for the City by its Corporation Counsel, and for the Underwriters by their co-counsel, Vedder, Price, Kaufman & 
Kammholz, P.C., Chicago, Illinois, and Burris, Wright, Slaughter & Tom, LLC, Chicago, Illinois. It is expected that the 
Series 2003 Bonds will be delivered through the facilities of DTC on or about September 17, 2003. 
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Certain information contained in, or incorporated by reference in, this Official Statement has been 
obtained by the City of Chicago (the "City") from XL Capital Assurance Inc. (the "Bond Insurer''), DTC 
and other sources that are deemed reliable. No representation or warranty is made, however, as to the 
accuracy or completeness of such information by the Underwriters or the City. The Underwriters have 
reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, their 
responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of 
this transaction, but the Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information. 
This Official Statement is being used in connection with the sale of securities as referred to herein and 
may not be used, in whole or in part, for any other purpose. The delivery of this Official Statement at any 
time does not imply that information herein is correct as of any time subsequent to its date. 

No dealer, broker, salesperson or any other person has been authorized by the City, the Bond 
Insurer or the Underwriters to give any information or to make any representation other than as contained 
in this Official Statement in connection with the offering described herein and, if given or made, such 
other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the 
foregoing. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy 
any securities other than those described on the cover page, nor shall there be any offer to sell, solicitation 
of an offer to buy or sale of such securities in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful to make such offer, 
solicitation or sale. Neither this Official Statement nor any statement that may have been made verbally 
or in writing is to be construed as a contract with the registered or beneficial owners of the Series 2003 
Bonds. 

Any statements made in this Official Statement, including the Appendices, involving matters of 
opinion or estimates, whether or not so expressly stated, are set forth as such and not as representations of 
fact, and no representation is made that any of such estimates will be realized. This Official Statement 
contains certain forward-looking statements and information that are based on the City's beliefs as well as 
assumptions made by and information currently available to the City. Such statements are subject to 
certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties 
materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from 
those anticipated, estimated or expected. 

These securities have not been recommended by any federal or state securities commission or 
regulatory authority. Furthermore, the foregoing authorities have not confirmed the accuracy or 
determined the adequacy of this document. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense. 

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE SERIES 2003 BONDS THE 
UNDERWRITERS MAY OVERALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR 
MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICES OF THE SERIES 2003 BONDS AT LEVELS ABOVE THOSE 
WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF 
COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. THE PRICES AND OTHER TERMS 
RESPECTING THE OFFERING AND SALE OF THE SERIES 2003 BONDS MAY BE CHANGED 
FROM TIME TO TIME BY THE UNDERWRITERS AFTER THE SERIES 2003 BONDS ARE 
RELEASED FOR SALE, AND THE SERIES 2003 BONDS MAY BE OFFERED AND SOLD AT 
PRICES OTHER THAN THE INITIAL OFFERING PRICES, INCLUDING SALES TO DEALERS 
WHO MAY SELL THE SERIES 2003 BONDS INTO INVESTMENT ACCOUNTS. 
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OFnCIALSTATEMENT 

$137,001,556.30 
CITY OF CIDCAGO 

General Obligation Bonds 
(Central Loop Redevelopment Project), Series 2003 

(Capital Appreciation Bonds) 

$74,772,557.65 Series 2003A Bonds 
$62,228,998.65 Series 2003B (Taxable) Bonds 

INTRODUCTION 

This Official Statement, which includes the cover page, inside cover page and Appendices, sets 
forth information concerning the City of Chicago (the "City") and the City's $137,001,556.30 aggregate 
principal amount of General Obligation Bonds (Central Loop Redevelopment Project), Series 2003A (the 
"Series 2003A Bonds") and General Obligation Bonds (Central Loop Redevelopment Project), Series 
2003B (Taxable) (the "Series 2003B Bonds," and together with the Series 2003A Bonds, the "Series 2003 
Bonds"). The Series 2003 Bonds are being issued under and pursuant to Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 
Illinois Constitution of 1970, the Illinois Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act (65 ILCS 5/11-
74.4-1 et seq.) (the "Act"), an ordinance duly adopted by the City Council ofthe City (the "City 
Council") on July 9, 2003 (the "Ordinance"), and a Trust Indenture dated as of September 1, 2003 (the 
"Trust Indenture") from the City to Cole Taylor Bank, as trustee (the "Trustee"), as supplemented by the 
First Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 1, 2003 relating to the Series 2003 Bonds (the "First 
Supplemental Indenture"). The Trust Indenture, as supplemented by the First Supplemental Indenture, is 
hereinafter referred to as the "Indenture." 

The Series 2003 Bonds are being issued for the purpose of (i) paying a portion of the Project 
Costs within the area of the City designated the Central Loop Redevelopment Project Area (the "Central 
Loop Redevelopment Project Area"), (ii) paying certain "redevelopment project costs" (as defined in the 
Act) that involve public property that is either contiguous to, or separated only by a right of way from, the 
Central Loop Redevelopment Project Area, (iii) paying for the bond insurance policy pertaining to the 
Series 2003 Bonds, (iv) refunding certain outstanding developer notes issued by the City in connection 
with projects within the Central Loop Redevelopment Project Area, and (v) paying certain expenses 
incurred in connection with such refunding and the issuance of the Series 2003 Bonds. The Central Loop 
Redevelopment Project Area is an 171 acre area bounded generally by Wacker Drive to the north, 
Michigan Avenue to the east, Congress Parkway to the south and Dearborn Street to the west (with the 
northwest portion extending beyond Dearborn Street to Franklin Street and the southwest portion 
extending to LaSalle Street). 

The Series 2003 Bonds are direct and general obligations of the City and are payable, as to 
Accreted Amounts, from any moneys, revenues, receipts, income, assets or funds of the City legally 
available for such purpose. The City has pledged its full faith and credit to the payment of the Series 
2003 Bonds. 

In the Ordinance, the City has levied for each of the years 2004 to 2007 a direct annual tax upon 
all taxable property in the City (the "Ad Valorem Taxes") sufficient to provide funds to pay the Accreted 
Amounts on the Series 2003 Bonds when due. Under the Indenture, the City will transfer Third Lien 
Revenues (defined below) to the extent available to the Trustee to provide for the payment of Accreted 
Amounts on the Series 2003 Bonds. The Ad Valorem Taxes levied by the City in the Ordinance will be 



abated to the extent Third Lien Revenues are transferred to the Trustee for payment of the Accreted 
Amounts on the Series 2003 Bonds. "Third Lien Revenues" are Incremental Taxes from the Central 
Loop Redevelopment Project Area transferred from the General Account under the Senior Lien Indenture 
to the Third Lien Revenue Fund to provide for the Accreted Amounts on the Series 2003 Bonds. 
Incremental Taxes are used first to pay principal of, premium, if any, or interest on (i) the City's Tax 
Increment Allocation Bonds (Central Loop Redevelopment Project), Series 1997 A and Taxable Series 
1997B (the "Series 1997 Bonds"), (ii) the City's Tax Increment Allocation Bonds (Central Loop 
Redevelopment Project), Series 2000A and Taxable Series 2000B (the "Series 2000 Bonds" and together 
with the Series 1997 Bonds, the "Senior Lien Bonds"), and (iii) the City's Subordinate Tax Increment 
Allocation Bonds (Central Loop Redevelopment Project), Series 2000A (the "Subordinate Lien Bonds"). 
"Incremental Taxes" are the Ad Valorem Taxes arising from the tax levies upon taxable real property in 
the Central Loop Redevelopment Project Area by all taxing districts or municipal corporations having the 
power to tax real property in the Central Loop Redevelopment Project Area, which taxes are attributable 
to the increase in the then current equalized assessed valuation of each taxable lot, block, tract or parcel of 
real property in the Central Loop Redevelopment Project Area over and above the Certified Initial 
Equalized Assessed Value of each such piece of property, as determined by the Clerk of The County of 
Cook, Illinois. 

See "SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2003 BONDS- General Obligation of the City," "-Third 
Lien Revenues," and "-Third Lien Revenue Fund." 

Limited information is provided in this Official Statement regarding Third Lien Revenues, 
Incremental Taxes, the Central Loop Redevelopment Project, the Central Loop Redevelopment Project 
Area, the Senior Lien Bonds or the Subordinate Lien Bonds. No consultant's report or financial analysis 
has been prepared or presented in this Official Statement on the amount of Third Lien Revenues that may 
be available to pay the Accreted Amounts on the Series 2003 Bonds. Prospective investors in the Series 
2003 Bonds should base their investment decision solely on the ad valorem tax levy for the Series 2003 
Bonds, the City's pledge of its full faith and credit and the other information included in this Official 
Statement. Neither the City nor the Underwriters makes any representation or warranty as to the amount 
of Third Lien Revenues that may be available to the City for payment of the Series 2003 Bonds. 

The summaries of, and references to, all documents, agreements, ordinances, statutes, reports or 
other instruments referred to in this Official Statement do not purport to be comprehensive or definitive 
and are qualified in their entirety by reference to each such document, agreement, ordinance, statute, 
report or instrument. 

THE CITY 

The City was incorporated in 183 7. The City is a municipal corporation and home rule unit of 
local government under the Illinois Constitution of 1970 and as such, "may exercise any power and 
perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs including, but not limited to, the power to 
regulate for the protection of the public health, safety, morals and welfare; to license; to tax; and to incur 
debt" except that it can "impose taxes upon or measured by incomes or earnings or upon occupation" only 
if authorized by statute. 

The General Assembly of the State oflllinois (the "State") may, by a three-fifths vote of each 
house, limit the ability of a home rule municipality to levy taxes. The General Assembly may similarly 
limit the debt that the City may incur, except that the General Assembly does not have the power to limit 
the debt payable from property taxes to less than three percent of the assessed valuation of the taxable 
property in the City. To date, the General Assembly has not imposed limits on the City's ability to levy 
taxes under its home rule powers or to incur debt payable from real property taxes. See "SECURITY 
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FOR THE SERIES 2003 BONDs-Property Tax Limits-State of Illinois" and "APPENDIX A-REAL 
PROPERTY TAX SYSTEM AND LIMITs-Property Tax Limits-State of Illinois." 

Corporate Fund 

The Corporate Fund of the City is used to account for all financial resources of the City except 
those required to be accounted for in special revenue or enterprise funds. 

2002 Corporate Fund Operations. On a budgetary basis, which reflects the use of a portion of 
appropriated surplus from prior years, revenues and other sources exceeded expenditures and other uses 
for 2002. Under generally accepted accounting principles, which do not recognize the use of appropriated 
surplus as a revenue or fmancing source, actual expenditures and other fmancing uses of $2,442.8 million 
exceeded revenues and other financing sources of$2,438.5 million by $4.3 million in 2002, due to a 
shortfall in revenues related to the slowdown in the national and regional economy. On December 31, 
2002, the fund balance in the Corporate Fund was $13 7.5 million, including an unreserved fund balance 
of$13.0 million. For additional information, see "APPENDIX C-BASIC FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS." 

2003 Corporate Fund Budget. The City's 2003 Corporate Fund Budget is $2,549.8 million. This 
budget reflects an increase of $22.2 million or 0.9%, over the 2002 Corporate Fund Budget. The City's 
2003 Corporate Fund Budget contains no additions or material changes to existing taxes and fees. The 
City's 2003 Corporate Fund Budget was approved by the City Council on December 4, 2002. An 
analysis of revenues and expenditures through the remainder of 2003 indicates that the Corporate Fund is 
projected to end the current fiscal year with an available unreserved fund balance of $16.9 million, which 
is a $3.9 million increase over 2002. 

2004 Corporate Fund Budget. On July 31, 2003, the City announced a preliminary budget for 
fiscal year 2004 which shows a shortfall in the Corporate Fund of approximately $115.5 million. The 
City expects to pass a balanced 2004 Corporate Fund budget before December 31,2003. 

Collective Bargaining Agreements 

Virtually all of the collective bargaining agreements between the City and its unions, with the 
exception ofthe Chicago Fire Fighters Union, Local No.2 ("CFFU") (covering approximately 5,000 
employees}, expired June 30, 2003. Many of these agreements provide for wage increases which became 
effective on January 1, 2003. These increases are provided for in the 2003 Corporate Fund Budget. 
Negotiations for successor collective bargaining agreements have commenced, but it is not known at this 
time when those negotiations will result in ratified successor agreements, or what the terms of the 
successor agreements will be. 

The City and the CFFU have reached an agreement on a successor to the 1995-1999 agreement. 
The agreement has been ratified by the CFFU membership and approved by the City Council. The CFFU 
agreement will cover the period July I, 1999 through June 30, 2007 and provides for a 1% wage increase 
effective July 1, 2003, and a 2% wage increase effective January 1, 2004. The City and the CFFU are 
free to negotiate for other benefits and provisions for the time frame July 1, 2003 through June 30, 2007. 
It is not yet known when those negotiations will commence or what the terms will be. 

City Investment Policies 

The investment of City funds is governed by the Municipal Code of Chicago (the "Municipal 
Code"). In accordance with the requirements of the Public Funds Investment Act adopted by the State, 
the City Council has adopted a Statement oflnvestment Policy and Guidelines for the purpose of 
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establishing written cash management and investment guidelines to be followed by the Office of the City 
Treasurer in the investment of City funds in accordance with the Municipal Code. 

Property Tax Appeal Board Decisions 

Certain decisions by the Illinois Property Tax Appeal Board in 2000 and 2001 may, if upheld in a 
final judicial decision, result in reduced levels of assessed valuations for certain owners of real property 
within the City, and may result in corresponding property tax refunds that the City would be obligated to 
pay. At this time, the City cannot predict the amount of any such refunds. See "APPENDIX A-REAL 
PROPERTY TAX SYSTEM AND LIMITS-Real Property Assessment, Tax Levy and Collection 
Procedures-Assessment." 

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 

The following table sets forth the estimated sources and uses of Series 2003 Bond proceeds. 

SOURCES OF FUNDS: 
Principal Amount of the Series 2003 Bonds ....... . 

Total Source of Funds ................................ . 

USES OF FUNDS: 
Project Costs ...................................................... .. 
Other Redevelopment Projects .......................... .. 
Refunding of Developer Notes .......................... . 
Costs of issuance (including bond insurance 

premium and Underwriters' discount) ............ . 
Total Uses of Funds .................................. .. 

Series 2003A Bonds Series 2003B Bonds Total 

$74,772,557.65 
$74.772 557 65 

$74,001,149.40 

771,408.25 
$74.772 557 65 

$62,228,998.65 
$62.228.998.65 

$46,702,893.15 
14,890,000.00 

636.105.50 
$62.228 998.65 

$137,001.556.30 
$137 001.556.30 

$74,001,149.40 
46,702,893 .15 
14,890,000.00 

1,407.513.75 
$137 001.556.30 

Proceeds of the Series 2003A Bonds and the Series 2003B Bonds will be deposited into separate, 
segregated accounts established by the City as provided in the First Supplemental Indenture and 
maintained in the Project Fund under or pursuant to the Indenture. Amounts on deposit in the respective 
project accounts will be applied to pay Project Costs and for the other uses shown above and described 
elsewhere in this Official Statement. 

THE SERIES 2003 BONDS 

General 

The Series 2003 Bonds will be issued as fully registered Capital Appreciation Bonds in 
denominations of $5,000 of Accreted Amount at maturity or any integral multiple thereof. The Series 
2003 Bonds will be initially dated the date of delivery and will mature on December 1 of the years and in 
the amounts shown on the inside cover page hereof. Interest on the Series 2003 Bonds will be 
accumulated and compounded from their date, at the approximate yields to maturity set forth on the inside 
cover page hereof, semi-annually on June 1 and December 1, commencing December 1, 2003, until 
maturity. The Accreted Amount of each Series 2003 Bond, including such interest, will be payable only 
in lawful money of the United States of America ("United States") at maturity upon presentation of such 
Series 2003 Bond at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee, or its successor in trust. 

A table of Accreted Amounts, per each $5,000 of Accreted Amount at maturity, on each June 1 
and December 1 is included as APPENDIX D. The Accreted Amount of each Series 2003 Bond on any 
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date other than June 1 and December 1 will be determined conclusively by the Trustee by interpolating 
the Accreted Amount using the straight line method, by reference to the Accreted Amount on the June 1 
and December 1 immediately prior to and immediately after such determination date, and the number of 
days (based on a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months) elapsed since the June 1 or December 1 
immediately prior to such date. 

The Trustee will serve as Bond Registrar and Paying Agent for the Series 2003 Bonds. 

No Redemption Prior to Maturity 

The Series 2003 Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to maturity. 

Negotiability, Transfer, Exchange and Registry 

The books for registration and transfer of the Series 2003 Bonds will be kept at the principal 
corpcrate trust office of the Registrar. See "THE SERIES 2003 BONDS-Book Entty System" for a 
discussion of registration and transfer of the beneficial ownership interests in Series 2003 Bonds while 
they are in the book entty system. The following provisions relate to the registration and transfer of 
Series 2003 Bonds when the Series 2003 Bonds are in certificated form. 

The Series 2003 Bonds will be negotiable, subject to the following provisions for registration, 
exchange and transfer. The City shall maintain and keep, at the office of the Registrar, books for the 
registration and transfer of Series 2003 Bonds. The City has appointed the Trustee to serve as the 
Registrar pursuant to the Indenture. Upon presentation of any Series 2003 Bond for registration and 
transfer at the office of the Registrar, the City shall register or cause to be registered upon those books, 
and shall permit to be transferred on those books, any Series 2003 Bond entitled to registration or transfer. 

Each Series 2003 Bond shall be transferable only by the Owner of the Series 2003 Bond in person 
or by such Owner's attorney duly authorized in writing, upon surrender ofthe Series 2003 Bond together 
with a written instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Registrar, duly executed by the Owner or such 
Owner's duly authorized attorney. Upon the surrender for transfer of any such Series 2003 Bond, the 
City shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver a new Series 2003 Bond or Series 2003 
Bonds registered as directed by the instrument of transfer, of the same Series, aggregate principal amount 
or Accreted Amount and maturity as the surrendered Series 2003 Bonds. The Series 2003 Bonds may, 
upon surrender at the office of the Registrar with a written instrument of transfer satisfactory to the 
Registrar, duly executed by the Owner or such Owner's duly authorized attorney, be exchanged for an 
equal aggregate principal amount or Accreted Amount of Series 2003 Bonds ofthe same Series, maturity 
and interest rate or approximate yield to maturity. 

The City and each Fiduciary may deem and treat the person in whose name any Series 2003 Bond 
is registered upon the registration books of the City as the absolute owner of such Series 2003 Bond, 
whether such Series 2003 Bond be overdue or not, for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account 
of, the principal or Accreted Amount of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on such Series 2003 
Bond and for all other purposes, and all such payments so made to any such Owner or upon its order will 
be valid and effective to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such Series 2003 Bond to the extent of 
the sum or sums so paid, and neither the City nor any Fiduciary will be affected by any notice to the 
contrary. 

For every transfer or exchange of Series 2003 Bonds, the City, the Trustee or any Registrar may 
make a charge sufficient to reimburse it for any tax, fee or other governmental charge required to be paid 
with respect to such transfer. The Registrar and the Trustee will not be required to make any registration, 
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transfer or exchange of Series 2003 Bonds during the period between each Record Date and the next 
succeeding Interest Payment Date. 

Book-entry System 

The following information has been furnished by DTC for use in this Official Statement, and 
neither the City nor any Underwriter takes any responsibility for its accuracy or completeness. 

DTC will act as securities depository for the Series 2003 Bonds. The Series 2003 Bonds will be 
issued as fully registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nominee), or 
such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative ofDTC. One fully registered Series 
2003 Bond will be issued for each maturity of the Series 2003 Bonds in the aggregate principal amounts 
thereof set forth herein, and will be deposited with DTC. 

DTC, the world's largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New 
York Banking Law, a "banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a 
member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York 
Uniform Commercial Code, and a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17 A 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). DTC holds and provides 
asset servicing for over two million issues ofU.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal 
debt issues, and money market instruments from over 85 countries that DTC's participants ("Direct 
Participants") deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants 
of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized 
book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants' accounts. This eliminates the need for 
physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. 
securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other 
organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation 
("DTCC"). DTCC, in turn, is owned by a number of Direct Participants ofDTC and Members of the 
National Securities Clearing Corporation, Government Securities Clearing Corporation, MBS Clearing 
Corporation, and Emerging Markets Clearing Corporation (NSCC, GSCC, MBSCC, and EMCC, also 
subsidiaries ofDTCC), as well as by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange 
LLC, and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Access to the DTC system is also available 
to others such as securities brokers and dealers, and banks and trust companies that clear through or 
maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect 
Participants"). DTC has Standard & Poor's highest rating: AAA. The DTC Rules applicable to its 
Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"). More 
information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of Series 2003 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct 
Participants, which will receive a credit for the Series 2003 Bonds on DTC's records. The ownership 
interest of each actual purchaser of each Series 2003 Bond ("Beneficial Owner") is in turn to be recorded 
on the Direct and Indirect Participants' records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation 
from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations 
providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or 
Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of 
ownership interests in the Series 2003 Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of 
Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not 
receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Series 2003 Bonds, except in the event that 
use of the book-entry system for the Series 2003 Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2003 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with 
DTC are registered in the name ofDTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co, or such other name as may be 
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requested by an authorized representative ofDTC. The deposit of Series 2003 Bonds with DTC and their 
registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial 
ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2003 Bonds; DTC's 
records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Series 2003 Bonds are 
credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will 
remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial 
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory 
requirements as may be in effect from time to time. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 
Series 2003 Bonds, unless authorized by a Direct Participant in connection with DTC's Procedures. 
Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the City as soon as possible after the record 
date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to 
whose accounts the Series 2003 Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to 
the Omnibus Proxy). 

Payment of the Accreted Amount on the Series 2003 Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such 
other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative ofDTC. DTC's practice is to credit 
Direct Participants' accounts, upon DTC 's receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the 
City or the Bond Registrar, on the payment date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on 
DTC 's records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions 
and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or 
registered in "street name," and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not ofDTC, the City or 
the Bond Registrar, as applicable, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect 
from time to time. Payment of the Accreted Amount to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be 
requested by an authorized representative ofDTC) is the responsibility of the City and the Bond 
Registrar; disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants shall be the responsibility ofDTC; and 
disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners shall be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect 
Participants. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Series 2003 Bonds 
at any time by giving reasonable notice to the City and the Bond Registrar. Under such circumstances, if 
a successor securities depository is not obtained, certificates for the Series 2003 Bonds are required to be 
printed and delivered. 

The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a 
successor securities depository). In that event, certificates for the Series 2003 Bonds will be printed and 
delivered. 

For every transfer and exchange of the Series 2003 Bonds, DTC, the Series 2003 Bond Registrar 
and the Participants may charge the Beneficial Owner a sum sufficient to cover any tax, fee or other 
charge that may be imposed in relation thereto. 

NEITHER THE CITY NOR THE BOND REGISTRAR WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY 
OR OBLIGATION TO ANY PARTICIPANTS, OR TO THE PERSONS FOR WHOM THEY ACT AS 
NOMINEES WITH RESPECT TO THE SERIES 2003 BONDS, OR TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER 
IN RESPECT OF THE ACCURACY OF ANY RECORDS MAINTAINED BY DTC OR ANY 
PARTICIPANT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OF ANY AMOUNT IN RESPECT OF THE 
ACCRETED AMOUNT OF THE SERIES 2003 BONDS, OR ANY NOTICE WHICH IS PERMITTED 
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OR REQUIRED TO BE GIVEN WITH RESPECT TO THE SERIES 2003 BONDS, INCLUDING ANY 
NOTICE OF ACTION TAKEN BY DTC AS REGISTERED OWNER OF THE SERIES 2003 BONDS. 

Series 2003 Bonds Not Presented for Payment 

If any Series 2003 Bond is not presented for payment when the Accreted Amount thereof 
becomes due, and if moneys sufficient to pay such Series 2003 Bond are held by the Bond Registrar for 
the benefit of the registered owner of such Series 2003 Bond, the Bond Registrar will hold such moneys 
for the benefit of the registered owner of such Series 2003 Bond without liability to the registered owner 
for interest. The registered owner of such Series 2003 Bond thereafter will be restricted exclusively to 
such funds for satisfaction of any claims relating to such Series 2003 Bond. 

Registered Owner Treated as Absolute Owner 

The City and the Registrar may deem and treat a registered owner of a Series 2003 Bond as the 
absolute owner of such Series 2003 Bond for all purposes, and payment of the Accreted Amount of any 
Series 2003 Bond, as appropriate, shall be made only to the registered owner thereof or its legal 
representative. All such payments so made shall be valid and effective to satisfy and discharge the 
liability upon such Series 2003 Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. 

For additional information on the Series 2003 Bonds, see "APPENDIX E-Summary of the Trust 
Indenture." 

SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2003 BONDS 

General Obligation of the City 

The Series 2003 Bonds are direct and general obligations of the City and the Accreted Amount 
thereof is payable from any moneys, revenues, receipts, income, assets or funds ofthe City legally 
available for such purpose. The City has pledged its full faith and credit to the payment of the Series 
2003 Bonds. 

The City has levied for each of the years 2004 to 2007 a direct annual tax upon all taxable 
property in the City (the "Ad Valorem Taxes") sufficient to provide funds to pay Accreted Amounts on 
the Series 2003 Bonds when due. See "APPENDIX B-FINANCIAL AND OTHER CITY 
INFORMATION-Property Tax Supported Bonded Debt-Debt Service Schedule." In addition to the 
Series 2003 Bonds, the City has other direct and general obligations previously issued and outstanding 
under separate ordinances adopted by the City Council. See "APPENDIX B-FINANCIAL AND 
OTHER CITY INFORMATION-Property Tax Supported Bonded Debt-Computation of Direct and 
Overlapping Bonded Debt." 

Under the Ordinance, the City is obligated to appropriate amounts sufficient to pay the Accreted 
Amount on the Series 2003 Bonds for the years such amounts are due, and the City covenants in the 
Ordinance to take timely action as required by law to carry out such obligation, but, if for any such year 
the City fails to do so, the Ordinance constitutes a continuing appropriation of such amounts without any 
further action by the City. 

If the Ad Valorem Taxes to be applied to the payment of the Series 2003 Bonds are not available 
in time to make any payments of the Accreted Amount of the Series 2003 Bonds when due, then the fiscal 
officers of the City are directed in the Ordinance to make such payments from any other moneys, 
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revenues, receipts, income, assets or funds of the City that are legally available for that purpose in 
advancement of the collection of such taxes. 

Prior to the deadline for the timely annual abatement by the City of the Ad Valorem Taxes, the 
City will transfer amounts from the General Account established under the Senior Lien Indenture to the 
Third Lien Revenue Fund established under the Indenture no later than the later of(a) December 15 of 
each year and (b) 30 days following the receipt ofthe second installment oflncremental Taxes if not 
received by December 15 of a year, so as to provide sufficient funds to make the deposits into the Third 
Lien Program Expenses Account, the Third Lien Principal and Interest Account and the Third Lien 
Rebate Account specified below (see "SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2003 BONDS-Third Lien 
Revenue Fund"); provided, that such transfers are expressly contingent on the availability in the General 
Account of moneys sufficient for the purpose and shall be made only to the extent that moneys are 
(i) available in the General Account after all required deposits have been made under the Senior Lien 
Indenture and all amounts required to be transferred to the Junior Lien Revenue Fund established in the 
Subordinate Lien Indenture or any other fund or account to pay any additional debt or obligations have 
been transferred, and (ii) in excess of amounts needed to fund legally binding commitments of the City as 
determined solely by the City for Project Costs existing at the time the Series 2003A Third Lien Bonds 
are issued. Upon (but in no event prior to) the transfer and deposit of such moneys, the City will direct 
the abatement of the Ad Valorem Taxes to the extent (but not in excess) of the amount so transferred and 
proper notification of such abatement will be filed with the County Clerks of Cook County, Illinois and 
DuPage County, Illinois, in a timely manner to effect such abatement. See "SECURITY FOR THE 
SERIES 2003 BONDS-Third Lien Revenues" and"-Third Lien Revenue Fund." 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Ad Valorem Taxes levied for levy year 2007 may be abated 
by filing notification of such abatement even if the Third Lien Revenues on deposit in the Principal and 
Interest Account established under the Indenture at the time of the abatement are then not sufficient to pay 
all Accreted Amounts on the Series 2003 Bonds falling due during calendar year 2008 if (and only to the 
extent that) the designated City official files a certificate in the Office of the City Clerk demonstrating 
that the sum of (i) the amount then on deposit in the Principal and Interest Account established under the 
Indenture and (ii) the amount of Third Lien Revenues reasonably expected to be received during calendar 
year 2008, will be at least equal to the amount of the Ad Valorem Taxes levied for levy year 2007 that are 
to be so abated. 

The City covenants in the First Supplemental Indenture that: 

(i) it will take all actions, if any, which shall be necessary in order to further provide 
for the levy, extension, collection and application of the Ad Valorem Taxes, subject to its right to 
abate those taxes to the extent permitted by the Ordinance; 

(ii) it will not take any action or fail to take any action which would in any way 
adversely affect the levy, extension, collection and application of the Ad Valorem Taxes, except 
to abate those taxes to the extent permitted by the Ordinance; 

(iii) it will comply with all applicable present and future laws concerning the levy, 
extension and collection of the Ad Valorem Taxes in order to ensure, subject to the City's right to 
abate the Ad Valorem Taxes to the extent permitted by the Ordinance, that the Ad Valorem Taxes 
will be levied, extended and collected as provided in the Ordinance and deposited into the 2003 
Ad Valorem Taxes Account, so that the City shall be able to pay the Accreted Amount on the 
Series 2003 Bonds when due to the extent that Third Lien Revenues are not available for that 
purpose; 
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(iv) it will pay and discharge, or cause to be paid and discharged, from the 2003 Ad 
Valorem Taxes Account any and all lawful claims which, if unpaid, might become a lien or 
charge upon the Ad Valorem Taxes, or any part of them, provided that the City is not required to 
make any such payment so long as the City in good faith contests the validity of said claims; and 

(v) once issued, the Series 2003 Bonds will be, until paid or defeased, the general 
obligations of the City for the payment of which its full faith and credit are pledged. 

Property Tax Limits 

The City. In 1993, the City Council adopted an ordinance (the "City Tax Limitation Ordinance") 
limiting the City's aggregate property tax levy for any one year to an amount equal to the prior year's 
aggregate property tax levy (subject to certain adjustments) plus the lesser of five percent or the increase 
in the Consumer Price Index. The City Tax Limitation Ordinance also established a safe harbor amount 
for each year equal to a specified 1994 base amount increased annually by the lesser of five percent or the 
increase in the Consumer Price Index. See "APPENDIX A-REAL PROPERTY TAX SYSTEM AND 
LIMITS-Property Tax Limits-The City." In the Ordinance, the City has levied a direct annual tax 
upon all taxable property in the City in amounts that, together with other moneys of the City, will be 
sufficient to pay the Accreted Amounts on the Series 2003 Bonds. Pursuant to the Ordinance, the taxes 
levied to pay the Series 2003 Bonds are excluded from the City Tax Limitation Ordinance. 

State of lllinois. The City continues to be excluded from property tax limits imposed by the State 
on non-home rule units of local government in Cook County and the five adjacent counties. The property 
tax limitations imposed by the State differ from those contained in the City Tax Limitation Ordinance. 
There can be no assurance that legislation applying such property tax limitations to the City will not be 
enacted by the Illinois General Assembly. For additional information, see "THE CITY" and 
"APPENDIX A-REAL PROPERTY TAX SYSTEM AND LIMITS-Property Tax Limits-State of 
Illinois." 

Additional General Obligation Debt 

The City may issue from time to time notes, bonds and commercial paper that are general 
obligations of the City and that are secured by the full faith and credit of the City, which may or may not 
be subject to the provisions of the City Tax Limitation Ordinance. 

By the end of the third quarter of2003, the City intends to issue its General Obligation Bonds, 
Series 2003 (the ''Neighborhoods Alive 21 Program Bonds"), subject to market conditions, in the 
approximate principal amount of$100,000,000. The Neighborhoods Alive 21 Program Bonds are the 
fourth in a series of four planned issues in the approximate aggregate principal amount of $800,000,000 
primarily to rebuild, upgrade and in some cases build new core municipal facilities such as police stations, 
fire stations, public libraries and senior citizen centers. The Neighborhoods Alive 21 Program Bonds and 
the security therefor will be described in an official statement of the City, copies of which will be 
available upon request from the City Comptroller's Office. 

By the end of the 2003, the City anticipates issuing its General Obligation Bonds, Series 2003C 
(the "Series 2003C Bonds"), in the approximate aggregate principal amount of$185,000,000. The Series 
2003C Bonds are expected to be issued to fund capital projects of the City. The Series 2003C Bonds and 
the security therefor will be described in an official statement of the City, copies of which will be 
available upon request from the City Comptroller's Office. 
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Third Lien Revenues 

The Series 2003 Bonds, and any additional bonds issued pursuant to the Indenture on a parity 
basis with the Series 2003 Bonds (collectively, the "Bonds"), are secured by a pledge of Third Lien 
Revenues. "Third Lien Revenues" are amounts representing the amount of Incremental Taxes transferred 
to the Third Lien Revenue Fund under the Indenture from the General Account under the Senior Lien 
Indenture. Amounts on deposit in the General Account of the Senior Lien Indenture are pledged to pay 
principal and interest on the Senior Lien Bonds and Subordinate Lien Bonds and will be used for such 
purpose prior to any transfer of funds from the General Account to the Third Lien Revenue Fund or for 
payment of Accreted Amounts on the Series 2003 Bonds. See "SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2003 
BONDS-Third Lien Revenue Fund." 

Third Lien Revenue Fund 

The City has established a special fund of the City, to be held by the City subject to the provisions 
of the Indenture separate and apart from all other funds and accounts of the City, known as the Central 
Loop Redevelopment Project Area Third Lien Revenue Fund (the "Third Lien Revenue Fund"). 

The City will transfer from the General Account under the Senior Lien Indenture to the Third 
Lien Revenue Fund no later than the later of(a) December 15 of each year and (b) 30 days following the 
receipt of the second installment of Incremental Taxes if not received by December 15 of a year, so as to 
provide sufficient funds to make the deposits into the Third Lien Program Expenses Account, the Third 
Lien Principal and Interest Account, and the Third Lien Rebate Account specified below; provided, that 
such transfers are expressly contingent on the availability in the General Account of moneys sufficient for 
the purpose and will be made only to the extent that moneys are (i) available in the General Account after 
all required deposits have been made under the Senior Lien Indenture and all amounts required to be 
transferred to the Junior Lien Revenue Fund established in the Subordinate Lien Indenture or any other 
fund or account to pay any additional debt or obligations have been made, and (ii) in excess of amounts 
needed to fund certain legally binding commitments of the City as determined solely by the City for 
Project Costs existing at the time the Series 2003 Bonds are issued. 

The Series 2003 Bonds are secured by a pledge of all Third Lien Revenues, including all of the 
moneys on deposit in the Third Lien Revenue Fund (except for the Third Lien Program Expenses 
Account and the Third Lien Rebate Account), and such pledge is irrevocable until the obligations of the 
City are discharged under the Indenture. 

The moneys on deposit in the Third Lien Revenue Fund will be deposited to the separate accounts 
created within the Third Lien Revenue Fund in the following order of priority as described below: 

Third Lien Program Expenses Account. From Third Lien Revenues first received by the 
Trustee, the Trustee will deposit into the Third Lien Program Expenses Account an amount of 
Third Lien Revenues sufficient to pay Third Lien Program Expenses, if any, for the next 
succeeding calendar year. The City will provide to the Trustee information, calculations or 
estimates of Third Lien Program Expenses for the next succeeding calendar year, and the Trustee 
may reasonably rely upon such information, calculations or estimates of such Third Lien Program 
Expenses as necessary to determine the proper amount of such deposit into the Third Lien 
Program Expenses Account. A portion of the proceeds of the Bonds may also be deposited into 
the Third Lien Program Expenses Account and applied by Trustee to pay Costs oflssuance at the 
direction of the City. Amounts on deposit in-the Third Lien Program Expenses Account are not 
pledged to payment ofthe Series 2003 Bonds. 
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Third Lien Principal and Interest Account. The Trustee will next make a transfer to the 
Third Lien Principal and Interest Account in an amount sufficient to pay the principal of and 
interest or Accreted Amounts on all Bonds coming due during the next succeeding calendar year, 
which amount will be set aside within the Third Lien Principal and Interest Account for such 
purpose. Except as provided below, such moneys will be used solely and only for the purpose of 
paying principal of and interest or Accreted Amounts on the Bonds as the same become due. 

Third Lien Reserve and Redemption Account. The Trustee shall next transfer the balance 
of the Pledged Revenues into the Reserve and Redemption Account and shall credit any amounts 
so transferred, pro rata, among the separate Sub-Accounts of the Reserve and Redemption 
Account established for each Series of Bonds Outstanding until the aggregate amount in each 
Sub-Account equals the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for the related Series of Bonds. 
Thereafter no further transfers shall be made into such Sub-Accounts, except that when any 
money has been transferred from one of such Sub-Accounts to the Principal and Interest 
Account, transfers into such Sub-Account from Pledged Revenues shall be resumed and 
continued until that Sub-Account has been restored to an aggregate amount equal to the Debt 
Service Reserve Requirement for the related Series of Bonds. The Trustee shall value the 
investments in the Reserve and Redemption Account, on the basis of market price, on the 15th 
day preceding each June 1 and December 1. 

There is no Debt Service Reserve Requirement for the Series 2003 Bonds. 

Moneys on deposit in each Sub-Account of the Reserve and Redemption Account shall 
be transferred to the Principal and Interest Account as may be necessary from time to time to 
prevent or remedy a default in the payment of interest or premium, if any, on or principal of the 
applicable Series ofBonds. Amounts on deposit in each Sub-Account in excess of its Debt 
Service Reserve Requirement shall be transferred to the Principal and Interest Account and 
applied to the payment of principal ofthe applicable Series ofBonds. 

Third Lien Rebate Account. The Trustee will next transfer the Third Lien Revenues into 
the Third Lien Rebate Account to the extent necessary to ensure that there are on deposit in the 
Third Lien Rebate Account sufficient moneys to make, at the required times, all rebate payments 
to the United States of America required to be made by Section 148 of the Code and Regulations. 
The City will provide to the Trustee information, calculations or estimates of amounts to be 
deposited in the Third Lien Rebate Account for the next succeeding calendar year. The Trustee 
may reasonably rely upon such information, calculations or estimates to determine the proper 
amount to be deposited into the Third Lien Rebate Account and will not be required to make 
transfers of the Third Lien Revenues into the Third Lien Rebate Account if it has not been 
provided with such information, calculations and estimates. The Trustee will make any necessary 
rebate payments to the United States of America that are required by the Code and Regulations 
from moneys on deposit in the Third Lien Rebate Account. Amounts on deposit in the Third Lien 
Rebate Account are not pledged to the payment of the Series 2003 Bonds. 

On the day following the date on which the foregoing deposits have been made, the 
Trustee will transfer any balance remaining in the Third Lien Revenue Fund to the General 
Account of the Senior Lien Indenture. 

2003 Ad Valorem Taxes Account. The City has established a separate, segregated 
account within the Third Lien Revenue Fund to be held by the City and known as the 2003 Ad 
Valorem Taxes Account. All Ad Valorem Taxes received by the City Treasurer will be deposited 
immediately upon receipt in the 2003 Ad Valorem Taxes Account. Amounts on deposit in the 
2003 Ad Valorem Taxes Account will be applied only to pay when due Accreted Amounts on the 
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Series 2003 Bonds. The City Treasurer will transfer moneys from the 2003 Ad Valorem Taxes 
Account to the Trustee for deposit in the Third Lien Principal and Interest Account, to the extent 
of moneys on deposit therein, at times and in amounts necessary to pay the amounts described in 
the preceding sentence. If there are moneys to the credit of both the 2003 Ad Valorem Taxes 
Account and the Third Lien Principal and Interest Account on any due date of any Accreted 
Amount, moneys to the credit of the 2003 Ad Valorem Taxes Account will be used first to pay 
amounts due on such date on the Series 2003 Bonds and the 2003 Ad Valorem Taxes Account 
will be fully depleted before other moneys to the credit of the Third Lien Principal and Interest 
Account are used to pay such amounts due on the Series 2003 Bonds. 

Bond Insurance Policy 

Upon the issuance of the Series 2003 Bonds, XL Capital Assurance Inc. (the "Bond Insurer") will 
issue a fmancial guaranty insurance policy (the "Policy") that will guarantee the payment of scheduled 
Accreted Amounts of the Series 2003 Bonds. See "BOND INSURANCE" and "APPENDIX F­
SPECIMEN BOND INSURANCE POLICY." 

BOND INSURANCE 

The following information has been supplied by the Bond Insurer for inclusion in this Official 
Statement. No representation is made by the City or the Underwriters as to the accuracy or completeness 
of the information. 

The Bond Insurer accepts no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Official 
Statement or any other information or disclosure contained herein, or omitted herefrom, other than with 
respect to the accuracy of the information regarding the Bond Insurer and its affiliates set forth under this 
heading. In addition, the Bond Insurer makes no representation regarding the Series 2003 Bonds or the 
advisability of investing in the Series 2003 Bonds. 

General 

XL Capital Assurance Inc. (the "Bond Insurer" or "XLCA") is a mono line financial guaranty 
insurance company incorporated under the laws of the State of New York. The Bond Insurer is currently 
licensed to do insurance business in, and is subject to the insurance regulation and supervision by, the 
State of New York, forty-seven other states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, the U.S. Virgin 
Islands and Singapore. The Bond Insurer has license applications pending, or intends to file an 
application, in each of those states in which it is not currently licensed. 

The Bond Insurer is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of XL Capital Ltd, a Cayman Islands 
corporation ("XL Capital Ltd"). Through its subsidiaries, XL Capital Ltd is a leading provider of 
insurance and reinsurance coverages and financial products to industrial, commercial and professional 
service firms, insurance companies and other enterprises on a worldwide basis. The common stock of XL 
Capital Ltd is publicly traded in the United States and listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: 
XL). XL Capital Ltd is not obligated to pay the debts of or claims against the Bond Insurer. 

The Bond Insurer was formerly known as The London Assurance of America Inc. ("London"), 
which was incorporated on July 25, 1991 under the laws of the State ofNew York. On February 22, 
2001, XL Reinsurance America Inc. ("XL Re") acquired 100% of the stock of London. XL Re merged its 
former fmancial guaranty subsidiary, known as XL Capital Assurance Inc. (formed September 13, 1999) 
with and into London, with London as the surviving entity. London immediately changed its name to XL 
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Capital Assurance Inc. All previous business ofLondon was 100% reinsured to Royal Indemnity 
Company, the previous owner at the time of acquisition. 

Reinsurance 

The Bond Insurer has entered into a facultative quota share reinsurance agreement with XL 
Financial Assurance Ltd ("XLF A"), an insurance company organized under the laws of Bermuda, and an 
affiliate of the Bond Insurer. Pursuant to this reinsurance agreement, the Bond Insurer expects to cede up 
to 90% of its business to XLF A. The Bond Insurer may also cede reinsurance to third parties on a 
transaction-specific basis, which cessions may be any or a combination of quota share, first loss or excess 
of loss. Such reinsurance is used by the Bond Insurer as a risk management device and to comply with 
statutory and rating agency requirements and does not alter or limit the Bond Insurer's obligations under 
any financial guaranty insurance policy. With respect to any transaction insured by XLCA, the 
percentage of risk ceded to XLF A may be less than 90% depending on certain factors including, without 
limitation, whether XLCA has obtained third party reinsurance covering the risk. As a result, there can be 
no assurance as to the percentage reinsured by XLF A of any given financial guaranty insurance policy 
issued by XLCA, including the Policy. 

Based on the audited fmancials of XLF A, as of December 31, 2002, XLF A had total assets, 
liabilities, redeemable preferred shares and shareholders' equity of$611,791,000, $245,750,000, 
$39,000,000 and $327,041,000, respectively, determined in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States. XLFA's insurance financial strength is rated "Aaa" by 
Moody's and "AAA" by S&P and Fitch Inc. In addition, XLFA has obtained a financial enhancement 
rating of"AAA" from S&P. 

The obligations of XLF A to the Bond Insurer under the reinsurance agreement described above 
are unconditionally guaranteed by XL Insurance (Bermuda) Ltd ("XLI"), a Bermuda company and one of 
the world's leading excess commercial insurers. XLI is a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of XL Capital 
Ltd. In addition to having an "A+" rating from A.M. Best, XLI's financial strength rating is "Aa2"by 
Moody's and "AA'' by Standard & Poor's and Fitch. The ratings ofXLFA and XLI are not 
recommendations to buy, sell or hold securities, including the Series 2003 Bonds and are subject to 
revision or withdrawal at any time by Moody's, Standard & Poor's or Fitch. 

Notwithstanding the capital support provided to the Bond Insurer described in this section, the 
Owners of the Series 2003 Bonds will have direct recourse against the Bond Insurer only, and neither 
XLFA nor XLI will be directly liable to the Owners ofthe Series 2003 Bonds. 

Financial Strength and Financial Enhancement Ratings ofXLCA 

The Bond Insurer's insurance financial strength is rated "Aaa" by Moody's and "AAA" by 
Standard & Poor's and Fitch, Inc. ("Fitch"). In addition, XLCA has obtained a fmancial enhancement 
rating of"AAA" from Standard & Poor's. These ratings reflect Moody's, Standard & Poor's and Fitch's 
current assessment of the Bond Insurer's creditworthiness and claims-paying ability as well as the 
reinsurance arrangement with XLF A described under "Reinsurance" above. 

The above ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold securities, including the Series 
2003 Bonds and are subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by Moody's, Standard & Poor's or 
Fitch. Any downward revision or withdrawal of these ratings may have an adverse effect on the market 
price of the Series 2003 Bonds. The Bond Insurer does not guaranty the market price of the Series 2003 
Bonds nor does it guaranty that the ratings on the Series 2003 Bonds will not be revised or withdrawn. 
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Capitalization of the Bond Insurer 

Based on the audited statutory financial statements for XLCA as of December 31, 2001, XLCA 
had total admitted assets of$158,442,157, total liabilities of$48,899,461 and total capital and surplus of 
$109,542,696 determined in accordance with statutory accounting practices prescribed or permitted by 
insurance regulatory authorities ("SAP"). Based on the audited statutory financial statements for XLCA 
as of December 31, 2002 filed with the State of New York Insurance Department, XLCA has total 
admitted assets of$180,993,189, total liabilities of$58,685,217 and total capital and surplus of 
$122,307,972 determined in accordance with SAP. 

For further information concerning XLCA and XLFA, see the financial statements ofXLCA and 
XLF A, and the notes thereto, incorporated by reference in this Official Statement. The financial 
statements ofXLCA and XLFA are included as exhibits to the periodic reports filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") by XL Capital Ltd and may be reviewed at the EDGAR 
website maintained by the Commission. All fmancial statements of XLCA and XLF A included in, or as 
exhibits to, documents filed by XL Capital Ltd pursuant to Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 on or prior to the date of this Official Statement, or after the date of this 
Official Statement but prior to termination of the offering of the Series 2003 Bonds, shall be deemed 
incorporated by reference in this Official Statement. Except for the financial statements of XLCA and 
XLFA, no other information contained in XL Capital Ltd's reports filed with the Commission is 
incorporated by reference. Copies of the statutory quarterly and annual statements filed with the State of 
New York Insurance Department by XLCA are available upon request to the State of New York 
Insurance Department. 

Regulation of the Bond Insurer 

The Bond Insurer is regulated by the Superintendent oflnsurance of the State ofNew York. In 
addition, the Bond Insurer is subject to regulation by the insurance laws and regulations of the other 
jurisdictions in which it is licensed. As a financial guaranty insurance company licensed in the State of 
New York, the Bond Insurer is subject to Article 69 ofthe New York Insurance Law, which, among other 
things, limits the business of each insurer to financial guaranty insurance and related lines, prescribes 
minimum standards of solvency, including minimum capital requirements, establishes contingency, loss 
and unearned premium reserve requirements, requires the maintenance of minimum surplus to 
policyholders and limits the aggregate amount of insurance which may be written and the maximum size 
of any single risk exposure which may be assumed. The Bond Insurer is also required to file detailed 
annual financial statements with the New York Insurance Department and similar supervisory agencies in 
each of the other jurisdictions in which it is licensed. 

The extent of state insurance regulation and supervision varies by jurisdiction, but New York and 
most other jurisdictions have laws and regulations prescribing permitted investments and governing the 
payment of dividends, transactions with affiliates, mergers, consolidations, acquisitions or sales of assets 
and incurrence of liabilities for borrowings. 

THE FINANCIAL GUARANTY INSURANCE POLICIES ISSUED BY THE BOND 
INSURER, INCLUDING THE POLICY, ARE NOT COVERED BY THE 
PROPERTY/CASUALTY INSURANCE SECURITY FUND SPECIFIED IN ARTICLE 76 OF 
THE NEW YORK INSURANCE LAW. 

The principal executive offices ofthe Bond Insurer are located at 1221 Avenue ofthe Americas, 
New York, New York 10020 and its telephone number at this address is (212) 4 78-3400. 
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LITIGATION 

There is no litigation pending in any court or, to the knowledge of the City, threatened, 
questioning the corporate existence of the City, or which would restrain or enjoin the issuance or delivery 
of the Series 2003 Bonds, or which concerns the proceedings of the City taken in connection with the 
Series 2003 Bonds or the City's pledge of its full faith, credit and resources to the payment of the Series 
2003 Bonds. 

The City is involved in various litigation matters relating principally to claims arising from 
contract, personal injury, property damage, property and other tax claims, police conduct and other 
matters. As part of the budgetary process, the City annually makes what it believes to be adequate 
provision for estimated amounts of probable loss with respect to potential claims, judgments and 
settlements. 

PrimeCo. Litigation. Plaintiffs filed this action in the Circuit Court for declaratory, injunctive 
and other relief concerning the validity of a portion of the Illinois Telecommunications Municipal 
Infrastructure Maintenance Fee Act, 35 ILCS 63511 et seq. (the "IMF Act"). Plaintiffs are providers of 
wireless telephone service who allege that the IMF Act violates the Uniformity Clause of Article IX, 
Section 2 of the 1970 Illinois Constitution, and includes provisions that are unconstitutionally vague. 
They also allege that the IMF Act only permits the City to recover its actual costs from the providers of 
telecommunications services. Because the City had previously passed an ordinance imposing a municipal 
infrastructure maintenance fee pursuant to the authority of the IMF Act, the City intervened in the 
litigation. 

In January 2000, the Circuit Court granted plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment, issuing a 
written ruling declaring that the IMF Act violates the Uniformity Clause. In March 2001, the Illinois 
Supreme Court affrrmed the Circuit Court's judgment that the IMF Act is invalid as to 
telecommunications retailers that do not own equipment in the public way (generally wireless service 
providers). The Illinois Supreme Court then remanded the case for further proceedings on the validity of 
the IMF Act as to telecommunications retailers that do own equipment in the public way (generally 
landline service providers). In addition, various customers of both wireless and landline services have 
been granted leave to intervene in the Circuit Court for the purpose of pursuing class action claims for 
refunds of infrastructure maintenance fee revenues. The City has settled some of the claims for refunds, 
but if the remaining claims for refunds are granted as to one or more classes of telecommunications 
customers, the refunds could be substantial. The City may also have available certain legislative solutions 
and/or alternative means of collecting the revenues at issue in this matter. The City is unable to predict 
the outcome of the proceedings on remand. 

Property Tax Objections. 1989-1997. The City's property tax levies for 1989 through 1997 
varied between approximately $600 and $650 million annually. Objections have been filed in the Circuit 
Court to the levies for the years 1989 through 1997, and the City is currently in the process of actively 
litigating the 1989 tax year objections. The objectors in the 1989 tax year litigation filed twenty-five 
separate objections to the levy, all but eight of which were dismissed or withdrawn before trial. Trial of 
the eight remaining objections took place in the Circuit Court between November 29 and December 22, 
1999. The Circuit Court ruled in favor of the City on three of the objections and against the City on the 
remaining five. The City has filed an appeal for all of the rulings that are adverse to the City. On 
June 19, 2000, the Circuit Court entered a final judgment order based on its rulings, and stayed the 
judgment pending appeal. The objectors have filed an appeal from one of the rulings that was favorable 
to the City. On June 28, 2002, the Illinois Appellate Court issued an opinion reversing two of the rulings 
that were adverse to the City, affirming three of the rulings that were adverse to the City, and remanding 
the case for further proceedings on the ruling that was appealed by the objectors. Pursuant to the remand, 
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the case is now before the Circuit Court for disposition of the objection that was remanded. The City is 
unable to predict the outcome of the proceedings on remand. 

CITY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The basic fmancial statements of the City as of and for the year ended December 31, 2002 
included in APPENDIX C to this Official Statement have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, 
independent auditors, as stated in their report appearing in APPENDIX C. 

RATINGS 

The Series 2003 Bonds are rated "Aaa" by Moody's Investors Service, Inc., "AAA" by Standard 
& Poor's, a Division of The McGraw-Hill Companies and "AAA" by FitchRatings, in each case 
contingent on the issuance of the Bond Insurance Policy by the Bond Insurer. See "BOND 
INSURANCE." A rating reflects only the view of the rating agency giving such rating. An explanation 
of the significance of such rating may be obtained from such organization. There is no assurance that any 
rating will continue for any given period of time or that any rating will not be revised downward or 
withdrawn entirely if, in the judgment of the rating agency, circumstances so warrant. Any such 
downward revision or withdrawal of a rating may have an adverse effect on the price at which the Series 
2003 Bonds may be resold. 

UNDERWRITING 

The Underwriters have agreed, subject to certain conditions, to purchase the Series 2003A Bonds 
at a price equal to $74,323,922.30 (which represents the aggregate original principal amount of the Series 
2003A Bonds less an Underwriters' discount of$448,635.35) and the Series 2003B Bonds at a price 
equal to $61,855,624.66 (which represents the aggregate original principal amount of the Series 2003B 
Bonds less an Underwriters' discount of$373,373.99). The obligation of the Underwriters to accept 
delivery of the Series 2003 Bonds is subject to various conditions set forth in a Bond Purchase Agreement 
between the Underwriters and the City. The Underwriters are obligated to purchase all of the Series 2003 
Bonds if any of the Series 2003 Bonds are purchased. 

TAX EXEMPTION 

In the opinions of Co-Bond Counsel, interest on the Series 2003A Bonds under present law is 
excludable from "gross income" for federal income tax purposes, and thus is exempt from federal income 
taxes based on gross income. This opinion is subject to compliance by the City with its covenants 
described below. 

Interest on the Series 2003B Bonds is not excludable from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes. 

Certain requirements must be met in order for the interest on the Series 2003A Bonds to be 
excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes. These requirements relate to the use and 
investment of various proceeds and funds of the City in connection with the Series 2003A Bonds and the 
use of property fmanced by the Series 2003A Bonds. The City has covenanted to comply with all of 
these requirements. If the City were to fail to comply with these requirements, interest on the Series 
2003A Bonds could become included in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactively to the 
date the Series 2003A Bonds are issued. In such event, there is no requirement that payment of principal 
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of or interest on the Series 2003A Bonds be accelerated or that any additional interest or penalties be paid 
to the Owners of the Bonds. 

Co-Bond Counsel are also of the opinion that interest on the Series 2003A Bonds is not an item of 
tax preference in computing the alternative minimum tax for individuals or corporations. Interest on the 
Series 2003A Bonds is, however, included in the "adjusted current earnings" of certain corporations and 
this is taken into account in computing the alternative minimum tax for those corporations. Interest on the 
Series 2003A Bonds may also be taken into account in computing a corporation's "effectively connected 
earnings and profits" for purposes of the "branch profits tax" imposed on certain foreign corporations .. 

Ownership of the Series 2003A Bonds may result in other federal income tax consequences for 
certain taxpayers, including, without limitation, fmancial institutions, certain insurance companies, certain 
S corporations, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, and taxpayers 
who may be deemed to have incurred (or continued) indebtedness to purchase or carry tax-exempt Series 
2003A Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Series 2003A Bonds should consult their tax advisors as to 
applicability of any of those collateral consequences. 

Interest on the Series 2003 Bonds is not exempt from present Illinois income taxes. Ownership of 
the Series 2003 Bonds may result in other state and local tax consequences to certain taxpayers. Co-Bond 
Counsel will express no opinion with respect to any state and local tax consequences, other than as is 
expressed in the first sentence of this paragraph. 

The purchaser of a Series 2003 Bond will be treated as having purchased the Series 2003 Bond 
with market discount subject to the market discount rules ofthe Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (the "Code") (unless a statutory de minimis rule applies). Accrued market discount is treated as 
taxable ordinary income and is recognized when a Series 2003 Bond is disposed of (to the extent such 
accrued discount does not exceed gain realized) or, at the purchaser's election, as it accrues. The 
applicability of the market discount rules may adversely affect the liquidity or secondary market price of 
the Series 2003 Bonds. Purchasers should consult their own tax advisors regarding the potential 
implications of market discount with respect to the Series 2003 Bonds. 

The opinions of Co-Bond Counsel and the descriptions ofthe tax law contained in this Official 
Statement are based on statutes, judicial decisions, regulations, rulings, and other official interpretations 
of law in existence on the date the Series 2003 Bonds are issued. There can be no assurance that such law 
or those interpretations will not be changed or that new provisions of law will not be enacted or new 
interpretations will not be promulgated at any time while the Series 2003 Bonds are Outstanding in a 
manner that would adversely affect the value or tax treatment of ownership of the Bonds. 

In rendering their opinions on tax exemption, Co-Bond Counsel will receive and will rely upon 
certifications and representations of facts, estimates and expectations furnished by the City which Co­
Bond Counsel will not verify independently. 

APPROVAL OF LEGAL MATTERS 

Legal matters with regard to the authorization, issuance and sale of the Series 2003 Bonds are 
subject to the approving opinion of Schiff Hardin & Waite, Chicago, Illinois, and Burke Bums & Pinelli, 
Ltd., Chicago, Illinois, Co-Bond Counsel, which opinion will be substantially in the form included as 
APPENDIX G. 
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Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the City by its Corporation Counsel, and for the 
Underwriters by their co-counsel, Vedder, Price, Kaufman & Kammholz, P.C., Chicago, Illinois, and 
Burris, Wright, Slaughter & Tom, LLC, Chicago, Illinois. 

SECONDARY MARKET DISCLOSURE 

The City will enter into a Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (the "Undertaking") for the benefit 
of the beneficial owners ofthe Series 2003 Bonds to send certain information annually and to provide 
notice of certain events to certain information repositories pursuant to the requirements of Section (b)(5) 
ofRule 15c2-12 (the "Rule") adopted by the Commission under the Exchange Act. The information to be 
provided on an annual basis, the events which will be noticed on an occurrence basis and a summary of 
other terms of the Undertaking, including termination, amendment and remedies, are set forth below. 

A failure by the City to comply with the Undertaking will not constitute a default under the Series 
2003 Bonds or the Indenture and beneficial owners of the Series 2003 Bonds are limited to the remedies 
described in the Undertaking. See "Consequences of Failure of the City to Provide Information" under 
this caption. A failure by the City to comply with the Undertaking must be reported in accordance with 
the Rule and must be considered by any broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer before 
recommending the purchase or sale of the Series 2003 Bonds in the secondary market. Consequently, 
such a failure may adversely affect the transferability and liquidity of the Series 2003 Bonds and their 
market price. 

The following is a brief summary of certain provisions ofthe Undertaking ofthe City and does 
not purport to be complete. The statements made under this caption are subject to the detailed provisions 
of the Undertaking, a copy of which is available upon request from the City. 

Annual Financial Information Disclosure 

The City covenants that it will disseminate its Annual Financial Information and its Audited 
Financial Statements (as described below) to each Nationally Recognized Municipal Securities 
Information Repository (a ''NRMSIR") then recognized by the Commission for purposes of the Rule and 
to any public or private repository designated by the State as the state depository (the "SID") and 
recognized as such by the Commission for purposes of the Rule. The City is required to deliver such 
information so that such entities receive the information by the dates specified in the Undertaking. 

"Annual Financial Information" means information generally consistent with that contained under 
the caption "THE CITY -Corporate Fund" and in APPENDIX B hereto. 

"Audited Financial Statements" means the basic fmancial statements of the City prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applicable to governmental units as in effect 
from time to time. 

Annual Financial Information exclusive of Audited Financial Statements will be provided to each 
NRMSIR and to the SID, if any, not more than 210 days after the last day of the City's fiscal year, which 
currently is December 31. If Audited Financial Statements are not available when the Annual Financial 
Information is filed, unaudited financial statements will be included, and Audited Financial Statements 
will be filed when available. 
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Events Notification; Material Events Disclosure 

The City covenants that it will disseminate to each NRMSIR or to the Municipal Securities 
Rulemaking Board (the "MSRB") and to the SID, if any, in a timely manner the disclosure of the 
occurrence of an Event (as described below) that is material, as materiality is interpreted under the 
Exchange Act. The "Events," certain of which may not be applicable to the Series 2003 Bonds, are: 

1. principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

2. non-payment related defaults; 

3. unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting fmancial difficulties; 

4. unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

5. substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

6. adverse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of the security; 

7. modifications to rights of security holders; 

8. bond calls; 

9. defeasances; 

10. release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the securities; and 

11. rating changes. 

Consequences of Failure of the City to Provide Information 

The City shall give notice in a timely manner to each NRMSIR or to the MSRB and to the SID, if 
any, of any failure to provide disclosure of Annual Financial Information and Audited Financial 
Statements when the same are due under the Undertaking. 

The City is in compliance with undertakings previously entered into by it pursuant to the Rule. In 
the event of a failure ofthe City to comply with any provision ofthe Undertaking, the beneficial owner of 
any Series 2003 Bond may seek mandamus or specific performance by court order, to cause the City to 
comply with its obligations under the Undertaking. The Undertaking provides that any court action must 
be initiated in the Circuit Court. A default under the Undertaking shall not be deemed a default under the 
Series 2003 Bonds or the Ordinance, and the sole remedy under the Undertaking in the event of any 
failure of the City to comply with the Undertaking shall be an action to compel performance. 

Amendment; Waiver 

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Undertaking, the City may amend the Undertaking, 
and any provision of the Undertaking may be waived, if: 

(a) (i) the amendment or waiver is made in connection with a change in circumstances 
that arises from a change in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature or 
status of the City or type of business conducted; 
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(ii) the Undertaking, as amended, or the provision, as waived, would have complied 
with the requirements of the Rule at the time of the primary offering, after taking into account any 
amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; and 

(iii) the amendment or waiver does not materially impair the interests of the 
beneficial owners of the Series 2003 Bonds, as determined by a party unaffiliated with the City 
(such as the Bond Registrar or Co-Bond Counsel) at the time of the amendment or waiver; or 

(b) the amendment or waiver is otherwise permitted by the Rule. 

Termination ofUndertaking 

The Undertaking shall be terminated if the City shall no longer have any legal liability for any 
obligation on or relating to repayment of the Series 2003 Bonds under the Indenture. If this provision is 
applicable, the City shall give notice in a timely manner to each NRMSIR or to the MSRB and to the SID, 
if any. 

Additional Information 

Nothing in the Undertaking shall be deemed to prevent the City from disseminating any other 
information, using the means of dissemination set forth in the Undertaking or any other means of 
communication, or including any other information in any Annual Financial Information or Audited 
Financial Statements or notice of occurrence of a material Event, in addition to that which is required by 
the Undertaking. If the City chooses to include any information in any Annual Financial Information or 
Audited Financial Statements or notice of occurrence of a material Event in addition to that which is 
specifically required by the Undertaking, the City shall have no obligation under the Undertaking to 
update such information or include it in any future Annual Financial Information or Audited Financial 
Statements or notice of occurrence of an Event. 
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MISCELLANEOUS 

The summaries or descriptions in this Official Statement of provisions of the Ordinance, the 
Indenture and the Undertaking and all references to other materials not purporting to be quoted in full, are 
qualified in their entirety by reference to the complete provisions of the documents and other materials 
summarized or described. Copies of these documents may be obtained from the office of the City 
Comptroller. 

The Series 2003 Bonds are authorized and are being issued pursuant to the City Council's 
approval under the powers of the City as a home rule unit under Article VII of the Illinois Constitution of 
1970 and under the Act. This Official Statement has been authorized by the City Council. 
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REAL PROPERTY TAX SYSTEM AND LIMITS 

Real Property Assessment, Tax Levy and Collection Procedures 

General. Substantially all (approximately 99.98 percent) ofthe "Equalized Assessed Valuation" 
(described below) of taxable property in the City is located in Cook County (the "County"). The 
remainder is located in DuPage County. Accordingly, unless otherwise indicated, the information set 
forth under this caption and elsewhere in this Official Statement with respect to taxable property in the 
City does not reflect the portion situated in DuPage County. 

Information under this caption describes the current procedures for real property assessment, tax 
levy and tax collection in the County. There can be no assurance that the procedures described under this 
caption will not be changed. The Illinois laws relating to real property taxation are contained in the 
Illinois Property Tax Code (the "Property Tax Code"). 

Assessment. The Cook County Assessor (the "Assessor") is responsible for the assessment of all 
taxable real property within the County, except for certain railroad property and pollution control 
equipment assessed directly by the State. One-third of the real property in the County is reassessed each 
year on a repeating triennial schedule established by the Assessor. The suburbs in the western and 
southern portions of the County were reassessed in 2002. The City is being reassessed in 2003. The 
suburbs in the northern and northwestern portions of the County will be reassessed in 2004. 

Real property in the County is separated into various classifications for assessment purposes. 
After the Assessor establishes the fair cash value of a parcel of land, that value is multiplied by one of the 
classification percentages to arrive at the assessed valuation (the "Assessed Valuation") for the parcel. 
The current classification percentages range from 16 percent for certain residential, commercial and 
industrial properties to 36 percent and 38 percent, respectively, for other industrial and commercial 
property. 

On April 18, 2000, the Cook County Board of Commissioners adopted an amendment to the 
County's Real Property Assessment Classification Ordinance (the "Classification Ordinance"), pursuant 
to which the Assessed Valuation of real property is established. Among other things, the amendment 
reduced certain property classification percentages and lengthened certain renewal periods of 
classifications. 

The Assessor has established procedures enabling taxpayers to contest their tentative Assessed 
Valuations. Once the Assessor certifies final Assessed Valuations, a taxpayer can seek review of its 
assessment by the Cook County Board of Review (the "Board of Review"). The Board of Review has 
powers to review and adjust Assessed Valuations set by the Assessor. Owners of property are able to 
appeal decisions of the Board of Review to the Illinois Property Tax Appeal Board (the "PTAB"), a 
state-wide administrative body. The PTAB has the power to determine the Assessed Valuation of real 
property based on equity and the weight of the evidence. Based on the amount of the proposed change in 
assessed valuation, taxpayers may appeal decisions of the PT AB to either the Circuit Court of Cook 
County or the Illinois Appellate Court under the Illinois Administrative Review Law. 

In March 2000 and August 2001, the PT AB rendered two series of decisions in which it granted 
reduced assessed valuations to the owners of certain real property in the County by employing lower 
levels of assessment. In its March 2000 decisions, the PTAB utilized the median levels of assessment 
derived from the Illinois Department ofRevenue's sales-ratio studies (the "Sales-Ratio Studies") as the 
mechanism for determining correct assessment levels, instead of those set forth in the Classification 
Ordinance. Use of the Sales-Ratio Studies resulted in a lower assessment level than required by the 
Classification Ordinance. In its August 2001 decisions, after examining the Sales-Ratio Studies, the 
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PTAB held that the Assessor's assessment practices violated a provision of the State Constitution, which 
limits the level of assessment of the highest class of property, in a county that classifies property, to two 
and one-half times the level of assessment of the lowest class of property in that county. As a result, the 
PTAB established a maximum assessment level that is significantly below the assessment levels for 
commercial and industrial property currently set forth in the Classification Ordinance. 

The Board of Review appealed the March 2000 and August 2001 decisions of the PT AB to the 
Illinois Appellate Court. On August 20, 2002, the Illinois Appellate Court issued an opinion affirming in 
part and reversing in part the March 2000 decision. The affected case was remanded for further 
proceedings, and the appellate court decision itself could be subject to further review. 

If either of the PTAB decisions were affirmed in a final judicial decision, the lower levels of 
assessments could be applied to other property tax appeals then pending before either the PT AB or before 
a court, resulting in corresponding property tax refunds that the City would be obligated to pay. At 
present, however, the City is unable to predict the amount of any such refunds. 

Despite any potential short-term impact on the City's general revenues, the City anticipates that 
the long-term impact of the PTAB decisions on the City will be negligible as none of these decisions 
questions the City's ability to levy or collect real property taxes or the amount of the City's real property 
tax levy. 

As an alternative to seeking review of Assessed Valuations by the PT AB, taxpayers who have 
first exhausted their remedies before the Board of Review may file an objection in the Circuit Court of 
Cook County. In addition, in cases where the Assessor agrees that an assessment error has been made 
after tax bills have been issued, the Assessor can correct the Assessed Valuation, and thus reduce the 
amount of taxes due, by issuing a Certificate of Error. 

Equalization. After the Assessed Valuation for each parcel of real estate in a county has been 
determined for a given year including any revisions made by the Board of Review, the Illinois 
Department of Revenue reviews the assessments and determines an equalization factor (the "Equalization 
Factor"), commonly called the "multiplier," for each county. The purpose of equalization is to bring the 
aggregate assessed value of all real property, except farmland and undeveloped coal, in each county to the 
statutory requirement of 33-1/3 percent of estimated fair cash value. Adjustments in Assessed Valuation 
made by the PTAB or the courts are not reflected in the Equalization Factor. The Assessed Valuation of 
each parcel of real estate in the County is multiplied by the County's Equalization Factor to determine the 
parcel's equalized assessed valuation (the "Equalized Assessed Valuation"). 

The Equalized Assessed Valuation for each parcel is the final property valuation used for 
determination of tax liability. The aggregate Equalized Assessed Valuation for all parcels in any taxing 
body's jurisdiction, after reduction for all applicable exemptions, plus the valuation of property assessed 
directly by the State, constitutes the total real estate tax base for the taxing body and is the figure used to 
calculate tax rates (the "Assessment Base"). The Equalization Factor for a given year is used in 
computing the taxes extended for collection in the following year. The Equalization Factors for the 10 tax 
levy years ended December 31, 2001 (the most recent years available) are listed in APPENDIX Bin the 
table captioned "PROPERTY TAX INFORMATION." 

In 1991, legislation was enacted by the State which provided that for 1992 and for subsequent 
years' tax levies, the Equalized Assessed Valuation used to determine any applicable tax limits is the one 
for the immediately preceding year and not the current year. This legislation impacts taxing districts with 
rate limits only and currently does not apply to the City. See "Property Tax Limits" below. 
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Exemptions. The annual homestead exemption provides for the reduction of the Equalized 
Assessed Valuation of certain property owned and used exclusively for residential purposes by the 
amount of any increase over the 1977 Equalized Assessed Valuation, up to a maximum reduction of 
$4,500. Additional exemptions exist for: (i) senior citizens, with the Assessor authorized to reduce the 
Equalized Assessed Valuation on a senior citizen's home by $2,500, and (ii) disabled veterans, with the 
Assessor authorized annually to exempt up to $58,000 of the Assessed Valuation of certain property 
owned and used exclusively by such veterans or their spouses for residential purposes. The homestead 
improvement exemption provides that an owner of a single family residence may exempt up to $45,000 of 
the increase in the fair cash value of a home due to certain home improvements to an existing structure for 
at least four years from the date the improvement is completed. For rehabilitation of certain historic 
property, the Equalized Assessed Valuation is limited for eight years to the value when the rehabilitation 
work began. The Senior Citizens Assessment Freeze Homestead Exemption freezes property tax 
assessments for homeowners who are 65 and older and have annual incomes of $40,000 or less and are 
either the owner of record or have a legal or equitable interest in the property. In addition, certain 
property is exempt from taxation on the basis of ownership and/or use. 

Additionally, since 1996, counties have been authorized to create special property tax exemptions 
in long-established residential areas or in areas of deteriorated, vacant or abandoned homes and 
properties. Under such an exemption, long-time, residential owner-occupants in eligible areas would be 
entitled to a deferral or exemption from that portion of property taxes resulting from an increase in market 
value because of refurbishment or renovation of other residences or construction of new residences in the 
area. On June 5, 2001, the County enacted the Longtime Homeowner Exemption Ordinance, which 
provides property tax relief from dramatic rises in property taxes directly or indirectly attributable to 
gentrification in the form of an exemption. This is generally applicable to homeowners: (i) who have 
resided in their homes for 10 consecutive years (or five consecutive years for homeowners who have 
received assistance in the acquisition of the property as part of a government or nonprofit housing 
program), (ii) whose annual household income for the year of the homeowner's triennial assessment does 
not exceed 115% of the Chicago Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area median income as defined by the 
United States Department of Housing and Urban Development, (iii) whose property has increased in 
assessed value to a level exceeding 150% of the current average assessed value for properties in the 
assessment district where the property is located, and (iv) who, for any triennial assessment cycle, did not 
cause a substantial improvement which resulted in an increase in the property's fair cash value in excess 
of the $45,000 allowance set forth in the Illinois Property Tax Code. 

Tax Levy. There are over 800 units of local government (the "Units") located in whole or in part 
in the County that have taxing power. The major Units having taxing power over property within the City 
are the City, the Chicago Park District, the Board of Education ofthe City of Chicago, the School Finance 
Authority, Community College District No. 508, the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater 
Chicago, the County and the Forest Preserve District of Cook County. 

As part of the annual budgetary process of the Units, each year in which the determination is 
made to levy real estate taxes, proceedings are adopted by the governing body for each Unit. The tax levy 
proceedings impose the Units' respective real estate taxes in terms of a dollar amount. Each Unit certifies 
its real estate tax levy, as established by the proceedings, to the County Clerk's Office. The remaining 
administration and collection of the real estate taxes is statutorily assigned to the County Clerk and the 
County Treasurer, who is also the County Collector (the "County Collector"). 

After the Units file their annual tax levies, the County Clerk computes the annual tax rate for each 
Unit by dividing the levy of each Unit by the Assessment Base of the respective Unit. If any tax rate thus 
calculated or any component of such a tax rate (such as a levy for a particular fund) exceeds any 
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applicable statutory rate limit, the County Clerk disregards the excessive rate and applies the maximum 
rate permitted by law. 

The County Clerk then computes the total tax rate applicable to each parcel of real property by 
aggregating the tax rates of all the Units having jurisdiction over the particular parcel. The County Clerk 
enters in the books prepared for the County Collector (the "Warrant Books") the tax (determined by 
multiplying that total tax rate by the Equalized Assessed Valuation of that parcel), along with the tax 
rates, the Assessed Valuation and the Equalized Assessed Valuation. The Warrant Books are the County 
Collector's authority for the collection of taxes and are used by the County Collector as the basis for 
issuing tax bills to all property owners. 

The Illinois Truth in Taxation Law (the "Truth in Taxation Law"), contained within the Property 
Tax Code, imposes procedural limitations on a Unit's real estate taxing powers and requires that notice in 
prescribed form must be published if the aggregate annual levy is estimated to exceed 105 percent of the 
levy of the preceding year, exclusive of levies for debt service, levies made for the purpose of paying 
amounts due under public building commission leases and election costs. A public hearing must also be 
held, which may not be in conjunction with the budget hearing of the Unit on the adoption of the annual 
levy. No amount in excess of 105 percent ofthe preceding year's levy may be used as the basis for 
issuing tax bills to property owners unless the levy is accompanied by certification of compliance with the 
foregoing procedures. 

The "Cook County Truth in Taxation Law," which was in effect in Cook County until 
December 31, 2002, imposed procedural limitations on the taxing powers of a Unit located within the 
County and required that notice be published in prescribed form, of the Unit's annual levy, exclusive of 
levies for debt service, levies made for the purpose of paying amounts due under Public Building 
Commission Leases and election costs. A public hearing had to be held in December, which was not to 
coincide with the budget hearing of the Unit, on the intention to adopt an aggregate levy. The Cook 
County Truth in Taxation Law was repealed by its own terms as of January 1, 2003. No amount in excess 
of the preceding year's aggregate levy may be used as the basis for issuing tax bills to property owners 
unless the levy is accompanied by certification of compliance with the foregoing procedures of the Cook 
County Truth in Taxation Law. As of January 1, 2003, taxing districts in Cook County are subject to the 
Truth in Taxation notice and hearing requirements that apply to Illinois taxing districts generally. 

Collection. Property taxes are collected by the County Collector, who remits to each Unit its 
share of the collections. Taxes levied in one year become payable during the following year in two 
installments, the first due on March 1 and the second on the later of August 1 or 30 days after the mailing 
of the tax bills. The first installment is an estimated bill equal to one-half of the prior year's tax bill. The 
second installment is for the balance of the current year's tax bill, and is based on the current levy, 
assessed value and Equalization Factor and applicable tax rates, and reflects any changes from the prior 
year in those factors. Taxes on railroad real property used for transportation purposes are payable in one 
lump sum on the same date as the second installment. 
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The following table sets forth the second installment penalty date during the last 10 years; the 
first installment penalty date has been March 1 for all years. 

Tax Levy Year 

2001 
2000 
1999 
1998 
1997 
1996 
1995 
1994 
1993 
1992 

Second Installment 
Penalty Date 

November 1, 2002 
November 1, 2001 
October 2, 2000 
November 1, 1999 
October29, 1998 
September 19, 1997 
September 11, 1996 
November 3, 1995 
September 1, 1994 
September 1, 1993 

The County may provide for tax bills to be payable in four installments instead of two. The 
County has not determined to require payment of tax bills in four installments. During the periods of 
peak collections, tax receipts are forwarded to each Unit weekly. 

At the end of each collection year, the County Collector presents the Warrant Books to the Circuit 
Court and applies for a judgment for all unpaid taxes. The court order resulting from the application for 
judgment provides for an annual sale of all unpaid taxes shown on the year's Warrant Books (the "Annual 
Tax Sale"). The Annual Tax Sale is a public sale, at which time successful tax buyers pay the unpaid 
taxes plus penalties. Unpaid taxes accrue penalties at the rate of 1.5 percent per month from their due 
date until the date of sale. Taxpayers can redeem their property by paying the amount paid at the sale, 
plus a maximum of 18 percent for each six-month period after the sale. If no redemption is made within 
the applicable redemption period (ranging from six months to two and one-half years depending on the 
type and occupancy of the property) and the tax buyer ftles a petition in Circuit Court, notifying the 
necessary parties in accordance with applicable law, the tax buyer receives a deed to the property. In 
addition, there are miscellaneous statutory provisions for foreclosure of tax liens. 

If there is no sale of the tax lien on a parcel of property at the Annual Tax Sale, the taxes are 
forfeited and eligible to be purchased at any time thereafter at an amount equal to all delinquent taxes and 
interest to the date of purchase. Redemption periods and procedures are the same as applicable to the 
Annual Tax Sale, except that a different penalty rate may apply depending on the length of the 
redemption period. 

A scavenger sale (the "Scavenger Sale"), like the Annual Tax Sale, is a sale of unpaid taxes. The 
Scavenger Sale must be held, at a minimum, every two years on all property on which two or more years' 
taxes are delinquent. The sale price of the unpaid taxes is the amount bid at the Scavenger Sale, which 
may be less than the amount of the delinquent taxes. Redemption periods vary from six months to two 
and one-halfyears depending upon the type and occupancy of the property. 

The annual appropriation ordinance of the City has a provision for an allowance for uncollectible 
taxes. The City reviews this provision annually to determine whether adjustments are appropriate. For 
tax year 2002, collectible in 2003, the allowance for uncollectible taxes is ftve percent of the gross tax 
levy. For fmancial reporting purposes, uncollected taxes are written off by the City after four years, but 
are fully reserved after one year. 
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Property Tax Limits 

State of Illinois. The Property Tax Code limits (a) the amount of property taxes that can be 
extended for non-home rule units of local government located in the County and five adjacent counties 
and (b) the ability of those entities to issue general obligation bonds without voter approval (collectively, 
the "State Tax Cap"). Generally, the extension of property taxes for a unit of local government subject to 
the State Tax Cap may increase in any year by five percent or the percent increase in the Consumer Price 
Index for the preceding year, whichever is less, or the amount approved by referendum. The State Tax 
Cap does not apply to "limited bonds" payable from a unit's "debt service extension base" or to 
"double-barreled alternate bonds" issued pursuant to Section 15 of the Local Government Debt Reform 
Act. 

As a home rule unit of government, the City is not subject to the State Tax Cap. Under the 
Illinois Constitution of 1970, the enactment of legislation applying the State Tax Cap to the City and 
other home rule municipalities would require a law approved by the vote of three-fifths of the members of 
each house of the Illinois General Assembly and the concurrence of the Governor of the State of Illinois. 
It is not possible to predict whether, or in what form, any property tax limitations applicable to the City 
would be enacted by the Illinois General Assembly. The adoption of any such limits on the extension of 
real property taxes by the Illinois General Assembly may, in future years, adversely affect the City's 
ability to levy property taxes to finance operations at current levels and the City's power to issue 
additional general obligation debt without the prior approval of voters. 

State law imposes certain notice and public hearing requirements on non-home rule units of local 
government that propose to issue general obligation debt. These requirements do not apply to the City. 

The City. In 1993, the City Council ofthe City adopted an ordinance (the "City Tax Limitation 
Ordinance") limiting, beginning in 1994, the City's aggregate property tax levy to an amount equal to the 
prior year's aggregate property tax levy (subject to certain adjustments) plus the lesser of (a) five percent 
or (b) the percentage increase in the annualized Consumer Price Index for all urban consumers for all 
items, as published by the United States Department of Labor, during the 12-month period most recently 
announced prior to the filing of the preliminary budget estimate report. The City Tax Limitation 
Ordinance also provides that such limitation shall not reduce that portion of each levy attributable to the 
greater of: (i )for any levy year, interest and principal on general obligation notes and Bonds of the City 
outstanding on January 1, 1994, to be paid from collections of the levy made for such levy year, or 
(ii )$395,255,686, the amount of the aggregate interest and principal payments on the City's general 
obligation Bonds and notes during the 12-month period ended January 1, 1994, subject to annual increase 
in the manner described above for the aggregate levy (the "Safe Harbor"). Additional safe harbors are 
provided for portions of any levy attributable to payments under installment contracts or public building 
commission leases or attributable to payments due as a result of the refunding of general obligation Bonds 
or notes or of such installment contracts or leases. Pursuant to the Ordinance, the taxes levied by the 
Ordinance to pay the Bonds are excluded from the limitations of the City Tax Limitation Ordinance. See 
"SECURITY FOR THE BONDS." 

The tax limits set forth in the City Tax Limitation Ordinance may in future years adversely affect 
the City's ability to fmance operations at current levels and limit the ability of the City to finance capital 
improvement projects through the issuance of property-tax-supported Bonds. 
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Property Tax Information 

The following tables present statistical data regarding the City's prop~rty tax base, tax rates, tax levies and tax collections. 

Assessed, Equalized Assessed and Estimated Value of All Taxable Property 1992-2001 
(Dollars in thousands) 

Total Total 
Tax 

Assessed Values<1> 
State Equalized Estimated 

Levy Equalization Assessed Fair Cash 
Year Class 2<2> Class 3<3> Class s<4> Othe.-!5> Total Facto.-<6> Value<7l Value<8> 

1992 $5,073,399 $1,896,807 $7,121,862 $355,820 $14,447,888 2.0897 $27,964,128 $ 94,361,550 
1993 5,095,776 1,878,201 7,135,798 250,349 14,360,124 2.1407 28,661,954 94,219,759 
1994 5,701,638 2,016,367 7,357,679 244,451 15,320,135 2.1135 30,090,355 94,181,736 
1995 5,769,559 1,979,007 7,374,840 241,356 15,364,762 2.1243 30,381,480 97,291,356 
1996 5,843,068 1,930,178 7,338,644 255,507 15,367,397 2.1517 30,765,001 100,460,113 
1997 6,554,716 2,077,043 7,809,485 357,517 16,798,761 2.1489 33,349,557 1 06,282,207 
1998 6,646,198 2,047,577 7,848,335 267,007 16,809,117 2.1799 33,940,146 112,606,894 
1999 6,777,400 2,021,411 7,910,838 282,255 16,991,904 2.2505 35,354,802 124,544,158 
2000 8,758,682 1,966,921 8,807,444 342,943 19,875,990 2.2235 40,480,077 165,520,130 
2001 8,973,796 1,923,256 8,757,366 354,036 20,008,454 2.3098 41,981,912 164,572,708 

(I) Source: Cook County Assessor's Office. 
(2) Residential, six units and under. 
(3) Residential, seven units and over and mixed-use. 
( 4) Industrial/commercial. 
(5) Vacant, not-for-profit and industrial/commercial incentive classes. 
(6) Source: Illinois Department of Revenue. 

Total 
Equalized 
Assessed 

Value as a 
Percentage of 

Total Estimated 
Fair Cash Value 

29.64% 
30.42 
31.95 
31.23 
30.62 
31.38 
30.14 
28.39 
24.46 
25.51 

(7) Source: Cook County Clerk's Office. Calculations are net of exemptions and exclude portions ofthe City in DuPage County. Calculations also include assessment of 
pollution control facilities. 

(8) Source: The Civic Federation. Excludes railroad property. 

B-1 



Property Taxes for All City Funds, Collections and Estimated Allowance 
for Uncollectible Taxes 1993-2002 

(Dollars in Thousands) 

Percent of Estimated Net 
Total Tax Allowance for Outstanding 

Tax Levy Total Tax Total Tax Collections Uncollectible Taxes 
Year(t) Levi(2)(3) Collections(S) to Tax Levi Taxes Receivable 

1993 655,851 $634,647 96.8% $21,204 $0 
1994 649,415 625,396 96.3 24,019 0 
1995 647,559 626,300 96.7 21,259 0 
1996 671,427 652,819 97.2 18,608 0 
1997 675,198 661,020 97.9 14,178 0 
1998 678,260 667,096 98.4 11,164 0 
1999 657,731 649,354 98.7 8,377 0 
2000 672,104 665,020 98.9 6,379 705 
2001 687,381 687,023 99.9 358 0 
2002 706,418(4) 311,866(S) 44.1 35,321 359,231 

(I) Taxes for each year become due and payable in the following year. For example, taxes for the 2002 tax levy become due and payable in 2003. 
(2) Does not include levy for Special Service Areas and net of collections for Tax Increment Financing districts. 
(3) Source: Cook County Clerk's Office. 
(4) Estimate; actual was not available from Cook County Clerk's Office at time of publication. Does not include the levy for the Schools Building and Improvement Fund 

which is accounted for in an agency fund. 
(5) Reflects net tax collections through September II, 2003. 
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Tax 
Tax Extension 
Levy (Dollars in 
Year thousands} 

1992 $618,069 
1993 655,851 
1994 649,415 
1995 647,559 
1996 671,427 
1997 675,198 
1998 678,260 
1999 657,731 
2000 672,104 
2001 687,381 

Property Tax Rates by Fund Per $100 of Equalized Assessed Valuation 
1992-2001 

Laborers' 
and 

Retirement Park 
Municipal Board Employees' 

Bond, Note Policemen's Employees' Firemen's Employees' Annuity 
Redemption Annuity and Annuity Annuity Annuity and 
and Interest Benefit and Benefit and Benefit and Benefit Benefit 

1.384950 .259478 .379205 .119688 .047556 -
1.416413 .261334 .407918 .125680 .053557 -

1.303353 .277520 .398995 .122721 .048778 -
1.183527 .308988 .459701 .120289 .052995 -

1.264882 .298663 .438745 .119982 .056000 -
1.124570 .289836 .412152 .146797 .050645 -
1.121948 .300551 .403014 .122435 .050052 -
1.076812 .314836 .298024 .134637 .035691 -
.980950 .301167 .260291 .117590 - -

.942710 .289912 .277774 .126603 - -

Source: Cook County Clerk's Office. 
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Public 
Building 

Commission Total 

.019123 2.210 

.023098 2.288 

.006633 2.158 

.005500 2.131 

.003728 2.182 
- 2.024 
- 1.998 
- 1.860 
- 1.660 
- 1.637 



Combined Property Tax Rates of the City and Other Major Governmental 
Units Per $100 of Equalized Assessed Valuation 1992-2001 

Chicago Metropolitan Forest 
School City Chicago Water Preserve 

Tax Levy Finance Board of Colleges Park Reclamation District of 
Year City Authoriti Education of Chicago District District CookCounti Cook County Total 

1992 2.210 .190 4.267 .390 .735 .470 .063 1.176 9.501 
1993 2.288 .150 4.324 .381 .778 .471 .072 .971 9.435 
1994 2.158 .265 4.167 .372 .741 .495 .073 .993 9.264 
1995 2.131 .296 4.251 .376 .730 .495 .072 .994 9.345 
1996 2.182 .291 4.327 .377 .721 .492 .074 .989 9.453 
1997 2.024 .270 4.084 .356 .665 .451 .074 .919 8.843 
1998 1.998 .268 4.172 .354 .653 .444 .072 .911 8.872 
1999 1.860 .255 4.104 .347 .627 .419 .070 .854 8.536 
2000 1.660 .223 3.714 .331 .572 .415 .069 .824 7.788 
2001 1.637 .223 3.744 .307 .567 .401 .067 .746 7.692 

Source: Cook County Clerk's Office. 
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Direct Debt: 

CITY OF CIDCAGO 
Property Tax Supported Bonded Debt 

Computation of Direct and Overlapping Bonded Debt 
As of September 11, 2003 

(Adjusted for the issuance of the Series 2003 Bonds) 
(Dollars in thousands) 

General Obligation Bonds and Notes (I) ••••••••••••••••••••••.•••••••••••••••••.•••••••••••••••••••.•••..••••.•••••.••••••••••.•••••.•••••••••••••••••••••••••• 

The Series 2003 Bonds ................................................................................................................................................. . 
General Obligation Tender Notes and Commercial Paper Notes ................................................................................. . 
Net Direct Long-Tenn Debt ......................................................................................................................................... . 

Overlapping Debt:<2> 

City Colleges of Chicago ............................................................................. . 
Board of Education ...................................................................................... . 
Chicago School Finance Authority .............................................................. . 
Chicago Park District .................................................................................. . 
Metropolitan Water Reclamation District Of Greater Chicago .................... . 
Cook County ................................................................................................ . 
Cook County Forest Preserve District ......................................................... . 

Total Overlapping Long-Tenn Debt. ................................................................ . 
Net Direct and Overlapping Long-Tenn Debt. ................................................. . 

Net Direct 
Debt<3> 

$ 118,545 
3,688, 75iS) 

391,410 
1,040,465(S) 
1,418,897 
2,613,960 

41,445 

(1) General Obligation Tender and Equipment Notes and Commercial Paper Notes consist of: 

(a) Tender Notes outstanding in the amounts shown below (dollars in thousands): 

Amount 

$131,590 
135.445 

$267 035 

Series 

2002 
2003 

Final Maturity 

l/8/2004 
l/7/2005 

Percent 
Overlapping<•> 

100.00% 
100.00 
100.00 
100.00 
45.15 
44.19 
44.19 

(b) Equipment Notes outstanding in the amounts shown below (dollars in thousands): 

Amount Series Final Maturi!,I 

$ 46,365 1996 l/l/2006 
19,900 1997 l/l/2006 
58,815 1998 l/l/2008 

$125 llB!l 

(c) Commercial Paper Notes outstanding in the amounts shown below (dollars in thousands): 

Amount Series 

$155,550 2002B (Taxable) 

$5,048,180 
137,002 

(422,585) 
$4,762,597 

Debt Applicable 
$ 118,545 

3,688,752 
391,410 

1,040,465 
640,632 

1,155,109 
18,315 

$ 7,053,228 
Sll 815825 

(2) Includes debt secured by property taxes (including "alternate bonds" and "limited tax" bonds) and Public Building Commission bonds 
secured by long-tenn lease obligations. 

(3) Source: Each of the respective taxing districts. 
(4) Source: The Civic Federation. 
(5) Includes $3,241,512,704 and $440,095,000 of general obligation bonds of the Board of Education and the Chicago Park District, 

respectively, issued as "alternate revenue" bonds secured by alternate revenue sources. An ad valorem property tax levy is filed in an 
amount sufficient to pay debt service on these alternate revenue bonds. When sufficient revenues have accumulated to pay annual debt 
service on the alternate revenue bonds, the property tax levy is abated. To date, alternate revenues have been available in amounts 
sufficient to pay principal and interest coming due on the alternate revenue bonds issued by the Board of Education and the Chicago 
Park District. 
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Selected Debt Statistics 

Population (2000) ............................................................... . 
Total Equalized Assessed Value (2001) ............................. . 
Total Estimated Fair Cash Value (200 I) ............................ . 

Amount 

2,896,0 16(l) 
$ 41,981,912,323(2) 

$164,572,707 ,886(J) 

Net Direct Long-Term Debt... .............................................. $4,762,597,048 

Per Capita 

$1,644.53 
4,080.03 Total Net Direct and Overlapping Long-Term Debt............ 11,815,824,513 

(I) Source: U.S. Census Bureau. 

Percent of Total 
Estimated Fair 

Cash Value 

2.89% 
7.18 

(2) Source: Cook County Clerk's Office. Total Equalized Assessed Value is net of exemptions. Includes assessment of 
pollution control facilities and excludes portions of the City in DuPage County. 

(3) Source: The Civic Federation. Excludes railroad property. 
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Year 
2003 
2004 
2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 
2011 
2012 
2013 
2014 
2015 
2016 
2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 
2029 
2030 
2031 
2032 
2033 
2034 
2035 
2036 
2037 
2038 
2039 
2040 
2041 
Total 

CITY OF CHICAGO 
Debt Service Scbedule<l) 

As of September 11,2003 
(Adjusted for the issuance of the Series 2003 Bonds) 

Series 2003 Bonds 

Principal 

$ 13,320,848 
18,815,832 
21,591,185 
83,273,691 

Interest 

$ 689,152 
1,904,168 
3,443,815 

15,556,309 

$137 001 556 $ 21 593 444 

General Obligation Bonds 
Outstanding<2> 

Principal 
$ 75,020,000 

60,100,333 
64,072,880 
86,584,806 
88,610,612 

127,001,391 
152,847,421 
159,546,189 
146,810,322 
145,583,245 
155,996,569 
157,687,425 
165,643,732 
168,573,551 
151,722,950 
144,138,698 
144,060,213 
146,731,712 
153,603,394 
153,154,731 
134,259,711 
131,246,168 
127,720,676 
129,084,756 
135,683,585 
109,132,164 
85,160,741 
94,722,120 
98,834,596 

103,233,762 
107,401,194 
97,077,377 
83,592,607 
87,386,559 
77,512,925 
81,366,380 
82,590,000 
61,180,000 
25.840.000 

$4 500 515 492 

Interest 
$ 101,920,514 

212,198,020 
209,301,534 
207,405,055 
204,518,909 
199,979,215 
193, 179,257 
184,917,075 
200,650,000 
197,158,505 
187,366,722 
181,173,306 
173,943,841 
166,775,235 
159,319,539 
152,706,406 
146,372,248 
140,193,287 
133,756,864 
130,289,767 
123,871,182 
118,135,051 
112,786,471 
107,585,807 
102,258,023 
96,553,826 
85,850,860 
76,363,250 
72,318,023 
67,966,999 
63,379,390 
58,481,798 
54,030,918 
50,289,416 
46,387,337 
42,527,658 

8,633,325 
4,351,000 
1 292.000 

$4 776 187 634 

General Obligation 
Notes Outstanding 

Debt Service<JK•> 
$325,244,812 

47,610,090 
172,446,900 

14,211,000 
15,309,000 

$574 821 802 

Total Debt Service 
$ 502,185,326 

319,908,443 
459,831,313 
328,920,861 
333,473,521 
425,810,606 
346,026,677 
344,463,263 
347,460,322 
342,741,750 
343,363,291 
338,860,730 
339,587,573 
335,348,786 
311,042,489 
296,845,104 
290,432,461 
286,924,999 
287,360,258 
283,444,498 
258,130,893 
249,381,219 
240,507,147 
236,670,563 
237,941,608 
205,685,990 
171,011,601 
171,085,371 
171,152,619 
171,200,761 
170,780,584 
155,559,175 
137,623,525 
137,675,975 
123,900,263 
123,894,038 
91,223,325 
65,531,000 
27.132.000 

$10010119928 

(1) Principal and interest (including the amount of interest that bas accreted on capital appreciation bonds) for each year includes amounts 
payable July 1 of that year and January 1 of the following year, except for principal and interest with respect to the Series 2003 Bonds, 
which are payable December 1 of that year. 

(2) Does not reflect the expected issuance of the Bonds described under "SECURITY FOR THE BONDS- Additional General Obligation 
Debt." 

(3) Interest rates on variable rate bonds and notes are assumed to be in the range of four to six percent. 
(4) Includes outstanding Tender Notes, Equipment Notes and Commercial Paper Notes. See APPENDIX B "-Computation of Direct and 

Overlapping Bonded Debt- Note (1 ). " 
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City of Chicago 
Property Tax Levies by Fund 1998-2002<1> 

(Dollars in thousands) 

1998 1999 Change 2000 Change 2001 Change 2002 Change 

Note Redemption and Interesta> ...... $250,873 $242,196 (3.46)% $231,010 (4.62)% $192,878 (16.51)% $171,123 (11.28)% 
Bond Redemption and Interest... ...... 129,994 138,585 6.61 166,160 19.90 202,969 22.15 241,549 19.01 
Policemen's Annuity and 

Benefit3> ..................................... 102,028 111,332 9.12 121,937 9.53 121,735 (0.17) 123,069 1.10 
Municipal Employees' Annuity 

and Benefit<J> .............................. 136,811 105,387 (22.97) 105,387 116,638 10.68 117,803 1.00 
Firemen's Annuity and Benefit(3) .... 41,563 47,610 14.55 47,610 53,161 11.66 52,874 (0.54) 
Laborers' and Retirement Board 

Employees' Annuity and 
Benefit<3> ..................................... --.l.2.m __!1.ffi (25.72) (100.00) 
Total ............................................ ~ ~ (3.03) ~ 2.19 ~ 2.27 ~ 2.77 

(I) See APPENDIX B- "Property Taxes For All City Funds, Collections And Estimated Allowance For Uncollectible Taxes 
1993-2002." 

(2) Includes Corporate, Chicago Public Library Maintenance and Operations, Chicago Public Library Building and Sites, and 
City Relief Funds. 

(3) For information regarding the City's unfunded (assets in excess of) pension benefit obligations under its Pension Plans, 
see APPENDIX C- "BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTs- Note (10) Pension Plans." 

Source: Cook County Clerk's Office. 
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CITY OF CHICAGO 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

General Fund (Corporate) 1998-2002 
(Dollars in thousands) 

1998{3} 1999{3} 2000{3} 2001{3} 2002(4) 
Revenues: 

Utility Tax ....................................... $ 396,942 $ 420,604 $ 442,953 $ 459,857 $ 441,586 
Sales Tax ......................................... 369,510 381,670 408,948 402,567 397,135 
State Income Tax ............................. 252,247 256,621 288,966 270,059 227,817 
Other Taxes ..................................... 459,979 472,479 504,592 505,799 520,812 
Federal/State Grants ......................... 8,580 3,218 5,017 4,760 3,888 
Other Revenues( 1) ........................... 501,470 524,392 564,842 585,501 664,209 

Total Revenues ........................... 1,988,728 2,058,984 2,215,318 2,228,543 2,255,447 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

Public Safety ............................... 1,251,667 1,322,116 1,332,172 1,345,113 1,420,298 
General Government.. ................. 577,831 607,057 669,873 714,822 665,647 
Other(2) ....................................... 325,672 346,594 362,350 368,383 345,356 
Debt Service ................................ 12,724 12,751 15,915 12,108 11,495 

Total Expenditures ................. 2,167,894 2,288,518 2,380,310 2,440,426 2,442,796 
Revenues Under Expenditures .... (179,166) (229,534) (164,992) (211,883) (187,349) 

Other Financing Sources (Uses): 
Proceeds of Debt, Net of Original 

Discount ...................................... 131,345 116,627 98,331 60,610 75,529 
Operating Transfers In ..................... 53,000 52,600 56,750 133,922 107,547 
Operating Transfers Out .................. (2,400) (2,400) (2,400) (2,400) 

Total Other Financing Sources 
(Uses) ..................................... 181,945 166,827 152,681 192,132 183,076 

Revenues and Other Financing 
Sources Over (Under) 
Expenditures and Other 
Financing Uses ............................ 2,779 (62,707) (12,311) (19,751) (4,273) 

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year ........ 236,947 239,435 179,184 166,397 146,449 
Change in Inventory ............................. (291) 2,456 (476) 1,070 (4,715) 
Residual Equity Transfer In (Out) ........ (1,267) 
Fund Balance, End of Year ................... $ 232 435 $ 122 184 $ 166,322 $ 146,442 $ 132 461 

(1) Includes Internal Service, Licenses and Permits, Fines, Investment Income, Charges for Services and Miscellaneous 
Revenues. 

(2) Includes Health, Streets and Sanitation, Transportation, Cultural and Recreational and Other Expenditures. 
(3) Source: City of Chicago General Purpose Financial Statements for years ended December 31, 1998-2001. 
(4) Source: City of Chicago Basic Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2002. 

See APPENDIX C- "BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS" and the notes thereto. 
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CITY OF CIDCAGO 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

Special Revenue Funds 1998-2002 
(Dollars in thousands) 

1998{3} 1999{3} 2000{3} 2001{3} 2002(4)(5) 
Revenues: 

Property Tax .................................... $ 302,107 $ 281,503 $ 281,351 $ 263,135 $ 280,773 
Utility Tax ....................................... 27,727 25,004 24,756 29,106 31,916 
Sales Tax ......................................... 426 315 274 323 
State Income Tax ............................. 47,841 46,810 47,045 44,522 45,718 
Other Taxes ..................................... 153,051 166,477 202,491 216,471 241,644 
Federal/State Grants ......................... 599,853 629,617 733,038 910,084 1,084,697 
Other Revenues( I) ........................... 79,590 106,536 118,708 129,654 113,898 

Total Revenue ............................. 1,210,595 1,256,262 1,407,389 1,593,246 1,798,969 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

Public Safety ............................... 31,525 40,099 53,090 80,987 44,672 
General Government.. ................. 510,421 565,216 581,495 590,484 733,481 
Employee Pensions ..................... 347,826 329,034 328,353 339,379 328,518 
Other(2) ....................................... 406,803 415,995 484,749 656,273 752,360 

Capital Projects ................................ 4,936 11,535 10,857 6,766 6,503 
Debt Service .................................... 5,631 4,516 6,222 8,293 3,536 

Total Expenditures ...................... 1,307,142 1,366,395 1,464,766 1,682,182 1,869,070 
Revenues Under Expenditures ......... (96,547) (110,133) (57,377) (88,936) (70,101} 

Other Financing Sources (Uses): 
Proceeds of Debt, Net of Original 

Discount ...................................... 79,190 79,128 81,669 115,795 80,992 
Operating Transfers In ..................... 17,016 25,807 39,446 42,246 24,599 
Operating Transfers Out .................. (46,307) (32,292) (24,717) (25,754) (50,6Q8} 

Total Other Financing Sources 
(Uses) ..................................... 49,899 72,643 96,398 132,287 54,983 

Revenues and Other Financing 
Sources Over (Under) 
Expenditures and Other 
Financing Uses ............................ (46,648) (37,490) 39,021 43,351 (15,118) 

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year ........ 190,116 143,468 105,978 144,999 189,617 
Residual Equity Transfer In (Out) ........ 1,267 
Fund Balance, End of Year ................... $ HM68 $ 105 218 $ 144 222 $ 182,611 $ 174,499 

(I) Includes Internal Service, Fines, Investment Income, Charges for Services and Miscellaneous Revenues. 
(2) Includes Health, Streets and Sanitation, Transportation, Cultural and Recreational and Other Expenditures. 
(3) Source: City of Chicago General Purpose Financial Statements for years ended December 31, 1998-200 I. 
(4) Beginning in year 2002, the City implemented Government Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34 which 

resulted in significant changes in the content and structure of the City's financial statements compared to prior years. 
The information presented for year 2002 has been prepared to be consistent with the financial information reported for 
the years 1998-2001. The information presented for year 2002 is therefore not easily comparable to the information 
presented in the City's Basic Financial Statements for the year ended December 31,2002 appearing as Appendix C 
hereto. 

(5) The information for year 2002 was obtained by adding the line items under the column captioned "Federal, State and 
Local Grants" of the STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCEs­
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS, appearing as Exhibit 4 to the City's Basic Financial Statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2002, included as Appendix C hereto, to the line items under the column captioned "Total Special Revenue 
Funds" ofthe COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND 
BALANCE-NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS, appearing as Schedule B-2 to the City's Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report for the year ended Dece~r.ber 31, 2002, which Schedule B-2 is included as page B-13 hereto. 
The City's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the year ended December 31, 2002 is available upon request 
from the Office of the City Comptroller. 
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CITY OF CIDCAGO 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

Debt Service Funds 1998-2002 
(Dollars in thousands) 

1998(2} 1999(2} 2000(2} 2001(2} 2002(3){4) 
Revenues: 

Property Tax .................................... $375,319 $361,189 $382,656 $378,216 $ 382,146 
Utility Tax ....................................... 15,509 10,403 14,901 15,008 14,917 
Sales Tax ......................................... 14,120 26,857 27,372 27,796 22,033 
Other Taxes ..................................... 59,189 67,592 79,785 95,382 100,839 
Other Revenues( 1) ........................... 15,919 15.423 20,509 13,141 5,246 

Total Revenues ........................... 480,056 481.464 525,223 529.543 525,181 

Expenditures: 
Debt Service .................................... 448,293 469,371 485,286 521.347 ~21,819 

Total Expenditures ...................... 448,993 469,371 485,286 521.347 521,819 

Revenues Over (Under) 
Expenditures ........................... 31,063 12,093 39,937 8,196 ~ 

Other Financing Sources (Uses): 
Proceeds of Debt, Net of Original 

Discount ...................................... 341,696 371,946 317,943 154,647 154,988 
Payment to Prior Series 2003 

Bond Escrow Agent .................... (297,074) (352,143) (267,086) (127,821) (132,289) 
Operating Transfers ln ..................... 3,278 5,539 5,798 8,987 4,951 
Operating Transfers Out .................. (25,891) (33.160) (49,244) (42,826) (27,993} 

Total Other Financing Sources 
(Uses) ..................................... 22,009 (7,818) 7 411 (7,013) (343} 

Revenues and Other Financing 
Sources Over (Under) 

Expenditures and Other 
Financing Uses ............................ 53,072 4,275 47,348 1,183 3,019 

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year ........ 165,503 218.575 222,850 270,198 271,381 
Fund Balance, End of Year ................... $218 szs $222 850 $2ZO 128 $2ZI 381 $274~00 

(1) Includes Investment Income and Miscellaneous Revenues. 
(2) Source: City of Chicago General Purpose Financial Statements for years ended December 31, 1998-2001. 
(3) See foonote {4) on page B-10 hereof. 
(4) The information for year 2002 was obtained by adding the line items under the column captioned "Bond, Note 

Redemption and Interest" ofthe STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND 
BALANCE~OVERNMENT AL FUNDS, appearing as Exhibit 4 to the City's Basic Financial Statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2002, included as Appendix C hereto, to the line items under the column captioned "Debt Service 
Fund Special Taxing Areas" of the COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCE-NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS, appearing as Schedule B-2 to the City's 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the year ended December 31, 2002, which Schedule B-2 is included as page 
B-13 hereto. The City's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the year ended December 31,2002 is available 
upon request from the Office of the City Comptroller. 
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CITY OF CIDCAGO 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

Capital Projects Funds 1998-2002 
(Dollars in thousands) 

1998{2} 1999{2} 2000{2} 2001{2} 2002{3}{4} 
Revenues: 

Other Revenues( 1) ........................... $ 68,351 $ 59.480 $ 84,796 $ 74,945 $ 64,353 
Total Revenues ........................... 68,351 59.480 84,796 74,945 64,353 

Expenditures: 
Capital Projects ................................ 430,649 565,600 664,210 520,405 751,853 
Other ................................................ 

Total Expenditures ...................... 430,649 565,600 664,210 520,405 751,853 
Revenues (Under) Expenditures ...... (362,298) (506,120) (579,414) (445,460) (687,500) 

Other Financing Sources (Uses): 
Proceeds of Debt, Net of Original 

Discount ...................................... 454,551 800,896 695,306 634,693 605,817 
Operating Transfers In ..................... 3,455 4,427 6,622 28,191 1,785 
Operating Transfers Out .................. (128) (16,023) (29,289) (34,636) (32,619) 

Total Other Financing Sources 
(Uses) ..................................... 457,878 789,300 672,639 628,248 574,983 

Revenues and Other Financing 
Sources Over (Under) 

Expenditures and Other 
Financing Uses ............................ 95,580 283,180 93,225 182,788 (112,517) 

Fund balance, Beginning of Year ......... 611,767 707,347 990,527 1,083,752 1,266,540 
Residual Equity Transfer In .................. 
Fund Balance, End ofYear ................... SZOZ 3~Z $220 52Z $1 083 Z52 $1 266 5~0 $1 IS~ 023 

(1) Includes Investment Income, Charges for Services and Miscellaneous Revenues. 
(2) Source: City of Chicago General Purpose Financial Statements for years ended December 31, 1998-2001. 
(3) See foonote (4) on page B-10 hereof. 
( 4) The information for year 2002 was obtained by adding the line items under the column captioned "Community 

Development and Improvement Projects" of the STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCES-GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS, appearing as Exhibit 4 to the City's Basic Financial Statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2002, included as Appendix C hereto, to the line items under the column captioned 
"Total Capital Project Funds" of the COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND 
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE-NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS, appearing as Schedule B-2 to the 
City's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the year ended December 31, 2002, which Schedule B-2 is included 
as page B-13 hereto. The City's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the year ended December 31, 2002 is 
available upon request from the Office of the City Comptroller. 
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CITY OF CHICAGO 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
Year Ended December 31,2002 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Total 
Debt Service Nonmajor 

Total Special Fund Special Total Capital Governmental 
Revenue Funds Taxing Areas Project Funds Funds (1) 

REVENUES 
Property Tax .................................................... . $280,773 $ $ $280,773 
Utility Tax ....................................................... . 31,916 31,916 
Sales Tax ......................................................... . 323 2,052 2,375 
Transportation Tax ........................................... . 170,882 170,882 
State Income Tax ............................................. . 45,718 45,718 
Special Area Tax ............................................. . 59,339 86,026 145,365 
Other Taxes ..................................................... . 11,423 147 11,570 
FederaVState Grants ......................................... . 
Internal Service ................................................ . 34,962 34,962 
Fines ................................................................ . 15,522 15,522 
Investment Income ........................................... . 6,177 2,027 4,616 12,820 
Charges for Services ........................................ . 27,362 27,362 
Miscellaneous .................................................. . 29.875 29,875 

Total Revenues ........................................... . 714.272 90.252 4.616 809.140 

EXPENDITURES 
Current: 

General Government ................................... . 193,039 193,039 
Health .......................................................... . 27,905 27,905 
Public Safety ............................................... . 2,214 2,214 
Streets and Sanitation .................................. . 104,091 104,091 
Transportation ............................................. . 78,586 78,586 
Cultural and Recreational... ......................... . 70,381 70,381 
Employee Pensions ..................................... . 328,518 328,518 
Other ........................................................... . 350 350 

Capital Projects ................................................ . 105,490 105,490 
Debt Service: 

Principal Retirement ................................... . 36,224 36,224 
Interest and Other Fiscal Charges ............... . 3,536 28.342 31.878 

Total Expenditures ................................. . 808.620 64.566 105.490 978.676 
Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures ......... . (94.348) 25.686 (100,874) (169.536) 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Proceeds of Debt, Net of Original Discount .... . 80,992 4,897 70,000 155,889 
Payment to Refunded Bond Escrow Agent... ... . (2,811) (2,811) 
Operating Transfers In ..................................... . 19,900 4,951 24,851 
Operating Transfers Out .................................. . (26.361) (17,493) (9.191) (53,045) 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) ... . 74,531 (10,456) 60,809 124,884 
Net Change in Fund Balances .......................... . (19,817) 15,230 (40,065) (44,652) 
Fund Balance (Deficit)- Beginning of Year ... . 170,726 134,804 112,146 417,676 
Residual Equity Transfer In (Out) ................... . 
Fund Balance (Deficit) End of Year ................ . $]50 909 $]50 034 $ :Z2,Q81 $313 Q24 

( 1) The line items under "Total Nonmajor Governmental Funds" above are identical to the line items under the column 
captioned "Other Governmental Funds" appearing as Exhibit 4 to the City's Basic Financial Statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2002 included as Appendix C hereto. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Honorable Richard M. Daley. Mayor. 
and Members of the City Council 
City of Chicago. Dlinois 

Deloitte 
&Touche 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities. the business-type 
activities. each major fund. and the aggregate remaining fund infonnation of the City of Chicago. Illinois 
(the "City''), as of and for the year ended December 31. 2002, which collectively comprise the City's 
basic financial statements. as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the City's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on tbese financial 
statements based on our audiL We did not audit the financial statements of the city•s Pension Plans 
(the .. Plans") which, in aggregate. represent substantially all the assets and revenues of the fiduciary 
funds, included in the aggregate remaining fund information. Those financial statements were audited by 
other auditors whose repon thereon has been furnished to us, and our opinion. insofar as it relates to the 
amounts included for the Plans. is based on the repon of the other auditors. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards. 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standanls require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the respective financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining. on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the respective financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management. as well as evaluating the 
overall fmancial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 

In our opinion. based on our audit and the reports of other auditors. the financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material n=spects, the respective net assets or financial position of the 
governmental activities. the business-type activities. each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City of Chicago. illinois. as of December 31. 2002, and the respective changes in 
financial position and cash flows, where applicable, thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for 
the General Fund for the year then ended. in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America. 

As discussed in Note 1. beginning in fiscal year 2002. the City implemented Government Accounting 
Standards Board Statements No. 34, 37 and No. 38. Beginning balances of the 2002 basic fmancial 
statements have been restated for the provisions of these standards. 

Deloitte 
Touche 
Tohmatsu 



The Management's Discussion and Analysis on pages 5 to 14 is not a required part of the basic financial 
statements, but is supplementary information required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. 
This supplementary information is the responsibility of the City's management. We have applied certain 
limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of 
measurement and presentation of the required supplementary information. However, we did not audit the 
infonnation and express no opinion or any other form of assurance on it. 

June 20, 2003 



CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

As management of the City of Chicago, Illinois (City) we offer readers of the City's Basic Financial Statements this namtive 
overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fJ.SCal year ended December 31, 2002. We encourage the 
readers to consider the infonnation presented here in conjunction with information that we have fumishcd in the basic financial 
statements and notes to the basic financial statements. contained witbiJJ this report. 

As the City has implemented new reporting standards for this fiscal year with significant changes in content and structure, much 
of the information is not easily comparable to prior years. In future years, comparisons will be more meaningful and Will further 
explain the City's financial poSition and results of operations. 

Fiseall002 Financial Higbligbts 

• Assets of the City, m the government-wide fmancial statements, exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal 
year by $4,026.5 million (net assets). Of this amount. $851.3 is an unrestricted deficit, while $3,163.4 million is invested in 
capital assets, net of related debt and $1,714.4 million is restricted for specific purposes. 

• Revenues and Other FiDancing Sources, iD the fund fmancial statements, available for general governmental operations 
during 2002 were $5,700.1 million, an increase of $94.8 million ( 1. 7 percent) from 2001. 

• The General Fund, also in the fund financial statements, ended 2002 with a total Fund Balance of$ 137.5 million. Total Fund 
Balance decreased from 2001 primarily because Expenditures and Other Financing Uses exc:eedcd Revenues and Other 
Financing Sources by $4.3 million. Fund Balance at December 31, 2002 of $101.6 million was reserved for commitments 
related to certain labor agreements and other commitments. Unreserved Fund Balance was $13.0 million at December 31, 
2002, compared to a balance of$33.2 million at the end of 2001. 

• The City's general obbgation bonds and notes outstaDding increased by $576.0 million during the cur:rent fiscal year. The 
key factor in this increase was the issuance of additional general obligation bonds to further tbe City's capital plan. 

Overview of the Flnancial Statemeats 

This discussion and anal)'SlS are intended to serve as an introduction to the City's basic fmancial statements, which include the 
following components; 1) govermnent-wide fioancial statmnents, 2) fund fmancial statements, and 3) notes to the basic financial 
statements. These components are described below: 

Government-wide fbaandal statements. The government-wide ji111111cial .statements are designed to provide readers with a 
broad overview of the City's finances, using accounting methods similar to those used by private-sector companies. The 
statements provide both short-tcnn and long-tcnn infoJDJation about the City's financial position, which assists in assessing the 
City's economic condition at the end of the fJSCal year. These financial statements are prepared using the flow of economic 
resources measurement focus and the acc:rual basis of accounting. This basically means such statements follow methods that are 
similar to those used by most businesses. They take into account aU revenues and expenses connected with the fiscal year even if 
cash involved has not been received or paid The government-wide financial statements include two statements: 

The .statement of net assets presents infonuation on all of the City's assets and liabilities, with the difference between the two 
reponed as net assets. Over time. increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial 
position of the City is improving or deteriorating, respectively. To assess the overall health of the City you need to consider 
additional nonfinancial factors such as changes in the City's property tax base and the condition of the City's roads. 

The statement of activities presents infonnation showing how the government's net assets changed duriDg each fiscal year. All 
changes in net assets are reported as soon as the UDderlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of the 
related ca.sh flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in Ibis statement for some items that will only result in cash flows 
in future periods (for example, uncoUectcd taxes, and earned, but unused vacation leave). This statement also presents a 
comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for each function of the C1ty. 

Both of the govemmenr-wide fmancial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other func:bons that are intended to recover all or a SJgmficant portion 
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of their costs through user fees and charges (busmess-type activities). The governmental activities of the City include general 
government, pubbc safety, employee pensions. streets and sanitation, transportation, health, and cuJtural and recreation. The 
business-type activities of the City include water, sewer, tollway and airport services. 

The government-wide fmanc.ial statements present infonnation about the City as a primary government, which includes the 
Chicago Public Libruy aDd the City related funds of the Public Building Commission. 

The government-wide financial statements can be found immediately following this management's discussion and analysis. 

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resoun:es that have 
been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local governments. uses fund accolDlting to 
ensure and demonstrate compliance with fmance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the City can be divided into three 
categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 

GoNT~~IIIentlll JIIIUh. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental 
activities in the government-wide fmancial statemen1S. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental 
fund fmancial statements focus on near-term rnflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spentlable 
resources available at the end of a fJSCal year. Such infonnation may be usefid m evaluating a government's ncar-tenn financing 
requirements. 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide fmancial statements, it is usefid to 
compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar infonnation presented for governmental actiYities in the 
government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the govemment's 
near-tenn financing decJSions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues. 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate the comparison between governmentol funds and 
governmental activities. 

The City maintains 18 individual governmental funds. Infonnation for the four funds that qualify as major is presented separately 
in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures. and changes in fund 
balances. The four major governmental funds are as follows: the General Fuud, the Federal, State 8r. Local Grants Fund, the 
Bond, Note Redemption & Interest Fund, and the Commun1ty Development 8r. Improvement Projects Fund. Data from the other 
governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. 

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general and certam special revenue funds on a non-GAAP budgetary basis. 
A budgetary comparison statement has been provided for the general fund, the only major fund with an appropriated budget, to 
demonstrate compliance with this budget. 

The bas1c governmental fund fmancial statements can be found immediately following the government-wide statements. 

Proprletllry funds. These funds are used to show activities that operate more like those of commercial enterprises. Because these 
funds charge user fees for services provided to outside customers including local governments. they are known as enterprise 
funds. Proprietary funds. like government-wide statements, use the accrual basis of accounting and provide both long- and short­
term fiuancial information. There is no reconciliation needed between the government-wide fUWlCial statements for business­
type activities and the proprietary fund financial statements. The City uses five enterprise funds to account for its water, sewer, 
tollway and two airports operations. 

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide fmancial statements, but provide more detail. 
The proprietary fund fmancial statements provide separate information for the Water Fund, Sewer Fund, Chicago Skyway Fwtd, 
Cbicago-O'Hare International Airport Fund and the Midway Auport Fund. With exception of the Chicago Skyway Fund aU the 
proprietary funds are considered to be major funds of the City. 

The basic proprietary fund fmancial statements can be found immediately following the governmental fund financial statements. 
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Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the primary government. 
The City is the trustee, or fiduciary, for Jts employees' pension plans. It is also responsible for other assets that, because of a tmst 
arrangement can be used only for the tmst beneficiaries. The City also uses flduc:mry funds to ac:c:ount for transactions for assets 
held by the City as agent for various entities. The City is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in these funds are used 
for their intended purposes. Fllluciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources 
of those funds are not available to support the City's own programs. All of the City's fiduciary activities are reported m a separate 
statement of fiduciary net assets and a statement of c:hanges m fiduciary net assets. The accounting used for f.aduc:iary funds is 
much like that used for propnetary funds. 

The basic fiductary fund financial statements can be found inunediately following the proprietary fund fmancial statements. 

Notes to the b11sic fmllncilll Sllltements. The notes provide· additJonal information that is essential to a full understanding of data 
provided m the government-wide and fund fmanctal statements. The notes to the basic financial statements can be found 
immediately followmg the fiduciary fund financial statements. 

Financial Analysis or the City as a Whole 

Net 11ssets. As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful mdtcator of a government's fmanc:ial position. In the case 
of the Cny, assets exceeded liabilities by $4,026.5 million at December 31, 2002. 

By far the largest portion of the City's net assets, $3,163.4 million reflects its investment in capital assets (land, buildings. roads, 
bridges, etc.). less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to 
provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City's investment in its 
capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from 
other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. 

City of Chicago, Illinois 
Summary Statement of Net Assets 

(In millions of dollars) 

Governmental Business-type 
Activities Activities Total 

Current and other assets s 4,058.0 $ 3,045.5 $ 7,103.5 
Capital assets 5,831.2 6,501.1 12,332.3 

Total assets 9,889.2 9,546.6 19,435.8 
Long-tenn liabilities outstanding 7,345.2 6,562.4 13,907.6 
Other liabilities 955.0 546.7 1,501.7 

Total Liabilities 8,300.2 7,109.1 15,409.3 
Net assets: 
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 1,418.7 1,744.7 3,163.4 
Restricted 997.7 716.7 1,714.4 
Unrestricted (827.4) (23.9) (851.3) 

Total net assets s 1,589.0 s 2.437.5 $ 4,026.5 

An additional portion of the City's net assets (S 1, 714.4 million) represent resources that are subJect to external restrictions on how 
they may be used. 

Govonmental-typ~ Activiti~s. Net assets of the City's governmental activities decreased $214.7 million (11.9 percent) to 
$1,589.0 million. However, a signifiCant portion of those net assets are either restricted as to the pUipOSC they can be used for or 
they are invested in capital assets (buildings, roads, bridges, etc.). Consequendy, lJJm:Stricted net assets showed a $827.4 million 
def1e1t at the end of this year. This deficit does not mean that the C1ty does not have the resources available to pay its bills next 
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year. Rather, it is the result of having long·tenn commitments that are greater than currently available resources. Specifically, 
the City did not include in past annual budgets the full amounts needed to finance future liabilities arising from property and 
casualty claims ($439.0 million), and Policemen's and Firemen's net pension obligation ($1,220.2 million). The City will include 
these amounts in future years' budgets as they come due. 

In addition, two particular features of the City's recent financial activity adversely affected the deficit in unrestricted 
govcmmcntal net assets: 
• During the past two years tax revenues and State grants fell short of expectations. 
• The City used accumulated cash balances to avoid tax increases. 

Although total net assets ofbusiness.typcs activities were $2,437.5 million, these resources cannot be used to make up for the net 
asset def1e1t m governmental activities. The City generally can only usc these net assets to finance the continuing operations of 
the water, sewer, tollway and airports operations. 

Busin~:ss--type A.ctiviti~s. Operating revenues of the City's business.typc activities mcreased by $2.0 million in 2002 due 
primarily to iDcreases in rental income of the Entelprise Funds. All Entclpl'ise Funds met debt service coverage ratios set forth in 
the applicable bond iDdentures. 
• The Water fund revenues for 2002 increased by 2.6 percent from 2001 due to an increase in water rates. Operating expenses 

in 2002 decreased by 0.7 percent primarily due to tbe conversion of a pumping station from gas to electric resulting m a 
decrease m gas consumption, a decrease in the cost of natural gas, and a decrease in associated cost of water quality 
treatment. The general fund reimbursement increase of 8.4 percent relates to additional fire and police costs. 

• The Sewer Fund revenues decreased 1.9 percent during fiSCal year 2002, as the result of the 2002 rate increases offset by 
greater decreases in revenue from 1) increases in the number of exempt accounts, 2) decreases in penalties and 3) a decrease 
in pumpage. Repairs, general fund reimbursements, maintenance and engineering expenses for 2002 approximated 2001 
amounts. Increases in salaries, wages and benefits were offset by decreases in overtime. The decrease in administrative and 
general expenses is primarily due to a decrease of $1 million in accounts receivable uncollecn"ble expenses in 2002. 
Depreciation and amortization increased primarily due to an increase in capital assets. 

• Midway Airport operating revenues for 2002 increased by S 12.4 million compared to prior year operating revenues. This 
increase is principally due to increased terminal use charges and concession revenues. Operating expenses before 
depreciation and amortization increased by $9.8 million primarily due to maintenance costs for certain portions of the new 
and old tenninal and additional security, insurance and snow removal costs. During 2002, Midway Airport sold $22 million 
of revenue bonds. 

• O'Hare Airport's operating revenues for 2002 decreased by $14.7 million (3.2 percent) compared to pnor year operating 
revenues. Operabng expenses before depreciation and amortization bad no significant changes compared to 2001. This is 
consistent with management's objective to bold operating expenses consistent with the prior year. 

• The Skyway's operating revenues in 2002 decreased by 1.8 percent compared to 2001 which was primarily due to decreased 
commercial usage of the Skyway. Total operating expenses increased in 2002 due to costs relating to: 1) a cash management 
review, 2) increase in fleet maintenance costs, 3) an mcrease in msurance costs, and 4) depreciation and amortization as a 
result of capital activities. Total net deficit of $50.7 million increased SI 0. 7 million as a result of operating transfers of $23.0 
million to the City offset by current year income of $10.7 million and capital grants of $1.6 million. 

Financial Allalysis of the City's Fuads 

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance·related legal requirements. 

Governm~ntllljullll:s. The focus of the City's govemmentalfimds is to provide information on near·term inflows, outflows, and 
balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City's financing requirements. In particular, 
unreserved fond balance may serve as a useful measure of a government's net resources available for spending at the end of the 
fiscal year. 

At December 31, 2002, the City's governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of S I, 740.4 million, a decrease of 
$133.6 million in comparison with the prior year. Over balf of this total amount ($1,162.0 million) constitutes unreserved fond 
balance, which is available for spending at the government's discretion. The remainder of fmtd balance is reserved to indicate 
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that it 1s not available for new spending because it bas already been committed 1) to liquidate contracts and purchase orders of the 
prior period ($233.1 million), 2) to pay debt service ($274.4 million) and 3) for a vanety of other restricted purposes ($70.8 
million). 

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the current fiscal year, unreserved fund balance of the 
general fund was $13.0 million Vllith a total fund balance of$137.5 million. As a measure of the general fund's liquidity, it may 
be helpful to compare both unreserved fund balance and total fund balance to total fund expenditures. Unreserved fund balance 
represents 0.5 percent of total general fund expenditures, while total fund balance represents 5.6 percent of that same amount 

The fund balance of the C1ty's general fund decreased by $9.0 million during the current fiScal year. Key factors in this decline 
are as follows: 
• A portion of Fund Balance at December 31, 2002 was reserved for potential commitments to settle certain labor agreements. 
• Expenditures and Other Financing Uses exceeded Revenues and Other Financing Sources by $4.3 million. 

The Debt Service Fund bas a total fund balance of $274.4 million, all of whlch is reserved, for the payment of debt service. The 
net increase in fund balance during the current year in the Debt Service Fund was $3.0 million. 

Proprietary Ju11ds. The City's proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide financial 
statements, but m more detaiL 

Unrestricted net assets of the Water, Sewer, Tollway, O'Hare International Airport, and Midway Airport at the end of the year 
amounted to a deficit of$23.9 million. The total decrease in unrestricted net assets related to the $1,744.7 million of net assets 
invested in capital assets, net ofrelated debt and $716.7 million prunarily due to restricted assets for debt service and construction 
and rehabilitation. Other factors concerning the finances of these five funds have already been addressed in the discussion of the 
City's business-type activities. 

Changes i11fu11d blllturce. The City's govermnental fund revenues (excluding other fmancing sources) increased by 4.9 percent 
to $4,644.0 million. Vtrtually half of the City's revenue comes from taxes. Total taxes decreased by less than 0.01 percent. Total 
taxes includes an increase in property taxes of$21.5 million (3.4 percent) relating to the City's Neighborhoods Alive 21 Program 
and timing of collections. Transaction taxes increased by $15.6 million (7 .2 percent) due to increases in the value of real property 
transactions. Special area taxes increased $17.3 million (13.5 percent) based on an increase in the nwnbcr of taxing areas and an 
increase in the equalized assessed valuation of those areas. State income taxes decreased $41.1 million (13.1 percent) and sales 
taxes decreased S 11.1 nullion (2.6 percent) due to unfavorable economic conditions. 

Investment income decreased $43.9 million (45.6 percent) primarily due to the lower interest rate yields and reduced operating 
cash. Net operating transfers decreased by $80.0 million (74.3 percent) due to a decrease in transfers in over transfers out. 
Proceeds of debt decreased $48.4 million (5.0 percent) due to a decrease in tax increment allocation bonds issued during 2002. 
Federal/State grants vary from year to year depending primarily on the level of spending for programs, construction and other 
projects. 

Expenditures for general government operations in 2002 were $5,585.5 million. This reflects an increase of$421.2 million (8.2 
percent) over 2001. Current expenditures, which comprised 73.6 percent of total expenditures, increased by $194.9 million (4.8 
percent). Public safety (police and fue protection) was the largest component of current expenditures, accounting for 25.1 percent 
of total expenditures. Public safety expenditures increased $38.9 million (2.7 percent) over 2001 because of an mcrease in related 
personnel costs. Capital projects expenditures increased $231.2 million (43.9 percent) as a result of the City's Capital 
Improvement Program. Transportation expenditures increased $66.6 million (16.6 percent), due to the completion of grant 
funded transportation-related proJects such as Wacker Drive. 
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City of Chicago, Illinois 
Combined Revenues, Expenditures and Changes In Fund Balances 

Years Ended December 31, 
(In mlllloM of dollars) 

Total 
Governmental Percentage 

Funds Change 
211ll2 21111. 2UD,·2DU2 

Revenues: 
Propenytax s 662.9 s 641.4 3.4% 
Uuhty tax 488.4 504.0 -3.1% 
Sales tax 419.5 430.6 -2.6% 
Transportation tax 322.8 309.5 4.3% 
State income tax 213.5 314.6 -13.1% 
Transactton tax 232.2 216.6 7.2% 
Special area tax 145.4 128.1 13.5% 
Other taxes 163.0 163.5 -0.3% 
Federal/State grants 1,088.6 9]4.8 19.0% 
Internal service 339.8 307.6 10.5% 

Licenses and penmts 83.1 82.0 1.3% 
Fmes 181.7 150.5 20.7% 
Investment mcome 52.4 96.3 -45.6% 
Charges for services 116.6 104.0 12.1% 

Other 74.1 62.8 18.0% 

Total revenues 4,644.0 4,426.3 4.9% 
Expenses: 

General government 1,399.1 1,305.3 7.2o/o 
Pubhc safety 1,465.0 1,426.1 2.7% 
Employee pensions 328.5 339.2 -3.2% 
Streets and samtation 357.9 359.4 -0.4% 
Transportation 467.9 401.3 16.6% 
Health 178.0 16.3.4 8.9% 
Cultural and recreational 83.5 88.7 -5.9% 
Other 10.4 11.9 -12.6% 
Capital projects 758.4 527.2 43.9% 
Debt service: 

Principal retirement 285.7 293.0 -2.5% 

Interest and other fiscal charges 251.2 248.8 1.0% 

Total expenditures 5,585.6 5,164.3 8.2% 

Expenditures over revenues 941.6 738.0 27.6% 

Other financing sources (uses): 
Proceeds of debt, net of onginal discount 917.3 965.1 -5.0% 

Payment to refunded bond escrow agent (132.3) (127.8) 3.5% 

Operating transfers in 138.9 213.3 -34.9% 

Operating transfers out (111.2) (105.6) 5.3% 

Total other financing sources (uses) 812.7 945.6 -14.1% 

Revenues and other financing sources over (under) 
expenditures and other financing uses (128.9) 207.6 -162.1% 
Fund balance, beginning of year 1,874.0 1,665.3 12.5% 

Change in inventory (4.7) l.J -521.3% 

Fund balance, end of year s 1,740.4 s 1,874.0 -7.1% 
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REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 
2002 

Transfers in 
2% 

Licenses & 
Permits, Fines 

and Charges for 
Services 

9% 

Taxes 
48% 

Federal/Slate 
Grants 

19% 

The table above represents the breakout of the revenues and other financing sources of governmental funds. 

• The cost of all governmental activities, including other financing uses, was $5,829.0 million. 
• The amount that taxpayers paid for these activities through City taxes was only $2,707.7 million. 

• Some of the cost was paid by those who directly benefited from the programs ($721.2 million), or 
• By other governments and organizations that subsidized certain programs with grants and contnbutions ($1,088.6 

million). 
• The City paid for the "public benefit" portion with $2,707.7 million in taxes, and with other revenues such as state aid, 

interest and miscellaneous income. 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

The City's 2002 General Fund Budget is $2,527.6 million. This budget reflects an increase of $4.7 million over the amended 
2001 Budget. The City's 2002 General Fund Budget contains no additions or material changes to existing taxes and fees. Due to 
continuing recessionary conditions and legislative actions taken by the Illinois General Assembly revenues were expected to be 
millions less than the 2002 budgeted revenues. In response to these shortfalls and to ensure a balanced 2002 General Fund 
Budget, the City extended a civilian hiring freeze, enacted certain Ieduct1ons in non-personnel and personnel expenditures, and 
utilized certam available balances generated from previous year's General Fund revenue or fmancing sources. 

As a result of econormc conditions and legislative actions, 2002 General Fund revenues, including use of budgeted prior year's 
surplus, are $61.6 mil1ion less than 2002 budgeted revenues. 

There were no differences between the original budget and the final amended budget. 

Additional information on the City's budget can be found in note one under Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability within 
this report. 
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Capital Asset and Debt Administration 

Cqittd asets. The City's capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of December 31, 2002 amounts to 
$12,332.3 million (net of acc:umulated depreciation). These capital assets include land, buildings and system unprovcments, 
machinery and equipment, roads, highways and bridges, and property, plant and equipment. 

Major capital asset events during the current flScal year included the following: 
• Coostruttion contmued on the MilleJUlium Park, while the parking garage was opened for use. 
• Wacker Dnve project was completed in December 2002. 
• South Lake Shore Drive mamline reconstruction project is in process. 
• Chicago Center for Green Technology, a new City facility on the west side, is a national model of energy efficiency and 

environmentally-friendly "green" design. 
• The 20"' District Police Stanon on North Lincoln A venue. 
• Air & Sea Rescue Facility along Lake Micbigan on the south side. 
• The Water Fund completed projects totaling $100.3 million. The major completed projects were the Roseland pumping 

station and grid main installatioos. 
• The Sewer Fund replaced over ten miles of sewer lines to adhere to their five-year capital improvement plan. 
• Midway Airport expeuded SJ64.3 million on capital activities. This included land acquisitioos and construction projects, for 

the new terminal concourse, roadway aud teuant improvements. The major completed projects included the federal 
inspection station (FIS) and fuel storage facilities. 

• O'Hare expended $229.4 nullion on capital activities. This included land acquisition, tennina1 improvements, security 
enhancements, roadway/tax1way, parlang and roadway rehabilitation and airfield drainage improvements. Major completed 
projects included concourse improvements, parking lot expansion, security system enhancements and airfield drainage 
improvements. 

• The Skyway expended $60.5 million for construction projects, principally the 75dJ to 79* Street viaduct rehabilitation project, 
and the 1 OO* Street, Commercial A venue, and Calumet River bridge floor beam strengthening projects. Major completed 
projects were the Calumet River bridge painting project, 1006 Street truss and superstlllcture project and the median removal 
from the center bridge. 

Information on the City's capital assets can be found in Note six of this report. 

DUI. At the end of the current fasca.l year the City had $4,681.7 million in general obligation bonds and notes outstanding. Other 
outstanding long-term debt is as follows: $69.6 million in Motor Fuel Tax Revenue Bonds; $521.5 million in Tax Increment 
Financing Bonds; S 15.2 million in Installment Purchase Agreements; $390.3 million of Sales Tax Revenue Bonds; $235.7 million 
in General Obliganon Certificates and Other Obligatioos; and $6.706.4 million in Enterprise Fund Bonds and long-tenn 
obligatioos. 

During 2002, the City issued the following: 

General Obligation Bonds: 
• General Obligation Bonds. Project and Refunding Series 2002A ($ 169.8 million) 
• General Obligation Variable Ra~ Demand Douds Series 2002B ($185.4 million) 
• Geneml Obligation Bonds (Neighborhoods Alive 21 Program) Series 2002A ($51.5 million) 
• Geneml Obligation Variable Rate Demand Bonds (Neighborhoods Alive 21 Program) Series 20028 ($206. 7 million) 

Sales Tax Revenue Bonds: 
• Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, Variable Rate Series 2002 ($116.6 million) 

Tax Increment Allocation Bonds and Notes: 
• Various Tax Increment Allocation Notes, Taxable Series 2002, totaling ($7.8 million) 
• Tax Increment Allocation Bonds (Chatham Ridge Redevelopment Project) Series 2002 ($17.9 million) 
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Enterprise Fund Revenue Bonds: 
• Chicago Midway Airport Second Lien Revenue Bonds, Taxable Series 2002A ($22.0 million) 
• Chicago-O'Hare lntemabonal Airport General Airport Third L1en Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002A ($490.5 

million). 

At December 31, 2002 the City had credit ratings with each of the three major rating agencies as follows: 

Standard & 
Rating Agency Moody's Poors Fitch 

General Obligation: 
City AI A+ AA-

Revenue Bonds: 
O'Hare Airport: 

First Lien Al A+ AA-
Second L1en AI A AA-
Third Lien A2 A- A 
First Llen PFC AI A+ A 
Second Lien PFC A2 A A 

Midway Airport: 
First Lien A2 A A+ 
Second Lien A3 A- A+ 

Water: 
First Lien Aa3 AA- AA+ 
Second Lien Aa3 A+ A+ 

Skyway of a nla A-

Information on the City's long-term debt can be found in Note nine of this report. 

Eeonomic: Faeton and Next Year's Budgets and Rates 

The unfavorable national economy, which resulted in corporate downsizing as well as new construction in the central business 
district, caused the downtown office vacancy rate to increase to 12.8 percent from 10.8 percent. Despite the rise in the office 
space vacancy rate, conunercial real estate developers continued to view the City as an attractive place to build. The number of 
commercial pennits issued for 2002 increased by 9 percent with 6,350 permits issued. However, estimated cost of construction of 
$830.0 million decreased compared to prior years. 

Residential real estate growth remained strong in 2002. The median single-family home price rose to $170,000, a 6.3 percent 
increase from 2001 levels. Including condominimns and lofts, the median sales price was $240,000, an increase of 6.0 percent. 
Chicago's broad variety of housing styles and price ranges combined with low interest rates helped create great opportunities for 
homebuyers. The number of permits issued for residential new construction increased by 21.0 percent to I,S62 permits with an 
estimated cost of$1.1 billion. A key indicator of the C1ty's strength in the residential real estate market was demonstrated by the 
fact that home ownership grew at a faster rate in the City than in the suburban areas. 

Chicago remains a center of tourism and conventions with hotel occupancy maintaining a rate of 66.3 percent in 2002, almost 
unchanged from 66.2 percent in 2001. Hotel projects completed in 2002 included the Comfort Inn and Suites Downtown With 
130 rooms and the Sofitel Cb1cago Water Tower with 415 rooms. Despite decreases in travel due to national and international 
events, Chicago has a full calendar of conventions for fiscal2003. 
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The median household income in the City increased significantly to $46,433 in 2002. While the City unemployment rate rose to 
8.3 percent from 6.9 percent in 2001, the inflation rate remained under 3 percent. 
The City's 2003 Corporate Fund Budget. adopted by the City Council on December 4, 2002, is approximately $2,549.8 million. 
This budget reflects an increase of $22.2 million, or 0.9 percent, over the 2002 Corporate Fund Budget. The City's 2003 
Corporate Fund Budget contams no additions or changes in extsting taxes and fees. 

Requests for Information 

This fmanctal report is designed to provide a general overview of the City's fmances for all those wtth an interest in the 
government's finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional fmancial 
information should be addressed to the City of Chicago Comptroller's Office. 
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Exhibit 1 
CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS 

Decemb r 31,2002 
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars) 

ASSETS 

cash and Cash Equivalents 
Investments · · · · · · · · 
cash and Investments with Escrow Agent 

Receivables (Net of Allowances): 

Property Tax 
Accounts 

Internal Balances 
Inventories · · · · · · · 

Restncted Assets : 
cash and Cash Equivalents 
Investments 

Other Assets 

capital Assets : 
land, Improvements, Art. and Construction in Progress 
Other Capital Assets, Net of Depreciation 

Total Capital Assets 

Total Assets 

LIABILITIES 

Prinary Government 

Governmental Business-type 
Activities Activities Total 

$ 838.303 s 
833,533 
297,811 

839,098 
508,843 

32,140 
22,827 

685,480 

1,384,9n 
4,446,226 

5,831.203 

152,297 
3,199 

127,683 
(32,140) 
17,997 

1,167.655 
1,251,723 

357,099 

1,053,574 
5,447,524 

6,501,098 

s 9,889,238 s 9,546,611 

$ 990,600 
836,732 
297,811 

839,098 
636,526 

40,824 

1,167.655 
1,251,723 
1,042,579 

2,438,551 
9,893,750 

12,332,301 

s 19,435,849 

Voucher Wanants Payable • • · · · · · · • .......... · .. .. S 417,186 s 
13,312 
79,072 

241,726 
203,739 

251,280 s 688,466 
13,312 Short-term debt • · · · · · • · • · · · • · · · · · · · · · · • · · 

Accrued Interest · · · · • · · .. .. · · · .... · .. · · · · · · .. · · .. · 
Accrued and Other UabiUtles • · · · • · · · · • · · · • · · • · 
Deferred Revenue · · · · · · · · .. · · · · .. · · .. · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · 

Long-tenn Uabilities : 

Due Within One Year · · · · · · · · • · · · · • · · · · · · • · • · • · · · · · 
Due In More Than One Year · · · · · • · · · · · · · • · · · • · • · · • • 

Total UsbilltieS · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · • · · 

NET ASSETS 

Invested 1n Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt 

Restricted for : 

capital Projects 

Debt Service · · · · · · · 
Federal, State & Local Grants 
Other Purposes 

Unreslnced (Deficrt) 

280.225 
7,064,982 

8.300.242 

1.418,685 

32,543 
802.126 

23,590 

145,497 224,569 
111,733 353,459 

38.233 241,972 

73,675 
6,488,699 

7,109,117 

1,744,719 

208.253 
28,569 

353,900 
13.553,681 

15,409,359 

3,163,404 

139,428 479,882 

240,796 
830.695 

23.590 
619,310 

(851,305) (827,376) (23,929) ___ ___; 

Total Net Assets · · · · · · . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . s 1,588,996 s 2.437,494 $ 4,026,490 

See notes to basic financial statements. 
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Exhlbit2 
CITY OF CHICAGO, IWNOIS 
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

Year Ended December 31, 2002 
(Amounts are In Thousands of Dollars) 

FunctionsiPrograms 

Primary Government 
Governmental Aclivities: 

General Government 
Pubic Safety 
Employee Pensions 
Streets and Sanitation 
Transportation 
Health · · • • · · · · • · · · • · • • · . • .•..•.•••••••..••.•••. 

Cultural and Reaeational . • . • • • • • · · • . . . • . • • . . . . • • 

01her . . . • . . • . . • • . . . • • . . . . . . • . . . • . . • • . . . . •.•... 

Interest an Long-term Debt · · • • · . · . · · • . · · · · · · · · · . . · . . . 
Total Govemmenlal Acllvllles · · . . • • . . . . • . • • • . • . . . • . . . . • . . . . . • . . 

Business-type ActiVities: 

Water 
Sewer 
Midway Airport 
Chicago O'Hare International Allport • • • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . • 
Chicago Skyway . . • • • . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . • • . . . . • • . • 

Total Business-type Activities • • • · · • • • • . . • . • • . • • . • . • . • . . • . . • • • • • . . • . 

Total Primary Government 

See notes to baSic financial statements. 
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s 

s 

1,587,322 
1,623,340 

328,518 
318,982 
240,572 
178,741 
102,516 
10,332 

280,347 

4,670.670 

305,246 
146,286 
117,117 
611,484 
34,790 

1.214,923 

5,885,593 

Ucenses, Permits, 
Fines and 

Charges for Services 

s 337,809 
91,392 

26,937 
14.216 
3,135 

18,977 

492,466 

315,458 
141,330 
89,858 

451,046 
43,232 

1.040,924 

s 1,533,390 



Program Revenues 

Operating Grants 
and 

Contributions 

$ 529.840 
42,458 

109,637 

13,128 
15,843 

710,906 

$ 710.906 

General Revenues 

Taxes: 
Property Tax 

Utility Tax 
Sales Tax 
Transportation Tax 
Transac:bon Tax 
Speaallvea Tax 
Other Taxes 

$ 

s 

Capital Grants 
and 

Contributions 

6,503 

345,686 

3?2.189 

488 
38,522 

154,286 

1,626 

194,922 

547,111 

Grants and Contributions not Restricted to Specific Programs 
Unrestricted Investment Earnings 
Misoellaneous 
Transfers 

Total General Revenues and Transfers 
Change •n Net Assets 

Net Assets-Beginrung 
Net Assets-Ending 

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Assets 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Governmental 
Activities 

(113,170) 

(1,489,490) 

(328,518) 

(292,045) 

119,330 

(65,969) 

(70,411) 

5,511 
(280,347) 

(3,115,109) 

(3,115,109) 

692,867 

488,419 
190,462 
322,811 
232,168 
150,077 
162,951 
506,452 

52,377 
74,187 
27,662 

2,900,433 

(214,676) 

1,803,672 
1,588,996 
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Primary Government 

$ 

$ 

s 

Business-type 
Aclivlties 

10,212 

(4,468) 
11,263 

(6,152) 

10,068 

20,923 

20,923 

42,094 
6,132 

(27,662) 

20,564 

41,487 

2,396,007 
2,437,494 

Total 

$ (113,170) 

(1,489,490) 

(328,518) 

(292,045) 
119,330 

(65,969) 

(70,411) 

5,511 
(280,347) 

(3,115,109) 

10,212 
(4,468) 

11,.263 

(6,152) 

10,068 

20,923 

$ (3,094,186) 

692,867 

488,419 
190,462 
322,811 
232,168 
150,077 
162,951 
506,452 

94,471 

80,319 

2,920,997 

(173,189) 

4,199.679 
$ 4,026.490 



Ex:hlblt3 
CrTY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
BALANCE SHEET 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
December 31,2002 
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars) 

ASSETS 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Investments • • • • • • • • • • • • • . • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

cash and Investments with Escrow Agent 

Receivables (Net of Allowances): 

Property Tax • • • • • • • • • • • . • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

Accounts ..••.•...••••...••••••..•..•••.•••..•..••.. 
Due from Other Funds • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

Due from Other Governments 

InventorieS • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

Other Assets • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

Total Assets • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

UABIUTIES AND FUND BALANCE 

Liabilities 
Voucher Warrants Payable • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

Bonds, Notes and Other Obligations Payable-Current • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

Accrued Interest • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

Due to Other Funds • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

Accrued and Other Liabilities • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

Claims Payable • • • • • . • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

Deferred Revenue. • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

Total Llablllbes • • . • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 

Fund Balance 
Reserved for Encumbrances 

Reserved for Resale Property 

Reserved for Inventory 

Reserved for Debt Service 

Unreserved, Undesignated 

Total Fund Balance ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••.•.•••••• 

Total Uabilitles and Fund Balance 

See notes to basic financial statements. 
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$ 

s 

$ 

s 

General 

16,094 

10,647 

129,230 

581.673 

150,534 

22.,1J27 

911.005 

99,491 

12,565 

598,087 

46,532 

13,655 

3,214 

773,544 

101,620 

22.1J27 

13,014 

137,461 

911,005 

s 

$ 

s 

$ 

Federal, 
Stale and 

Local 
Grants 

56,044 

14,090 

667 

29,466 

162,223 

140,811 

47,770 

451,071 

151,298 

85,670 

2,054 

188,459 

427,481 

47,770 

(24,180) 

23.590 
451,071 



Cornnulity 
Development 

Other Bond, Note and Total 
Redemption Improvement Govenmental 

Governmental 
and Interest Projects Funds 

Funds 

s 54,784 s 449,149 s 262,232 $ 838,303 

2,246 730,070 76,480 833,533 

159,556 137,588 297,811 

393,567 445,531 839,098 

1,701 5,058 3,097 168,552 

9,961 31,594 93,234 878,685 

688 48,258 340,291 

22,827 

203 47,973 

s 622,503 s 1,216,074 s 1,066,420 s 4,267,073 

s $ 73,810 s 61,664 s 386.263 
65,192 1,885 79,642 

72,823 5,811 78.634 

60,034 172,928 916,719 

125 25,829 74,540 

13,655 

360,122 163 425,279 977,237 

496,137 134,132 693,396 2,526,690 

97,491 34,038 233,149 

203 47,973 

22,827 

124,366 150,034 274,400 

984,248 188,952 1,162,034 

124,366 1,081,942 373,024 1.740,383 

s 622,503 s 1,216,074 s 1,066,420 s 4,267,073 

Amounts reported for governmental activities In the statement of net assets are different because: 
capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and 5.831,203 
therefore are not reported In the funds. 
Other long-tenn assets are not available to pay for current-penod expenditures 
and therefore are deferred in the funds. 

1,372,221 

Certain liabilities, mclucllng bonds payable, are not due and payable In the current (7,354,811) 
period and therefore are not reported in the funds 

Net assets of governmental actiVIties s 1,588,996 
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Exhibit 4 
CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
Year Ended Decemb r 31, 2002 
(Amounts are In Thousands of Dollars) 

Revenues: 
Property Tax 

Utility Tax 

sales Tax 

Transportation Tax 

State Income Tax 

Transaction Tax ................................. . 

Special Area Tax ................................. . 

Other Taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . • • . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . 

Federal/State Grants . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . • . . . . • . . . . . . . . . • . 

Internal Service 

Licenses and Permits 

Fines ........................................ . 

Investment Income . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . 

Charges for Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Miscellaneous 

Total Revenues. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Expenditures: 
Current: 

General Government . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Health ......•................................. 

Public Safety . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Streets and Sanitation . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Transportation .................................. . 

Cultural and Recreational . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Employee Pensions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . • . . . . . . . 

Other ......................................•.. 

Capital Outlay . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Debt Service: 
Principal Retirement • • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • • . 

Interest and Other Fiscal Charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Total Expenditures ................................. . 

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures 

Continued on following pages. 
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$ 

General 

441,586 
397,135 
137,263 
227,817 
232,168 

151,381 
3,888 

304,799 
83,148 

166,189 
4,919 

89,219 
15,935 

2,255,447 

665,647 
44,198 

1,420,298 
253,833 

43,630 

3,695 

4,372 

7,123 

2,442,796 
(187,349) 

$ 

Federal, 
State and 

Local 
Grants 

1,084,697 

1,084,697 

540,442 
105,890 

42,458 

345,686 
13,128 

6,343 
6,503 

1,060,450 
24,247 



Community 

Bond, Note 
Development 

Total and Other 
Redemption Improvement Governmental Governmental 
and Interest Projects Funds Funds 

$ 382,146 s $ 280,773 $ 662,919 
14,917 31,916 488,419 
19,981 2,375 419,491 
14,666 170,882 322,811 

45,718 273,535 
232,168 

145,365 145,365 
11,570 162,951 

1,088,585 
34,962 339,761 

83,148 
15,522 181,711 

3,219 31,419 12,820 52,377 
27,362 116,581 

28,318 29,875 74,128 

434,929 59,737 809,140 4.643.950 

193,039 1,399,128 
27,905 177,993 
2,214 1,464,970 

104,091 357,924 
78,586 467,902 
70,381 83,509 

328,518 328,518 
350 10,388 

646,363 105,490 758,356 

245,092 36,224 285,688 
212,161 31,878 251,162 

457,253 646,363 978,676 s.sss.538 
(22,324) {586,626) {169,536) (~3.58§} 



Exhibit 4 -Concluded 
CITY OF CHICAGO, ILUNOIS 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
Year Ended December 31, 2002 
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars) 

General 

Other Financing Sources (Uses}: 
Proceeds of Debt, Net of Original Discount . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 75,529 
Payment to Refunded Bond Escrow Agent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Operating Transfers In . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . 107,547 
Operating Transfers Out . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses} .................... . 183,076 

Net change in fund balances. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,273) 
Fund Balance, Beginning of Year .......................... . 146,449 
Change in Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . (4,715) 

Fund Balance, End of Year $ 137,461 

See notes to basic financial statements. 
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$ 

$ 

Federal, 
State and 

Local 
Grants 

4,699 
(24,247) 

(19,548) 

4,699 
18,891 

23,590 



Community 

Bond, Note 
Development 

Total and Other 
Redemption Improvement Governmental Governmental 
and Interest Projects Funds Funds 

$ 150,091 $ 535,817 $ 155,889 $ 917,326 
(129,478) (2,811) (132,289) 

1,785 24,851 138,882 
(10,500) (23,428) (53,045) (111,220) 

10,113 514,174 124,884 812,699 

(12.211) (72,452) (44,652) (128,889) 
136,577 1,154,394 417,676 1,873,987 

(4,715) 

$ 124,366 $ 1,081,942 $ 373,024 $ 1l40.383 
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Exhibit 5 
CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

Year Ended December 31, 2002 
(Amounts are In Thousands of Dollars) 

Amounts reported for govemmental activities in the statement of activities are different because: 

Net change in fund balances - total govemmental funds 

Govemmental funds report capital outlays as expendilures. However, in 
the statement of ac:tMties the oost of those assets is allocated over lhetr 
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the 
amount by which capital ouUays exceeded depreciation in the current 
penod. 

Revenues in the statement of adlvilies that do not provide current 
financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds. 

Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to govemmental funds. 
but issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net 
assets. This is the amount by which proceeds exceeded repayments 

Certa1n expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require lhe 
use of current finandal resources and therefore are not reported as 
expenditures In govemmental funds. 

Change in lhe net assets of goYemmenlal activities 

See notes to basic finandal statements. 
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$ (128.889) 

336,703 

34,660 

(520,676) 

63,526 

$ (214,676) 



Exhibit& 
CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENDn'URES -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL 
GENERAL FUND (BUDGETARY BASIS) 
Year Ended December 31,2002 
(Amounts are In Thousands of Dollars) 

Original and Final Variance 
Budget Actual Amounts Positive (Negative) 

Revenues: 
UlifityTax ...................... 0 •• 0 ••• $ 486,850 s 441,586 $ (45,264) 

Sales Tax . . . . ••• 0 ••••••••••••••• 183,400 168,106 (15,294) 

Transportabon Tax . . . .. • • • • 0 •• 0 ....... 146,614 137.263 (9,351) 

Transaction Tax •••••••••• 0 ..... 0 • . . . . 202,700 232,168 29,468 

Recreation Tax 0 •••• 0 ....... . . . . . .. . . 92,500 83,665 (8,835) 

Business Tax . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 63,600 65,215 1,615 

State Income Tax 0 •••••••••• . . . . 278,900 227,817 (51,083) 

State Sales Tax • 0 .............. 0 246,200 229,029 (17,171) 

State Auto Rental and Hotel Tax • 0 ••••• 3,100 2,501 (599) 

Federal/State Grants . . .......... 5,017 3,888 (1,129) 

Internal Service ... .. • • • • • • • 0 0 291,613 304,799 13,186 

Ucenses and Pennits 0 .... . . . .. . . 73,669 83,148 9,479 

Fines •••••• 0 ............... 146,900 166,189 19,289 

Investment Income 0. 0 0 • . . . . .. .. . . . . 12,500 4,919 (7,581) 

Charges for Services 0 0 •• . . . . . 70,804 65,502 (5,302) 

Municipal Utilities 0 .... 0 .. 20,316 22,733 2,417 

Leases, Rentals and Sales ... . . . 35,417 7,296 (28,121) 

Miscellaneous .. . .. . . . . . . . 5,506 9,623 4,117 

Proceeds of Debt. Net of 
Original Discount ••• 0 .......... 50,600 75,529 24,929 

Budgeted Prior Years' Surplus 
and Reappropnallons ... . . . . . . . 32,936 27,529 (5,407) 

Operating Transfers In/Other ................ 78,500 107,547 29,047 

Tolal Revenues .................... . . 2,527,642 2,466,052 (81,590) 

Expenditures: 
Current 

General Govenvnent ....... . . . . . 684,790 664,357 20,433 

Heallh . . . . ........ 50,960 44,092 8.868 

Public Safety .......... 1,475,148 1,448,372 26,776 

Streets and Sanitation ............ 259,353 254,547 4,806 

Transpor1atlon . . . . ... 44,729 43,188 1,541 

Debt Service: 
Principal Retirement .... . . . . . . . . . 4,372 4,372 

Interest and Other Fiscal Charges . . . . . . ... 8,290 7,123 1,167 

Total Expenditures .. . . . . • 0 0 ••••••••• 
2,527,642 2,466,051 81,591 

Revenues Over 
Expenditures ......... . . . . . . . . . s s s 1 

See notes to basic financial statements. 
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Exhibit 7 
CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS 
PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
Decernber31,2002 
(Amounts are In Thousands of Dollars) 

Business Type Activities - Enterprise Funds 

Major Funds Other Food 

Chicago-
O'Hare 

Midway International Chicago 
Water Sewer Airport Airport Skyway Total 

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS: 

Cash and Cash Equivalents ........ $ 18.837 $ 10,138 $ 30,172 $ 82,268 $ 10,882 $ 152,297 

Investments . . .. . .. . .. . . . . . . . . 1,913 758 353 175 3,199 

Accounts Receivable (Net of Allowance 

for Esbmated Uncollectibles) . . . .. . .. 56,495 21,260 7,978 37,375 380 123,488 

Due from Other Funds . . . .. .. . . .. . .. . 40,827 31,149 89 447 72,512 

Due from Other Govemments . . .. .. . .. . . 4,195 4,195 

Inventories .. . .. . . .. . . .. . . . . . . 15,650 2,347 17,997 

Total Current Assets . . .. . . . . . . 133,722 65,652 38,592 123,838 11,884 373,688 

RESTRICTED ASSETS: 

cash and Cash Equivalents .. . .. . .. . . .. 130,106 67,352 340,679 516,888 112,630 1,187,655 

Investments . . . . . .. .. . . . .. . .. .. . 245,515 91,996 262,514 533,389 118,309 1.251,723 

Total Resbicted Assets . .. . . . . . . 375,621 159,348 603,193 1,050,277 230.939 2,419,378 

OTHER ASSETS .. . . . . . . . .. . . . . . 11,720 8,565 49,919 273,575 13,320 357,099 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT: 

Land . . . .. . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . 5,083 560 96,662 102,251 12,609 217,165 

Structures, Equipment and 

Improvements . . . . . . . . . .. . . . .. 1,967,729 1,163,227 531,632 3,808,937 182,946 7,654,471 

Accumulated Depreciation . .. . . .. .. . . . (506,482) (233,027) (80,001) (1.285,294) (102,143) (2.206,947) 

Construction Work In Progress . . . . . .. . 99,137 1,905 357,698 308,303 69,366 836,409 

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 1,565,467 932,665 905,991 2.934.197 152.ns 6,501,098 

Total Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,086,530 $ 1,166,230 $ 1,597,695 $ 4,381,887 $ 418,921 $9,651,263 

See notes to basic financial statements. 
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Business Type Activities - Enterprise Funds 

Major Funds Other Fund 

Chi~ 
O'Hare 

Midway International Chicago 
water Airport Airport Skyway Total 

LIABIUTIES 

CURRENT LIABILITIES: 

Voucher Warrants Payable ......... s 19,057 s 13,675 s 12,266 s 41,299 s 1,036 s 87,333 

Due to Other Funds ............ 64,340 18,460 10,568 25,391 11,087 129,846 

Accrued and Other Uabl6tles ....... 54,538 17,197 10,319 634 82,688 

Deferred Revenue ............. 9.617 6,502 7,435 14,679 38,233 

Total Current LJabiUtles ........ 147,552 55,834 30.269 91,688 12,757 338,100 

Current Liabilities Payable From Restncted Assets 42,tr17 31,288 103,657 175,731 33,417 386,970 

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES: 

Revenue Bonds Payable ......... 998,950 645,731 1,121,869 3,284,670 423,498 6,474,718 

Long-term Purchase Obligations ....... 13,981 13,981 

Total Nona1rrent UablUties ...... 1,012,931 645.731 1,121,869 3,284,670 423,498 6,488,699 

Total LiabDities ............ 1,203,360 732,853 1,255,795 3,552,089 469,672 7,213,769 

NET ASSETS: 

Invested in capital Assets, Net of Related Debt 773,850 401,542 85,987 422,075 61,265 1,744,719 

Restricted Net Assets: 

Debt Service ............. 5,410 23.159 28.569 

capital Projects ........... 60,341 8,032 76,230 42,070 21,580 208,253 

Passenger Facility Ch;wges ...... 63,542 125,282 188,824 

Contractual USe Agreement ....... 61,364 90,316 151,700 

Other ................ 40,285 98,937 136 139,358 

Unrestricted Net Assets ......... 48,979 23,803 9,062 27,959 (133,732) (23,929) 

Total Net Assets .......... s 883,170 s 433,377 s 341,900 $ 829,798 s (50,751) $2,437,494 

See notes to basic financial statements. 
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ExhibitS 
CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 
PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
Year Ended December 31, 2002 
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars) 

Business-!Yee Activities - Entemrise Funds 
Major Funds Other Fund 

Chicago-
O'Hare 

Midway International Chicago 
Water· Sewer Airport Airport Skyway Total 

Operating Revenues: 
Charges for Services ..••••...... $ 306,748 $ 139,793 $ 40,006 $ 269,811 $ 43,187 s 799,545 

Rent ......................... 49,852 181,235 231,087 
Other .......................•. 8,710 1.537 45 10.292 

Total Operating Revenues .•.•.•. 315.458 141.330 89.858 451.046 43.232 1.040.924 

Operating Expenses: 
Personal Services .............. 115,193 6,069 34,036 148,831 4,523 308,652 
Contractual Services •........••. 47,318 6,464 9,536 33,494 1,677 98,489 
Repairs and Maintenance ....••.. 4,195 61,576 24,562 66,310 2,043 158,686 
Commodities and Materials ...•.•. 12,946 437 13,383 
Depreciation and Amortization ..... 28,494 16,656 17,388 124,568 6,156 193,262 
General Fund Reimbursements ••.. 45,031 26.299 1,348 72,678 
Other •.........•..........••.. 13.817 9.421 76736 22 99.996 

Total Operating Expenses ....•••. 266.994 117.064 94.943 449.939 16.206 945.146 

Operating Income (Loss) •....•... 48.464 24.288 (5.085) 1107 27.028 95,778 

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses): 
lnvestmentlncome .......•.•.... 964 354 6,569 31,984 2,223 42,094 
Interest Expense ................ (38,252) (29.222) (22,174) (161,545) (18,584) (269,m) 
Passenger FacHity Charges •..••.. 21,367 121,269 142,636 
Other ••......•.....••......... 5 771 (417) 778 6.132 

Total Nonoperating Revenues 
(Expenses) ••••.•..••••••• (31,517) (29,285) 6,540 (8,292) (16,361) (78,915) 

Operating Transfers Out ....•..•... (4,698) (22,964) (27,662) 

Capital Grants .................. 488 17.155 33.017 1.626 52.286 

Net Income (Loss) .••••..•..•.•• 16,947 (4,531) 18,610 21,134 (10,673) 41,487 

Net Assets (Deficit) -
Beginning of Year ••.........••. 866,223 437,908 323,290 808,664 (40,078) 2,396,007 

Net Assets (Deficit) - End of Year ••• $ 883,170 $ 433,377 $ 341,900 $ 829,798 $ ~50.751) $ 2,437,494 

See notes to basic financial statements. 
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Exhibit 9 
CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
Year Ended Oecemb r 31,2002 
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars) 

Business-type Activities - Ente!:Erise Funds 
Ma~rFunds Other Fund 

Ch1cago-

O'Hare 
Midway International Chicago 

Water Sewer Airport Airport Skyway Total 

Cash Aows from Operating Acbvibes: 
Received from Customers ...... • 0. 0. s 314,530 $ 141,241 s 84,132 $ 475,452 $ 43,246 $ 1,05fl.601 

Payments to Vendors ................. (59,803} (28.427) (42,309) (161,178) (4,946) (296.663) 

Payments to Employees ...••.....•.•• (115,193} (48,196) (27,678) (136,581) (4,026) (331,674} 

Transactions with Other 

CityFunds . 0 ••••••••••••• (94,151) (15,720) (3,922) (25,851) (408) (140,052) 

Cash Flows from Operating 

Activibes ····· ....... 45,383 48.898 10,223 151,842 33,866 290,212 

Cash Aows from Capital and Related 
Financing Acbvibes: 
Proceeds from Issuance of Bonds •.• 22.000 633,037 655,037 

Aa~uiSition and Construction 
of Capital Assets ................ .. (141,957) (53,225) (142,096) (244,199) (43,429) (624,906) 

Grant Receipts ...................... 488 24,316 28,822 1,935 55,561 

Bond Issuance Costs ....... •••• 0 ••• 38 (435) (9,455) (9,852) 

Payment to Refund Bonds .. .. .. ...... (542,237) (542,237) 

Pnnapal Paid on Bonds .............. (24,658) (10,750) (5,455) (46,790) (87,653) 

Interest Paid ........................ (45,790) (29,026) (51,035) (167,874) (23,351) (317,076) 

Passenger Faallty Charges . • ..•...... 21,703 124,804 146,507 

Noise Mitigation Program .. ...... (8,740) (29,935) (38,675) 

Intergovernmental Loan ...•....• (14,664) (14,664) 

Cash Aows from 
Capital and Related F1nanang 
Activities ...................... (212,405) (92,475) (139.742) (253,827) (79,509) (777,958) 

Cash Aows from Investing Activities: 
Sale (Purchases) of Investments, Net .... 72,524 52,810 75,462 127,457 70,589 398,842 

Proceeds from Sale of Property . 
lnveslmentlnterest •••.••..••• 13,800 3,487 15,451 49,653 11,611 94,002 

Cash Aows from 
Investing AciJVIbes • • . . ..• 86,324 56.297 90,913 1n 110 82,200 492,844 

Netlnaease (Decrease) in Cash and 
Cash Equivalents .. .. . . . ... ........ (80,698) 12,720 (38,606) 75,125 36,557 5,098 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, 
Beginning of Year ................... 229,641 64,no 409,457 524,031 86,955 1,314,854 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, 
End of Year •...•••........•...•.•.. $ 148,943 $ n,490 $ 370,851 $ 599,156 $ 123,512 s 1,319,952 

See notes to basic financial statements. 
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Exhibit 9 - Concluded 
CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
Year Ended December 31,2002 
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars) 

Reconciliation of Operating Income to 
Cash Aows from Operating 

Activities: 

Operating Income (Loss) .•.•.•......•. 

AdJustmen1S to Reconcile: 
Depreciation and Amortization .• 

Provls1on for 

Uncollectible Accounts ....•.•••. 

Change in Assets and Uabilibes: 

(Increase) Decrease In Receivables 

(Increase) Decrease in Due From 

Other Funds ................. 

Increase {Deaease) in Voucher 

Warrants Payable and Due to 
Other Funds ......•.......... 

Increase (Decrease) 111 Deferred 

Revenue and Other Uabillties .•. 

(Increase) Decrease in 

Inventories and Other Assets 

Cash Flows from 
Operabng Acbvitles ........... 

Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash 

Items: 

Capilal asset additions in 2002 

mduded in accounts payable and 

Water 

$ 48,464 

28,494 

3,000 

(944) 

(15,103) 

(22,668) 

3,265 

875 

I 45.383 

$ 

i 

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds 
Major Funds Other Fund 

Chicago-

O'Hare 

Midway International Chicago 

Sewer Airport Airport Skyway Tolal 

24,266 s (5,085)$ 1,107 $ 27,026 $ 95.n8 

16,656 17,388 124,568 6,156 193,262 

201 {1,703) 21 1,519 

3 (2,073) 671 (7) (2.350) 

6,360 622 553 (7,568) 

863 3,878 7,381 755 (9,791) 

n4 (4,708) 19,818 19,149 

(24) (638) 213 

4§,898 ~ 10,223 ~ 151,842 i ~3,866 ~ 290,212 

accrued and o1her liabilities.. . . . . $ 15.§28 S 14,285 S 45027 s 36.247 s 22.612 .,s ...... ==:l.!!131!1113,!;!oi799y 

See notes to basic financial statements. 
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Exhibit 10 
CrrY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 
0 cemb r 31, 2002 
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars) 

Pension 
Trust Agency Total 

ASSETS 
Cash and Cash Equivalents . . . . . . . . . • . . $ 347,733 $ 46,586 $ 394,319 

Investments e o o 0 o • 0 • o 0 o o o 0 • • o 0 o 10,386,553 23,677 10,410,230 
cash and Investments with 

Escrow Agent . . .. . . . . . . . . .. . .. . . .. 19,388 19,388 

Property Tax • • .. • • • • • • • • 0 • • • - • • 13.400 13,400 
Accounts Receivable 

(Net of Allowances) .. .. . . . . . . . .. . . . .. 407,030 9,115 416,145 

Due from Other Funds . . • • . . . . . . . • . . . 37,032 657,041 694,073 
Invested Securities 

Lending Collateral • .. • 0 • • .. • • • • • .. • 1,026,018 1,026,018 

Total Assets .. . .. . . . . .. . .. . .. . ... $ 12,204,366 $ 769.207 $ 12,973,573 

LIABILITIES 
Voucher Warrants Payable. . . . . . . • . . . . $ 530,210 $ 169 $ 530,379 

Due to Other Funds .. • • • 0 • • • • • • • • • 0 598,705 598,705 

Accrued and Other Liabilities • • • • • • • • • 0 170,333 170,333 
Securities Lending 

Collateral • • • • • • • 0 • .. • • • • • • • • 1,026,018 1,026,018 

Total Uabllities . . .. . . . . . . . . . -. .. 1,556,228 769,207 2,325,435 

NET ASSETS 
Reserved for Employee 

Benefit Plans • • • • 0 • • • • • • • • ••• 10,648,138 10,648.138 

Total Net Assets 0 .. • .. .. • .. • • • • • .. • $ 10,648,138 $ $ 10,648,138 

See notes to basic financial statements. 
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ExhlbH 11 
CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
STATEMENT OF PLAN NET ASSETS 
PENSION TRUST FUNDS 
Year Ended D camber 31, 2002 

(Amounts ar In Thousands of Dollars) 

Pension Trust Funds 

Municipal 

Employees' Laborers' Policemen's Firemen's Total 

ASSETS 
Cash and Cash Equivalents ............ $ 5,536 $ 209,087 $ 76,803 $ 56,307 $ 347,733 

Receivables 
Employer and Other ................. 186,863 1,221 135,420 59,095 382,599 
Interest and Dividends ............... 14,723 4475 2,841 2,392 24,431 

Total Receivables ................. 201,586 5,696 138.261 61,487 407,030 

Due from Other Funds ................ 14,410 1,412 15,460 5,750 37,032 

Investments, at Fair Value 
Bonds and U.S. Government Obligations 1,905,915 613,378 158,798 169,056 2,847,147 
Stocks ......•................•.... 2,756,565 627,307 1,765,464 571,359 5,720,695 
Mortgages and Real Estate ........... 186,190 41,484 196 2,494 230,364 
Other .•...•.•..................... 417,100 24.576 1,097.288 49,383 1,588,347 

Total Investments ................. 5,265,770 1,306,745 3,021,746 792,292 10,386,553 

Invested Securities 
Lending Collateral ................. 543,442 200,001 147,818 134,757 1,026,018 

Total Assets ....•.........•....... 6,030,744 1,722,941 3,400,088 1,050,593 12.204,366 

LIABILITIES 
Voucher Warrants Payable ............ 359,092 134,851 28,233 8,034 530,210 
Due to Other Funds .................. 

Securities Lending Collateral ......... 543,442 200,001 147,818 134,757 1,026.018 

Total Liabilities .................... 902,534 334,852 176,051 142,791 1,556,228 

Net Assets Held in Trust for 
Pen~on Benefits ............... .. $ 5,128,210 $ 1,388,089 $ 3.224.037 s 907,802 s 10,648,138 

See notes to basic financial statements. 
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Exhibit 12 
CITY OF CHICAGO, ILUNOIS 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN PLAN NET ASSETS 
PENSION TRUST FUNDS 
Year Ended December 31,2002 
(Amounts are in Thousands of Dollars) 

Pension Trust Funds 

Municipal 
Employees' Laborers' Policemen's Firemen's Total 

Additions 

Contributions 
Employees ...••...•............... $ 128,395 $ 20,189 $ 79,238 $ 27,622 $ 255,444 
City ............................... 130,966 83 141,989 59,453 332,491 

Total Contributions ............... 259,361 20,272 221,227 87,075 587,935 

Investment Income 

Net Depreciation 

in Fair Value of Investments (647, 140) (157,316) (433,034) (165,909) (1,403,399) 

Interest, Dividends and Other ......... 123,389 42,865 104,811 26,578 297,643 

Investment Expense ................ (15,n9) (5,582) (8,261) (4,480) (34,102) 

Net Investment Income ............ (539,530) (120,033) (336,484) (143.811) (1,139,858) 

Securities Lending 

Transactions 

Securities Lending Income .............. 10,290 3,836 3,137 2,485 19,748 
Securities Lending Expense ............. (8,822) (3,250) (2,589) (2,13!) (16,798} 

Net Securities Lending 

Transactions .................. 1,468 586 548 348 2,950 

Total Additions .............. 0 .. 0 0 (278,701) (99,175) (114,709) (56,388) (548,973) 

Deductions 

Benefits and Refunds of 

Deductions .....•... 0 o 0 .... 0 o 0 . 0 409,298 81,629 355,653 138,791 985,371 

Administrative and General . 0 0 0 0 . 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,556 1,814 2,545 1,959 10,874 

Total Deductions 0 ....... 0 0 0 . 0 0 0 0 . 0 0 413,854 83,443 358,198 140,750 996,245 

Net Decrease in Net Assets .. 0 ... 0 0 0 0 . 0 0 692,555 182,618 472,907 197,138 1,545,218 

Net Assets Held in Trust for 
Pension Benefits: 

Beginning of Year 0 0 . 0 . 0 0 0 .. 5,820,765 1,570,707 3,696,944 1,104,940 12,193,356 

End of Year 0 0 Oo 0 0 .... 0 0 ... 0 0 .... 0$ 5,128,210 $ 10388,089 $ 3,224,037 $ 907,802 $ 10,648,138 

See notes to basic financial statements. 
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 

(I) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The City of Chicago (City). incorporated in 1837, is a "home rule" unit under State of Illinois (State) law. The City has a mayor­
council fonn of government. The Mayor lS the Chief Executive Officer of the City and is elected by general election. The City 
Councd is the legislative body and consists of 50 members, each representing one of the City's SO wards. The members of the City 
Council are elected through popular vote by ward for four-year terms. 

The accompanying fmancial statements of the City have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accountmg principles 
as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). In June 1999, the GASB unanimously approved 
Statement No. 34 (as amended by Statement No. 37), Basic Financial Statements- and Management's Discussion and Analysis­
for State and Local Governments and at a later date, Statement No. 38 Certain Financial Statement Disclosures. In fiscal year 2002, 
the City adopted these three new statements. Sigmficant changes in the Statements include the following: 

- For the first time the fmancial statements include: 

-A Management Discussion and Analysis {MD&A) section providing an analysis of the City's overall fmancial 
position and results of operations. 

--Government-wide Financial statements prepared usmg full accrual accounting for all the City's activities, including 
infrastructure (roads, bridges, etc.). 

- A change in the fund financial statements to focus on the ma;or funds. 

These and other changes are reflected in the accompanying fmancial statements (including the notes to the basic fmancial 
statements). 

(a) Reporting Entity for the Ctty mcludes the Chicago Public Library and the City-related funds of the Public Building 
Conunission. The fmanctal statements for the City have been prepared m accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP), apphcable to govenunental units, as required by the Munic1pal Code of Chicago 
(Code). 

The City's fmancial statements blend the following legally separate component units because they are fiscally 
dependent on the City and perform services primarily for City employees: 

The Municipal Employees' Annuitv and Benefit Fund of Chicago is governed by a five-member board: three members 
are elected by plan participants and two are members ex-officio. 

The Laborers' and Retirement Board Employees' Annuity and Benefit Fund of Chicago is governed by an eight­
member board: two members are elected by plan participants, two are members ex-officio and two members are 
appointed by the City Personnel Department, one member is elected by retired plan participants and one member is 
elected by the local labor umon. 

The Policemen's Annuity and Benefit Fund of Chicago is governed by an eight-member board: four m:mbers are 
elected by plan participants and four are appointed by the Mayor. 

The Firemen's Annuity and Benefit Fund of Chicago is governed by an eight-member board: four members are el~ted 
by plan participants and four are members ex-officio. 

Financial statements for each of the pension plans may be obtained by the respective fund's office. 

Related Organizations - City officials are responsible for appointing a voting majority of the members of the boards 
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 -Continued 

of other orgamzabOns, but the City's accountabtbty for these organizations does not extend beyond making 
appointmcnts and no f1scal dependency exists berween the City and these orgamzations. The Chicago Park Distnct, 
Chicago Public Schools, Community College DIStnct No. 508, Chicago Housing Authority and the Chicago Transit 
Authonty are deemed to be related organizations. 

(b) Government-wide aad fund financial statements- The government-Wide fmancial statements (i.e., the statement 
of net assets and the statement of actiVIties) report mfonnation on all of the nonfiduciary acti'lr"lties of the government 
For the most part, the effect of mterfund activity bas been removed from these statements. Governmental activities, 
wh1ch nonnally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type 
activities, which rely to a sigmficant extent on user fees and charges for services. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment are 
offset by program revenues. Dire(:t expenses are those tbat are clearly identified with a specific function or segment 
Program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, 
services, or privileges provtded by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to 
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular timction or segment Taxes and other Items not properly 
included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 

Separate fund fmancial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even 
though the fiduciary funds are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual 
governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund fmancial 
statements. 

(c) Measurement focus. basis of aecountin&, and rmaucial statement presentation- The government-wide fmancial 
statements are reported using the economic resources meturuement focus and the accTiltll basis of accou1JIJng as are 
the proprietary fund and fiducJary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recogruzcd as 
revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all 
eligibility requirements-imposed by the provider have been met. 

Governmental fund fmancial statements arc reported using the current financio.l resources metuurement focus and the 
modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. 
Revenues are constdered to be available when they are collectable withm the current period or soon enough thereafter 
to pay liabilities of the current penod. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are collected 
within 90 days of the end of the current fiscal period with the exception of property tax revenue, which is deferred 
unless taxes are received within 60 days subsequent to year-end. Licenses and permits, charges for serv1ccs and 
miscellaneous revenues are not considered to be susceptl"ble to accrual and are recorded as revenues when recCJved m 
cash. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the City. 
Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting, except for interest and 
prmcipal on long-term debt, the long-term portion of compensated absences, claims and judgments and pension 
obbgations. 

The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

Tbe General Fund is the City's primary operating fund. lt accounts for all fmancial resources except those 
required to be accounted for in another fund. 

Federal, State and Local Grants Fund accounts for the expenditures for programs which include: general 
government, health, public safety, transportation, aviation, cultural and recreational and capital outlays. The 
majority of revenues are provided by several agencies of the Federal government, departments of the Illmois 
state government and Ctty resources. 
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 ·Continued 

Bond, Note Redemption and Interest Fund accounts for the expenditures for princtpal and interest as 
provided by property tax, utility tax, sales tax, transportation tax and investment income. 

Community Development and Improvement Projects Funds account for proceeds of debt used to acquire 
property and imance consttuction and supporting semces for various redevelopment projects. 

The City reports the following major proprietaly funds as business-type activities: 

Water Fund accounts for the operanons of the Chicago Water System (System). The System pmifie.; and 
provides Lake Michigan. water for the City and 121 suburbs. The Water Fund operates two water treatment 
facilities consisting of 12 pumping stations and a combmcd pumping capacity of3,661 tnillion gallons per day. 

Sewer Fund accounts for the operations of the Wastewater Transmission (Sewer) System. The Sewer system 
transports wastewater to the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago for processing and 
disposal. This service is provided for the residents and busmesses of the City and certain suburban customers. 

Cbieago- O'Hare Interoational Airport Fund records operations ofChicago-O'Hare International Airport, 
the primary commercial airport for the City. The airlines servicing the airport operate out of four terminal 
buildings. Three domestic terminal buildings, having a total of 1 55 gates, serve domestic flights and certain 
international departures. The International Terminal, bavmg a total of 21 gates and five remote aircraft parking 
positions, serves the remaining international departures and all international arrivals requiring customs 
clearance. 

Midway Airport Fund records operations of Midway Airport that provides regional ttavelers with access to 
airlines that generally specialize in low-cost, point-to-point, origin and destination passenger service. 
Construction has been completed on the fust several stages increasing the concourse saze from 268,000 sqnare 
feet and 30 jet aircraft parking positions to 914,000 square feet with 41 aircraft gates and two connnuter aii'Craft 
parking areas. 

Additionally, the City reports the following fiduciary fund types: 

Pension Trust Funds reports expenditures for employee pensions as provided by employee and employer 
contributions and investment eammgs. 

A1enc:y Funds account for transactions for assets held by the City as agent for various entities. 

Private-sector standards of accounting and fmancial reporting issued prior to December 1, 1989, generally are followed 
in both the government-wide and proprietary fund fmancial statements to the extent that those standards do not conflict 
with or contradict guidance of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. Governments also have the option of 
followmg subsequent pnvate-sector guidance for their business-type activities and enterprise funds, subject to this same 
limitation. The City has elected not to follow subsequent private-sector guidance. 

As a general rule the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide fmancial statements. 
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CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 ·Continued 

Exceptions to this general rule are payment-in-lieu of taxes and other charges between the City's water, sewer, airports 
and skyway funds. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the 
various functions concerned. 

Amounts reported as program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods and services, or 
pnvileges provided, or fmes, 2) operating grants and contnbutions and 3) capital grants and contnbutions, including 
special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather tban as program revenues. 
Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. 

Certain indirect costs have been included as part of the program expenses reported for the various functional activities. 

In the fund fmancial statements, proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating 
items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods 
in connecbon with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the water, 
sewer and slcyway funds arc charges to customers for sales and services. The airport funds princtpal operabng revenues 
are derived from landing fees and terminal use charges as well as rents and concessions. Operating expenses for 
enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, adnmustrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All 
revenues and expenses not meeting this defmition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to use restricted resources 
fJI'St, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 

The preparation of financial statements in confonnity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the fmancial statements, and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period Accordingly, actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

(d) Assets, liabilities, and net usets or equity 

( 1) Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments generally are held with the City Treasurer as required by the Code. 
Interest earned on pooled investments is allocated to participating funds based upon their average combined cash 
and investment balances. Due to contractual agreements or legal restrictions, the cash and investments of 
certain funds are segregated and earn and receive interest direcdy. The City uses separate escrow accounts in 
which certain tax revenues are deposited and held for payment of debt. 

The Code permits deposits only to City Council-approved depositories, which must be regularly organized state 
or national banks and federal and state savings and loan associations, located within the City, whose deposits 
are federally insured. 

Investments authorized by the Code include interest-bearing general obligations of the City, State ~tnd U.S. 
Government; U.S. treasury bills and other non-interest-bearing general obligations of the U.S. Government 
purchased in the open market below face value; domestic money market funds regulated and in good standing 
with the Securities and Exchange Connnission and tax anticipation warrants issued by the City. The City is 
prohibited by ordinance from investing in derivatives, as defmed, without City Council approval. The City's 
four retirement plans are established by State law and administered by independent pension boards. Each 
independent pension board has authonty to invest the assets of its respective plan subject to State law. 
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The City values its investments at fair value or amortized cost U.S. Government securities purchased at a price 
other than par with a maturity of less than one year are reported at amortized cost. 

Repurchase agreements can be purchased only from banks and certain other institutions authorized to do 
business in the State. The City Treasurer requires that securities pledged to secure these agreements have a 
market value equal to the cost of the repurchase agreements plus accrued interest 

Investments generally may not have a maturity in excess of one year from the date of purchase. Certain other 
investments are held in accordance w1th the specific provisions of applicable bond ordinances. 

Cash equivalents include certificates of depos1t and other investments with maturities of three months or less 
when purchased. 

Deficit cash balances result in interfund borrowings from the aggregate of funds other than escrowed funds. 
Interest mcome and expense are generally not recognized on these interfund borrowings. 

State statutes and the City's Pension Plans policies pennit lending Pension Plan securities to broker-dealers and 
other entities with a simultaneous agreement to return the collateral for the same securities in the future. 
Securities lent at year-end for cash collateral are presented as not categorized in the schedule of custodial credit 
risk; securities lent for securities collateral are classified according to the category for the collateral. 

(2) Receivables and Payables activity between funds are representative of services rendered outstanding at the end 
of the fJScal year are referred to as either "due to/from other funds" (i.e, the current portion of interfund loans) 
or "advances to I from other funds" (i.e., the non-current portion of interfund loans). All other outstanding 
balances between funds are reported as "due to I from other funds." Any residual balances outstanding between 
the governmental actiVIties and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide fmancial statements 
as "internal balances." 

All trade and property tax receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles. The allowance is based 
on historical trends. The estimated value of services proVIded but unbilled at year-end has been included m 
receivables. 

(3) Inventory includes government-wide inventories which are stated at cost detennined principally, using the 
average cost method. For proprietary funds, the costs of inventories are recorded as expenditures when used 
(consumption method). Governmental fund mventories are accounted for using the purchases method and are 
offset by a reservation of fund balance to indicate that they do not represent expendable available fmancial 
resources. 

( 4) Assets Held for Resale mclude land and buildings of $4 7.8 million, recorded at lower of cost or market m the 
Special Revenue Funds. These assets are purchased through the use of federal grants and City resources and 
are intended to be resold. 
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(5) Restricted Assets include certain proceeds of the City's cntetprise fund revenue bonds, as well as certain 
resources set aside for their repayment These assets are classified as restricted in the basic financJ.aJ statements 
because they are maintained in separate bank accounts and their use is limited by applicable bond covenants. 

The Water and Sewer funds maintain Rate Stabilization Accounts where any net revenues remaining after 
providmg sufficient funds for all requaed deposits in the bond accounts may be transferred upon the di!CCtion 
of the City to be used for any lawful puxpose of the specific fund. 

The o·Hare International and Midway funds maintain Passenger Facility Charge acco1Dlts as restricted as they 
are subject to Federal Aviation Administration regulation and approval, to finance specific elig~ble capital 
accounts. 

(6) Capital Assets which include property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets (e.g. roads, bridges, sidewalks 
and similar items), are reported m the applicable govemmental or business type activities columns in the 
government-wide fmancial statements. Capital assets are defmed by the City as assets, or a network of assets 
with an initial cost of more than $5,000 (not rounded) and an estimated usetilllife m excess of two years Such 
assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated histoncal cost if purchased or constructed Donated capital 
assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donation. 

The costs of nonnal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets 
lives are not capitalized. 

Major outlays for cap1tal assets and improvements are capttalized as projects are constructed. Interest inc:mred 
during the construction phase of capital assets ofbusiness-type activines is included as part of the capitalization 
value of the assets constructed. The total interest expense incurred by the City during the current flSCll year was 
$520.9 million. Of this amount, $82.0 nn11ion was included as part of the capital assets under construction 
projects m proprietary funds. 

Property, plant and equipment of the City is depreciated using the straight-line method over the followmg 
estimated useful lives: 

Utibty plant . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25 - I 00 years 

Utility structures and improvements . . . . . • . . .. . • . . . . . • . . . . . SO- 100 years 

Buildmgs and ilqnovements .......................... : . • 5 - 40 years 

ADport runways, aprons, tunnels, wnways and paved roads . . . . 5 - 40 years 

Bridge infrastructure . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . I 0 - SO years 

Lighting infrastructure . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25 years 

Street infrastructure . . . • . . . • . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10-25 years 

Transit infrastructure . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • • • • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 • 40 years 

Equipment (vehicle, office and computer) . • • . . . . . . . . • • . . . . . . 4 - 33 years 
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The City has a collection of art work and historical treasures presented for public exhibition and education that 
is being preserved for future generations. The proceeds from sales of any pieces of the collection are used to 
purchase other acquisitions. A portion of this collection IS not capitalized or depreciated as part of capital assets. 

(7) Employee Benefits are granted for vacation and sick leave, worker's compensation and health care. Unused 
vacation leave is acaued and may be carried over for one year. Sick leave is accumulated at the rate of one day 
for each month worked. up to a maxinmm of 200 days. Severance of employment terminates all rights to receive 
compensation for any unused sick leave. Sick leave pay is not accrued. Employee benefit claims outstanding, 
including claims incurred but not reported, are estimated and recorded in the government-wide, proprietary and 
fiduciary fund fmancial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they 
have matured. for example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements. 

Employees are eligible to defer a portion of their salaries until future years under the City's deferred 
compeosation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 457. The deferred compensation 
is not available to employees until termination, rettremcnt. death or unforeseeable emergency. The Plan is 
administered by third-party administrators who maintain the investment portfolio. The plan's assets have been 
placed in trust accounts with the plan administrators for the exclusive benefit of participants and their 
beneficiaries and are not considered assets of the City. 

The C1ty is subject to the State of Illinois Unemployment Compensation Act and has elected the reimbursing 
employer option for providing unemployment insurance benefits for eligible former employees. Under this 
option, the City reimburses the State for claims paid by the State. Expenditures for workers' compensation are 
recorded when paad. 

(8) Judgments and elaims are included in the government-wide fmancial statements and proprietary fund types 
in the fund financial statements. Uninsured claim expenditures and liabilities are reported when it is probable 
that a loss has occurred and the amount of that loss can be reasonably estimated. These losses mclude an 
estimate of claims that have been incurred but not reported. In the fund fmancial statements, expenditures for 
judgments and claims are recorded on the basis of settlements reached or judgments entered within the current 
fiscal year. Amounts related to deferred compensatory time and reserves for questioned costs are treated the 
same way. 

(9) Long-term ob6gations are included in the government-wade financial statements and proprietary fund types 
in the fund fmancial statements. Long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in 
the applicable governmental acttvities, business-type activittes, or proprietary fund type statement of net assets. 
Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the related 
debt, except in the case of refunding debt transactions where the amortization period is over the term of the 
refunding or refunded debt, whichever is shorter. 

The City enters into interest rate swap agreements to modify interest rates on outstanding debt. Other than the 
net interest expenditures resulting from these arrangements, no amounts are recorded in the fmancial s~tements. 

In the fund fmancial statements, governmental funds recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond 
issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt ISsued is reported as other fmancing sources. 
Premiums received and discounts given on debt issuances are reported with debt proceeds as other financing 
soun:es. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as 
expenditures. 
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(10) Fund equity in the Government-w1de statements, eqwty is classified as net assets and displayed in three 
components: 

(a)- Invested in capital assets, net of related debt- Consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets, 
net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes or any 
other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. 

(b) - Restricted net assets -Consists of net assets with constraints placed on the use either by ( 1) external groups 
such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or Jaws or regulations of other governments, or (2) law through 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

(c)- Unrestricted net assets- All other net assets that do not meet the definition of"restricted" or "invested in 
capital assets, net of related debt." 

(l) Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability 

(a) Annual Appropriation Budgets are established for the General and certain Special Revenue Funds which are non­
major, on a non-GAAP, budgetary basis: 

(I) Prior to November 15, the Mayor submits to the City Council a proposed budget of expenditures and the means 
of financing them for the next year. 

(2) The budget document is available for public inspection for at least ten days prior to passage of the annual 
approprianon ordinance by the City Council, which is also required to hold at least one public hearing. 

(3) Pnor to January 1, the budget is legally enacted through passage of the appropriation ordinance. 

( 4) Subsequent to the enactment of the appropnation ordinance, the City Council has the authority to make 
necessary adJustments to the budget which result in a change in total or individual appropriations. The legal 
level of budgetary control is designated m the budget by object grouped by purpose except for the Motor Fuel 
Tax Fund which is subsequently re-appropriated by project. A separate Motor Fuel Tax Fund Report 
demonstrates compliance with armual and project-length budgets rcqulfCd by the State. The separately issued 
Supplement to the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report provides budgetary information for all other 
budgeted funds. Cop1es of this report are available upon request. 

( S) All annual approprianons unused and unencumbered lapse at year-end. Encumbered appropriations are carried 
forward to the following year. Project-length f1nancial plans are adopted for Capital Projects Funds. 
Appropriations for Debt Service Funds are established by bond ordinance. 
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(b) Reconciliation of GAAP Basis to Budgetary Basis 

The City's budgetary basts of accounting used for budget vs. actual reportmg differs from GAAP. For 
budgetary purposes, encumbrances are recorded as expenditures but are reflected as reservations of fund 
balances for GAAP purposes. For budgetary purposes, proceeds of long-tenn debt and operating transfers are 
classified as revenues. For budgetary puipOses prior years' resources used to cover current year budgetary 
expenditures are recorded as revenues. For GAAP purposes, proceeds oflong-termdebt and operatmg transfers 
are treated as other fmancing sources. Provision for doubtful account expenditures are not budgeted. A 
reconciliabon of the dtfferent basts of revenue and expenditure recognition for the year ended December 31, 
is as follows (dollars in thousands): 

Revenues, GAAP Basis . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . S 
Add: 

Operating Transfers In ............•...•................ 
Proceeds of Debt, Net ......•........................... 
Prior Years' Surplus Utilized .........••................. 

General 
Fund 

2,255,447 

107,547 
15,529 
21,529 

Revenues, Budgetary Basis . . . • . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5S,_.....,..!2!!!i.4~66SE·051ii5~2 

Expenditures, GAAP Basis . .. . . . .. . . . . . • . .. .. . .. . . . . .. . . . $ 
Add: 

Encumbered in 2002 ....•.....••..................... 
Deduct: 

Payments on PriorY ears' Encumbrances ................ . 
Provision for Doubtful Accounts ....................... . 

2,442,796 

42,814 

(15,864) 
(3,695) 

Expenditures, Budgetary Basis . .. .. .. . . .. . .. . .. . . .. . . . . . .. •S=======E2!:!.4.,66a.Oa5061 

(c) Individual Funds over Budget include the Vehicle Tax Fund ($2.4 million), Motor Fuel Tax Fund ($3.0 million), 
Pension Fund ($1.6 million) and Health and Welfare Fund ($1.1 million). 

(d) Individual Fund Deficits include the Motor Fuel Tax and Project, the Vehicle Tax Fund and Special Events, Tourism 
and Fesbvals Fund, Special Revenue Funds and the Chicago Skyway Fund, an Enterprise Fund, have ftmd deficits of 
$5.4 million, $4.9 million, $7 .I million and $50.6 million, respectively, which management anticipates will be funded 
through operations. 

(3) Restricted and Unrestricted Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments 

(a) Cash and CertJficates of Deposit with the City's various depositones were $207.0 million at December 31,2002, 
and the related bank balance was $176.0 million. Of the bank balance, $176.0 million, or 1 00.0 percent, was either 
insured or collateralized with securities held by City agents in the City's name. 

(b) Investments are categorized indicating the level of credit risk. Category 1 includes investments that are msured or 
registered in the City's name or securities that are held by the City or 1ts agent in the City's name. Category 2 
includes uninsured and umegistered investmcnts for which the securities are held by the counterparty's trust 
department or its agent in the City's name. Category 3 includes uninsured and unregistered investments for which 
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the securities are held by the fmancial institution or counterparty, or by its trust department or agent, but not in the 
City"s name. Pooled funds include primarily money market mutual fund accounts. The following table provides 
a summary for all funds at December 31, 2002 (dollars m millions): 

City Funds 

U.S. Government Obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 
CoJJllllCrcial Paper ............................. . 

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . S 

Investments Not Categorized: 
Mutual and Pooled Funds 

Total City Funds ............................... . 

Pension Trust Funds 
Bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 

Stocks ....................................... . 
Conunerc1al Paper ............................. . 

2,739.9 $ 
18.5 

2.758,4 $ 

2,329.6 $ 
3,807.0 

12.8 

6.149.4 Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6$======= $ 

Investments Not Categorized: 
Pooled Funds .............................. . 
Real Estate ................................ . 
Invesnnents Held by Master 

Custodian under Securities 
Loans ................................. . 

Securities Received from 
Securities Landing ....................... . 

Venture Capital ............................ . 
Short-term ................................ . 

Total Pension Trust Funds ....................... . 
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Category 
2 

87.4 $ 
0.5 

3 

87.9 =$-=---

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

I 

Fair 
Value 

2,827.3 
19.0 

2,846.3 

1,590.3 

4.436.6 

2,329.6 
3,807.0 

12.8 

6,149.4 

2,930.2 
227.9 

1,014.0 

1,026.0 
198.1 
205.3 

li.Z~Q.2 
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The following schedule sununarizes cash and investments reported in the basic fmancial statements (dollats in millions): 

Per Note 3: 
Cash and Certificates of Deposit .............................. . 
Investments - City ............•............................. 
Investtnents - Pension Funds ................................. . 

Per Financial Statements: 
Cash and Cash Equivalents ..•.............•.................. 
Investments ....•.•.....•..............•................... 
Cash and Investments with Escrow Agent ....................... . 
Restricted Assets - Cash and Cash EquiValents ................... . 
Restricted Assets - Investments ...........................•.... 
Invested Securities Lendmg Collateral ........................ .. 
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s 207.0 
4,436.6 

11,750.9 

$ 16,394.5 

s 1,384.9 
11,247.0 

317.2 
1,167.7 
1,251.7 
1,026.0 

s 16.394.5 



CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 ·Continued 

(4) Property Tax 

The City's property tax becomes a lien on real property on January 1 of the year it is levied. The Cook County Assessor 
(Assessor) is responssble for the assessment of all taxable real property wtthin Cook County (County), except for cenain 
railroad property assessed directly by the State. The County Board has established a triennial cycle of reassessment in which 
one-third of the County wtU be reassessed each year on a repeating schedule established by the Assessor. 

Property in the County ts separated mto nine classifications for assessment purposes. After the Assessor establishes tbe fair 
market value of a parcel of land, that value is multipbed by one of the classification percentages to arrive at the assessed 
valuation (Assessed Valuation) for that parceL These percentages range from 16.0 percent for certain residential, commercial 
and mdustrial properties to 38.0 percent for other commercial and industrial property. 

The Winois Depamnent of Revenue has the statutory responsibility of ensuring uniformity of real property assessments 
throughout the State. Each year, the Department ofRevenue furnishes the county clerks with an adjustment factor to equalize 
the level of assessment among counties. This factor (Equalization Factor) is then applied to the Assessed Valuation to 
compute the valuation of property to which a tax rate will be applied (Equalized Assessed Valuation). The County Clerk adds 
the Equalized Assessed Valuation of all real property in the County to the valuation of property assessed directly by the State 
(to which the Equalization Factor is not applied) to arrive at the base amount (Assessment Base) used in calculating the 
annual tax rates. 

The County Clerk computes the annual tax rate by cbviding the levy by the Assessment Base and then computes the rate for 
each parcel of real property by aggregating the tax rates of all governmental units having jurisdiction over that particular 
parcel. The County Treasurer then JSSues the tax bills. Property taxes are depos1ted with the County Treasurer, who remits 
to the City its respective share of the collcctJons. Taxes levted in one year become due and payable in two installments during 
the followmg year on March 1 and August 1 or 30 days from mailing of tax bills if later than July 1. The first instaUmcnt 
is estimated and is one-half of the prior year's tax bill. The second installment ts based on the cwrent levy, assessment and 
equalization and also reflects any changes from the pnor year. 

The C1ty Council has adopted an ordinance begmmng in 1994, limiting the City's aggregate property tax levy to an amount 
equal to the pnor year's aggregate property tax levy plus the lesser of(a) five percent or (b) the percentage increase in the 
annualized Consumer Price Index, all as defmed in the ordinance. The ordinance provides a safe harbor for that portbn of 
any property tax debt servtce levy equal to the aggregate interest and principal payments on the City's general obligation 
bonds and notes during the 12-month penod ended January 1, 1994, subject to annual increase in the manner descn"bed above 
for the aggregate levy, all as provided by the ordiR8Dce. Increases m the debt service portion of each levy may, however, 
reduce amounts available within such levy to finance operations. 
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(S) Interfund Balances and Transfers 

(a) The following balances at December 31, 2002, represent due from/to balances among all funds (dollars in 
thousands): 

Fund Type/Fund 

Governmental activtties: 
General •...................................... 
Federal State and Local Grants ................... . 
Bond, Note Redemption and Interest ............... . 
Conununity Development and Improvement Projects .. . 
Nonmajor governmental fund .................... . 
Total Governmental ......................•...... 

Busmess-type activities: 
Water ••.•.•..•••••...••..•.••.•••••. · .•• · • · · · 
Sewer .....•.........•....•.....•............. 
Chicago Midway Airport •..................•..•.. 
Chicago-O'Hare International Airport .............. . 
Other Business-type ............................ . 

Total Business-type .......................... . 

Fiduciary activities: 
Pension Trust ...................................... . 

One From 

$ 581,673 
162,223 

9,961 
31,594 
93z234 

878,685 

40,827 
31,149 

89 

447 
72,512 

37,032 
657,041 
694,073 

Agency ..•......•...••....•.......•................ --~~;.....;. 
Total Fiduciary .................................. . 

-~-----

1,645.270 Total ............................................•.... iiS.s=...,.IE:!~:a= 

Due To 

s 598,087 
85,670 

60,034 
172z928 
916,719 

64,340 
18,460 
10,568 
25,391 
11,087 

129,846 

598,705 
598,705 

~ 1.64S.27~ 

The balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services are provided or 
reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in tbe accounting system and (3) payments between 
funds are made. 
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(b) The following balances at December 31, 2002, represent interfund transfers among all funds (dollars in thousands): 

Fund Type/Fund 

Governmental activities: 
General....................................... S 
Federal, State and Local Grants ................... . 
Bond, Note Redemption and Interest ..............•. 
Connnunity Development and Improvement Projects ... 
Nonmajor governmental fimd ..............•...... 
Total GovCIJIDlental ............................ . 

Business-type activities: 
Water •.......•........................••...•• 
Sewer ....•...•.......•....................... 
Chicago Midway Aiiport ........................ . 
Chicago-O'Hare International Aiiport .............. . 
Other Business-type ......•....................•. 

Total Business-type .•..•..............•..••... 

Transfer 
In 

107,547 
4,699 

1,785 
24,851 

138,882 

Total ......•....•...................................... ~~~.s ...... =~1~38~.8G~8~2 

$ 

s 

Transfer 
Out 

24,247 
10,500 
23,428 
532045 

111,220 

4,698 
22,964 
27,662 

138.882 

Transfers are used to move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to coUec:t them to the fund that 
statute or budget requires to expend them and to move rec:etpts restricted to debt service from the funds coUecting 
the recetpts to the debt service fund as debt service payments become due. 
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(6) Capital Assets 

(a) Capital Assets activity for the year ended December 31, 2002 was as follows (dollars in thousands): 

Balance Disposals Balance 
January 1, and December 31, 

1001 Additions Transfers lOOl 
Governmental activibes: 
Capital assets, not being depreciated: 
Land ............................... s 1,166,906 $ 28,624 $ s 1,195,530 
Works of art and historical collections ..... 7,640 739 8,379 
Construction in Progress ............... 2682041 492,590 {5792569) 181,068 
Total capital assets. not being depreciated 1,442,593 521 2953 (579,569) 1,384,977 

Capttal assets, being depreciated: 
Buildings and Other Improvements ....... 1,123,304 70,029 1,193,333 
Machinery and Eqwpment .............. 671,056 73,942 (8,804) 736,194 
Infrastructure ..•..............•...... ~.QZS.ZDJ sss 6.21 ~6313~ 
Total capital assets, bemg depreciated ..... 5,870,063 699,592 (8,804) 6,560,851 

Less accumulated depreciation for: 
Buildings and Other Improvements ....... 290,070 30,985 321,055 
Machinery and Equipment ..•........... 359,076 74,449 (8,290) 425,235 
Infrastructure ........................ 111991993 1681342 11363J35 
Total accunmlated depreciation ........... 1.849.139 2731776 (8,290) 2,1141625 

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 4,020,924 4251816 (514) 4,496,226 

Total governmental activities ............ S 51463.517 s 9471769 $ (580.083) s 518311203 

Business-type activities: 
Capital assets, not bemg depreciated: 
Land .........•..................... $ 183,309 s 33,856 s $ 217,165 
Construction m Progress ............... 676.J.67 4622316 {3021175) 8361408 
Total captlal assets, not being depreciated .. 859.576 4961172 (3021175) 1,053,573 

Capital assets, being depreciated: 
Buildings and Other Improvements ....... 6,862,174 348,683 41,002 7,251,859 
Machinery and Equipment .....•........ J~2.JZ1 ~6.22!1 ~6JS1 ~~.61~ 
Total capital assets, being depreciated ..... 7,191,545 375,673 87,253 7,654,471 

Less accumulated depreciation for: 
Buildings and Other Improvements ....... 1,868,364 146,533 (884) 2,014,013 
Machinery and Equipment .............. 168.246 25.083 {396) 192.933 
Total accumulated depreciation . I ••• I ••• I 2,036,610 171,616 (1,280) 2,206,946 

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 5.154,935 204,057 88 533 5,442.525 

Total business-type activities . . . . . . . . . . . . S 6.014.511 $ 700.229 $ (2131642) s 6.501.098 

Capital Assets at December 31, 2002 ..... $ IJ,478,0Z§ s 1.~7122§ ~ (72~.1~~> I IZ.33Z.3Ql 

-48-



CITY OF CHICAGO, ILUNOIS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 ·Continued 

(b) Depreciation expense was charged to functions I programs of the CitY as follows (dollars in thousands): 

Governmental activ1tles: 
General government . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 
Public safety .......................................... . 
Streets and sanitation ................................... . 
Transportation ........................................ . 
Health ............................................... . 
Cultural and recreational ................................ . 

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities $ 

Business-type activities: 
Water . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 
Sewer ....••...............•..•....................... 
Chicago-O'Hare International Airport ..•.....•.............. 
Midway Aitport ....................................... . 
Chicago Skyway .............•.......................•.. 

53,441 
22,598 
10,011 

167,435 
1,147 

19.144 

273.776 

26,454 
16,257 

108,604 
14,849 
5,452 

Total depreciation expense - business-type activities . . . . . . . . . . . !!::$ ==-=•17"=1!!!1,6!!1!111!:6 

(7) Lease Receivables 

Most of the 0 'Hare land, buildings and terminal space is leased under operating lease agreements to airlines and other tenants. The 
following is a schedule of the miDimwn future rental income on noncancellable operating leases as of December 31, 2002 (dollars 
in thousands): 

2003 ..••............•......•................. 
2004 ........................................ . 
2005 .....•................................... 
2006 ........................................ . 
2007 ........................................ . 
2008-2012 .................................. . 
2013-2017 
2018-2022 

Total Minimum Future Rental Income .............. . 

s 

$ 

53,910 
53,031 
52,531 
38,840 
33,811 

122,990 
91,298 
51,515 

497.926 

Contmgent rentals that may be received under certain leases based on the tenants' revenues or fuel flow are not included in minimum 
future rental income. Rental income for 0' Hare, consistmg of all rental and concession revenues except ramp rentals and automobile 
parking, amounted to $244.6 million, includmg contingent rentals of $43.3 million. 
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Most of the Mldway land and terminal space is leased Wlder operating lease agreements to airlines and other tenants. The following 
is a schedule of the minimum future rental income on noncancellable operating leases as of December 31, 2002 (dollars in 
thousands}: 

2003 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 •·• 0 0 0 0 0 0 •• 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2004 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 •• 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0. 0 0 0 0 

2005 0. 0 0 0 0 0 0 •• 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ••• 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0. 0 0 0 

2006 0 0 0. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2007 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 •• 0 0. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

2008-2012 ... 0 0 0 0. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Mininmm Future Rental Income .......... 0 •••• 

s 

$ 

17,433 
17,433 
16,711 
16,389 
16,056 
78,347 

162.369 

Contingent rentals that may be received Wlder certain leases based on tenants' revenues are not included in minimmn future rental 
mcome. Rental income for Midway, consisting of all rental and concession revenues except ramp rentals and automobile parking, 
amounted to $43.5 million, including contingent rentals of$21.5 million. 

(8) Short-term Debt 

Commercial Paper Notes 

City of Chicago Connnercial Paper Notes 2002 Program, Series A (Tax-Exempt) and Series B (Taxable) ($200.0 million maximum 
aggregate authorized) were $37.6 minion outstanding at December 31, 2002 having interest rates ranging from 1.45 percent to 1.75 
percent with maturity dates ranging from January 15, 2003 to February 13, 2003. Note proceeds can be used for approved capital 
proJects or cash flow needs of the City. The Wlcondttional, irrevocable letter of credit securing the Commercial Paper Notes 2002 
Program totals $218.0 million and expires m May 2007. The letter of credit was issued by a third party financial institution that 
is expected to be fmancially capable of honoring its agreements. The payment of principal and interest on the notes and 
reimbursement for draws on the letter of credit is based on a continuing appropriation from legally available fWlds of the City, 
however, that in no event shall the City be obligated to levy any special ad valorem or other tax in addition to other City taxes to 
pay such principal and interest. The City repaid the remaining balance of $12.6 million of Series A Notes in January 2003 and 
therefore those notes are recorded as a current liability in the financial statements. The Series B Notes ($25.0 million outstanding) 
are recorded in long-term debt as the City bas the ability and intent to redeem the notes in later years. 

Matured bonds represent princ1pal due on coupon bonds in which the coupons have not been presented for payment. 

Balance Balance 
January 1, Issued/ Redeemed/ December 31. 

1001 Draws Repayments 1001 

Short-term Debt: 
Commercial Paper Notes 2002, Series A .. $ $ 25,300 $ 12,735 $ 12,565 
Matured Bonds ...................... 747 747 
Total ........... 0 •••••••••••••••••• s 747 ~ 25,300 ~ 12?35 ~ 13,312 
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(9) Long-term Obligations 

(a) Long-term Debt activity for the year ended December 31, 2002 was as follows (dollars in thousands): 

Amounts 
Balance Balance Due 

January 1, December 31, within 
2002 Additions Reductions 2002 One Year 

Governmental activities: 
Bonds, notes and certif"tcates payable: 
General obliganon debt .................. $ 4,105,736 s 769,915 s 193,944 s 4,681,707 s 59,225 
Installment purchase agreement ............ 16,400 1,200 15,200 1,300 
Tax increment .•.....•...............•.. 532,811 25,735 37,014 521,532 51,785 
Revenue ...........••...•............. 449.520 1161595 106~25 4591890 51670 

5,104,467 912,245 338,383 5,678,329 117,980 

Less unamortized debt refunding transactions . 14,830 255 14,575 
Add unamortized premium .•.......•.•.... 5,082 136 4,946 
Add accretion of Capital appreciation bonds .. 51,237 23,412 74,649 
Less converted portion of conversion bonds .. 641115 61783 571332 
Total bonds, notes and certifiCates payable ... 5,091,589 925,909 331,481 5,686,017 117,980 

Other liabilities: 
Pension obligabons ..•..•..•......•.••.. 1,164,680 55,517 1,220,197 
Claims and judgments ••..........•...... 508J90 107J18 1761715 4381993 16~245 
Total other liabilities .................... 1,673,070 162,835 176,715 1,659,190 162,245 

Total governmental activities ......•....... $ 6.764.659 $ 1.0§8.744 $ 508.196 s 7.345.207 $ 280.225 

Business-type activities: 
Revenue bonds and notes payable: 
Water .....•....•........•..•......... s 1,024,653 $ s 15,619 s 1,009,034 $ 19,228 
Sewer ..................•............. 694,423 10,750 683,673 14,285 
Chicago-O'Hare International Airport ....... 3,367,205 490,515 433,130 3,424,590 33,675 
Midway Airport ...•......•............. 1,134,640 22,000 5,455 1,151,185 5,750 
Chicago Skyway ........................ 4371910 4371910 

6,658,831 512,515 464,954 6,706,392 72,938 

Less unamortized debt refundmg transactions 122,735 12,604 8,484 126,855 
Less unamortized discount ..•............. 68,707 11,376 13,390 66,693 
Add long-term purchase obligations ........ 27,705 8,467 623 35,549 737 
Add accretion of capital appreciation 

bonds •........... ·· ..... ·•·········· 23020 9039 13 981 

Total business-type activities .•.........•.. s 6.518.114 $ 497.002 $ 452.742 $ 6.562,374 $ 73.675 

Long-term Obligations at 
December 31,2002 .................... s ~~.n2.11~ s ~~~85,146 s 9~,9~8 ~ 1J,90Z158! ~ ~S~.21J2 
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(b) Issuance of New Debt 

General Obligation Notes 

The General Obligation Tender Notes, Series 2002 ($131.6 million) were sold in January 2002 at an initial short-term intermediate 
rate of 1. 75 percent through December 4, 2002. The notes mature no later than January 8, 2004. The Series 2002 notes were issued 
to meet cash flow requirements of the Ctty' s General, Library and City Relief Funds; the notes are payable from tax collections in 
the following year or from any other resources legally available to the City. Principal payments for the notes do not require the 
current appropriation and expenditure of Governmental Fund fmancial resources. 

At the discretion of the City, the notes may bear interest at a weekly, short-term intermediate or fixed rate. Interest on notes in the 
short-term intermediate mode lS payable on the first business day immediately following the short-term mtermediate rate period. 
Interest on the notes in the weekly mode is payable on the first business day of each month. Interest on notes in the fixed mode is 
payable on each January 31 and July 31. 

The City has appointed a remarketing agent for the notes in the weekly and short-tenn intermediate modes. The remarketing agent 
will use its best efforts to resell the notes at favorable rates following either an optional or mandatory tender. In the event the 
remarketing agent is unable to resell the notes, the City has obtained an unconditional, irrevocable letter of credit which may be 
drawn upon for the purchase of the notes until the remarketing agent is able to resell the Series 2002 notes. 

The letter of credit securing the Series 2002 notes totals $133.7 nnllion and terminates on the earliest of January 6, 2004 or upon 
redemption of the notes. Advances under the letter of credit (none at December 31, 2002) are due on the earliest of January 6, 2005 
or one year after the redemption of the notes. Advances bear interest until the Termination date at the greater of the prime rate or 
the sum of the federal fimds rate plus one-half percent per annum (Base Rate). Thereafter until due and payable, advances bear 
interest at the Base Rate plus two percent. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, the interest rate per annum shall equal the 
Base Rate plus three percent and interest shall be payable upon demand. The letter of credit was issued by a third-party financial 
institution that is expected to be fmancially capable of honoring its agreements. 

General Obligation Bonds 

General Obligation Bonds, Project and Refimding Series 2002A (S 169.8 million) were sold at a premium in June 2002. The bonds 
have interest rates ranging from 4.0 percent to 5.625 percent and maturity dates from January 1, 2003 to January l, 2042. General 
Obligation Variable Rate Demand Bonds Series 2002B ($185.4 million) were sold in June 2002 at an initial rate of 1.45 percent and 
maturity dates ranging from January l, 2019 to January 1, 2037. Net proceeds of the Series 2002 Bonds will be used to fmance 
infrastnlcture improvements; transportation improvements; grants to assist not-for-profit organizations or educational or cultural 
institutions; or to assist other municipal corporations or units of local government or school districts; acquisition of personal 
property; acquisition, demolition, remediation or improvement of real property for industrial, commercial or residential purposes 
or to enhance public safety and welfare; constructing, equipping, altering and repairing various municipal facilities including fue 
stations, libraries and sen1or and health centers; enhancing economic development within the City by making direct grants to and 
providing security for the obligations of not-for-profit or for-profit organ1Z8tions doing business or seeking to do business with the 
City; the fimding of litigation judgments or settlement agreements involving the City; and providmg for facilities, sefV!ces and 
equipment to protect and enhance public safety ($326.1 million); to advance refund certain maturities of the Refunding Series 1991 
($10.1 nullion); and to fund capitalized interest ($16.0 million). The City utilized $160.0 million for a settlement related to public 
safety contract labor costs. The advance refundmg of the Refunding Series 1991 bonds decreased the City's total debt service 
payments by $.4 million and resulted in an economic gain (difference between the present values of the debt service on the old and 
new debt) of $.3 milbon. 

At the discretion of the City, the Series 2002B bonds may bear interest at a daily, weekly, flexible, adjustable long or fixed rate. 
Interest on bonds in the daily or weeldy mode is payable on the first business day of each month. Interest in the flexible mode is 
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payable on each rate change date. Interest m the adjustable long or fixed mode is payable on January 1 and July 1. 

The City has appointed a remarketing agent for the Series 2002B bonds in other than the fixed rate mode. The remarketing agent 
will use its best efforts to resell the bonds at favorable rates following either an optional or mandatory tender. In the event the 
remarketing agent is unable to resell the bonds, the City has obtained a reimbursement and standby bond purchase agreement which 
may be drawn upon for the purchase of the bonds until the remarketing agent is able to resell the Series 2002B bonds. 

The reimbursement and standby bond purchase agreement securing the Series 2002B bonds totals $187.1 million and terminates 
on June 10, 2005. Bonds purchased by the provider shall bear interest from the purchase date through the 30th day at the greater 
of the Overnight Effective Federal Funds Rate plus 1.0 percent or the prime rate (Base Rate). Thereafter to and including the 90111 

day, interest on the bonds will be the Base Rate plus .5 percent Thereafter and until due, interest on the bonds will be the Base Rate 
plus 1.0 percent. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, the interest rate sha11 equal the Base Rate plus 2.0 percent. The 
maximum rate of interest cannot exceed 20.0 percent The reimbmsemcnt and standby bond purchase agreement was issued by a 
third-party fmancial institution that is expected to be fmancially capable of honoring its agreements. 

General Obligation Bonds (Neighborhoods Alive 21 Program) Series 2002A ($5 1.5 million) were sold at a premium in October 2002. 
The bonds have interest rates ranging from 4.0 percent to 5.25 percent and maturity dates from January 1, 2004 to January 1, 2014. 
General Obligation Variable Rate Demand Bonds (Neighborhoods Alive 21 Program) Series 2002B ($206.7 million) were sold in 
October 2002 at an inibal weekly rate of 1.55 percent and maturity dates ranging from January 1, 2015 to January I, 2037. Net 
proceeds of $260.5 million will be used to fmance certain public mfrastructure and facility improvements for the City, capital 
equipment purchases, the acquisition and improvement of certain real property, and grants to not-for-profit organizations ($253.0 
mill1on) and capitalized interest ($7.5 million). 

At the discretion of the City, the Series 2002B bonds may bear interest at a daily, weekly, flexible, adjustable long or fJXed rate. 
Interest in the daily or weekly mode is payable on the ftrSt business day of each month. Interest in the flexible mode is payable on 
each rate change date. Interest in the adJustable long or fJXed mode is payable on January 1 and July 1. 

The City bas appointed a remarketmg agent for the Series 2002B bonds in other than the fixed rate mode. The remarketing agent 
will use its best efforts to resell the bonds at favorable rates followmg either an optional or mandatory tender. In the event the 
remarketing agent IS unable to resell the bonds, the City has obtained a standby bond purchase agreement which may be drawn upon 
for the purchase of the bonds until the remarketmg agent is able to resell the Series 2002B bonds. 

The standby bond purchase agreement securing the Series 2002B bonds totals $209.0 million and terminates on October 3, 2007. 
Bonds purchased by the proVIder shall bear interest from the purchase date through the 90th day at the greater of the Overnight 
Effective Federal Funds Rate plus .5 percent or the prime rate (Base Rate). Thereafter to and including the 180111 day, interest on 
the bonds will be the Base Rate plus 1.0 percent. Thereafter and until due, interest on the bonds will be the Base Rate plus 1.5 
percent. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, the interest rate shall equal the Base Rate plus 2.5 percent. The maxunum rate 
of interest cannot exceed 18.0 percent The standby bond purchase agreement was issued by a third-party fmancial institution that 
is expected to be financially capable of honoring its agreements. 

In October 2002, in connection with the issuance of General Obbgat1on Variable Rate Demand Bonds (Neighborhoods Alive 21 
Program) Series 2002B, the City entered into two interest rate swap agreements to obtain a fixed interest rate of3.575 percent The 
swap was approved by the CJty Council and is effective through January 1, 2037 with a total notional amount equal to the pnncipal 
outstanding on the bonds. 

In May 2002, in connection with the issuance of the Lakefront Millennium Project Parking Facilities Bonds (Limited Tax) Series 
1998, the City entered into an interest rate swap agreement to obtain a variable rate of interest equal to the BMA Munietpal Swap 
Index notto exceed 15 percent per annum. The swap was approved by the City Council and is effective through January 1, 2028 with 
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a notional amount equal to the principal outstanding on the bonds. 

Sales Tax Revenue Bonds 
Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, Vanable Rate Senes 2002 ($116.6 million) were sold in Jtme 2002. The bonds were sold at 
an initial weekly rate of 1.31 percent through July 2, 2002 thereafter the bonds will bear interest at the weekly rate. The bonds have 
maturity dates ranging from January 1, 2004 to January 1, 2034. Net proceeds of $11 S .2 million together with $4.2 million of debt 
service funds were used to advance refund certain maturities of Sales Tax Revenue Bonds Series 1997 and Series 1999. The advance 
refunding decreased the City's total debt service payments by $18.9 million and resulted in an economic gain (difference between 
the present values of the debt service on the old and new debt) of $6.1 million. 

At the discretion of the City, the bonds may bear interest at a daily, weekly, flexible, adjustable long or fJXed rate. Interest in the 
daily or weekly mode is payable on the first business day of each month. Interest in the flexible mode is payable on each rate change 
date. Interest in the adjustable long or ftxed mode is payable on January 1 and July I. 

The City has appointed a remarketing agent for the bonds in other than the fiXed rate mode. The remarketing agent will use its best 
efforts to resell the bonds at favorable rates following either an optional or mandatory tender. In the event the remarketing agent 
is unable to resell the bonds, the City has obtained an initial liquidity facility which may be drawn upon for the purchase of the 'Oonds 
until the remarketing agent is able to resell the Series 2002 bonds. 

The initial liquidity facility securing the Series 2002 bonds totals $118.3 million and tenninates on January 2, 2009. Bonds 
purchased by the initial liquidity facility provider shall bear interest until the last day of the Bank Purchase Period at the greater of 
the Overnight Effective Federal Funds Rate plus .5 percent or the pnme rate (Alternate Base Rate). Thereafter until due and payable, 
mterest on the bonds will be the Alternate Base Rate plus J .0 percent. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, the interest rate 
shall equal the Alternate Base Rate plus 2.0 percent. The maximum rate of interest cannot exceed 20.0 percent The initial bquidity 
facility was ISSUed by a third-party fmancJ.al institution that is expected to be financially capable of honoring its agreements. 

In connection with the issuance of the SaJes Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, Variable Rate Series 2002, the City entered into an 
interest rate swap agreement to obtain a ftxed interest rate of 4.23 percent The swap was approved by the City Council and is 
effective through January J, 2034 with a notional amount equal to the principal outstanding on the bonds. Beginning on January 
1, 2009, the counterparty can terminate the mterest rate swap agreement on each day that the daily weighted average of the BMA 
Municipal Swap Index for any immediately preceding rolling consecutive 180 day period is more than 7.0 percent. 

In addition. the C1ty entered into three separate options on interest rate swap transactions in wh1cb the counterparty has the right, 
but not the obligation, to exercise these options if the daily weighted average of the BMA Municipal Swap Index for the 180 day 
period ending prior to the exercise date is more than 7.0 percent If the options are exercised, the City would pay a variable rate 
based on the BMA Swap Index plus 30 basis points but will not exceed 20 percent. The initial notional amount of the options is 
$153.2 million and is based on the outstandmgbalances of certain maturities of the Senes 1997, Series 1998 and Series 1999 Sales 
Tax Revenue Bonds. The City received a prenuum of $5.3 million for entering into the three options on interest rate swap 
transactions. 

Tax Increment Allocation Bonds and Notes 

As part of the C1ty's Tax Increment Fmancmg Neighborhood Improvement Program, the City entered into two Tax Increment 
Allocation Notes (South Chicago Redevelopment Project Area and Midwest Redevelopment Project Area) Taxable Series 2002 in 
January and March 2002, respectively. The South Chicago note is for $1.2 million and has an interest rate of 8.5 percent and 
maturity dates from June 1, 2002 to June J, 2010. The Midwest note is for $4.9 oullion and has an interest rate of 8.0 percent and 
maturity dates of January 1, 2005 to January 1, 2012. The proceeds of the notes were used to fund the Neighborhood Improvement 
Program in the respective ProJect Areas. The Neighborhood Improvement Program provides grants to eligible property owners to 
make improvements to their property. 

-54-



CITY OF CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 ·Continued 

Tax Increment Allocation Bonds (Chatham Rtdge Redevelopment Project) Scnes 2002 ($17 .9 million) were sold in September 2002. 
The bonds have interest rates ranging from 3.3 percent to 6.05 percent and maturity dates from December 15, 2003 to December 
15, 2013. Net proceeds of $17.3 million together with $.8 million of existing debt service reserve funds Will be used to finance 
certain project costs m the Chatham Ridge Redevelopment Project ($13.5 Dnllion), fund the debt service reserve acc:ount ($1.8 
million) and advance refund aU of the Tax Increment Allocation Bonds (Chatham Ridge Redevelopment Project) Series 1987 (S2.8 
million). The advance refunding decreased the City's total debt service pa)'ments by$. 7 milbon and resulted in an econoDUc gam 
(dtfference between the present values of the debt service on the old and new debt) of$.2 miUion. 

As part of the City's Tax Increment Fmancmg Neighborhood Improvement Program, the City entered into two Tax Increment 
Allocation Notes (Western Avenue North Redevelopment Project Area and Fullerton/Milwaukee Redevelopment Project Area) 
Taxable Senes 2002 m December 2002. The Western Avenue North note is for S 1.0 million and has an interest rate of 8.0 percent 
and maturity dates from January 1, 2004 to June 1, 2012. The Fullerton/Milwaukee DOte is for S.7million and has an interest rate 
of 8.S percent and maturity dates of January 1, 2004 to January 1, 2012. The proceeds of the DOtes were used to fund the 
Netghborhood Improvement Program in rhe respecbve Project Areas. 

In 1997, m connection with the issuance of the Stockyards Industrial Tax Increment, Senes 1996 A and the Stockyards Southeast 
Tax Increment, Series 1996 B, the City entered into an interest rate swap agreement to obtatn a fixed interest rate of 5.315 percent. 
The swap was approved by the City Counctl and is effective through December 1, 2014 with a notional amount equal to the principal 
outstanding on 1he bonds. 

In 1999, m connection with the issuance of the Near North Redevelopment Project, Series 1999 A and B, the City entered mto an 
interest rate swap agreement to obtain a fixed interest rate of 5.084 percent for the Series A and 6.89 percent for the Series B which 
are taxable. The swaps were approved by the City Council and are effect1ve through January 1, 2019 for the Series A and January 
1, 2010 for the Series B wxth a notional amount equal to the principal outstanding on the bonds. 

Enterprise Fund Revenue Bonds 

Chicago Midway Airport Sec:ond Lien Revenue Bonds, Taxable Senes 2002A ($22.0 million) were sold in February 2002. The 
bonds were sold at an initial weekly rate of 1.95 percent and have a maturity date ofJanuary 1, 2021. Net proceeds of $21.3 uu1lion 
will be used to fmance authorized projects at the airport ($1 5.5 million), capitalized interest ($4.6 million) and fund the debt service 
reserve fund ($1.2 million). 

At the discretion of the City, the bonds may bear interest at a weekly, flexible, adjustable long or fixed rate. Interest in the weekly 
mode is payable on the ftrSt business day of each month. Interest m the flexible mode is payable on each rate change date. Interest 
in the adjustable long or fiXed mode is payable on January 1 and July 1. 

The City has appointed a remarketing agent for the bonds in other than the f1xed rate mode. The remarketing agent will use its best 
efforts to resell the bonds at favorable rates following either an optional or mandatory tender. In the event the remarketing agent 
is tmable to resell the bonds, the City has obtained an initial liquidity facility which may be drawn upon for the purchase of the bonds 
until the rcmarketing agent 1S able to resell the Series 2002A bonds. 

The initial liquidity facility securing the Series 2002A bonds totals S22.3 million and terminates on February 13, 2007. Bonds 
purchased by the initialliquidtty factlity provider shall bear interest until the last day of the Amortizatton End Date at the Base Rate 
plus 1.0 percent. The Base Rate is the greater of the Ovemtght Effective Federal Funds Rate plus .S percent or the pnme rate. Upon 
the occurrence of an event of default, the interest rate shall equal the Base Rate plus 3.0 percent. The maximum rate of interest 
cannot exceed 18.0 percent. The initial liquidity facility was issued by a third-party fmanctal mstttution that is expected to be 
fmanciaUy capable of honoring its agreements. 
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Chicago-O'Hare International Airport General Airport Third Lien Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2002A ($490.5 milbon) were 
sold in March 2002. The bonds have interest tates ranging from 5.25 percent to 5.75 percent and maturity dates ranging from 
January 1, 2016 to January 1, 2032. Net proceeds of $470.2 million together with $9.1 million in existing debt service funds were 
used to advance refund certain maturities of first and second lien bonds and for payment of outstanding commercial paper notes 
($459.3 million) and to fund debt service reserve requirements ($20.0 million). The advance refunding increased the City's total 
debt service payments by $267.8 million and resulted in an economic gain (difference between the present values of the debt service 
on the old and new debt) of$11.8 million. 

Option on Midway Airport Interest Rate Swap Agreement- During 1999, the City Council approved and Midway Airport entered 
into an Option on an Interest Rate Swap Agreement ("Option") in connection with $397.7 million (the "Notional Amountj of 
Chicago M1dway Airport Series 1998 A, 1998 B and 1998 C Revenue Bonds. The buyer can exercise the Option if the daily 
weighted average of the Municipal Swap Index for the 180 days on the day prior to the exercise date is greater than 7.5 percent 
Once the Option is exercised, the Airport will owe interest calculated on a floating rate equal to the Municipal Swap Index plus 25 
basis pomts to the buyer of the swap. In return, the buyer will owe the Airport interest calculated on a fJXed rate of 5.1 percent The 
Notional Amount is not exchanged: it is only the basis on which interest payments are calculated. The Ailport's floating rate is 
capped at 15.0 percent. The Airport continues to pay interest to the bondholders at the flXed rate provtded by the bonds. However, 
during the term of the swap agreement, the Airport will effectively pay a variable rate on the bonds. The debt service requirements 
to maturity for these bonds (presented in this note) are based on the fixed rate. The Airport will be exposed to paying fixed rates 
if the buyer to the swap defaults or if the swap is terminated. A termination of the swap agreement may result in the Ailport malcing 
or receiving a termination payment. The Option was not exercised during 2002. 

(c) Debt Covenants 

Water Fund - The ordinances authorizing the issuance of outstanding Water Revenue Bonds provide for the creation of separate 
accounts into which net revenues, as defmed, or proceeds are to be credited, as appropriate. The ordinances require that net revenues 
available for bonds, as adjusted, equal 120 percent of the current annual debt service on the outstanding senior lien bonds and that 
Cicy management maintain all covenant reserve account balances at spec1fied amounts. The above requirements were met at 
December 31, 2002. The Water Rate Stabilization account had a balance in restricted assets of $62.3 nnllion at December 31, 2002. 

The ordinances authorizing tbe issuance of outstanding Second Lien Water Revenue Bonds provide for the crcanon of separate 
accounts into which moneys will be deposited, as appropriate. The ordinances require that net revenues are equal to the sum of the 
aggregate annual debt service requirements for the flSC81 year of the outstanding senior lien bonds and 110 percent of the aggregate 
annual debt service requirements of the outstanding second lien bonds. This requirement was met at December 31, 2002. 

Sewer Fund- The ordmances authorizing the issuance of outstanding Wastewater Transmission Revenue Bonds provide for the 
creation of separate accounts into which net revenues, as defmed, or proceeds are to be credited, as appropriate. The ordinances 
require that net revenues available for bonds cqual115 percent of the current annual debt service requirements on the outstanding 
semor lien bonds. This requirement was met at December 31, 2002. The Sewer Rate Stabilization account had a balance in 
restncted assets of$9.2 million at December 31,2002. 

The ordinances authorizing the issuance of outstanding Second Llen Wastewater Transmission Revenue Bonds provide for the 
creation of separate accounts into which moneys will be deposited, as appropriate. The ordinances require that net revenues equal 
100 percent of the sum of the current maximum annual debt service requirements of the outstanding senior lien bonds and the 
maximum annual debt service requtrements of the second lien bonds. This requirement was met at December 31, 2002. 

Chicago-O'Hare International Airport (O'Hare) Fund -In 1983, the City Council adopted the General Airport Revenue Bond 
ordinance authonzing the issuance and sale of Chicago-O'Hare International Airport General Airport Revenue Bonds in unlimited 
series for the purpose of fmancing the cost of nnprovements and expansion of 0 'Hare and to redeem its existing outstanding bond 
obligations. The ordinance further pennits the issuance of second lien notes, bonds and other obligations which are payable from, 
and secured by, a pledge of amounts deposited in the junior ben obligation debt service account created under the ordinance. The 
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ordmance requires that net revenues in each year equal not less than the sum of (i) the amount required to be deposited for such year 
in the debt service reserve fund, the maintenance reserve fund, the special capital projects fund and the junior lien debt service fund, 
and (ii) 110 percent of the aggregate fJISt lien and second lien debt service for the bond year commencing during such fiScal year 
reduced by an amount equal to the sum of any amount held in any capitalized interest account for disbursement during such fiscal 
year to pay interest on bonds. This requirement was met at December 31, 2002. The ordinance provides for the creation of separate 
accounts which are to be crcchted with revenues in a specified prionty. At the end of each year, any excess funds over amounts 
required in accounts other than Special Capital Projects, Emergency Reserve and Airport Development accounts are reallocated w1th 
the followmg year's revenues. 

The master indenture securing the International Tenninal Specml Revenue Bonds requires that special revenues, as defined, together 
with any cash and investment balance held m the special revenue fund on the fJISt day of the calendar year not then required to be 
deposited m any other fund and certain mvestment earnings shall equal an amount not less than the greater of (i) various fund 
deposit requirements and (ii) 125 percent of the annual debt service reduced by an amount equal to the aggregate amount held in 
all capitalized interest accounts for disbursements during the bond year to pay interest This requJreiDCJlt was met at December 31. 
2002. 

The master indenture securing the Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) Revenue Bonds requires PFC revenues, as defined, to be 
deposited into the PFC Revenue Fund. The PFC Revenue Fund 1s required to transfer amounts no later than the twentieth day of 
each month to various funds, as defined, as appropriate to meet debt service and debt service reserve requirements. 

Midway Airport (Midway) Fund· The master indenture securing the issuance of Chicago Midway .AiiportRevenue Bonds requires 
tbat the City set rates and charges for the use and operation of Midway so that revenues, together with any other available monies 
and the cash balance held in the Revenue Fund on the fJISt day of such year not required to be deposited in any Fund or Account, 
will be at least sufficient (a) to provide for the operation and mamtenance expenses for the year and (b) to provide for the greater 
of (i) the amounts needed to be deposited mto the First and Junior Lien Debt Service Fund, the 0 & M Reserve Account, the Working 
Capital Account, the First Lien Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Repair and Replacement Fund, and the Special Project FunJ and 
(ii) an amount not less than 125 percent of the Aggregate First Lien Debt Service for such flSCil year reduced by an amount equal 
to the sum of any amount held in any capitalized mterest account for disbursement during such fiscal year to pay interest on First 
Lien Bonds. These requirements were met at December 31, 2002. 

Chicago Skyway Fund- The ordinances authorizing the issuance of Skyway Toll Bridge Revenue Bonds provide for the creation 
of separate accounts into which net revenues, as defmed, or proceeds are to be crechted, as appropriate. Net revenues after debt 
service will be used to fund the Capital Improvement Program. The related indenture requires the City to set tolls so that net 
revenues are not less than the gyeater of 120 percent of the annual debt service requirement or 100 percent of various fund deposit 
requirements. This requirement was met at December 31, 2002. 

The ordmance authorizing the issuance of Special Transportation Revenue Bonds provides for the creation of separate accounts into 
which net revenues are deposited, after all accounts are properly credited relating to the Skyway Toll Bridge Revenue Bonds, for 
debt serv1ce on the Spcc11l Transportation Revenue Bonds. This requirement was met at December 31, 2002. 
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(d) No-Commitment Debt and Public: Interest Loans include various special assessment, private activity bonds and loans. These 
types of fmancings are used to provide private entities with low-cost capital financing for construction and rehabilitation of facilities 
deemed to be in the public interest. Bonds payable on no-comminnent debt are not included in the accompanying fmancJ.al 
statements because the City has no obligation to provide for therr repayment which is the responsibility of the borrowing entities. 
In adchtion, federal programs/grants, including Community Development Block Grants, Urban Development Action Grants and 
Community Service Block Grants, provide origmal funding for public interest loans. Loans receivable are not included as assets 
because payments received on loans are used to fund new loans or other program activities in the current year and are not available 
for general City operating purposes. Loans are recorded as current and pnor year program/grants expenditures. Funding for future 
loans will be from a combination of the repayment of existmg loans and additional funds committed from future program/grant 
expenditures. 

(e) Defeased Bonds have been removed from the Statement ofNet Assets because related assets have been placed in irrevocable 
trusts that, together with interest earned thereon, will provide amounts sufficient for payment of all principal and interest Defeased 
bonds at December 31, 2002, not including principal payments due January 1, 2003, are as follows (dollars in thousands): 

Amount 
Defeased Outstanding 

General Obhgation Project Bonds Series 1993 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 23,985 $ 20,055 
Emergency Telephone System Series 1993 ................................... . 213,730 194,175 
General Obligation Project Bonds Series 1995 ................................ . 152,657 143,122 
General Obhgation Project Bonds Series 1995 B .............................. . 79,070 63,245 
General Obligation Library Bonds Series J 997 ................................ . 9,615 9,155 
General Obligation Bonds Series 2000 A .................................... . 123,805 118,900 
Neighborhoods Alive 21 Program Series 2000 A .............................. . 62,495 62,495 
Sales Tax Revenue Bonds Series 1999 ...................................... . 104,125 102,015 
Central Station Project Tax Increment- Series 1991 A .......................... . 4,205 2,745 
Near South Redevelopment Project Tax Increment- Series 1994 A ................ . 23,000 21,975 
Central Loop Redevelopment Project Tax Increment- Series 1997 A ............. . 96,000 96,000 
Water Revenue Bonds - Series 1989 ........................................ . 75,730 3,950 
Water Revenue Senior Lien Bonds - Series 2000 .............................. . 80,000 80.000 
Wastewater Transmission Revenue: Bonds- Series 1994 •........................ 55,820 55.820 
Wastewater Transmission Revenue Bonds- Series 2000 ........................ . 68,420 66.835 
Chicago-Midway Airport - Series J 994 A .................................... . 54,510 52.420 

106.575 Skyway Toll Bridge Refunding Revenue Bonds Senes 1994 ...................... ----=~.:. 106.575 

1.333.742 Total .................................................................. ;s,S.,...==:!.!:5i~sei ~ 11199.4§2 
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(f) Annual requirements listed below for each year mclude amounts payable January 1 of the following year. Bonds maturing 
and interest payable January 1, 2003 have been excluded because funds for the1r payment have been provided for. Annual 
requJiements to amortize debt outstanding as of December 31, 2002, are as follows (dollars in thousands): 

General Obli&ation lnstallmeut Purchase Tax Increment 
Year Ending Prineil!al loterest Prinell!al Interest Prlneil!al Interest 
December 31, 
2003 .......................... s 109,005 s 199,405 s 1,400 s 1,151 s 52,493 s 25,803 
2004 .........................• 228,544 195,846 1,400 1,046 51,290 23,192 
2005 .........................• 102,613 191,313 1,500 934 60,288 22,992 
2006 .............•............ 103,830 187,759 1,700 814 52,102 25,358 
2007 ...........•.•............ 132,691 183,828 1,700 682 53,040 24,914 
2008-2012 ....................... 724,269 868,309 7,500 1,205 162,552 54,696 
2013-2017 ........................ 778,690 162,565 66,997 20,296 
2018-2022 ........................ 723,201 604,958 20,885 926 
2023-2027 ..................... 637,137 482,575 
2028-2032 ......................... 447,366 353.731 
2033-2037 •••• e oo • • e • e • • • • e • e • I 415,236 256,685 
2038-2041 • e e 00 ooe e I 0 e • • e e 00 • e • e I 2201351 521882 

$ 4,6221933 s 4.339.856 s 15.200 $ 5.832 s 519.647 s 1981177 

Revenue Business-type Activities 
Year Ending Prineil!al Interest Princil!al Interest 
December 31, 
2003 ..................... $ 10,530 s 22,759 s 87,523 s 329,402 
2004 ..................... 11,230 22.232 150,453 325,225 
2005 ..................... 11,800 21,663 181,924 322,045 
2006 ..................... 12,405 21,067 204,243 313,447 
2007 ..................... 13,030 20,435 228,511 300,671 
2008-2012 ................. 76,350 90,999 1,268,536 1,324,946 
2013-2017 ................ 84,165 68,887 1,490,432 1,005,991 
2018.2022 ............... 83,395 48,308 864,410 713,251 
2023-2027 ............... 98,750 25,394 1,067,054 483,597 
2028.2032 ............... 42,805 7,657 916,970 142,389 
2033.2037 ............... 9,760 413 118,115 9,590 
2038-2041 ............... 

I ~~:!.222 I ~~2·11~ $ ~·~ZI·IZl I ~~2za.~~~ 

For the requirements calculated above, mterest on variable rate debt was calculated at the rate in effect or the effective rate of a 
related swap agreement, If applicable, as of December 31, 2002. 
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(10) Pension Plans 

Ehgible Clty employees participate in one of four single-employer defined benefit pension plans (Plans). These Plans are: the 
Municipal Employees'; the Laborers' and Retirement Board Employees'; the Policemen's; and the Firemen's Annwty and Benefit 
Funds of Chicago. Plans are administered by individual retirement boards represented by elected and appointed officials. Certain 
employees of the Chicago Board of Education participate m the Munictpal Employees' or the Laborers' and Rebrement Board 
Employees' Annutty and Benefit Funds for which the City levies taxes to make the reqwred employer contributions. Each Plan 
ISsues a publicly available fmancial report which includes financial statements and required supplementary infonnation. 

The fmancial statements of the Plans are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Employer and employee contributions are 
recognized in the period in which employee services are perfonned. Benefits and refunds are recogmzed when payable. 

Plan investments are reported at fa1r value. Short-term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value. Securities 
traded on a national or international exchange are valued at tbe last reported sales price at cunent exchange rates. Fixed income 
securities are valued principally using quoted market prices provided by independent pricmg services. For collective investments, 
the net asset value is determined and certified by the investment managers as of the reporting date. Real estate investments are 
valued by appraisals or carried at cost, which approximates fair value. Investments that do not have an established muket are 
reported at estimated fair value. 

The Plans have a securities lendmg program. At year-end, the PlaJlS have no credit risk exposure to borrowers because the amounts 
the Plans owe the borrowers exceed the amounts the borrowers owe the Plans. The contract with the Pbms' master custodian requires 
it to indemnify the Plans if the borrowers fail to return the securities (and if the collateral is inadequate to replace the securities lent) 
or fail to pay the fund for income distributions by the securities' issuers while the securities are on loan. All securities loans can be 
termmated on demand by either the Plans or the borrower, although the average term of the loans has not exceeded 108 days. The 
Funds' custodian lends securities for collateral in the form of cash, irrevocable letters of credit and/or U.S. government obligatiollS 
equal to at least 102 percent of the fair value of securities or international securities for collateral of 105 percent. Cash collateral 
is invested in the lending agents short-term invesanent pool, which at year-end has a weighted average maturity which did not 
exceed 43 days. The Plans cannot pledge to sell collateral secunties received unless the borrower defaults. Loans outstanding as 
of December 31, 2002 are as follows: market value of securities loaned $1,158.0 milhon, market value of cash collateral from 
borrowers $1,021.9 milhon and market value of non-cash collateral from borrowers $162.5 million. 

The funds provide retirement, as well as, disability and death benefits as established by State law. Benefits generally vest after 20 
years of credtted service. Employees who retire at or after age SS (SO for policemen and f1ICDlCD) with 20 years of credited service 
qualify to receive a money purchase annuity and those with more than 20 years of credited service qualify to receive a minimum 
formula annwty. The annutty is computed by multiplying the fmal average salary by a percentage ranging from 2.0 percent to 2.4 
percent per year of credited service. The final average salary is the employee's highest average annual salary for any four consecutive 
years wtthm the last 10 years of credited service. 
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State law requires City contributions at statutonly, not actuarially determined rates. State law also ICqUues covered employees to 
contribute a percentage of their salanes. The City· s annual pension cost for the cunent year and related mformation for each plan 
is as follows (dollars in thousands): 

Municipal 
Emi!Ioxees' Laborers' Policemen's Firemen's Total 

Contributton rates 
CJty ...•..................... 
Plan DlCDlbers .•............... 

Annual required contribution ..... s 
Interest on net pens1on obligation 
Adjustment to aunual reqwred 

contnbution ....•........... 
Annual pension cost ............ 
Contnbutions made ..•.••...... 

Increase (decrease) in net pension 
obligation .................. 

Net pension obligatton {excess), 
beginning of year ............ 

Net pension obligation (excess), 
endofyear ................. ~ 

8.00/o 
8.5 

92,712 s 
(25,582) 

24.830 
91,960 

130.966 

(39,006) 

(319.770) 

'~58,77fi> i 

Municipal 
Emploxees' 

Actuarial valuation date • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12131/02 

Actuarial cost method . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . Entry age nonnal 
Amortization method . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Level dollar, open 
Remaining amortJzation period . . . . . . . . . 40 years 
Asset valuation method ............... 5-yr. Smoothed 

market 

Actuarial assumptions: 
Investment rate of return (a) . . . . . . . . . . 8.0% 
ProJected salary increases (a) 

Inflation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.0 
Seniority/Merit .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. 2.0 

Post retirement benefit 

8.00/o 
8.5 

s 
(20,425) 

4.948 
(15,477) 

83 

(15,560) 

(255Jll) 

'271l.87J)! 

Laborers' 
12131/02 

Entry age normal 
Level dollar, open 
40years 
5-yr. Smoothed 
market 

8.0% 

3.0 
2.0 

12.75% 10.5% 
9.0 9.1 

130,237 s 105-,106 s 328,055 
50,163 43,012 47,168 

(29.812) (41.741) (41.781) 
150,588 106,371 333,442 
141.989 59.453 33~.491 

8,599 46,918 951 

627.036 537.644 589.599 

~3~.fi3~ ~ ~u.s~~ 1 ~2!l.~~Q 

Policemen's Flremen's 
12131/02 12131/02 

Entry age normal Entry age normal 
Level percent, open Level dollar, open 
40 years 40ycars 
5-yr. Smoothed 5-yr. Smoothed 
market market 

8.0% 8.0% 

3.0 3.0 
Plus additional % 2.0 
based on 
service (c) 

increases (b) .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. 3.0 3.0 (d) (e) 
(a) Compounded Annually 
(b) Per Year for Annuitants Age 60 or Over (Not compounded) 
(c) Up to 2.0 percent based on service 
(d) Uses 3.0 percent per year for annuitants age 55 or over, born before 1950 with at least 20 years of service and 1.5 percent 

per year for 20 years for annuitants age 60 or over, born in 1950 or later. 
(e) Uses 3.0 percent per year for annu1tants age 55 or over, bom before 1945 with at least 20 years of service and 1.5 percent 

per year for 20 years for annwtants age 60 or over, born JR 1945 or later. 
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The following tables of infonnation assist users in assessing each fund's progress in accumulating sufficient assets to pay benefits 
when due. The three-year historical infonnanon for each annuity and benefit fund lS as follows (dollars in thousands): 

Year 

Anuual 
Pension 

Cost 

Municipal Employees': 
2000 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 93,969 
200 I . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 82,888 
2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 91,960 

Laborers': 
2000 ............................. . 
2001 ............................. . 
2002 ............................. . 

Policemen's: 
2000 ............................. . 
2001 ............................. . 
2002 ............................. . 

Firemen's: 
2000 ............................. . 
2001 ............................. . 
2002 ............................. . 

(15,383) 
(17,024) 
15,477 

145,174 
143,432 
150,588 

91,629 
105,173 
106,371 

%of Annual 
Pension 

Cost 
Cootributed 

149.17% 
158.57 
142.42 

N/A 
N/A 
N/A 

96.08 
97.38 
94.29 

71.95 
57.43 
55.89 

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS 
(dollars in thousands) 

Actuarial 
Accrued 

Actuarial Liability Unfunded 
Actuarial Value of (AAL) (Surplus) Funded 
Valuatioo Assets Entry Age AAL Ratio 

Date (a) (b) (b-a) (alb) 

Municipal Employees': 
2000 ............... 12/31/00 $ 6,297,976 $ 6,665,180 $ 367,203 95% 
2001 ............... 12/31/01 6,466,798 6,934,176 467,379 93 
2002 ............... 12131/02 6,403,982 7,577,100 1,173,118 85 

Laborers': 
2000 ............... 12/31/00 1,737,971 1,297,914 (440,057) 134 
2001 ............... 12/31101 1,756,080 1,402,139 (353,942) 125 
2002 ............... 12131102 1,715,073 1,540,605 (174,469) 111 

Policemen's: 
2000 ............... 12131/00 4,019,468 5,652,031 1,632,563 71 
2001 ............... 12131/01 4,183,796 5,932,511 1,748,715 71 
2002 ............... 12/31/02 4,124,580 6,384,846 2,260,266 65 

Firemen's: 
2000 ............... 12/31/00 1.219,486 2,053,340 833,854 59 
2001 ............... 12131101 1,245,130 2,068,718 823,588 60 
2002 ............... 12/31/02 1,209,768 2,088,706 878,938 58 
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Net 
Pension 

Obligation 

$ (271,218) 
(319,770) 
(358,776) 

(237,627) 
(255,311) 
(270,871) 

623,280 
627,036 
635,635 

492,871 
537,644 
584,562 

Unfunded 
(Surplus) 

AAL 
as a 

Percentage 
Covered of Covered 
PayroU PayroU 

(c) ((b-a)/c) 

$ 1,243,439 30% 
1,375,049 34 
1,377,909 85 

185,051 (238) 
211,203 (168) 
207,404 (84) 

759,343 215 
763,352 229 
866,532 261 

275,107 303 
277,965 296 
277,053 317 
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Under State law certain health benefits are available to employees who retll'C from the City based upon their participation in the 
City's pension plans. Substantially all employees who qualify as Municipal or Laborer pension plan participants older than age 55 
with at least 20 years of service and Police and Fire Pension plan participants older than age 50 with at least I 0 years of servic~ may 
become eligible for posteruployment benefits if they eventually become an annuitant. Health benefits inchuie basic benefits for 
annuitants and supplemental benefits for medicare eligible annuitants. 

The cost of health benefits is recognized as an expenditure in the accompanying fmancia1 statements as claims are reported and are 
funded on a pay-as-you-go basis. In 2002, the net expense to the City for providing these benefits to approximately 22,025 annuitants 
plus their dependents, was approximately $79.2 million. 

(11) Risk Management 

The City is exposed to various risks ofloss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; certain 
benefits for and injuries to employees and natural disasters. The City provides workers' compensation benefits and employee health 
benefits under self-insurance programs except for insurance policies maintamed for certain Enterpnse Fund activities. The City uses 
various risk management techm.ques to fmance these risks by retaining, transfemng and controlling risks depending on the risk 
exposure. 

Risks for 0 'Hare, Midway, Skyway and certain other majorproperues, along with various special events, losses from certain criminal 
acts committed by employees and public official bonds are transferred to commercial insurers. Claims have not exceeded the 
purchased insurance coverage in the past three years, accordmgly, no liability is reported for these claims. All other risb are 
retained by the City and are self-insured. The City pays claim settlements and judgments from the self-insured programs. Uninsured 
claim expenditures and liabilities are reported when 1t is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of that loss can be 
reasonably estimated. These losses include an estimate of claims that have been incurred but not reported. The General Fund is 
used to record all non-Enterpnse Fund claims. The estimated portion of non-Enterprise Fund claims not yet settled has been 
recorded in the Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net Assets as claims payable along With amounts related to deferred 
compensatory time and estimated liabilities for questioned costs. As of December 31, 2002 the total amount of non-Enterprise Fund 
claims was $337.7 million. This liability is the City's best estimate based on available infonnation. Changes in the reported liability 
for all funds is as follows (dollars m thousands): 

2002 

Balance, January I ................................... S 438,144 

Claims incurred on current and 
prior year events ................................ . 364,812 

Claims paid on current and 
prior year events . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (428,018) ___ _...._....__, 

Balance, December 31 ............................... ;e,S==-=====31017:4i!:!i.9053~8 
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(12) Commitments and Contingencies 

The Ctty is a defendant in various pending and threatened individual and class action lillgation relating principally to claims arising 
from contracts, personal injury, property damage, police conduct, discrimination. civil rights actions and other matters. City 
management believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position 
oftheCity. 

The City participates in a number of federal-and state-assisted grant programs. These grants are subject to audits by or on behalf 
of the grantors to assure compliance wtth grant provisions. Based upon past experience and management's judgment, the City bas 
made provisrons m the General Fund for quesboned costs and other amounts estimated to be disallowed City management expects 
such provision to be adequate to cover actual amounts disallowed, if any. 

In 2003, the Chicago Fire Fighters Union approved a labor agreement with the City. After approval of the City Council, a payment 
for retroactive wages from the expuation of the previous contract (July 1, 1999) of approximately S 135.5 million will be made within 
sixty days. 

As of December 31, 2002 the Enterprise Funds have entered into contracts for approximately $503.7 million for construction 
proJects. 

In case the Water Fund does not meet its debt semce obligation for its portion of the General Obligation Equipment Notes, Series 
1998, any moneys, revenues, receipts, income, assets or funds of the City legally available for such pwpose, including but not limited 
to the proceeds of the direct annual tax levied by the City upon all taxable property of the City may be used to fulfill tbc obligation. 

(13) Subsequent Events 

In January 2003, the City sold General Obligation Tender Notes, Series 2003 ($135.4 million). The notes were issued at a sbon-term 
intennedtate rate of 1.22 percent through January 7, 2004 and will mature no later than January 7, 2005. Proceeds will be used to 
meet the cash flow requiiemcnts of the City's General, Library and City Relief Funds. After the expiration of the initial interest rate 
penod, the notes will bear interest at a weekly, short-tenn intermediate or fixed rate at the discretion of the City. 

In April2003, The City sold at a premium General Obligation Bonds, Project and Refunding Series 2003A ($158.0 million) with 
interest rates ranging from 4.625 percent to 5.25 percent and maturity dates ranging from January 1, 2010 to January 1, 2042. Net 
proceeds ofS 158.5 million will be used to finance infrastructure improvements; transportation ilqm>vements; grants to assist not-for­
profit organizations or educational or cultural institutions; or to assist other nmnicipal corporations or units of local government or 
school districts; acquisition of personal property; acquisition, demolition. remediation or improvement of real property for mdustrial, 
commercial or residential purposes or to enbance pubtic safety and welfare; constructing, equipping. altering and repauing various 
mumcipal facilibes including fire stations, libranes, and senior and health centers; enhancing economic development within the City 
by making direct grants to and providing security for the obligations of not-for-profit or for-profit organizatioos doing business or 
seeking to do business with the City; the funding of litigation judgments or settlement agreements involving the City; contnbubons 
to the City's Policemen's , Firemen's and Municipal Annuity and Benefit Funds; and providing for facilities, services, and equipment 
to protect and euhance pubhc safety ($101.9 million); to advance refund certain maturities of the Project Series 1993 and Project 
and Refunding Series 1999A ($56.6 million). 

In April 2003, The City sold at a premium Motor Fuel Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2003A ($115.6 million) with interest rates 
ranging from 2.25 percent to 5.25 percent and maturity dates ranging from January 1, 2004 to January 1, 2033. Net proceeds of 
S 116.4 million will be used to finance projects authorized by Division 2 of Article 7 of the Illinois Highway Code ($1 00.0 million) 
and to advance refund all outstandmg maturities of the Motor Fuel Tax Revenue Bonds Senes 1990 and certain maturities of the 
Motor Fuel Tax Revenue Bond, Refunding Seties 1993 (S 16.4 million). 
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CITY OF CIDCAGO 
General Obligation Bonds 

(Central Loop Redevelopment Project), Series 2003 
(Capital Appreciation Bonds) 

TABLE OF ACCRETED AMOUNTS 

The Accreted Amounts as of each June 1 and December 1 (which includes the principal amount 
and accrued interest thereon) per each $5,000 of Accreted Amount at maturity for the Series 2003 Bonds 
are set forth in the following table. 

Series 2003A 
Bonds 

Maturing 
December 1, Series 2003B Bonds Maturing December 1, 

2008 2005 2006 2007 2008 

9/17/2003 $4,231.85 $4,754.05 $4,540.50 $4,312.20 $4,053.95 

12/0112003 4,259.82 4,776.45 4,568.65 4,343.50 4,087.67 

6/0112004 4,328.61 4,831.38 4,637.87 4,420.60 4,170.85 

12/01/2004 4,398.52 4,886.95 4,708.13 4,499.07 4,255.73 

6/0112005 4,469.56 4,943.15 4,779.46 4,578.93 4,342.34 

12/0112005 4,541.74 5,000.00 4,851.87 4,660.21 4,430.71 

6/01/2006 4,615.09 4,925.38 4,742.93 4,520.88 

12/0112006 4,689.63 5,000.00 4,827.11 4,612.88 

6/01/2007 4,765.37 4,912.80 4,706.76 

12/0112007 4,842.33 5,000.00 4,802.54 

6/01/2008 4,920.53 4,900.28 

12/01/2008 5,000.00 5,000.00 
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THE INDENTURE 

The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Trust Indenture and the First 
Supplemental Indenture. Certain other provisions of the First Supplemental Indenture and the Trust 
Indenture are described elsewhere in this Official Statement. See "DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 
2003 BONDS" and "SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2003 BONDS." Neither the following summary 
nor the descriptions contained elsewhere in this Official Statement are intended to be comprehensive or 
definitive and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the relevant documents, copies of which are 
available for review prior to the issuance and delivery of the Series 2003 Bonds at the office of the City 
Comptroller, 33 North LaSalle Street, Sixth Floor Chicago, Illinois 60602, and thereafter at the office of 
the Trustee. 

Definitions 

The following terms used in this Official Statement and not otherwise defmed will have the 
following meanings: 

"Ad Valorem Taxes" means the ad valorem taxes levied by the Ordinance to pay the Accreted 
Amounts of the Series 2003 Bonds. 

"Accreted Amount" means, with respect to the Series 2003 Bonds, the amount representing their 
initial public offering price, plus the amount of interest that has accreted on such Bonds, compounded 
periodically, to the date of calculation, determined by reference to accretion tables contained in each such 
Series 2003 Bond. The Accreted Amounts for the Series 2003 Bonds as of any date not stated in such 
tables shall be calculated by adding to the Accreted Amount for the Series 2003 Bonds as of the date 
stated in such tables immediately preceding the date of computation a portion of the difference between 
the Accreted Amount for such preceding date and the Accreted Amount for such Bonds as of the date 
shown on such tables immediately succeeding the date of calculation, apportioned on the assumption that 
interest accretes during any period in equal daily amounts on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of 
twelve 30-day months. 

"Act" means the Tax Increment Allocation Redevelopment Act of the State of Illinois, Division 
74.4 of Article 11 of the Illinois Municipal Code, 65 ILCS 5111-74.4-1, et seq., as amended and 
supplemented from time to time. 

"Authorized Denomination" means $5,000 Accreted Amount at maturity or any integral 
multiple of that amount. 

"Authorized Officer" means the Mayor, the City Comptroller or, if so designated and 
determined by the City Comptroller, the Chief Financial Officer of the City appointed by the Mayor, or 
any other officer or employee of the City authorized to perform specific acts or duties under the Indenture 
by ordinance or resolution duly adopted by the City Council. 

"Average Annual Debt Service Requirement" means, as of any date of calculation, the 
mathematical mean of the Annual Debt Service Requirements for all Outstanding Bonds. 

"Bond" or "Bonds" means any bond or bonds, including any Refunding Bonds, authenticated 
and delivered under and pursuant to the Indenture. 

"Bond Insurer" means XL Capital Assurance Inc., a New York insurance company and the 
issuer of the Policy. 
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"Bond Year" means with respect to the Series 2003 Bonds the initial period beginning on the 
Date oflssuance and ending on December 1, 2003, and thereafter each 12-month period commencing on 
December 2 of each calendar year and ending on December 1 of the next succeeding calendar year. 

"Business Day" means any day which is not a Saturday, a Sunday, a legal holiday or a day on 
which banking institutions in the city where the principal corporate trust office of any Fiduciary is located 
are authorized by law or executive order to close (and such Fiduciary is in fact closed). 

"Capital Appreciation and Income Bond" means any Bond as to which accruing interest is not 
paid prior to the Interest Commencement Date specified for such Bond and is compounded periodically 
on certain designated dates prior to the Interest Commencement Date specified for such Bond, all as 
provided in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Capital Appreciation and Income 
Bond. 

"Capital Appreciation Bond" means any Bond the interest on which (i) shall be compounded 
periodically on certain designated dates, (ii) shall be payable only at maturity or redemption prior to 
maturity and (iii) shall be determined by subtracting from the Accreted Amount the initial public offering 
price of such Bond, all as provided in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Capital 
Appreciation Bond. The term "Capital Appreciation Bond" also includes any Capital Appreciation and 
Income Bond prior to the Interest Commencement Date for such Bond. 

"Central Loop Redevelopment Plan" has the meaning assigned to such term in the Ordinance. 

"Central Loop Redevelopment Project Area" has the meaning assigned to such term in the 
Central Loop Redevelopment Plan. 

"Certified Initial Equalized Assessed Value" means with respect to the Central Loop 
Redevelopment Project Area, the Certified Initial Equalized Assessed Value, as certified by the Clerk of 
the County of Cook, Illinois in accordance with Section 11-74.4-9 of the Act. 

"City Council" means the governing body of the City as from time to time constituted. 

"Code and Regulations" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the 
regulations promulgated or proposed pursuant to it as the same may be in effect from time to time. 

"Counsel's Opinion" means an opinion signed by an attorney or firm of attorneys of recognized 
standing in the area of law to which the opinion relates, who may be counsel to the City (including the 
Corporation Counsel of the City). 

"Credit Bank" means, as to any particular Series of Bonds, the Person (other than a Bond 
Insurer) providing a Credit Facility, as may be provided in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such 
Series. 

"Credit Facility" means, as to any particular Series of Bonds, a letter of credit, a line of credit, a 
guaranty, a standby bond purchase agreement or other credit or liquidity enhancement facility, other than 
a Bond Insurance Policy, as may be provided in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series. 

"Current Interest Bond" means any Bond the interest on which is payable on the Interest 
Payment Dates provided for it in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Bond. The term "Current 
Interest Bond" also includes any Capital Appreciation and Income Bond from and after the Interest 
Commencement Date specified for it. 
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"Date of Issuance" means the date of original issuance and delivery of a Series of Bonds under 
the applicable Supplemental Indenture. 

"Debt Reserve Credit Instrument" means, as to any particular Series of Bonds, an insurance 
policy or surety bond that guarantees or assures the timely payment of principal or interest, or both, on 
Outstanding Bonds in a stated amount subject only to notification that there are insufficient funds for such 
purpose. This definition shall also include any related covenants or agreements contained in any 
agreement with the Bond Insurer or surety required by the Bond Insurer or surety in order to obtain the 
policy or bond. 

"Debt Service Reserve Requirement" means, with respect to the Bonds of any Series 
Outstanding at any time, that amount, if any, as shall be required to be maintained in the applicable Sub­
Account of the Third Lien Reserve and Redemption Account established by the terms of the 
Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series of Bonds. 

"Defeasance Obligations" means (i) cash (insured at all times by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation or otherwise collateralized with obligations described in paragraph (ii) ofthis definition, or 
(ii) direct obligations (including obligations issued in book-entry form on the books of the Department of 
the Treasury) of the United States of America. 

"Depositary" means any bank, national banking association or trust company having capital 
stock, surplus and retained earnings aggregating at least $1,000,000, selected by an Authorized Officer as 
a depositary of moneys and securities held under the provisions of the Indenture, and may include the 
Trustee. 

"Escrow Agent" means with respect to any Bonds refunded after the date of execution and 
delivery of the Indenture, any trust company, bank or national banking association duly appointed to act 
in that capacity. 

"Event of Default" means any event so designated and specified in the Indenture. 

"Fiduciary" or "Fiduciaries" means the Trustee, the Registrar, the Paying Agents and any 
Depositary, or any or all of them, as may be appropriate. 

"Fiscal Year" means the period January 1 through December 31 of the same year. 

"General Account" means the General Account under the Senior Lien Indenture. 

"General Obligation Bonds" means bonds or other obligations issued by the City under the Act 
and the Indenture to the payment of which the City has pledged its full faith and credit and/or ad valorem 
taxes levied on any or all taxable property within the City as provided in Section 11-74.4-7 of the Act. 

"Government Obligations" means (i) any direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of 
and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America and (ii) certificates 
of ownership of the principal of or interest on obligations of the type described in clause (i) of this 
definition, (a) which obligations are held in trust by a commercial bank which is a member of the Federal 
Reserve System in the capacity of a custodian; (b) the owner of which certificate is the real party in 
interest and has the right to proceed directly and individually against the obligor of the underlying 
obligations; and (c) for which the underlying obligations are held in safekeeping in a special account, 
segregated from the custodian's general assets, and are not available to satisfy any claim of the custodian, 
any Person claiming through the custodian, or any Person to whom the custodian may be obligated. 
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"Incremental Taxes" means the ad valorem taxes, if any, arising from the tax levies upon 
taxable real property in the Central Loop Redevelopment Project Area by any and all taxing districts or 
municipal corporations having the power to tax real property in the Central Loop Redevelopment Project 
Area, which taxes are attributable to the increase in the then current equalized assessed valuation of each 
taxable lot, block, tract or parcel of real property in the Central Loop Redevelopment Project Area over 
and above the Certified Initial Equalized Assessed Value of each such piece of property, as determined by 
the Clerk ofThe County of Cook, Illinois. 

"Incremental Taxes Fund" means the Central Loop Redevelopment Project Area Special Tax 
Allocation Fund of the City, a special tax allocation fund for the Central Loop Redevelopment Project 
Area established by the City pursuant to Section 11-74.4-8 of the Act and continued under the Senior Lien 
Indenture. 

"Interest Commencement Date" means, with respect to any Capital Appreciation and Income 
Bond, the date specified in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Bond (which date 
must be prior to the maturity date for such Capital Appreciation and Income Bond) after which interest 
accruing on such Capital Appreciation and Income Bond shall be payable periodically, with the first such 
payment date being the applicable Interest Payment Date immediately succeeding such Interest 
Commencement Date. 

"Interest Payment Date" means June 1 and December 1 of each year, commencing December 1, 
2003. 

"Interest Requirement" for any Bond Year or any Interest Period, as the context may require, as 
applied to Bonds of any Series then Outstanding, means the total of the sums that would be deemed to 
accrue on such Bonds during such Bond Year or Interest Period if the interest on the Current Interest 
Bonds of such Series were deemed to accrue daily during such year or Interest Period in equal amounts; 
provided, that interest expense shall be excluded from the determination oflnterest Requirement to the 
extent that such interest is to be paid (a) from the proceeds of Bonds allocable to the payment of such 
interest as provided in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance of such Bonds or other 
available moneys or from investment (but not reinvestment) earnings on such proceeds or moneys if such 
proceeds or moneys shall have been invested in Investment Securities and to the extent such earnings may 
be determined precisely or (b) from investment earnings on deposit in the Third Lien Reserve and 
Redemption Account to the extent any such earnings may be determined precisely. Unless otherwise 
provided in a Supplemental Indenture, interest expense on Credit Facilities drawn upon to purchase but 
not to retire Bonds, except to the extent such interest exceeds the interest otherwise payable on such 
Bonds, shall not be included in the determination oflnterest Requirement. If interest is not payable at a 
single numerical rate for the entire term of such Bonds, then the term "Interest Requirement" shall have 
the appropriate meaning assigned to it by the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Bonds. 

"Investment Securities" means any of the following securities authorized by law as permitted 
investments of City funds at the time it is purchased: 

(i) Government Obligations; 

(ii) bonds, debentures, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued by any of the 
following agencies: Government National Mortgage Association, Federal National Mortgage Association, 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, Federal Land Banks, Federal Home Loan Banks, Federal 
Intermediate Credit Banks, Banks for Cooperatives, Tennessee Valley Authority, United States Postal 
Service, Farmers Home Administration, Export-Import Bank, Federal Financing Bank, Resolution 
Funding Corporation and Student Loan Marketing Association; 

E-4 



(iii) investments in a money market fund registered under the Investment Company Act of 
1940, as amended (including any such money market fund sponsored by or affiliated with any Fiduciary), 
comprised of any of the investments set forth in subparagraph (a) or subparagraph (b) above; 

(iv) negotiable or non-negotiable certificates of deposit or time deposits or other banking 
arrangements issued by any bank, trust company or national banking association (including any 
Fiduciary), which certificates of deposit or time deposits or other banking arrangements shall be 
continuously secured or collateralized by obligations described in subparagraphs (a), (b) or (c) of this 
definition, which obligations shall have a market value (exclusive of accrued interest) at all times at least 
equal to the principal amount of such certificates of deposit or time deposits or other banking, 
arrangements and shall be lodged with the Trustee, as custodian, by the bank, trust company or national 
banking association issuing such certificates of deposit or time deposits or other banking arrangements, 
which certificates of deposit or time deposits or other banking arrangements acquired or entered into 
pursuant to this subparagraph (d) shall be deemed for purposes of the Indenture to constitute investments 
and not deposits; 

(v) repurchase agreements with any bank, trust company or national banking association 
(including any Fiduciary) or government bond dealer reporting to the Federal Reserve Bank ofNew York 
continuously secured or collateralized by obligations described in subparagraph (a) of this definition 
which obligations shall have a market value (exclusive of accrued interest) at all times at least equal to the 
amortized value of such repurchase agreements, provided, that such security or collateral is lodged with 
and held by the Trustee or the City as title holder, as the case may be; 

(vi) public housing bonds issued by public housing authorities or by other political 
subdivisions or bodies politic and corporate so authorized, fully secured as to the payment of both 
principal and interest by a pledge of annual contributions under an annual contributions contract or 
contracts with the United States of America; and project notes issued by public housing authorities or by 
other political subdivisions or bodies politic and corporate so authorized, fully secured as to the payment 
of both principal and interest by a requisition or payment agreement with the United States of America; 

(vii) investment agreements which represent the unconditional obligation of one or more 
banks, insurance companies or other financial institutions, or are guaranteed by a financial institution, in 
either case that has an unsecured rating, or which agreement is itself rated, as of the date of its execution, 
in one of the two highest rating categories by each of the Rating Agencies; and 

(viii) any other securities authorized for investment of City funds by Article VI of Chapter 2-32 
of the Municipal Code of Chicago (1990), as from time to time amended. 

All securities so purchased, excepting tax anticipation warrants and investment agreements, shall 
show on their face that they are fully payable as to principal and interest, where applicable, within two 
years of the date of purchase. 

"Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirement" means, as of any date of calculation, the 
largest Annual Debt Service Requirement occurring in the then current and all succeeding Bond Years. 

"Ordinance" means the ordinance duly adopted and approved by the City Council of the City on 
July 9, 2003, which authorizes the issuance and sale of the Series 2003 Bonds and the execution ofthe 
Trust Indenture and the First Supplemental Indenture. 

"Outstanding" when used, as of any date, with reference to Bonds means all Bonds previously or 
then being authenticated and delivered under the Indenture except: 
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(i) Any Bonds canceled by the Trustee at or prior to such date; 

(ii) Bonds (or portions of Bonds) for the payment or redemption of which moneys and/or 
Defeasance Obligations, equal to their principal amount or Redemption Price, as the case may be, with 
interest to the date of maturity or date fixed for redemption, are held in trust under the Indenture and set 
aside for such payment or redemption (whether at or prior to the maturity or redemption date); provided 
that if such Bonds (or portions of Bonds) are to be redeemed, notice of such redemption shall have been 
given as in the Indenture provided or provision satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been made for the 
giving of such notice; 

(iii) Bonds in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall have been authenticated 
and delivered pursuant to the Indenture; and 

(iv) Bonds deemed to have been paid as provided in the Indenture. 

"Owner" means any Person who shall be the registered owner of any Bond or Bonds. 

"Paying Agent" means any bank, national banking association or trust company designated by an 
Authorized Officer as paying agent for the Bonds of any Series, and any successor or successors 
appointed by an Authorized Officer under the Indenture. 

"Payment Date" shall mean any Interest Payment Date or Principal Payment Date. 

"Person" means and includes an association, unincorporated organization, a corporation, a 
partnership, a limited liability company, a joint venture, a business trust, a government or one of its 
agencies or political subdivisions, or any other public or private entity, or a natural person. 

"Pledged Revenues" means Incremental Taxes and any other revenues from any source 
whatsoever designated to pay principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Senior Lien Bonds and the 
Subordinate Lien Bonds, including, without limitation, amounts on deposit in and pledged to various 
funds and accounts (other than the Third Lien Program Expenses Account and the Third Lien Rebate 
Account) as provided in the Senior Lien Indenture and the Subordinate Lien Indenture, together with 
interest earnings on such moneys. 

"Policy" means the Municipal Bond Insurance Policy issued by the Bond Insurer unconditionally 
and irrevocably guaranteeing the payment of principal and Accreted Amount of and interest on the Series 
2003 Bonds when due. 

"Principal" or "principal" means, with respect to any Capital Appreciation Bond, its Accreted 
Amount (the difference between the stated amount to be paid at maturity and the Accreted Amount being 
deemed unearned interest) except as used in the Indenture in connection with the authorization and 
issuance of Bonds and with the order of priority of payments of Bonds after an event of default, in which 
case "principal" means the initial public offering price of a Capital Appreciation Bond (the difference 
between the Accreted Amount and the initial public offering price being deemed interest) but when used 
in connection with determining whether the Owners of the requisite principal amount of Bonds then 
Outstanding have given any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent or waiver or with 
respect to the Redemption Price of any Capital Appreciation Bond, "principal amount" means the 
Accreted Amount. 
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"Principal Payment Date" means the date upon which the principal of any Bond is stated to 
mature or upon which the principal of any Term Bond is subject to redemption in satisfaction of a Sinking 
Fund Installment, in each case as established in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series. 

"Project" means the redevelopment project approved by the Central Loop Redevelopment Plan. 

"Project Costs" means those costs ofthe Project included in the defmition of"Redevelopment 
Project Costs" in the Act as in effect on the effective date of the Indenture and shall include any costs 
added to the defmition of "Redevelopment Project Costs" in the Act from time to time after the effective 
date of the Indenture and shall also include the purpose set forth in 65 ILCS 5111-74.4-4(q) and any other 
purpose authorized under the Act; in no event, however, shall the removal of a cost from the definition of 
"Redevelopment Project Costs" from and after the effective date of the Indenture cause such cost not to 
be a "Project Cost" within the meaning of the Indenture. 

"Qualified Swap Agreement" means an agreement between the City and a Swap Provider under 
which the City agrees to pay the Swap Provider an amount calculated at an agreed-upon rate or index 
based upon a notional amount and the Swap Provider agrees to pay the City for a specified period of time 
an amount calculated at an agreed-upon rate or index based upon such notional amount, where (i) each 
Rating Agency (if such Rating Agency also rates the unsecured obligations of the Swap Provider or its 
guarantor) has assigned to the unsecured obligations of the Swap Provider, or the Person who guarantees 
the obligations of the Swap Provider to make its payments to the City, as of the date the swap agreement 
is entered into, a rating that is equal to or higher than the rating then assigned to the Bonds by such Rating 
Agency (without regard to Bond Insurance or any other Credit Facility), and (ii) the City has notified each 
Rating Agency (whether or not such rating Agency also rates the unsecured obligations of the Swap 
Provider or its guarantor) in writing, at least 15 days prior to executing and delivering the swap 
agreement, of its intention to enter into the swap agreement and has received from such Rating Agency a 
written indication that the entering into the swap agreement by the City shall not, in and of itself, cause a 
reduction or withdrawal by such Rating Agency of its rating on the Bonds. 

"Rating Agencies" means each and every one of the nationally recognized rating services that 
shall have assigned ratings to any Bonds Outstanding as requested by or on behalf of the City, and which 
ratings are then currently in effect. 

"Record Date" means, for the Series 2003 Bonds, May 15 and November 15 of each year. 

"Redemption Price" means, with respect to any Bond, the Principal of such Bond plus the 
applicable premium, if any, payable upon the date fixed for its redemption. 

"Refunding Bonds" means all Bonds issued to refunding Outstanding Bonds under the 
Indenture. 

"Registrar" means any bank, national banking association or trust company appointed by an 
Authorized Officer under the Indenture and designated as registrar for the Bonds of any Series, and its 
successor or successors. 

"Senior Lien Bonds" means bonds issued and outstanding under the Senior Lien Indenture from 
time to time. 

"Senior Lien Indenture" means the Trust Indenture dated as ofNovember 1, 1997, from the 
City to Cole Taylor Bank, as Trustee, pursuant to which the Senior Lien Bonds are issued and secured, as 
such indenture has been and may be amended or supplemented from time to time. 
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"Serial Bonds" means the Bonds of a Series, which shall be stated to mature in annual 
installments. 

"Series" means all of the Bonds designated as a series and authenticated and delivered on original 
issuance in a simultaneous transaction, and any Bonds thereafter authenticated and delivered in lieu of or 
in substitution for such Bonds pursuant to the Indenture. 

"Series 1997 Bonds" means the City's Tax Increment Allocation Bonds (Central Loop 
Redevelopment Project), Series 1997A, in the original aggregate principal amount of$96,000,000 and the 
City's Tax Increment Allocation Bonds (Central Loop Redevelopment Project), Taxable Series 1997B, in 
the original aggregate principal amount of $91,000,000, issued under the Senior Lien Indenture for the 
purpose of paying a portion of the Project Costs. 

"Series 2000 Bonds" means the City's Tax Increment Allocation Bonds (Central Loop 
Redevelopment Project), Series 2000A, in the original aggregate principal amount of$79,996,614 and the 
City's Tax Increment Allocation Bonds (Central Loop Redevelopment Project), Taxable Series 2000B, in 
the original aggregate principal amount of $62,350,000, issued under the Senior Lien Indenture for the 
purpose of paying a portion of the Project Costs. 

"Series 2000A Subordinate Bonds" means the City's Subordinate Tax Increment Allocation 
Bonds (Central Loop Redevelopment Project), Series 2000A, in the original aggregate principal amount 
of $98,800,000, issued under the Subordinate Lien Indenture for the purpose of refunding certain 
outstanding Series 1997 Bonds and paying a portion of the Project Costs. 

"Series 2003A Bonds" means the City of Chicago General Obligation Bonds (Central Loop 
Redevelopment Project), Series 2003A, authorized to be issued pursuant to the First Supplemental 
Indenture and the Trust Indenture. 

"Series 2003B Bonds" means the City of Chicago General Obligation Bonds (Central Loop 
Redevelopment Project), Series 2003B (Taxable), authorized to be issued pursuant to the First 
Supplemental Indenture and the Trust Indenture. 

"Sinking Fund Installment" means with respect to any Series of Bonds, each principal amount 
of Bonds scheduled to be redeemed through sinking fund redemption provisions of a Supplemental 
Indenture creating such Series by the application of amounts on deposit in the Third Lien Principal and 
Interest Account. 

"SLG's" means United States Treasury Certificates oflndebtedness, Notes and Bonds State and 
Local Government Series. 

"State" means the State of Illinois. 

"Subordinate Lien Bonds" means bonds issued and outstanding under the Subordinate Lien 
Indenture from time to time. 

"Subordinate Lien Indenture" means the Trust Indenture dated as of October 1, 2000, from the 
City to Cole Taylor Bank, as Trustee, pursuant to which the Subordinate Lien Bonds are issued and 
secured, as such indenture may be amended or supplemented from time to time. 

"Supplemental Indenture" means any Supplemental Indenture of the City authorized pursuant 
to the Indenture. 
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"Swap Provider'' means any counterparty with whom the City enters into a Qualified Swap 
Agreement. 

"Term Bonds" means the Bonds of a Series other than Serial Bonds, which shall be stated to 
mature on one or more dates through the payment of Sinking Fund Installments. 

"Tender Option Bonds" means any Bonds with respect to which the Owners have the option to 
tender to the City, to any Fiduciary or to any agent of a Fiduciary, all or a portion of such Bonds for 
payment or purchase; provided, that no Tender Option Bonds shall be issued unless (i) the City has 
notified each Rating Agency in writing of its intention to issue such Tender Option Bonds, and (ii) each 
Rating Agency has notified the City that the issuance of such Tender Option Bonds by the City shall not, 
in and of itself, cause a reduction or withdrawal by such Rating Agency of its rating on the Bonds. 

"Third Lien Principal and Interest Account" means the account of that name established in the 
Indenture. 

"Third Lien Program Expenses" means, in any Bond Year, all initial and ongoing 
administrative expenses related to or incurred in connection with the Bonds, including, specifically, (i) the 
sum necessary to pay all rating agency surveillance fees and costs and expenses of any Trustee, registrar 
or paying agent, (ii) the expected annual fees or premiums of any issuer or provider of any Credit Facility, 
Debt Reserve Credit Instrument or Bond Insurance Policy with respect to the Bonds, which expected 
annual fees may include additional amounts owing to such issuer or provider pursuant to any 
reimbursement or other agreement, other than reimbursement obligations arising from any draw or 
payment under such Credit Facility and other than payments on the Bonds, (iii) fees related to the 
calculation or verification of any required payment to the United States of America pursuant to Section 
148(t) of the Code, and (iv) auditing fees incurred in connection with the preparation of the fmancial 
statements required pursuant to the Indenture; but excluding, specifically, expenses of the City relating 
specifically to the administration of the Project. 

"Third Lien Program Expenses Account" means the Third Lien Program Expenses Account 
established in the Indenture. 

"Third Lien Rebate Account" means the Third Lien Rebate Account established in the 
Indenture. 

"Third Lien Reserve and Redemption Account" means the account of that name established in 
the Indenture. 

"Third Lien Revenue Fund" means the Third Lien Revenue Fund established in the Indenture. 

"Third Lien Revenues" means amounts transferred from the General Account under the Senior 
Lien Indenture to the Third Lien Revenue Fund pursuant to the Indenture to pay the principal, redemption 
price and interest on the Bonds issued under the Indenture. 

"Treasurer" means the City Treasurer of the City. 

"Trust Estate" means the property conveyed to the Trustee pursuant to the Granting Clauses 
hereof. 

"Trustee" means Cole Taylor Bank, an Illinois banking corporation duly organized and existing 
under the laws of the State of Illinois, and its successors and any entity resulting from or surviving any 
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consolidation or merger to which it or its successors may be a party, and any successor Trustee at the time 
serving as successor trustee under the Indenture. 

"Variable Rate Bonds" means any Bonds the interest rate on which is not established at the time 
of their issuance at a single numerical rate for the entire term of the Bonds; provided, that no Variable 
Rate Bonds shall be issued unless (i) the City has notified each Rating Agency in writing of its intention 
to issue such Variable Rate Bonds, and (ii) each Rating Agency has notified the City that the issuance of 
such Variable Rate Bonds by the City shall not, in and of itself, cause a reduction or withdrawal by such 
Rating Agency of its rating on the Bonds. 

General Provisions for Issuance and Delivery of Bonds 

Any Series of Bonds shall be created by a Supplemental Indenture which shall prescribe 
expressly or by reference with respect to such Series (unless otherwise determined in the Indenture): 

(a) the authorized principal amount, designation and Series of such Bonds; 

(b) the purpose or purposes for which such Series of Bonds is being issued; 

(c) the manner in which the proceeds of the Bonds of such Series are to be applied; 

(d) the date and the maturity date or dates of the Bonds of such Series; 

(e) the interest rate or rates of the Bonds of such Series, or the manner of determining such 
rate or rates, and the Interest Payment Dates and Record Dates therefor; 

(t) the Authorized Denominations and the manner of dating, numbering and lettering of the 
Bonds of such Series; 

(g) the Registrar and the Paying Agent or Paying Agents for the Bonds of such Series; 

(h) the Redemption Price or Prices, if any, and any redemption dates and terms for the Bonds 
of such Series; 

(i) the place or places of payment of the principal and Redemption Price, if any, of, and 
interest on, the Bonds of such Series or the manner of designating the same; 

. (j) the amount and date of each Sinking Fund Installment, if any, for Bonds of like maturity 
of such Series; provided that the aggregate of such Sinking Fund Installments shall equal 
the aggregate principal amount of all such Bonds less the principal amount scheduled to 
be retired at maturity; 

(k) provisions as to registration of the Bonds of such Series; 

(l) the form and text of the Bonds of such Series and provision for the Trustee's 
authentication of such Bonds by certificate or otherwise; 

(m) the amount of the Debt Service Reserve Requirement with respect to such Series of 
Bonds, if any, calculated immediately after their authentication and delivery; and 

(n) any other provisions deemed advisable by the City as shall not conflict with the 
provisions of the Indenture. 
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Bonds of the same Series and maturity shall be of like tenor except as to denomination and fonn. 
After the original issuance of Bonds of a Series, no Bonds of such Series shall be issued except in lieu of 
or in substitution for other Bonds of such Series pursuant to the Indenture. 

Bonds issued pursuant to the Indenture may be issued as Current Interest Bonds, Capital 
Appreciation Bonds, Capital Appreciation and Income Bonds, Variable Rate Bonds, Tender Option 
Bonds, Serial Bonds or Tenn Bonds or any combination of such Bonds, all as provided in the 
Supplemental Indenture providing for their issuance; provided, that the City shall not issue Tender Option 
Bonds unless it shall have delivered to the Trustee upon the authentication of such Bonds a Credit Facility 
which the Trustee or another Fiduciary may draw upon to pay the purchase price of any such Bonds upon 
tender of such Bonds. 

Conditions Precedent to the Delivery of any Series 

Bonds of any Series that are issued pursuant to a Supplemental Indenture shall be executed by the 
City and delivered to the Trustee and shall then be authenticated by the Trustee and delivered to the City 
or upon its order, but only following the receipt by the Trustee of: 

(a) A copy of an ordinance adopted by the City Council, certified by the City Clerk, 
authorizing the issuance of the Bonds of such Series and the execution and delivery ofthe 
Supplemental Indenture, together with evidence that such ordinance has become effective; 

(b) If the Bonds of such Series are General Obligation Bonds, (i) evidence that the ordinance 
referred to in subsection (a) above was published within ten days of its adoption as required by 
the Act, and (ii) either a certificate from the City Clerk to the effect that no petitions, signed by 
electors in the City numbering ten percent (10.0%) of the registered voters in the City and asking 
that the issuance of the Bonds of such Series secured by the pledge of the City's full faith and 
credit and/or ad valorem taxes unlimited as to rate or amount be submitted to referendum, was 
filed with the City Clerk within thirty (30) days after the date of the publication of the ordinance, 
or, if such petitions were filed with the County Clerk, evidence satisfactory to the attorney 
rendering the opinion described in subsection (c) below that issuance of the Bonds of such Series 
was approved at the subsequent referendum held on that question. 

(c) A Counsel's Opinion to the effect that (i) the City had the right and power to adopt the 
ordinance referred to in subsection (a) above; (ii) the ordinance has been duly and lawfully 
adopted by the City Council, is in full force and effect, is valid and binding upon the City and is 
enforceable in accordance with its tenns (except as may be limited by any applicable bankruptcy, 
liquidation, reorganization, insolvency or other similar laws and by general principles of equity 
in the event that equitable remedies are sought); (iii) the Indenture and such Supplemental 
Indenture have been duly and lawfully executed by authorized officers of the City and delivered, 
are in full force and effect, are valid and binding upon the City and are enforceable in accordance 
with their tenns (except as may be limited by any applicable bankruptcy, liquidation, 
reorganization, insolvency or other similar laws and by general principles of equity in the event 
that equitable remedies are sought); (iv) the Indenture and the Supplemental Indenture create the 
valid pledge of Third Lien Revenues, moneys and securities held under them for the benefit and 
security of the Bonds, subject to their application in the manner provided in the Indenture and 
such Supplemental Indenture; and (v) upon their execution, authentication and delivery, the 
Bonds of such Series shall have been duly and validly authorized and issued in accordance with 
the Constitution and laws of the State oflllinois, the Indenture and such Supplemental Indenture 
and shall constitute valid and legally binding obligations of the City in accordance with their 
tenor and tenns. If the Bonds of such Series are General Obligation Bonds, the Counsel's 
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Opinion shall also be to the effect, as applicable, that the Bonds of such Series are secured by a 
pledge of the full faith and credit of the City and/or by ad valorem taxes levied against all taxable 
property in the City without limitation as to rate or amount. 

(d) A written order as to the delivery of such Series, executed by an Authorized Officer (i) 
stating the identity of the purchasers, aggregate purchase price and date and place of delivery of 
such Series and that no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing under the Indenture and 
(ii) fixing and determining all terms and provisions of the Bonds of such Series not fixed or 
determined by the Indenture or the Supplemental Indenture; 

(e) An original executed counterpart of the Indenture (or a copy duly certified by the City 
Clerk ofthe City) and the Supplemental Indenture; and 

(f) With respect to all Series of Bonds, other than General Obligation Bonds or Refunding 
Bonds to the extent permitted by the Indenture, issued and delivered subsequent to the initial 
Series of Bonds, a certificate of an Authorized Officer: 

(i) setting forth the projected Incremental Taxes to be generated for the current 
calendar year and each calendar year thereafter, which projection shall be based on a report 
prepared by an independent consultant having recognized urban renewal and tax increment 
financing expertise; 

(ii) setting forth for the current Bond Year and each Bond Year thereafter, the 
Annual Debt Service Requirement on account of all Bonds, all Senior Lien Bonds and all 
Subordinate Lien Bonds then Outstanding and the Bonds proposed to be issued under the 
Indenture; 

(iii) establishing that the amount shown in subparagraph (i) above shall not be less 
than 150 percent of the Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirement on account of all Bonds, all 
Senior Lien Bonds and all Subordinate Lien Bonds then Outstanding and the Bonds proposed to 
be issued (exclusive of the final maturing principal amount of any series to the extent of the 
applicable Debt Service Reserve Requirement if amounts held in the Reserve and Replacement 
Account for such series are expected to be available to pay Bonds, or Senior Lien Bonds or 
Subordinate Lien Bonds, of such series on such final maturity date); and 

(iv) stating that all required deposits to all Funds, Accounts and Sub-Accounts under 
the Indenture and under the Senior Lien Indenture and the Subordinate Lien Indenture are current. 

In applying the foregoing test, if any of the Bonds to be Outstanding immediately prior to or after 
the issuance of the Bonds to be issued constitute Tender Option Bonds or Variable Rate Bonds, the 
provisions described under the caption "Refunding Bonds-Tender Option Bonds" and "-Variable Rate 
Bonds" shall be applied in determining the Annual Debt Service Requirements on account of such Bonds. 

Refunding Bonds 

Following the issuance and delivery of the Series 2003 Bonds, one or more Series of Refunding 
Bonds may be authenticated and delivered upon original issuance to refund or advance refund any or all 
Outstanding Bonds of one or more Series, to pay costs and expenses incident to the issuance of such 
Refunding Bonds and to make deposits in any Fund, Account or Sub-Account under the Indenture as 
determined by the City in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Bonds. 
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Refunding Bonds of a Series to refund or advance refund Outstanding Bonds shall be 
authenticated and delivered by the Trustee only upon receipt by it (in addition to the documents, securities 
and moneys required by the Indenture) of: 

(a) Such instructions to the Trustee as necessary to comply with all requirements described 
under the caption "Defeasance" below so that the Bonds to be refunded or advance refunded 
shall be paid or deemed to be paid pursuant to the Indenture. 

(b) Either (i) moneys in an amount sufficient to effect payment ofthe principal and 
Redemption Price, if applicable, and interest due and to become due on the Bonds to be refunded 
or advance refunded on and prior to their redemption date or maturity date, as the case may be, 
which moneys shall be held by the Trustee or any of the Paying Agents in a separate account 
irrevocably in trust for and assigned to the respective Owners of the Bonds to be refunded or 
advance refunded, or (ii) Government Obligations in such principal amounts, of such maturities, 
and bearing interest at such rates as shall be necessary, together with the moneys, if any, 
deposited with the Trustee at the same time, to comply with the provisions described under the 
caption "Defeasance" below. 

(c) In the case ofRefunding Bonds other than General Obligation Bonds, a certificate of an 
Authorized Officer evidencing either that (i) (A) the term of the Refunding Bonds does not 
exceed the term of the Bonds being refunded, and (B) the Annual Debt Service Requirements for 
any Bond Year on account of all Bonds Outstanding, after the issuance of such Refunding Bonds 
and the redemption or provision for payment of the Bonds to be refunded, shall not exceed the 
Annual Debt Service Requirements for the corresponding Bond Years on account of all the 
Bonds Outstanding, including the Bonds to be refunded, immediately prior to the issuance of 
such Refunding Bonds, or (ii) in the case of a refunding of Outstanding Bonds that does not meet 
the requirements of the preceding clause (i), satisfaction of the test set forth in the Indenture in 
connection with the issuance of Bonds as applied to the Refunding Bonds to be issued, giving 
effect to the redemption or provision for payment of the Bonds being refunded. 

In applying the test set forth in paragraph (c) above, if any, if the Bonds Outstanding immediately 
prior to or after the issuance of the Refunding Bonds to be issued constitute Tender Option Bonds or 
Variable Rate Bonds, the following provisions shall be applied in determining the Annual Debt Service 
Requirements of such Bonds: 

Tender Option Bonds. If any ofthe Outstanding Bonds constitute Tender Option Bonds, then for 
purposes ofthe amounts to be shown as set forth in paragraph (c) above, the options ofthe Owners of 
such Bonds to tender the same for payment prior to their stated maturity or maturities shall be ignored, 
and ( 1) if such Bonds also constitute Variable Rate Bonds, the City shall adjust such amounts to be shown 
as set forth in paragraph (c) as provided in "-Variable Rate Bonds" below, (2) if such Bonds are secured 
by a Credit Facility, the Credit Bank or obligations secured by credit facilities issued by such Credit Bank 
shall be rated in one of the three highest rating categories (without reference to graduations such as "plus" 
or ''minus") by any of the Rating Agencies, and (3) any obligation the City may have, other than its 
obligation on such Bonds (which need not be uniform as to all Owners), to reimburse any Credit Bank, 
including any obligations so to reimburse in excess of the Annual Debt Service Requirements on such 
Bonds (determined without regard to whether such Credit Bank shall then be holding or shall then have 
had pledged to it such Bonds) shall be subordinated to the obligation ofthe City on the Bonds. 

Variable Rate Bonds. If any of the Outstanding Bonds constitute Variable Rate Bonds, then for 
purposes of the amounts to be shown as set forth in paragraph (c) above, the interest rate used in such 
computation shall be the lesser of (a) the maximum interest rate established in the Supplemental Indenture 
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authorizing such Bonds and (b) if and so long as a Qualified Swap Agreement is in effect, the interest rate 
determined as if the Variable Rate Bonds had interest payments equal to the interest payable on those 
Variable Rate Bonds less any payments to the City from the Swap Provider and plus any payments by the 
City to the Swap Provider as provided by the Qualified Swap Agreement (other than fees for providing 
the Qualified Swap Agreement). The conversion ofBonds constituting Variable Rate Bonds to bear 
interest at a different variable rate or a fixed rate or rates, in accordance with their terms, shall not 
constitute a new issuance of Bonds under the Indenture. 

Hedging Transactions 

If the City enters into a Qualified Swap Agreement with a Swap Provider requiring the City to 
pay a fixed interest rate on a notional amount, or requiring the City to pay a variable interest rate on a 
notional amount, and the City makes a determination that such Qualified Swap Agreement is being 
entered into for the purpose of providing substitute interest payments for Bonds of a particular maturity or 
maturities in a principal amount equal to the notional amount of the Qualified Swap Agreement, then 
during the term of the Qualified Swap Agreement and so long as the Swap Provider under such Qualified 
Swap Agreement is not in default under such Qualified Swap Agreement: 

(a) for purposes of any calculation oflnterest Requirements, the interest rate on the Bonds of 
such maturity or maturities shall be determined as if such Bonds bore interest at the fixed interest 
rate or the variable interest rate, as the case may be, payable by the City under such Qualified 
Swap Agreement; 

(i) any net payments required to be made by the City to the Swap Provider pursuant 
to the Qualified Swap Agreement from Third Lien Revenues shall be made 
solely from amounts on deposit to the credit of the Third Lien Revenue Fund; 
and 

(ii) any net payments received by the City from the Swap Provider pursuant to such 
Qualified Swap Agreement shall be deposited to the credit of the Third Lien 
Revenue Fund. 

(b) If the City enters into a swap agreement of the type generally described in paragraph (a) 
above that does not satisfy the requirements for qualification as a Qualified Swap Agreement, 
then: 

(i) the interest rate adjustments or assumptions referred to under the caption 
"Refunding Bonds-Variable Rate Bonds" shall not be made; 

(ii) any net payments required to be made by the City to the Swap Provider pursuant 
to such swap agreement from Third Lien Revenues shall be made only from 
amounts on deposit in the General Account established in the Senior Lien 
Indenture remaining after all other payments and transfers required to be made 
from the General Account have been made; and 

(iii) any net payments received by the City from the Swap Provider pursuant to such 
swap agreement may be treated as Third Lien Revenues at the option of the City, 
and if so treated, shall be deposited to the credit of the Third Lien Revenue Fund. 
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Funds and Revenues 

The following describes the flow of funds in the Third Lien Revenue Fund. 

Third Lien Program Expenses Account. From Third Lien Revenues first received by the Trustee, 
the Trustee shall credit to and shall deposit into the Third Lien Program Expenses Account an amount of 
Third Lien Revenues sufficient to pay Third Lien Program Expenses, if any, for the next succeeding 
calendar year. The City shall provide to the Trustee information, calculations or estimates of Third Lien 
Program Expenses for the next succeeding calendar year, and the Trustee may reasonably rely upon such 
information, calculations or estimates of such Third Lien Program Expenses as necessary to determine the 
proper amount of such deposit into the Third Lien Program Expenses Account. A portion of the proceeds 
of the Bonds may also be deposited into the Third Lien Program Expenses Account and applied by 
Trustee to pay Costs oflssuance at the direction of the City. Amounts on deposit in the Third Lien 
Program Expenses Account are not pledged to payment of the Bonds. 

Third Lien Principal and Interest Account. The Trustee shall next make a transfer to the Third 
Lien Principal and Interest Account in an amount sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on all 
Outstanding Bonds coming due during the next succeeding calendar year in which principal of or interest 
on Outstanding Bonds fall due, which amount shall be set aside within the Third Lien Principal and 
Interest Account for such purpose. Except as provided below, such moneys shall be used solely and only 
for the purpose of paying principal of and redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds as the 
same become due whether at maturity or upon mandatory redemption. Any capitalized interest received 
upon the sale of the Bonds shall be deposited to and held in the Capitalized Interest Sub-Account created 
by the Indenture within the Third Lien Principal and Interest Account and shall be used to pay interest 
coming due on the Bonds prior to applying any other moneys for that purpose. 

Third Lien Reserve and Redemption Account. The Trustee shall next transfer the balance of the 
Pledged Revenues into the Reserve and Redemption Account and shall credit any amounts so transferred, 
pro rata, among the separate Sub-Accounts of the Reserve and Redemption Account established for each 
Series of Bonds Outstanding until the aggregate amount in each Sub-Account equals the Debt Service 
Reserve Requirement for the related Series of Bonds. Thereafter no further transfers shall be made into 
such Sub-Accounts, except that when any money has been transferred from one of such Sub-Accounts to 
the Principal and Interest Account, transfers into such Sub-Account from Pledged Revenues shall be 
resumed and continued until that Sub-Account has been restored to an aggregate amount equal to the Debt 
Service Reserve Requirement for the related Series of Bonds. The Trustee shall value the investments in 
the Reserve and Redemption Account, on the basis of market price, on the 15th day preceding each June 1 
and December 1. 

There is no Debt Service Reserve Requirement for the Series 2003 Bonds. 

Moneys on deposit in each Sub-Account of the Reserve and Redemption Account shall be 
transferred to the Principal and Interest Account as may be necessary from time to time to prevent or 
remedy a default in the payment of interest or premium, if any, on or principal of the applicable Series of 
Bonds. Amounts on deposit in each Sub-Account in excess of its Debt Service Reserve Requirement 
shall be transferred to the Principal and Interest Account and applied to the payment of principal ofthe 
applicable Series of Bonds. 

Third Lien Rebate Account. The Trustee shall next transfer the Third Lien Revenues into the 
Third Lien Rebate Account to the extent necessary to ensure that there are on deposit in the Third Lien 
Rebate Account sufficient moneys to make, at the required times, all rebate payments to the United States 
of America required to be made by Section 148 of the Code and Regulations. The City shall provide to 
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the Trustee information, calculations or estimates of amounts to be deposited in the Third Lien Rebate 
Account for the next succeeding calendar year. The Trustee may reasonably rely upon such information, 
calculations or estimates to determine the proper amount to be deposited into the Third Lien Rebate 
Account and shall not be required to make transfers of the Third Lien Revenues into the Third Lien 
Rebate Account under this subsection if it has not been provided with such information, calculations and 
estimates. The Trustee shall make any necessary rebate payments to the United States of America that are 
required by the Code and Regulations from moneys on deposit in the Third Lien Rebate Account. 
Amounts on deposit in the Third Lien Rebate Account are not pledged to the payment of the Bonds. 

After the foregoing deposits have been made, the Trustee shall transfer any balance remaining in 
the Third Lien Revenue Fund to the General Account established in the Senior Lien Indenture. 

Project Fund. The Project Fund is established, and shall be held as a separate, segregated fund by 
the City in a Depositary. There shall be paid into the Project Fund the amounts required to be so paid by 
the provisions of the Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture, and there may be paid into the Project 
Fund, at the option of the City, any moneys determined to be so applied by the City. 

The City shall hereafter establish within the Project Fund in connection with the issuance of each 
Series of Bonds separate, segregated accounts for the deposit of proceeds of such Bonds issued to finance 
additional Project Costs. The City may deposit any such separate, segregated account with the Project 
Fund with a Depositary pursuant to the provisions of a Supplemental Indenture. 

Amounts in each separate, segregated account established as provided in the immediately 
paragraph preceding shall be applied to the purpose or purposes and in the manner specified in the 
Supplemental Indenture authorizing the Bonds, the proceeds of which were deposited in such account and 
upon the written direction of an Authorized Officer. 

Moneys in the Project Fund shall be invested at the direction of an Authorized Officer to the 
fullest extent practicable in Investment Securities maturing in such amounts and at such times as may be 
necessary to provide funds when needed to pay Project Costs. The City may, and to the extent required 
for payments from the Project Fund shall, sell any such Investment Securities at any time, and the 
proceeds of such sale, and of all payments at maturity and upon redemption of such investments, shall be 
held in the applicable account in the Project Fund. Earnings received on moneys or securities in a 
separate account in the Project Fund shall be held as a part of such account and available for the purposes 
for which moneys in such account are otherwise held. 

The completion of the Project to be paid for from an account in the Project Fund shall be 
evidenced by a certificate of an Authorized Officer of the City, which certificate shall be filed promptly 
with the Trustee, stating the date of such completion and the amount, if any, required in the opinion of the 
signer of such certificate for the payment of any remaining part of the cost of the Project. Upon the filing 
of such certificate evidencing the completion of the Project to be paid from the Project Fund, the balance 
in said account in excess of the amount, if any, stated in such certificate of the City shall be applied by the 
City in the following order of priority: (1) to the applicable Sub-Account of the Third Lien Reserve and 
Redemption Account, to the extent necessary to cause the amount on deposit in such Sub-Account to 
equal the applicable Debt Service Reserve Requirement; and (2) the remainder to the City for any lawful 
purpose under the Act. 

Creation of Additional Accounts and Sub-Accounts for Bonds. The City has reserved the right to 
issue multiple Series of Bonds pursuant to the Indenture, respectively, from time to time for the purposes 
authorized in the Central Loop Redevelopment Plan. Any such Bonds shall share ratably and equally 
with the Series 2003 Bonds in the Third Lien Revenues and, except as provided below for General 
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Obligation Bonds, the Funds and Accounts established under the Indenture and shall have the terms 
established in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing such Series of Bonds. No Series ofBonds shall 
have any terms creating a preference or priority over any other Series of Bonds; provided, that the City 
may, in any Supplemental Indenture, provide for the establishment of separate Sub-Accounts within the 
Third Lien Reserve and Redemption Account of the Third Lien Revenue Fund relating to one or more 
Series of Bonds; and provided further, that the City may, in any Supplemental Indenture adopted in 
connection with a Series of General Obligation Bonds, provide for a separate segregated Sub-Account in 
the Third Lien Principal and Interest Account in the Third Lien Revenue Fund for such Series into which 
shall be deposited the proceeds of any ad valorem tax levied by the City to pay such Series and from 
which payments may be made only with respect to such Series. The creation of such separate Sub­
Accounts shall not create a preference of any Series of Bonds over any other Series of Bonds with respect 
to Third Lien Revenues, except to the extent that a Supplemental Indenture authorizing a Series of Bonds 
provides that amounts on deposit in any such Sub-Account shall secure only the one or more series of 
Bonds with respect to which such Sub-Account is established. 

The Trustee shall, at the written request of the City, establish such additional Accounts within any 
of the Funds established under the Indenture, and Sub-Accounts within any of the Accounts established 
under the Indenture, as shall be specified in such written request, for the purpose of enabling the City to 
identify or account for more precisely the sources, timing and amounts of transfers or deposits into such 
Funds, Accounts and Sub-Accounts, the amounts on deposit in or credited to such Funds, Accounts or 
Sub-Accounts as of any date or dates of calculation, and the sources, timing and amounts of transfers, 
disbursements or withdrawals from such Funds, Accounts or Sub-Accounts; but the establishment of any 
such additional Accounts or Sub-Accounts shall not alter or modify in any manner or to any extent any of 
the requirements of the Indenture with respect to the deposit or use of moneys in any Fund, Account or 
Sub-Account established under the Indenture. 

Depositaries, Security for Deposits and Investments of Funds 

All moneys held by the Trustee under the provisions of the Indenture may be deposited with one 
or more Depositaries selected by an Authorized Officer in the name of and in trust for the Trustee. All 
moneys held by the City under the Indenture may be deposited in one or more Depositaries (selected by 
an Authorized Officer) in the name ofthe City. All moneys deposited under the provisions ofthe 
Indenture with the Trustee, the City or any Depositary shall be held in trust and applied only in 
accordance with the provisions of the Indenture, and each of the Funds, Accounts and Sub-Accounts 
established by the Indenture shall be a trust fund. 

All moneys held by any Depositary under the Indenture may be placed on demand or time 
deposit, as directed by an Authorized Officer; provided, that such deposits shall permit the moneys so 
held to be available for use when needed. Any such deposit may be made in the commercial banking 
department of any Fiduciary which may honor checks and drafts on such deposit as if it were not a 
Fiduciary. All moneys held by a Fiduciary may be deposited in its commercial banking department on 
demand or, if and to the extent directed by an Authorized Officer, on time deposit; provided, that such 
moneys on deposit be available for use when needed. Such Fiduciary shall allow and credit on such 
moneys such interest, if any, as it customarily allows upon similar funds of similar size. 

All moneys held for the City under the Indenture shall be continuously and fully secured for the 
benefit of the City and the Owners of the Bonds in the same manner as provided by the City for similar 
funds of the City. 

All moneys deposited with the Trustee and each Depositary shall be credited to the particular 
Fund, Account or Sub-Account to which such moneys belong. 
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Moneys held in any Fund, Account or Sub-Account by the City, the Trustee or a Depositary shall 
be invested and reinvested by the City at the direction of an Authorized Officer in Investment Securities 
that mature no later than necessary to provide moneys when needed for payments to be made from such 
Fund, Account or Sub-Account. 

Moneys held in two or more Funds, Accounts or Sub-Accounts may be jointly invested in one or 
more Investment Securities, provided, that such investment complies with all the terms and conditions of 
the Indenture relating to the investment of moneys in such Funds, Accounts or Sub-Accounts, as the case 
may be, and the City maintains books and records as to the allocation of such investment as among such 
Funds, Accounts or Sub-Accounts. 

Any earnings on investments held in the Third Lien Reserve and Redemption Account shall be 
credited to and held in the applicable Sub-Account ofthe Third Lien Reserve and Redemption Account so 
long as the balance of any Sub-Account is less than the Debt Service Reserve Requirement for such Sub­
Account and next shall be transferred to the Third Lien Principal and Interest Account. Investment 
income from investments held in the various Funds, Accounts and Sub-Accounts shall remain in and be a 
part ofthe respective Funds, Accounts and Sub-Accounts in which such investments are held, except as 
otherwise provided in the Indenture. 

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Indenture to the contrary, all investments made under 
the Indenture shall be consistent with the expectations expressed in any arbitrage certificate executed on 
behalf of the City and filed with the Trustee with respect to any Series of Bonds issued under the 
Indenture. 

Investment Securities in any Fund, Account or Sub-Account created under the provisions of the 
Indenture shall be deemed at all times to be part of such Fund, Account or Sub-Account and any profit 
realized from the liquidation of such investment shall be credited to such Fund, Account or Sub-Account 
and any loss resulting from liquidation of such investment shall be charged to such Fund, Account or 
Sub-Account. 

Valuations oflnvestment Securities held in the Funds, Accounts and Sub-Accounts established 
under the Indenture shall be made by the City as required under the Indenture. In computing, the amounts 
in such Funds, Accounts and Sub-Accounts, Investment Securities shall be valued. 

The value oflnvestment Securities shall be their fair market value; provided, that all SLG's shall 
be valued at par and those obligations which are redeemable at the option of the holder shall be valued at 
the price at which such obligations are then redeemable. 

(d) Except as otherwise provided in the Indenture, the Trustee at the direction of an 
Authorized Officer shall sell at the best price obtainable, or present for redemption, any Investment 
Security held in any Fund, Account or Sub-Account held by the Trustee whenever it shall be necessary to 
provide moneys to meet any payment or transfer from such Fund, Account or Sub-Account as the case 
may be. The Trustee shall not be liable or responsible for making any such investment in the manner 
provided above or for any loss resulting from any such investment. 

Particular Covenants and Representations of the City 

If the maturity of any Bond or installment of interest shall be extended pursuant to the written 
consent of the Owner of such Bond, such Bond or installment of interest shall not be entitled, in case of 
any default under the Indenture, to the benefit of the Indenture or to payment out of Third Lien Revenues 
or the Funds, Accounts and Sub-Accounts established by the Indenture or moneys held by Fiduciaries or 
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Depositaries (except moneys held in trust for the payment of such Bond or installment of interest) until 
the prior payment of the principal of all Bonds Outstanding the maturity of which has not been extended 
and of such portion of the accrued interest on the Bonds as shall not be represented by such extended 
claims for interest. These provisions do not limit the right of the City to issue Refunding Bonds and such 
issuance shall not be deemed to constitute an extension of maturity ofBonds. 

The City shall at all times maintain one or more Paying Agents and Registrars with offices in 
Chicago, Illinois, or in New York, New York, at which Bonds may be presented for payment and at 
which Bonds may be presented for registration of any, transfer or exchange. 

The City covenants and agrees with the Owners of the Bonds that, so long as any Bonds remain 
outstanding and unpaid: 

(a) The City shall cause to be punctually paid from the Third Lien Revenue Fund, but solely 
to the extent that adequate amounts are on deposit in that Fund for that purpose, the principal of, interest 
on and premium, if any, to become due in respect ofthe Bonds in strict conformity with the terms ofthe 
Bonds, the Indenture and the applicable Supplemental Indenture, and it shall faithfully observe and 
perform all of the conditions, covenants and requirements of the Bonds, the Indenture and each 
Supplemental Indenture. 

(b) The City shall cause to be punctually paid and discharged, from the Third Lien Revenue 
Fund, but solely to the extent that adequate amounts are on deposit in that Fund for that purpose, any and 
all lawful claims which, if unpaid, might become a lien or charge upon the Third Lien Revenues, or any 
part of the Third Lien Revenues, or upon any funds in the hands of the Trustee, or which might impair the 
security of the Bonds. Nothing in the Indenture shall require the City to make any such payment so long 
as the City in good faith shall contest the validity of said claims. 

(c) The City shall keep, or cause to be kept, proper books of record and accounts, separate 
from all other records and accounts of the City, in which complete and correct entries shall be made of all 
transactions relating to the Bonds and to the Third Lien Revenues. Such books of record and accounts, 
and any other report, shall at all times during regular business hours be subject to the inspection of the 
Owners of not less than ten percent (1 0%) of the principal amount ofthe Bonds then Outstanding, or their 
representatives authorized in writing. 

The City shall prepare, or cause the preparation of, within 270 days after the close of each Fiscal 
Year of the City so long as any of the Bonds are Outstanding, audited financial statements with respect to 
the preceding Fiscal Year showing the Third Lien Revenues received and all disbursements from the 
funds and accounts created by the Indenture, on a consolidated basis, as of the end of such Fiscal Year, 
which statements shall be accompanied by a certificate or opinion in writing of an independent certified 
public accountant. 

(d) The City shall preserve and protect the security of the Bonds and the rights of the 
Owners, and shall warrant and defend their rights against all claims and demands of all Persons. From 
and after the sale and delivery of any of the Bonds by the City, the Bonds shall be incontestable by the 
City. 

(e) The City shall execute and deliver any and all such instruments and assurances as may be 
reasonably necessary or proper to carry out the intention of, or to facilitate the performance of, the 
Indenture, and for the better assuring and confirming unto the registered owners of the Bonds of the rights 
and benefits provided in the Indenture. 
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Events of Default 

Each of the following events is declared to be an "Event ofDefault:" 

(a) subject to the following paragraph, default shall be made in the payment of the principal 
of or Redemption Price on any Bond when such payment shall become due and payable, either at maturity 
or by proceedings for redemption or otherwise; or 

(b) subject to the following paragraph, default shall be made in the payment of any 
installment of interest on any Bond when and as such payment shall become due and payable; or 

(c) subject to the following paragraph, default shall be made by the City in the performance 
of any obligation in respect of the Third Lien Reserve and Redemption Account and such default shall 
continue for 60 days after such default; or 

(d) the City shall (1) commence a voluntary case under the federal bankruptcy laws, as now 
or hereafter constituted, or any other applicable federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar 
law, (2) make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors, (3) consent to the appointment of a receiver of 
itself or of the whole or any substantial part of its property or ( 4) be adjudicated a bankrupt or have 
entered against it any order for relief in respect of an involuntary case under the federal bankruptcy laws, 
as now or hereafter constituted, or any other applicable federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency or other 
similar law and such order continues in effect for a period of 60 days without stay or vacation; or 

(e) a court of competent jurisdiction shall enter an order, judgment or decree appointing a 
receiver of the City, or of the whole or any substantial part of its property, or approving a petition seeking 
reorganization of the City under the federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable federal or state law 
or statute and such order, judgment or decree is not vacated or set aside or stayed within 60 days from the 
date of the entry of such order, judgment or decree; or 

(f) under the provisions of any other law for the relief or aid of debtors, any court of 
competent jurisdiction shall assume custody or control of the City or of the whole or any substantial part 
of its property, if such custody or control is not terminated or stayed within 60 days from the date of 
assumption of such custody or control; or 

(g) the City shall default in the due and punctual performance of any other of the covenants, 
conditions, agreements and provisions contained in the Bonds or in the Indenture on the part of the City to 
be performed, and such default continues for 60 days after written notice specifYing such default and 
requiring such default to be remedied has been given to the City by the Trustee (which may give such 
notice whenever it determines that such a default is subsisting and shall give such notice at the written 
request ofthe registered Owners of not less than a majority ofthe principal amount of the Bonds then 
Outstanding); then, in each and every such case, the Trustee may, and upon the written request of the 
Owners of a majority of the principal amount of the Bonds affected by the Event of Default and then 
Outstanding under the Indenture shall, proceed to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the 
Owners of the Bonds by a suit, action or special proceeding in equity or at law, by mandamus or 
otherwise, either for the specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained in the Indenture or 
in aid or execution of any power granted by the Indenture or for any enforcement of any proper legal or 
equitable remedy as the Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall deem most effective to protect and 
enforce those rights. 

A payment default as described in subparagraph (a) or (b) above or a performance default as 
described in paragraph (c) above shall not constitute an Event of Default if the payment default or 
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performance default occurred because there were insufficient moneys remaining on deposit in the General 
Account established in the Senior Lien Indenture after (i) all required deposits have been made under the 
Senior Lien Indenture, and (ii) all amounts required to be transferred to the Junior Lien Revenue Fund 
established in the Subordinate Lien Indenture have been made, to permit the City to make such payment 
or perform such obligations. The preceding sentence does not apply to General Obligation Bonds. 

During the continuance of an Event of Default, all moneys received by the Trustee under the 
Indenture from the City or from any other source shall be applied by the Trustee in accordance with the 
terms of the Indenture described below under the caption "Application of Revenues and Other Moneys 
After Default." 

Accounting and Examination of Records after Default 

The City covenants that if an Event of Default shall have happened and shall not have been 
remedied, the books of record and account of the City and all other records relating to the Third Lien 
Revenues and, for General Obligation Bonds, the taxes levied for their payment shall at all times be 
subject to the inspection of the Trustee and of its authorized agents and attorneys. 

The City covenants that if an Event of Default shall have happened and shall not have been 
remedied, the City, upon demand of the Trustee, shall account, as if it were the trustee of an express trust, 
for all Third Lien Revenues and other moneys, securities and funds held by the City pursuant to the terms 
of the Indenture for such period as shall be stated in such demand. 

Application of Revenues and Other Moneys after Default 

The City covenants that if an Event of Default shall happen and shall not have been remedied, the 
Trustee shall apply all moneys, securities and funds received by the Trustee pursuant to any right given or 
action taken as follows and in the following order: 

(a) First, to the payment of the reasonable and proper expenses of the Trustee, the Bond 
Registrar and Paying Agents, and thereafter; 

(b) Second, to the payment of principal or redemption premium, if any, and interest then due 
on the Bonds as follows: 

(c) Unless the principal of all the Bonds shall have become due and payable, all such moneys 
shall be applied as follows: 

(i) first, to the payment to the Persons so entitled of all installments of interest then due, in 
the order of the maturity of such installments, and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in 
full any particular installment, then to the payment ratably, according to the amounts due on such 
installment, to the Persons entitled to such payment, without any discrimination or preference; 

(ii) second, to the payment to the Persons so entitled of the unpaid principal of any of the 
Bonds which shall have become due (other than Bonds called for redemption for the payment of which 
moneys are held pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture), in the order of their due dates, with interest 
upon such Bonds from the respective dates upon which they became due, and, if the amount available 
shall not be sufficient to pay in full Bonds due on any particular date, together with such interest, then to 
the payment first of such interest, ratably according to the amount of such interest due on such date, and 
then to the payment of such principal ratably according to the amount of such principal due on such date, 
to the Persons entitled to payment without any discrimination or preference; and 
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(iii) third, to the payment of the Redemption Price of any Bonds called for redemption 
pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture. 

Ifthe principal of all the Bonds shall have become due and payable, all such moneys shall be 
applied to the payment of the principal and interest then due and unpaid upon the Bonds, with interest on 
the Bonds as provided above, without preference or priority of principal over interest or of interest over 
principal, or of any installment of interest over any other installment of interest, or of any Bond over any 
other Bond, ratably, according to the amounts due respectively for principal and interest, to the Persons 
entitled to payment without any discrimination or preference. 

Whenever moneys are to be applied by the Trustee pursuant to the provisions of this paragraph, 
such moneys shall be applied by the Trustee at such times, and from time to time, as the Trustee in its sole 
discretion shall determine, having due regard to the amount of such moneys available for application and 
the likelihood of additional moneys becoming available for such application in the future. The deposit of 
such moneys with the Paying Agents, or otherwise setting aside such moneys, in trust for the proper 
purpose, shall constitute proper application by the Trustee; and the Trustee shall incur no liability 
whatsoever to the City, to any Owner or to any other Person for any delay in applying any such funds, so 
long as the Trustee acts with reasonable diligence, having due regard to the circumstances, and ultimately 
applies the same in accordance with such provisions of the Indenture as may be applicable at the time of 
application by the Trustee. Whenever the Trustee shall exercise such discretion in applying such funds, it 
shall fix the date (which shall be an interest payment date unless the Trustee shall deem another date more 
suitable) upon which such application is to be made and upon such date interest on the amounts of 
principal paid on such date shall cease to accrue. The Trustee shall give such notice as it may deem 
appropriate of the fixing of any such date and of the endorsement to be entered on each Bond on which 
payment shall be made, and shall not be required to make payment to the Owner of any unpaid Bond until 
such Bond shall be presented to the Trustee for appropriate endorsement, or some other procedure 
deemed satisfactory by the Trustee. 

Proceedings Brought by Trustee 

If an Event of Default shall happen and shall not have been remedied, then and in every such 
case, the Trustee, by its agents and attorneys, may proceed, and upon identical written request of the 
Owners of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding and upon being 
indemnified to its satisfaction shall proceed, to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the Owners 
of the Bonds under the Indenture forthwith by a suit or suits in equity or at law, whether for the specific 
performance of any covenant contained in the Indenture, or in aid of the execution of any power granted 
in the Indenture, or for an accounting against the City as if the City were the trustee of an express trust, or 
in the enforcement of any other legal or equitable right as the Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall 
deem most effectual to enforce any of its rights or to perform any of its duties under the Indenture. 

All rights of action under the Indenture may be enforced by the Trustee without the possession of 
any of the Bonds or the production of any of the Bonds in any suit or other proceeding, and any such suit 
or other proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in its name. 

All actions against the City under the Indenture shall be brought in a state or federal court located 
in the State. 

The Owners of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Bonds at the time Outstanding 
may direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceedings to be taken in connection with the 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of the Indenture or for the enforcement of any remedy available 
to the Trustee, or exercising any trust or power conferred upon the Trustee; provided that the Trustee shall 
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have the right to decline to follow any such direction if the Trustee shall be advised by counsel that the 
action or proceeding so directed may not lawfully be taken, or if the Trustee in good faith shall determine 
that the action or proceeding so directed would involve the Trustee in personal liability or be unjustly 
prejudicial to the Owners not parties to such direction. 

Upon commencing any suit at law or in equity or any other judicial proceedings by the Trustee to 
enforce any right under the Indenture, the Trustee shall be entitled to exercise any and all rights and 
powers conferred in the Indenture and provided to be exercised by the Trustee upon the occurrence of any 
Event of Default. 

Regardless of the happening of an Event of Default, the Trustee shall have power, but unless 
requested in writing by the Owners of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, and 
furnished with reasonable security and indemnity, shall be under no obligation, to institute and maintain 
such suits and proceedings as may be necessary or expedient to prevent any impairment of the security 
under the Indenture and to preserve or protect its interests and the interest of the Owners. 

Restriction on Owners' Action 

No Owner of any Bond shall have any right to institute any suit or proceeding at law or in equity 
for the enforcement or violation of any provision of the Indenture or the execution of any trust under the 
Indenture or for any remedy under the Indenture, unless such Owner shall have previously given to the 
Trustee written notice of the occurrence of an Event ofDefault, as provided in the Indenture, and the 
Owners of at least a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have filed a written 
request with the Trustee, and shall have offered it reasonable opportunity either to exercise the powers 
granted in the Indenture or by the laws of Illinois or to institute such suit or proceeding in its own name, 
and unless such Owners shall have offered to the Trustee adequate security and indemnity against the 
costs, expenses and liabilities to be so incurred, and the Trustee shall have refused or failed to comply 
with such request within 60 days after receipt by it of such notice, request and offer of indemnity, it being 
understood and intended that no one or more Owners of Bonds shall have any right in any manner 
whatever by its or their action to affect, disturb or prejudice the pledge created by the Indenture or to 
enforce any right under the Indenture, except in the manner provided in the Indenture; and that all 
proceedings at law or in equity to enforce any provision of the Indenture shall be instituted, had and 
maintained in the manner provided in the Indenture and for the equal benefit of all Owners of the 
Outstanding Bonds, subject only to the provisions of the Indenture. 

Nothing contained in the Indenture or in the Bonds shall affect or impair the obligation of the 
City, which is absolute and unconditional, to pay at the respective dates of maturity and places expressed 
in the Bonds, but solely from Third Lien Revenues and as may otherwise be provided in the applicable 
Supplemental Indenture, the principal of and interest on the Bonds to their respective Owners, or affect or 
impair the right of action, which is also absolute and unconditional, of any Owner to enforce such 
payment of its Bond, but solely from Third Lien Revenues and as may be otherwise provided in any 
Supplemental Indenture. 

No Owner of any Bond shall have the right to cause the acceleration of the Bonds if any Event of 
Default shall have occurred under the Indenture. 

Remedies Not Exclusive 

No remedy by the terms of the Indenture conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee or the Owners 
is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every 
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other remedy given under the Indenture or existing at law or in equity or by statute on or after the date of 
the execution and delivery of the Indenture. 

Effect of Waiver and Other Circumstances 

No delay or omission of the Trustee or any Owner to exercise any right or power arising upon the 
happening of an Event of Default shall impair any right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of 
or an acquiescence in any such default. 

The Owners of not less than two thirds in principal amount of the Bonds at the time Outstanding, 
or their attorneys-in-fact duly authorized, may on behalf of the Owners of all of the Bonds waive any past 
default under the Indenture and its consequences, except a default in the payment of interest on or 
principal or Redemption Price of any of the Bonds. No such waiver shall extend to any subsequent or 
other default or impair any right consequent on such default. 

Notices of Default. The Trustee shall promptly mail written notice ofthe occurrence of any Event 
of Default to the Owners of the Bonds. 

Rights of Bond Insurer. Notwithstanding anything contained in the Indenture to the contrary, but 
subject to the provisions of any applicable Supplemental Indenture, any Bond Insurer shall be treated as 
the Owner of Bonds upon which such Bond Insurer is obligated pursuant to a Bond Insurance Policy for 
the purposes of calculating whether or not the Owners of the requisite percentage of Bonds then 
Outstanding have consented to any request, consent, directive, waiver or other action permitted to be 
taken by the Owners of the Bonds pursuant to the Indenture; provided, that such Bond Insurer shall cease 
to be so regarded as Owner of such Bonds in the event such Bond Insurer is in default of its obligations 
under the Bond Insurance Policy. 

Notwithstanding anything contained in the Indenture to the contrary, but subject to the provisions 
of any applicable Supplemental Indenture, to the extent any Bond Insurer has exercised its rights as 
subrogee for the particular Bonds of which it has insured payment, (i) such Bonds shall be deemed to be 
Outstanding and such Bond Insurer shall succeed to the rights and interests of the Owners to the extent of 
the amounts paid as specified in respect of the Bond Insurance Policy until such amount has been 
reimbursed and (ii) upon presentation to the Registrar, such Bonds shall be registered in the name of the 
Bond Insurer or its nominee. 

The Fiduciaries 

Trustee; Appointment and Acceptance of Duties. The Trustee accepts and agrees to the trusts 
created by the Indenture, but only upon the additional terms set forth in the Indenture, to all of which the 
City agrees and the respective Owners of the Bonds, by their purchase and acceptance of their Bonds, 
agree. Except during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Trustee undertakes such duties and only 
such duties as are specifically set forth in the Indenture. 

Paying Agents; Appointment and Acceptance of Duties. The Trustee is appointed Paying Agent 
for the Series 2003 Bonds. The City shall appoint one or more Paying Agents for the Bonds of each other 
Series, and may at any time or from time to time appoint one or more other Paying Agents having the 
qualifications set forth in the Indenture for a successor Paying Agent. The Trustee may be appointed a 
Paying Agent for the Bonds of other Series. The Trustee accepts the duties and obligations imposed upon 
it as Paying Agent by the Indenture. 
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Unless otherwise provided, the principal or corporate trust offices of the Paying Agents are 
designated as the respective offices or agencies of the City for the payment of the principal or 
Redemption Price of the Bonds. 

Registrar; Appointment and Acceptance of Duties. The Trustee is appointed Registrar for the 
Series 2003 Bonds. The City shall appoint a Registrar for each other Series of Bonds. Each Registrar 
shall have the qualifications set forth in the Indenture for a successor Registrar. The Trustee or any 
Paying Agent may be appointed a Registrar for the Bonds of other Series. 

Responsibilities of Fiduciaries. The recitals of fact contained in the Indenture and the Bonds 
shall be taken as the statements of the City and no Fiduciary assumes any responsibility for the 
correctness of the same. No Fiduciary makes any representations as to the validity or sufficiency of the 
Indenture or of any Bonds or as to the security afforded by the Indenture, and no Fiduciary shall incur any 
liability in respect of such matters. The Trustee shall, however, be responsible for any representation 
contained in its certificate on the Bonds. No Fiduciary shall be under any responsibility or duty with 
respect to the application of any moneys paid to the City or to any other Fiduciary. No Fiduciary shall be 
under any obligation or duty to perform any act which would involve it in expense or liability or to 
institute or defend any suit, or to advance any of its own moneys, unless properly indemnified. Subject to 
the following paragraph, no Fiduciary shall be liable in connection with the performance of its duties 
under the Indenture except for its own negligence or misconduct. 

In case an Event of Default has occurred and has not been remedied, the Trustee shall exercise 
such of the rights and powers vested in it by the Indenture, and shall use the same degree of care and skill 
in their exercise as a prudent person would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of his 
or her own affairs. Any provision of the Indenture relating to action taken or to be taken by the Trustee or 
to evidence upon which the Trustee may rely shall be subject to the provisions of the Indenture. 

Evidence on Which Fiduciaries May Act. Each Fiduciary shall be protected in acting upon any 
notice, ordinance, resolution, request, consent, order, certificate, report, opinion (including Counsel's 
Opinion), bond or other paper or document furnished to it pursuant to and conforming to the requirements 
of the Indenture, and believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper 
party or parties. 

Whenever any Fiduciary shall deem it necessary or desirable that a matter be proved or 
established prior to taking or suffering any action under the Indenture, such matter (unless the Indenture 
specifically requires other evidence of such matter) may be deemed to be conclusively proved and 
established by a certificate of an Authorized Officer, but in its discretion the Fiduciary may in lieu of such 
certificate accept other evidence of such fact or matter or may require such further or additional evidence 
as it may deem reasonable. 

Except as otherwise expressly provided in the Indenture, any request, order, notice or other 
direction required or permitted to be furnished by the City to any Fiduciary shall be sufficiently executed 
if signed by an Authorized Officer. 

Compensation. Unless otherwise determined by contract between the City and each Fiduciary, 
the City shall pay to each Fiduciary from time to time reasonable compensation determined by the City 
for all services rendered under the Indenture. 

Certain Permitted Acts. Any Fiduciary may become the Owner of any Bonds, with the same 
rights it would have if it were not a Fiduciary. To the extent permitted by law, any Fiduciary may act as 
Depositary for, and permit any of its officers or directors to act as a member of, or in any other capacity 
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with respect to, any committee formed to protect the rights of Owners or to effect or aid in any 
reorganization growing out of the enforcement of the Bonds or the Indenture, whether or not any such 
committee shall represent the Owners of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding. 

Resignation of Trustee. The Trustee may at any time resign and be discharged of the duties and 
obligations imposed upon it by the Indenture by giving not less than 60 days' written notice to the City, 
all Owners of the Bonds, the Depositaries and the other Fiduciaries, and such resignation shall take effect 
upon the day specified in such notice but only if a successor shall have been appointed by the City or the 
Owners as provided in the Indenture, in which event such resignation shall take effect immediately on the 
appointment of such successor whether or not the date specified for such resignation to take effect has 
arrived. If a successor Trustee shall not have been appointed within a period of 90 days following the 
giving of notice, then the Trustee shall be authorized to petition any court of competent jurisdiction to 
appoint a successor Trustee as provided in the Indenture. 

Removal of Trustee. The Trustee may be removed at any time by an instrument in writing 
delivered to the Trustee and signed by the City; provided, that if an Event of Default shall have occurred 
and be continuing, the Trustee may be so removed by the City only with the written concurrence of the 
Owners of a majority in principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding. The Trustee may be removed at 
any time by the Owners of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, excluding any 
Bonds held by or for the account of the City, by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing signed 
and duly acknowledged by such Owners or their attorneys-in-fact duly authorized, and delivered to the 
City. Copies of each such instrument shall be delivered by the City to each Fiducimy. 

Appointment of Successor Trustee. In case at any time the Trustee shall resign or shall be 
removed or shall become incapable of acting, or shall be adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent, or if a 
receiver, liquidator or conservator of the Trustee, or of its property, shall be appointed, or if any public 
officer or court shall take charge or control of the Trustee, or of its property or affairs, the City shall 
appoint a successor Trustee. The City shall cause notice of any such appointment by it made to be mailed 
to all Owners of the Bonds. 

If no appointment of a Trustee shall be made by the City pursuant to the foregoing provisions of 
the Indenture, the Owner of any Bond Outstanding may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction to 
appoint a successor Trustee. Such court may thereupon, after such notice, if any, as such court may deem 
proper and prescribe, appoint a successor Trustee. 

Any Trustee appointed under the Indenture in succession to the Trustee shall be a bank or trust 
company or national banking association, doing business and having its principal corporate trust office in 
the State oflllinois, and having capital stock and surplus aggregating at least $1,000,000, if there be such 
a bank or trust company or national banking association willing and able to accept the office on 
reasonable and custommy terms and authorized by law to perform all the duties imposed upon it by the 
Indenture. 

Transfer of Rights and Property to Successor Trustee. Any successor Trustee appointed under 
the Indenture shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor Trustee, and also to the City, an 
instrument accepting such appointment, and thereupon such successor Trustee, without any further act, 
deed or conveyance, shall be become fully vested with all moneys, estates, properties, rights, powers, 
duties and obligations of such predecessor Trustee; but the predecessor Trustee shall nevertheless, on the 
written request of the City or of the successor Trustee, execute, acknowledge and deliver such instruments 
of conveyance and further assurances and do such other things as may reasonably be required for more 
fully and certainly vesting and confirming in such successor Trustee all its right, title and interest in and 
to any property held by it under the Indenture, and shall pay over, assign and deliver to the successor 
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Trustee any moneys or other property subject to the trusts and conditions set forth in the Indenture. 
Should any deed, conveyance or instrument from the City be required by such successor Trustee for more 
fully and certainly vesting in and confirming to such successor Trustee any such moneys, estates, 
properties, rights, powers and duties, such deed, conveyance or instrument shall be executed, 
acknowledged and delivered by the City. Any such successor Trustee shall promptly notify the Paying 
Agents of its appointment as Trustee. 

Merger or Consolidation. Any company into which any Fiduciary may be merged or converted 
or with which it may be consolidated or any company resulting from any merger, conversion or 
consolidation to which it shall be a party or any company to which all or substantially all of the corporate 
trust business of any Fiduciary may be sold or transferred, shall be the successor to such Fiduciary and be 
bound to the obligations and duties of such Fiduciary under the Indenture without the execution or filing 
of any paper or the performance of any further act, unless such successor delivers written notice of its 
resignation pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture; provided, that such company shall be a bank or 
trust company organized under the laws of any state of the United States or a national banking association 
and shall be authorized by law to perform all the duties imposed upon it by the Indenture. 

Resignation or Removal of Paying Agent and Appointment of Successor. Any Paying Agent may 
at any time resign and be discharged of the duties and obligations imposed upon it by the Indenture by 
giving at least 60 days' written notice to the City and the other Fiduciaries. Any Paying Agent may be 
removed at any time by an instrument signed by an Authorized Officer and filed with such Paying Agent 
and the Trustee. Any successor Paying Agent shall be appointed by the City and shall be a bank or trust 
company organized under the laws of any state of the United States or a national banking association, 
having capital stock and surplus aggregating at least $1,000,000, shalling and able to accept the office on 
reasonable and customary terms and authorized by law to perform all the duties imposed upon it by the 
Indenture. 

In the event of the resignation or removal of any Paying Agent, such Paying Agent shall pay over, 
assign and deliver any moneys held by it as Paying Agent to its successor, or if there be no successor, to 
the Trustee and shall be subject to audit of all of its books, records and accounts with respect to the 
Bonds. In the event that for any reason there shall be a vacancy in the office of any Paying Agent, the 
Trustee shall act as such Paying Agent. 

Resignation or Removal of Registrar and Appointment of Successor. Any Registrar may at any 
time resign and be discharged of the duties and obligations imposed upon it by the Indenture by giving at 
least 60 days' written notice to the City and the other Fiduciaries. Any Registrar may be removed at any 
time by an instrument signed by an Authorized Officer and filed with such Registrar and the Trustee. 
Any successor Registrar shall be appointed by the City and shall be a bank, trust company or national 
banking association doing business and having an office in the State of Illinois or in the Borough of 
Manhattan, in the City and State ofNew York, if there be such a bank, trust company or national banking 
association shalling and able to accept the office on reasonable and customary terms and authorized by 
law to perform all the duties imposed upon it by the Indenture. 

In the event of the resignation or removal of any Registrar, such Registrar shall deliver all books, 
records and other property including the bond register of the City to its successor, or ifthere be no 
successor, to the Trustee. In the event that for any reason there shall be a vacancy in the office of any 
Registrar, the Trustee shall act as such Registrar. 

Trustee Not Deemed to Have Notice of Default. The Trustee shall not be deemed to have notice 
of any default under the Indenture except a default under the Indenture or the failure of the City to file 
with the Trustee any document required by the Indenture unless any officer in its corporate trust 
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deparbnent shall have actual knowledge of such default or the Trustee shall be specifically notified in 
writing of such default by the City or by the Owners of not less than a majority in principal amount of the 
Bonds Outstanding; and all notices or other instruments required by the Indenture to be delivered to the 
Trustee must, in order to be effective, be delivered at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee. 

Monthly Report by Trustee and Depositaries. Within seven days after the end of each month, the 
Trustee, any Paying Agent and each Depositary shall prepare a written report for each Fund, Account and 
Sub-Account held by it pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture. Such report shall set out the receipts 
and disbursements, both principal and income, and shall list the Investment Securities held by the Trustee 
and each Depositary at the end of the month. A copy of each such report shall be furnished to the City 
and any Persons designated by the City. 

In addition, the Trustee, any Paying Agent and each Depositary shall, at any time when requested, 
Including, without limitation, any request at the time of the resignation of the Trustee, any Paying Agent 
or any Depositary, furnish to the City and any Persons designated by the City a report of the amount of 
moneys, including Investment Securities, held in each Fund, Account or Sub-Account by the Trustee and 
each Depositary. For purposes of this certification, the Investment Securities in each such Fund, Account 
and Sub-Account shall be treated as having a value equal to their aggregate market value as of the date of 
this request. 

Supplemental Indentures 

Supplemental Indentures Not Requiring Consent of Owners. The City and the Trustee may 
without the consent of, or notice to, any of the Owners, enter into a Supplemental Indenture or 
Supplemental Indentures as shall not be inconsistent with the terms and provisions of the Indenture for 
any one or more of the following purposes: 

(a) to authorize a Series of Bonds and to specify, determine or authorize any matters and 
things concerning any such Bonds which are not contrary to or inconsistent with the Indenture; 

(b) to close the Indenture against, or impose additional limitations or restrictions on, the 
issuance of Bonds, or of other notes, Bonds, obligations or evidences of indebtedness; 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

to impose additional covenants or agreements to be observed by the City; 

to impose other limitations or restrictions upon the City; 

to surrender any right, power or privilege reserved to or conferred upon the City by the 
Indenture; 

(f) to confirm, as further assurance, any pledge of or lien upon the Third Lien Revenues or 
any other moneys, securities or funds; 

(g) to cure any ambiguity, omission or defect in the Indenture; 

(h) to provide for the appointment of a successor securities depository in the event any Series 
of Bonds is held in book-entry only form; 

(i) to provide for the appointment of any successor Fiduciary; and 

(j) to make any other change which, in the judgment of the Trustee, is not to the prejudice of 
the Trustee or the Owners. 
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Supplemental Indentures Effective upon Consent of Owners. Any Supplemental Indenture not 
effective in accordance with the Indenture shall take effect only if permitted and approved and in the 
manner prescribed by the Indenture. 

Filing ofCounsel's Opinion. Each Supplemental Indenture shall be accompanied, when filed 
with the Trustee, by a Counsel's Opinion to the effect that such Supplemental Indenture has been duly 
authorized by the City in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture, is authorized or permitted by 
the Indenture and, when executed and delivered, shall be valid and binding upon the City, the Owners and 
the Trustee. 

Amendments 

Notices. Any provision in the Indenture for the mailing of a notice or other information to 
Owners shall be fully complied with if it is mailed by first class mail, postage prepaid or delivered only to 
each Owner of Bonds then Outstanding at its address, if any, appearing upon the registration books of the 
City kept by the Registrar and to each Bond Insurer. 

Powers of Amendment. Except for Supplemental Indentures, any modification or amendment of 
the Indenture and of the rights and obligations of the City and of the Owners of the Bonds under the 
Indenture, in any particular, may be made by a Supplemental Indenture with the written consent given as 
provided the Indenture of(a) the Owners of at least a majority in principal amount ofthe Bonds 
Outstanding at the time such consent is given, and (b) in case less than all ofthe several Series of Bonds 
then Outstanding are affected by the modification or amendment, the Owners of at least a majority in 
principal amount of the Bonds of each Series so affected and Outstanding at the time such consent is 
given; provided, that if such modification or amendment shall, by its terms, not take effect so long as any 
Bonds of any specified like Series and maturity remain Outstanding, the consent of the Owners of such 
Bonds shall not be required and such Bonds shall not be deemed to be Outstanding for the purpose of any 
calculation of Outstanding Bonds. No such modification or amendment shall permit a change in the 
terms of redemption or maturity of the principal of any Outstanding Bonds, or of any installment of 
interest or a reduction in the principal amount or the Redemption Price of any Bond or in the rate of 
interest on any Bond without the consent of the Owner of such Bond, or shall reduce the percentages or 
otherwise affect the classes of Bonds the consent of the Owners of which is required to effect any such 
modification or amendment, or shall change or modify any of the rights or obligations of any Fiduciary 
without its written assent. A Series shall be deemed to be affected by a modification or amendment of the 
Indenture if the same adversely affects or diminishes the rights of the Owners of Bonds of such Series. 
The Trustee may in its discretion determine whether or not the rights of the Owners of Bonds of any 
particular Series or maturity would be adversely affected or diminished by any such modification or 
amendment, and its determination shall be binding and conclusive on the City and all Owners of the 
Bonds. 

Consent of Owners. The City may at any time authorize the execution and delivery of a 
Supplemental Indenture making a modification or amendment permitted by the provisions of the 
Indenture. Upon the authorization of such Supplemental Indenture, a copy of such Supplemental 
Indenture shall be delivered to and held by the Trustee for the inspection of the Owners. A copy of such 
Supplemental Indenture (or a summary of it or reference to it in form approved by the Trustee) together 
with a request to Owners for their consent in form satisfactory to the Trustee, shall be mailed to the 
Owners, but failure to mail such copy and request shall not affect the validity of such Supplemental 
Indenture when consented to. Such Supplemental Indenture shall not be effective unless and until, and 
shall take effect in accordance with its terms when (a) there shall have been filed with the Trustee (i) the 
written consents of the Owners of the required principal amount of Outstanding Bonds, and (ii) a 
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Counsel's Opinion stating that the execution and delivery of such Supplemental Indenture has been duly 
authorized by the City in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture, is authorized or permitted by 
the Indenture and, when effective, shall be valid and binding upon the City, the Owners and the Trustee, 
and (b) a notice shall have been mailed. A certificate or certificates by the Trustee delivered to the City 
that consents have been given by the Owners of the Bonds described in such certificate or certificates of 
the Trustee shall be conclusive. Any such consent shall be binding upon the Owner of the Bonds giving 
such consent and upon any subsequent Owner of such Bonds and of any Bonds issued in exchange for 
such Bonds whether or not such subsequent Owner has notice of such consent; provided, that any consent 
may be revoked by any Owner of such Bonds by filing with the Trustee, prior to the time when the 
Trustee's written statement is filed, a written revocation, with proof that such Bonds are held by the 
signer of such revocation. The fact that a consent has not been revoked may be proved by a certificate of 
the Trustee to the effect that no revocation is on file with it. Any consent, or revocation of a consent, may 
be delivered or filed prior to any mailing or publication required by the Indenture and shall not be deemed 
ineffective by reason of such prior delivery or filing. Within 30 days of any date on which the consents 
on file with the Trustee and not previously revoked shall be sufficient, the Trustee shall make and deliver 
to the City a written statement that the consents of the Owners of the required principal amount of 
Outstanding Bonds have been filed with the Trustee. Such written statement shall be conclusive that such 
consents have been so filed. Any time thereafter notice, stating in substance that the Supplemental 
Indenture has been consented to by the Owners of the required principal amount of Outstanding Bonds, 
shall be given by mailing to the Owners (but failure to mail such notice or any defect in such mailing shall 
not prevent such Supplemental Indenture from becoming effective and binding). The Trustee shall 
deliver to the City proof of the mailing of such notice. A record, consisting of the information required or 
permitted to be delivered by or to the Trustee, shall be proof of the matters stated in the record. 

Modifications by Unanimous Action. The Indenture and the rights and obligations of the City and 
of the Owners ofthe Bonds under the Indenture may be modified or amended in any respect by a 
Supplemental Indenture effecting such modification or amendment and with the consents of the Owners 
of all the Bonds then Outstanding, each such consent to be accompanied by proof of the holding at the 
date of such consent of the Bonds with respect to which such consent is given. Such Supplemental 
Indenture shall take effect upon the filing (a) with the Trustee of (i) a copy of such Supplemental 
Indenture, (ii) such consents and accompanying proofs and (iii) the Counsel's Opinion referred to in the 
Indenture and (b) with the City of the Trustee's written statement that the consents of the Owners of all 
Outstanding Bonds have been filed with it. No mailing or publication of any Supplemental Indenture (or 
reference to it or summary of it) or of any request or notice shall be required. No such modification or 
amendment, however, shall change or modify any of the rights or obligations of any Fiduciary without its 
written assent to it. 

Exclusion of Bonds. Bonds owned or held by or for the account of the City shall not be deemed 
Outstanding and shall be excluded for the purpose of any calculation required by the Indenture. At the 
time of any consent or other action taken under the Indenture, the City shall furnish the Trustee a 
certificate of an Authorized Officer, upon which the Trustee may rely, identifying all Bonds so to be 
excluded. 

Notation on Bonds. Bonds authenticated and delivered after the effective date of any action taken 
as provided in the Indenture may, and if the Trustee so determines shall, bear a notation by endorsement 
or otherwise in form approved by the City and the Trustee as to such action, and upon demand of the 
Owner of any Bond Outstanding at such effective date and presentation of its Bond to the Trustee, 
suitable notation shall be made on such Bond by the Trustee as to any such action. If the City or the 
Trustee shall so determine, new Bonds so modified which, in the opinion of the Trustee and the City, 
conform to such action may be prepared, authenticated and delivered, and upon demand of the Owner of 
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any Bond then Outstanding shall be exchanged, without cost to such Owner, for such Bond then 
Outstanding. 

Defeasance 

If the City shall pay or cause to be paid or there shall otherwise be paid to the Owners of all 
Bonds the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, and interest due or to become due on such Bonds, , 
at the times and in the manner stipulated in such Bonds and in the Indenture, then the pledge of any Third 
Lien Revenues and other moneys and securities pledged under the Indenture and all covenants, 
agreements and other obligations of the City to the Owners shall thereupon be discharged and satisfied. 
In such event, the Trustee, upon request ofthe City, shall provide an accounting of the assets managed by 
the Trustee to be prepared and filed with the City for any year or part of a year requested, and shall 
execute and deliver to the City all such instruments as may be desirable to evidence such discharge and 
satisfaction, and the Fiduciaries shall pay over or deliver to the City all moneys and securities held by 
them pursuant to the Indenture which are not required for the payment of Bonds not previously 
surrendered for such payment or redemption. If the City shall pay or cause to be paid, or there shall 
otherwise be paid, to the Owners of all Outstanding Bonds of a particular Series, maturity within a Series 
or portion of any maturity within a Series (which portion shall be selected by lot by the Trustee in the 
manner provided in the Indenture for the selection of Bonds to be redeemed in part), the principal or 
Redemption Price, if applicable, of such Bonds and interest due or to become due on such Bonds, at the 
times and in the manner stipulated in such Bonds and in the Indenture, such Bonds shall cease to be 
entitled to any lien, benefit or security under the Indenture, and all covenants, agreements and obligations 
of the City to the Owners of such Bonds and to the Trustee shall thereupon be discharged and satisfied. 

Bonds or interest installments for the payment or redemption of which moneys shall have been 
set aside and held in trust by the Escrow Agent at or prior to their maturity or redemption date shall be 
deemed to have been paid within the meaning of and with the effect expressed in the Indenture if the City 
shall have delivered to or deposited with the Escrow Agent (i) irrevocable instructions to pay or redeem 
all of said Bonds in specified amounts no less than the respective amounts of, and on specified dates no 
later than the respective due dates of, their principal, (ii) irrevocable instructions to publish or mail the 
required notice of redemption of any Bonds so to be redeemed, (iii) either moneys in an amount which 
shall be sufficient, or Defeasance Obligations the principal of and the interest on which when due shall 
provide moneys which, together with the moneys, if any, deposited with the Trustee at the same time, 
shall be sufficient, to pay when due the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, and interest due and 
to become due on said Bonds on and prior to each specified redemption date or maturity date of such 
Bonds, as the case may be, and (iv) if any of said Bonds are not to be redeemed within the next 
succeeding 60 days, irrevocable instructions to mail to all Owners of said Bonds a notice that such deposit 
has been made with the Trustee and that said Bonds are deemed to have been paid in accordance with the 
Indenture and stating the maturity or redemption date upon which moneys are to be available for the 
payment of the principal or Redemption Price, if applicable, of said Bonds. The Defeasance Obligations 
and moneys deposited with the Trustee shall be held in trust for the payment ofthe principal or 
Redemption Price, if applicable, and interest on said Bonds. No payments of principal of any such 
Defeasance Obligations or interest on them shall be withdrawn or used for any purpose other than the 
payment of such principal or Redemption Price of, or interest on, said Bonds unless after such withdrawal 
the amount held by the Trustee and interest to accrue on Defeasance Obligations so held shall be 
sufficient to provide fully for the payment of the principal of or Redemption Price and interest on such 
Bonds, at maturity or upon redemption, as the case may be. 

Amounts deposited with the Trustee for the payment of the principal of and interest on any Bonds 
deemed to be paid, if so directed by the City, shall be applied by the Trustee to the purchase of such 
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Bonds. Bonds for which a redemption date has been established may be purchased on or prior to the 45th 
day preceding the redemption date. The principal amount of Bonds to be redeemed shall be reduced by 
the principal amount of Bonds so purchased. Bonds which mature on a single future date may be 
purchased at any time prior to the maturity date. All such purchases shall be made at prices not exceeding 
the applicable principal amount or Redemption Price established pursuant to the Indenture, plus accrued 
interest, and such purchases shall be made in such manner as the Trustee shall determine. No purchase 
shall be made by the Trustee pursuant to this subsection if such purchase would result in the Trustee 
holding less than the moneys and Defeasance Obligations required to be held for the payment of all other 
Bonds deemed to be paid. 

The City may purchase with any available funds any Bonds deemed to be paid. Bonds for which 
a redemption date has been established may be purchased by the City on or prior to the 45th day 
preceding the redemption date. On or prior to the 45th day preceding the redemption date the City shall 
give notice to the Trustee of its intention to surrender such Bonds on the redemption date. The Trustee 
shall proceed to call for redemption the remainder of the Bonds due on the redemption date and shall pay 
to the City on the redemption date the Redemption Price of and interest on such Bonds upon surrender of 
such Bonds to the Trustee. Bonds which mature on a single future date may be purchased at any time 
prior to the maturity date. The Trustee shall pay to the City the principal amount of and interest on such 
Bonds upon surrender of such Bonds on the maturity date. 

Any time after any Bonds are deemed to be paid , the City shall not at any time permit any of the 
proceeds of the Bonds or any other funds of the City to be used directly or indirectly to acquire any 
securities or obligations the acquisition of which would cause any Bond to be an "arbitrage bond" as 
defined in the Code and Regulations. 

Each Fiduciary shall continue to be entitled to reasonable compensation for all services rendered 
under the Indenture, notwithstanding that any Bonds are deemed to be paid. 

Anything in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, any moneys held by a Fiduciary in 
trust for the payment and discharge of any of the Bonds which remain unclaimed for two years after the 
date when such Bonds have become due and payable, either at their stated maturity dates or by call for 
earlier redemption, if such moneys were held by the Fiduciary at such date, or for two years after the date 
of deposit of such moneys if deposited with the Fiduciary after the said date when such Bonds become 
due and payable, shall, at the written request of the City, be repaid by the Fiduciary to the City, as its 
absolute property and free from trust, and the Fiduciary shall thereupon be released and discharged with 
respect to such moneys and the Owners of such Bonds shall look only to the City for the payment of such 
Bonds. 

No Recourse on the Bonds 

No recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal or Redemption Price of or interest on 
the Bonds or for any claim based on them or on the Indenture against any past, present or future member 
of the City Council, officer, employee or agent of the City, or any successor, public body or any person 
executing the Bonds, either directly or through the City, under any rule oflaw or equity, statute or 
constitution or otherwise and all such liability of any such members, officers, employees or agents as such 
is expressly waived and released as a condition of and consideration for the execution of the Indenture 
and the issuance of the Bonds. 

No officer, member, agent or employee of the City shall be individually or personally liable for 
the payment of the principal or Redemption Price of or interest on the Bonds; but nothing contained in the 
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Indenture shall relieve any such officer, member, agent or employee from the performance of any official 
duty provided by law. 

All covenants, stipulations, obligations and agreements of the City contained in the Indenture 
shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, obligations and agreements of the City to the full extent 
authorized and permitted by the Constitution and laws of the State of Illinois, and no covenants, 
stipulations, obligations or agreements contained in the Indenture shall be deemed to be a covenant, 
stipulation, obligation or agreement of any present or future member, officer, agent or employee of the 
City in his or her individual capacity, and no officer executing the Bonds shall be liable personally on the 
Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issue of such Bonds. No 
member, officer, agent or employee of the City shall incur any personal, liability in acting or proceeding 
or in not acting or not proceeding in accordance with the terms of the Indenture. 
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}X4b CAPITAL ASSURANCE 

MUNICIPAL BOND 
INSURANCE POLICY 

ISSUER: 

BONDS: 

1221 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, New York 10020 
Telephone: (212) 478-3400 

Policy No: [ 

Effective Date: [ 

XL Capital Assurance Inc. (XLCA), a New York stock insurance company, in consideration of the payment of the 
premium and subject to the terms of this Policy (which includes each endorsement attached hereto), hereby agrees 
unconditionally and irrevocably to pay to the trustee (the "Trustee") or the paying agent (the "Paying Agent") (as set forth in 
the documentation providing for the issuance of and securing the Bonds) for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds or, at the 
election of XLCA, to each Owner, that portion of the principal and interest on the nds that shall become Due for Payment 
but shall be unpaid by reason ofNonpayment. 

XLCA will pay such amounts to or for the benefit of the Owne th day on which such principal and 
interest becomes Due for Payment or one (1) Business Day followin e B on w "ch XLCA shall have received 
Notice of Nonpayment (provided that Notice will be deemed receiv gi ay it is received prior to 10:00 
a.m. New York time on such Business Day; otherwise it will eive o th usiness Day), but only upon 
receipt by XLCA, in a form reasonably satisfactory to it, f e o the r' right to receive payment of the 
principal or interest then Due for Payment and (b) evide p riate · struments of assignment, that all of 
the Owner's rights with respect to payment of sue · e for Payment shall thereupon vest in 
XLCA. Upon such disbursement, XLCA shall beco o , y appurtenant coupon to the Bond or the 
right to receipt of payment of principal and · eres fully subrogated to the rights of the Owner, 
including the Owner's right to receive payme s t of any payment by XLCA hereunder. Payment 
by XLCA to the Trustee or Paying Ag all, to the extent thereof, discharge the obligation of 
XLCA under this Policy. 

In the event the T 
become Due for Payment 
the Owner pursuant to::o--...::~··~ 
preference to such er 
XLCA to the extent f C"'T'~"~"n·~·"\1 

notice at any payment of principal or interest on a Bond which has 
y or on behalf of the Issuer of the Bonds has been recovered from 

urt competent jurisdiction that such payment constitutes an avoidable 
applicable bankruptcy law, such Owner will be entitled to payment from 
ds are not otherwise available. 

The following meanings specified for all purposes of this Policy, except to the extent such terms 
are expressly modified by ent to this Policy. "Business Day" means any day other than (a) a Saturday or Sunday 
or (b) a day on which bank ins tions in the State of New York or the Insurer's Fiscal Agent are authorized or required 
by law or executive order to remain closed. "Due for Payment", when referring to the principal of Bonds, is when the stated 
maturity date or a mandatory redemption date for the application of a required sinking fund installment has been reached and 
does not refer to any earlier date on which payment is due by reason of call for redemption (other than by application of 
required sinking fund installments), acceleration or other advancement of maturity, unless XLCA shall elect, in its sole 
discretion, to pay such principal due upon such acceleration; and, when referring to interest on the Bonds, is when the stated 
date for payment of interest has been reached. "Nonpayment" means the failure of the Issuer to have provided sufficient 
funds to the Trustee or Paying Agent for payment in full of all principal and interest on the Bonds which are Due for 
Payment. "Notice" means telephonic or telecopied notice, subsequently confrrmed in a signed writing, or written notice by 
registered or certified mail, from an Owner, the Trustee or the Paying Agent to XLCA which notice shall specify (a) the 
person or entity making the claim, (b) the Policy Number, (c) the claimed amount and (d) the date such claimed amount 
became Due for Payment. "Owner" means, in respect of a Bond, the person or entity who, at the time of Nonpayment, is 
entitled under the terms of such Bond to payment thereof, except that "Owner" shall not include the Issuer or any person or 
entity whose direct or indirect obligation constitutes the underlying security for the Bonds. 
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XLCA may, by giving written notice to the Trustee and the Paying Agent, int a fiscal agent (the "Insurer's 
and the Paying Agent of such 

of all notices required to be 
Agent and to XCLA and 

CA under this Policy 

Fiscal Agent") for purposes of this Policy. From and after the date of receipt b T 
notice, which shall specify the name and notice address of the Insurer's Fisca 
delivered to XLCA pursuant to this Policy shall be simultaneously deliver 
shall not be deemed received until received by both and (b) all payme 
may be made directly by XLCA or by the Insurer's Fiscal Agent on e iscal Agent is the agent 
ofXLCA only and the Insurer's Fiscal Agent shall in no event be li of the Insurer's Fiscal Agent 

ue hereunder. or any failure of XLCA to deposit or cause to be deposited su 

Except to the extent expressly modified by an e 
(b) the Premium on this Policy is not refundable fi 
or other acceleration payment which at any time 
XLCA, nor against any risk other than Non 
modified, altered or affected by any other 

THIS POLICY IS NO 
SPECIFIED IN ARTICLE 76 

In witness wher 

Name: 
Title: 

XLCAP-005 
Form of Municipal Policy [Specimen] 

s 1cy is non-cancelable by XLCA, and 
ot insure against loss of any prepayment 

any Bond, other than at the sole option of 
the full undertaking of XLCA and shall not be 

ing any modification or amendment thereto. 

RTY/CASUALTY INSURANCE SECURITY FUND 
ELAW. 

to be executed on its behalf by its duly authorized officers. 

Name: 
Title: 
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City of Chicago 
City Hall 
121 North LaSalle Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60602 

Cole Taylor Bank, as trustee under the Indenture 
defined below111 West Washington Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60602 

September_, 2003 

The underwriters listed 
on Exhibit A 

We have acted as co-bond counsel in connection with the issuance and delivery by the City of 
Chicago (the "City") of$74,772,557.65 aggregate original principal amount of its General Obligation 
Bonds (Central Loop Redevelopment Project}, Series 2003A (the "Series 2003A Bonds") and 
$62,228,998.65 aggregate original principal amount of its General Obligation Bonds (Central Loop 
Redevelopment Project}, Series 2003B (Taxable) (the "Series 2003B Bonds" and, together with the 
Series 2003A Bonds, the "Bonds"). 

In that regard, we examined a certified copy of the record of proceedings of the City, together 
with various accompanying certificates, pertaining to the issuance of the Bonds. The record of 
proceedings includes an Ordinance, adopted by the City Council of the City on July 9, 2003, providing 
for the issuance of the Bonds, the Notification of Sale of the City Comptroller of the City in connection 
with the sale of the Bonds provided for in that Ordinance (together, the "Bond Ordinance"), the Trust 
Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2003 (the "Original Indenture"), from the City to Cole Taylor 
Bank, as Trustee (the "Trustee"}, the First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 1, 2003, with 
respect to the Bonds (together with the Original Indenture, the "Indenture"}, and certificates of officers 
of the City, the County of Cook, Illinois, the Trustee, and the Underwriters for the Bonds as to various 
factual matters. 

The Bonds are being issued as "Capital Appreciation Bonds" under the Indenture, are dated 
September 17 2003, and mature on December 1 of each of the years 2005 to 2008, inclusive, in the 
amounts for each year and each series provided in the Indenture, and will accrete interest from their date, 
compounded semiannually on June 1st and December 1st of each year commencing on December 1, 
2003, payable only at maturity, at the approximate yields to maturity for each maturity and each series 
provided in the Indenture. 

The Bonds are not subject to redemption in advance of their maturity. 

Based upon this examination, we are of the opinion that: 

1. The City has the right and power to adopt the Bond Ordinance. The Bond Ordinance has 
been duly and lawfully adopted by the City Council of the City, is in full force and effect, is valid 
and binding upon the City, and is enforceable in accordance with its terms. 

2. The Indenture has been duly and lawfully executed and delivered by authorized officers 
of the City and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the Trustee, represents a 
valid and binding agreement of the City enforceable in accordance with its terms. The Indenture 
is in full force and effect and creates the valid pledge of Third Lien Revenues (as defmed in the 
Indenture), moneys and securities held under the Indenture for the benefit and security of the 
Bonds, subject to their application in the manner provided in the Indenture. 
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3. The Bonds have been duly and validly authorized and issued in accordance with the 
Constitution and laws of the State of Illinois and the Indenture and are valid and legally binding 
obligations of the City in accordance with their tenor and terms. The Bonds, together with 
additional bonds which may be issued in the future on a parity with the Bonds, have a claim for 
payment, as to principal, redemption premium, if any, and interest, on an equal and ratable basis 
solely from the Third Lien Revenues (as defined in the Indenture) received by the City, including 
certain funds and accounts provided for in the Indenture, all as and to the extent and in the 
priority as provided for in the Indenture. In addition, the Bonds are valid and legally binding 
general obligations of the City in accordance with their terms, payable from ad valorem taxes 
levied against all of the taxable property in the City without limitation as to rate or amount. The 
City has pledged its full faith and credit to the payment of the Bonds. 

4. Interest on the Series 2003A Bonds under present law is not included in "gross income" 
for federal income tax purposes and thus is exempt from federal income taxes based on gross 
income. This opinion is subject to compliance by the City with its covenant in the Indenture to 
comply with all requirements which must be met in order for interest on the Series 2003A Bonds 
not to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes under present law. The City 
has the power to comply with its covenant. If the City were to fail to comply with these 
requirements, interest on the Series 2003A Bonds could be included in gross income for federal 
income tax purposes retroactive to the date the Series 2003A Bonds are issued. Interest on the 
Series 2003A Bonds is not an item of tax preference for calculation of an alternative minimum 
tax for individuals or corporations under present law. Interest on the Series 2003A Bonds will be 
taken into account in computing an adjustment used in determining the alternative minimum tax 
for certain corporations and in computing the "branch profits tax" imposed on certain foreign 
corporations. Ownership of the Series 2003A Bonds may result in other federal tax consequences 
to certain taxpayers, and we express no opinion regarding any such collateral consequences 
arising with respect to the Series 2003A Bonds. 

5. The interest on the Bonds is not exempt from present Illinois taxes. 

The rights of owners ofthe Bonds, the obligations ofthe City and the enforceability ofthe Bonds 
and the Indenture may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar 
laws affecting creditors' rights. Enforcement of provisions of the Bonds or the Indenture by equitable or 
similar remedies may be subject to general principles of law or equity governing such remedies, including 
the exercise of judicial discretion whether to grant any particular form of relief. 

This opinion is based upon facts known or certified to us and laws in effect on its date and speaks 
as of that date. We have not undertaken any obligation to revise or supplement this opinion to reflect any 
facts or circumstances that may come to our attention after the date of this opinion or any changes in law 
that may occur after that date. 

Very respectfully yours, 
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Mesirow Financial, Inc. 
350 North Clark Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60610 

Melvin Securities, L.L.C. 
111 West Jackson Boulevard 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 

J. P. Morgan Securities Inc. 
227 West Monroe Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60606 

Podesta & Co. 
208 South LaSalle Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60604 

Exhibit A 

The Underwriters 
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(9) ANALYSIS OF DEBT SERVICE - 65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5( d)(8)(B) 

This information is contained in the official statements, limited offering memoranda, promissory 
notes or debt service schedules of such obligations. See attached. 
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(10) CERTIFIED AUDIT REPORTS -65 ILCS 5/11-74.4-5(d)(9) 

Please see attached. 
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Deloitte 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Honorable Richard M. Daley, Mayor, and 
Members of the City Council 
City of Chicago, illinois 

Deloitte & Touche LLP 
180 N. Stetson Avenue 
Chicago, IL 60601-6779 
USA 

Tel: +1 312 946 3000 
Fax: +1 312 946 2600 
www.deloitte.com 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, the accompanying financial statements of the government-wide activities, governmental funds 
and agency fund of the City of Chicago, illinois' Central Loop Redevelopment Project (the "Project") as 
of December 31, 2003, and have issued our report thereon dated June 15, 2004. 

In connection with our audit, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that the Project 
failed to comply with the regulatory provisions of Subsection (q) of Section 11-74.4-3 of the illinois Tax 
Increment Redevelopment Allocation Act insofar as they relate to financial and accounting matters. 
However, our audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge of noncompliance with such 
subsection. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the management of the City of Chicago, the 
Project and the State of illinois, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than 
these specified parties. 

June 15, 2004 

Member of 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
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(11) GENERAL DESCRIPTION AND MAP 

The Central Loop Redevelopment Project Area is generally bounded by Wacker Drive on the 
north, Michigan A venue on the east, Congress Parkway on the south, and Dearborn, LaSalle, and 
North Franklin Streets on the west. The map below illustrates the location and general 
boundaries of the Project Area. For precise boundaries, please consult the legal description in the 
Redevelopment Plan. 

Lake St. 

Randolph St. 

Washington St. 

MadisonSt 

Monroe St. 

Adams St. 

van Buten St. 

Congress Pkwy. 
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